

Stindt, Maren (2012) *Regulation of wild-type and mutant p53 activity*. PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/3778/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Glasgow Theses Service http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

Regulation of wild-type and mutant p53 activity

Maren Stindt

Submitted to the University of Glasgow in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Beatson Institute for Cancer Research Garscube Estate Switchback Road Glasgow, G61 1BD Institute of Cancer Sciences College of Medicine, Veterinary and Life Sciences University of Glasgow

© Maren Stindt, September 2012

Abstract

The tumour suppressor p53 is extensively regulated by posttranslational modification, including modification by the small Ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO. The data presented here show that MDM2, previously described to promote Ubiquitin, Nedd8 and SUMO-1 modification of p53, can also enhance conjugation of endogenous SUMO-2/3 to p53. SUMOylation activity requires p53-MDM2 binding but does not depend on an intact RING finger. Both p14^{ARF} and L11 can promote SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53. However, unlike the previously described SUMO-1 conjugation of p53 by an MDM2-p14^{ARF} complex, this activity does not depend on the ability of MDM2 to relocalise to the nucleolus. Strikingly, the SUMO consensus is not conserved in mouse p53, which is therefore not modified by SUMO-2/3. Ultimately, conjugation of SUMO-2/3 to p53 correlates with a reduction of both activation and repression of a subset of p53 target genes and guides the p53 response towards apoptosis rather than cell cycle arrest.

Roughly 30% of all cancers express a p53 protein containing a single amino acid exchange within the DNA binding domain. These mutant p53 proteins not only lose wild-type p53 function, but also gain new oncogenic properties that partially reflect the ability of mutant p53 to interact with and repress the p53-family transcription factors p63 and p73. Like wild-type p53, mutant p53 is also SUMOylated by MDM2, but SUMO-2/3 modification does not affect mutant p53's ability to interact with p63 and p73. p63 and p73 bind to the DNA binding domain of mutant p53, although these interactions do not require an aggregation domain that has been identified around isoleucine 254 within this region of p53. While the DNA binding domain of p73 is necessary for binding to mutant p53, the core domain of p63 is dispensable for the interaction with mutant p53. The p53-binding protein MDM2 binds TAp73a and Δ Np73a, but does not interact with TAp63a or Δ Np63a. Strikingly, addition of MDM2 to mutant p53-p73 complexes leads to the formation of a trimeric complex with MDM2, while addition of MDM2 to mutant p53-p63 complexes releases p63 from the inhibitory mutant p53 interaction.

Altogether, this study reveals ubiquitination-independent mechanisms, by which MDM2 influences both wild-type and mutant p53 activity.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Table of Contents	3
List of Figures	6
List of Tables	9
Accompanying Material	10
Acknowledgements	11
Author's Declaration	12
Abbreviations	13
1 Introduction	17
1.1 Cancer: when cells grow out of control.	18
1.2 The tumour suppressor p53	22
1.2.1 p53: guarding the genome	22
1.2.2 p53 induces cell cycle arrest and DNA repair under low levels of stress.	23
1.2.3 p53 induces apoptosis or pre-mature senescence under high levels of	25
1.2.4 p53 provents angiogenesis, metastasis and Warburg metabolism	20
1.2.4 poo prevents angiogenesis, metastasis and warburg metabolism	29
1.3.1 Structure of p53	34 37
1.3.1 Structure of pool	36
1.2.2 µ00 ISOIOITTIS	20
1.3.3 IVIDIVIZ REEPS P33 IEVEIS IIT CHECK	20
1.3.3.1 WIDIVIZ UDIQUIUNALES PUO.	10
1.2.2.2 Strace signals release p52 from MDM2's control	40
1.3.3.3 Stress signals release pos from wiDiviz s control	41
1.3.4 µ33 CO-IdCIOIS	40
	50. 17
1351 Phosphorylation	47 17
1352 Acetulation	47
1.3.5.2 Activitation	49 51
1.3.5.4 Ubiquitin-like modifications	52
1.4 Small I lbiquitin-related modifiers	57
1.4 SI IMO interaction motifs	61
1.4.1 SUMO Interaction	62
1.4.2 SUMO function	65
1.4.0 NDM2 n1 A^{RF} and SLMO	68
1.5 The n53 family	60
1.5 The postal may	70
1.5.7 p00	73
1.5.2 Pr0	77
1.6. Mutant n53: an oncodene?	78
1.6.1 Loss of function	70 81
1.6.2 Cain of function	01
1.7. Targeting p52 for expect treatment	00
171 Tumoure expressing wild type p52	01 QO
1.7.1 TUMOUIS EXPLOSING MIC-LYPE POS	
1.7.2 TUMOUIS EXPLOSING NUTANT p52	90 00
1.8 Objectives	92 01
	34

2 Materi	als and Methods	96
2.1 Ma	aterials	97
2.1.1	General Reagents	97
2.1.2	Solutions and Buffers	98
2.2 Me	ethods	100
2.2.1	Cells	100
2.2.2	DNA preparation	100
2.2.3	Plasmids	101
2.2.4	Site-directed Mutagenesis	104
2.2.5	DNA Sequencing	107
2.2.6	Transfections	108
2.2.7	SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting	108
2.2.8	SUMOylation and Ubiquitination of p53 in cells	110
2.2.9	Immunoprecipitation under native conditions	110
2.2.10	Immunofluorescence staining	110
2.2.11	Cellular fractionation	111
2.2.12	Analysis of half-life by Cycloheximide treatment	111
2.2.13	Oligomerisation Assay	112
2.2.14	Luciferase assays	112
2.2.15	RNA extraction and Realtime-PCR	112
2.2.16	MIC-1 ELISA	113
2.2.17	Flow Cytometry	114
2.2.18	Flag-Elution and Mass-Spectrometry of MDM2 interacting proteins	115
2.2.19	Inverted Transwell Invasion Assays	116
3 MDM2	2 promotes SUMO-2/3 modification of p53	118
3.1 SL	JMO-2/3 conjugation by MDM2	119
3.1.1	MDM2, but not MDMX promotes SUMO-3 conjugation of p53	119
3.1.2	MDM2-p53 interaction is required for efficient SUMOylation.	120
3.1.3	Promoting SUMOylation and ubiquitination are two distinct activities of	5
	MDM2	122
3.1.4	SUMOylation can be observed with endogenous protein	124
3.2 A s	single SUMO-2/3 is conjugated to lysine 386 in human p53	126
3.2.1	The SUMO consensus around lysine 386 is essential.	126
3.2.2	Both genetic variants of p53 are SUMOylated.	128
3.2.3	p53's nuclear localisation signal is dispensable, but the nuclear export	
	signal is required for SUMOylation.	129
3.2.4	SUMO-3 does not form a chain on p53	133
3.2.5	SUMO-2 and 3 are preferentially conjugated to p53	134
3.3 Re	gulation of MDM2's SUMOylation activity	135
3.3.1	The MDM2-inhibiting proteins p14 ^{ARF} and L11 stimulate SUMOylation.	136
3.3.2	MDM2 does not require SUMO interaction motifs to SUMOylate p53	139
3.3.3	MDM2 does not need to dimerise in order to SUMOylate	140
3.3.4	MDM2 interacts with SUMO-E2 Ubc9.	143
3.3.5	MDM2 and MDM2 Δ AD interacting proteins.	144
3.4 SL	JMO-2/3 modification of MDM2	150
3.5 Su	mmary and Discussion	152

4 Modulation of p53 activity by SUMO-2/3 modification1	59
4.1 SUMOylation does not affect p53 localisation1	61
4.2 SUMOylation does not alter p53 protein stability	68
4.3 SUMOylation does not prevent p53 tetramerisation1	70
4.4 SUMOylation modulates p53's transcriptional activity1	72
4.5 Consequences of p53 SUMOylation on the cell cycle	78
4.6 Summary and Discussion1	81
5 Mutant p53 interacts with p63 and p731	88
5.1 The mutant p53 C-terminus is dispensable for interaction with p63	89
5.1.1 Mutant p53 is SUMOvlated1	90
5.1.2 The SUMO site is not required for interaction with p63	91
5.2 p53 in unfolded conformation interacts with p63 and p731	92
5.2.1 Different p53 mutants show different binding behaviour	92
5.2.2 Mutant p53 binds p63 and p73 via the DNA-binding domain	96
5.2.3 Mutant p53 interacts with p63 and p73 independent of aggregation1	98
5.3 p63 and p73 interact differentially with mutant p53	202
5.3.1 p73 interacts with mutant p53 via the DNA binding domain	202
5.3.2 p63 does not require the DNA binding domain to bind mutant p53 2	204
5.4 MDM2 interplay with p63, p73 and mutant p53 2	208
5.4.1 p63 and p73 are SUMOylated2	208
5.4.2 MDM2 interacts with p73, but not p63 2	210
5.4.3 MDM2 affects mutant p53 binding to p63 and p73 2	215
5.5 The extent of mutant p53 and p63 interaction does not reflect the gain of	
invasive phenotype2	219
5.6 Summary and Discussion	223
6 Final Summary and Discussion	229
Bibliography	241

List of Figures

Figure 1-1: Eight Hallmarks of Cancer	. 19
Figure 1-2: p53 responses depend on stress levels	. 23
Figure 1-3: p53 activates cell cycle arrest	. 24
Figure 1-4: p53 activates DNA repair	. 25
Figure 1-5: p53 activates the extrinsic and the intrinsic apoptotic pathways	. 27
Figure 1-6: p53 inhibits the invasive phenotype	. 30
Figure 1-7: p53 inhibits glycolysis and promotes oxidative phosphorylation	. 32
Figure 1-8: Structure of the p53 protein	. 34
Figure 1-9: Structure of the DNA binding domain	. 35
Figure 1-10: p53 lsoforms	. 36
Figure 1-11: MDM2 negatively regulates p53	. 39
Figure 1-12: Structure of MDM2	40
Figure 1-13: DNA damage, oncogene activation and ribosomal stress activate p53	3. . 42
Figure 1-14: p53 activates and represses target genes.	. 46
Figure 1-15: p53 is phosphorylated in the N-terminus, DNA binding domain and C	;_
terminus.	. 48
Figure 1-16: p53 is acetylated in the DNA binding domain and the C-terminus	. 50
Figure 1-17: p53 is methylated at the C-terminus	. 52
Figure 1-18: The central and C-terminal regions of p53 are ubiquitinated, neddylated and SUMOylated.	ed . 54
Figure 1-19: The Ubiquitin-like modifiers share a β-barrel structure	. 56
Figure 1-20: SUMO-1 and SUMO-2 ribbon models	. 57
Figure 1-21: SUMO is conjugated to p53 with the help of the SUMO-E1 SAE1/SAI and SUMO E2 Ubc9.	E2 . 58
Figure 1-22: p63 isoforms.	. 70
Figure 1-23: p73 isoforms	. 74
Figure 1-24: Prevalence of somatic p53 mutations	. 79
Figure 1-25: Ribbon model of p53 DNA binding domain in complex with DNA	. 80
Figure 1-26: Conformational epitopes on p53's DNA binding domain	. 82
Figure 1-27: Treatment strategies for stabilising wild-type p53	. 89
Figure 3-1: MDM2 promotes SUMOvlation of p53, while MDMX does not	120
Figure 3-2: Representation of p53 and MDM2 interacting domains.	120
Figure 3-3: MDM2 binding to p53 is necessary for its SUMO-3 modification	121
Figure 3-4: Representation of domains contributing to MDM2's ubiquitination activ	/ity. 122
Figure 3-5: MDM2-domains required for ubiquitination (A) and SUMOvlation (B) of	
p53	123
Figure 3-6: Endogenous SUMO-2/3 is conjugated to p53 by MDM2 ⁻	124
Figure 3-7: Endogenous SUMO-2/3 is conjugated to p53 by MDM2	125

Figure 3-8: Nutlin-3a disrupts SUMOylation, but HLI373 does not	125
Figure 3-9: p53 requires an intact SUMO motif to be SUMOylated	126
Figure 3-10: Mouse p53 is not SUMOylated	127
Figure 3-11: p53 72P is SUMOylated slightly less than p53 72R	128
Figure 3-12: Mutation of the NES abrogates SUMOylation	130
Figure 3-13: p53 Δ NLS is still SUMOylated by MDM2 Δ AD Δ NLS	131
Figure 3-14: p53 Δ NLS and MDM2 Δ AD Δ NLS can enter the nucleus	132
Figure 3-15: p53 is not poly-SUMOylated	133
Figure 3-16: MDM2 preferentially SUMOylates p53 using SUMO-2/3	134
Figure 3-17: MDM2 strongly SUMOylates p53 in complex with p14 ^{ARF} and L11	136
Figure 3-18: MDM2 SUMOylates p53 independently of nucleolar localisation	137
Figure 3-19: Cancer-associated zinc-finger MDM2 mutants SUMOylate p53	138
Figure 3-20: MDM2 proteins without putative SIM domains SUMOylate p53	139
Figure 3-21: Representation of MDM2 mutants tested in the dimerisation assay	140
Figure 3-22: MDM2 C464A and MDM2 ΔAD dimerise	141
Figure 3-23: MDM2 dimerisation is not required for SUMOylation of p53	142
Figure 3-24: MDM2 Δ AD interacts strongly with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9	143
Figure 3-25: MDM2 is efficiently eluted from the flag beads	145
Figure 3-26: Potential SUMO sites on MDM2	150
Figure 3-27: MDM2 ΔAD MDM2 is SUMO-2/3 modified	151

Figure 5-1: p53 hot-spot mutants are SUMOylated
Figure 5-2: Interaction of C-terminally deleted p53 mutants with TAp63a 191
Figure 5-3: Conformation of p53 mutants193
Figure 5-4: Interaction of p53 mutants with TAp63α194
Figure 5-5: Mutant p53 interacts with the TA- and ΔN -isoforms of p63 and p73 195
Figure 5-6: The DNA binding domain of p53 R175H is required for interaction with
TAp63α and ΔNp63α
Figure 5-7: Deletion of amino acids 251-312 impairs p53 binding to TAp63a 197
Figure 5-8: p53 interacts with TAp63a independent of an aggregation domain 199
Figure 5-9: p53 R175H I254R binds strongly to $\Delta Np63a$
Figure 5-10: p53 R175H I254R still interacts with TAp73α
Figure 5-11: Representation of TAp73a deletion mutants
Figure 5-12: TAp73a interacts with p53 R175H via the DNA binding domain 203
Figure 5-13: p63's DNA binding domain is dispensable for binding to p53 R175H.
Figure 5-14: Deletion of a glutamine stretch does not affect TAp63 α 's binding to p53
Figure 5, 15: Depresentation of TApCO: deletion mutants
Figure 5-15: Representation of TAp630 deletion mutants
rigure 5-16: Deletion of amino acids 462-561 abrogates 1Apo3 s interaction with p53 B175H 206
Figure 5-17 [•] Amino acids 462 to 561 are not present in TAp63y 207
Figure 5-18: $n63a$ and $n73a$ are SLIMO-2/3 modified
Figure 5-19: Alignment of the N-termini of p53 family members
Figure 5-20: MDM2 strongly interacts with p73, but not with p63
Figure 5-21: MDM2's p53-binding domain is dispensable for binding p73
Figure 5-22: n53-induced PG13 Luciferase is repressed by MDM2 C464A 213
Figure 5-23: TAp73g induced RPAG1 Luciferase is repressed by MDM2 C464A 214
Figure 5-24: MDM2 C464A disrupts the mutant p53 - TAp63g complex
Figure 5-25: MDM2 C464A induces the interaction of folded p53 with TAp73g 216
Figure 5-26: Model of the MDM2/mutantn53/n63/n73 complexes
Figure 5-27: p53 AI does not interact with ANp73g via MDM2
Figure 5-28: All p53 mutants reduce TAp63a -induced K14 Luciferase 220
Figure 5-20: All p53 mutants induce invasion of H1200 cells towards HCF 221
Figure 5-30: Alignment of Box V in p53. TAp63 and TAp73 224
TIGUIC 5 50. Alignment of box v in poo, TApos and TAp75

List of Tables

Table 2-1: General Reagents	98
Table 2-2: Plasmids used in this study	
Table 2-3: p53 primers	105
Table 2-4: MDM2 primers	105
Table 2-5: SUMO primers	106
Table 2-6: p63 primers	106
Table 2-7: p73 primers	106
Table 2-8: Sequencing primers	107
Table 2-9: Primary antibodies	109
Table 2-10: Secondary antibodies	109
Table 2-11: Quantitative Realtime PCR primers	113
Table 3-1: Well-established MDM2-binding proteins identified in both sa	amples 146
Table 3-2: Proteins binding selectively to either full-length MDM2 or MD)M2 ∆AD. 147

Accompanying Material

Part of this work has contributed to the publication that is enclosed at the back of the thesis:

Stindt MH, Carter S, Vigneron AM, Ryan KM, Vousden KH. MDM2 promotes SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 to modulate transcriptional activity. Cell Cycle 2011;10:3176–88.

Acknowledgements

I am very grateful to Karen for giving me the opportunity to conduct my PhD project in her lab and for the valuable support she has given me as my supervisor. I would also like to thank my advisor Kevin for many helpful discussions.

The Beatson Molecular Technology and Advanced Technologies Services provided excellent support for DNA extraction, sequencing and mass-spectrometry.

The R15 group has been a great work environment and I would particularly like to thank Bob for help with mutagenesis and carrying on the mutant p53 project, Steph for getting me started on the SUMO project, Arnaud for assistance with anything Real-time PCR related, Patricia M for mutant p53 discussions and help with invasion assays, Andreas for sorting out all IT problems and Tricia for all our talk-practice sessions. Furthermore, I am very grateful to Tricia and Inbal for always being there whenever some advice was needed.

I thank Cancer Research UK for funding this research and would like to extend my gratefulness to all fundraisers and donors, who make the inspiring work of this charity possible.

Finally, I am very thankful to Moritz and my family for their mental support from the continent.

Author's Declaration

I declare that I am the sole author of this thesis and the work presented here is entirely my own unless stated otherwise. This thesis does not include work that has been submitted for consideration for any other degree or qualification.

Abbreviations

2-P-Gly	2-Phosphoglycerate
3-P-Gly	3-Phosphoglycerate
6-PGL	6-Pospho-glucono-lactone
aa	Amino acids
Acetyl-CoA	Acetyl-Coenzyme A
AD	Acidic domain
AEC	ankyloblepharon-ectodermal dysplasia-clefting
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AMPK	AMP kinase
apaf	Apoptotic protease activating factor
APS	Ammonium persulfate
ARF	Alternative reading frame of p16 ^{INK4A}
ATM	Ataxia telangieactasia mutated
ATP	Adenonine 5'-triphosphate
ATR	Ataxia telangieactasia and Rad3 related
B2M	β_2 -microglobulin
BAI	Brain-specific angiogenesis inhibitor
bp	Base pair
BPAG1	Bullous pemphigoid antigen
BRCA	Breast cancer susceptibility protein
CARP	Caspase associated RING proteins
Cdk	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CK2	Casein kinase 2
COP1	Coat protein
CRM1	Chromosome region maintenance 1
CSN	COP9 signalosome
Су	Cytosol
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DBD	DNA binding domain
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Desoxyribonucleic acid
DRAM	damage-regulated autophagy modulator
DTT	Dithiothreitol
DUB	Deubiquitinating enzyme
DYRK2	Dual-specific tyrosine phosphorylation-regulated kinase 2
E6-AP	E6-associated protein
ECL	Enhance chemiluminescence
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
F-1,6-P	Fructose-1,6-bisphospohate
F-2,6-P	Fructose-2,6-bisphosphate
F-6-P	Fructose-6-phospohate
FCS	Foetal calf serum
G-6-P	Glucose-6-phosphate
G6PDH	Glucose-6-phosphate-Dehyrodgenase
GA	Glutaraldehyde
GCN5	General control nonderepressible 5
GDF-15	Growth-differentiation factor-15
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GLS2	Glutaminase 2
GLUT	Glucose transporter
GPX1	Glutathione peroxidase
GSH	reduced glutathione
HA	Haemagglutinin
HAUSP	Herpes-virus associated USP
HB-EGF	Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HECT	Homologous to E6-AP C-terminus
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HIPK2	Homeodomain interacting protein kinase 2
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSF	Heat shock factor
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IKKa	Inhibitor of NF-ĸB kinase
IP	Immunoprecipitation
kD	kilo Dalton
LB	Lysogeny Broth
LDHB	Lactate Dehyrogenase B
MDM2	Mouse Double Minute 2
MDR-1	Multi drug resistance protein 1
MEM	Minimum essential medium
MIC-1	Macrophage inhibitory cytokine
miR	Micro RNA
MMP	Matrix metallo protease
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NAD	Nicotnamide adneine dinucleotide
NADP	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NEMO	NF-ĸB essential modulator
NES	Nuclear export signal

NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells
NLS	Nuclear localisation signal
NP40	Nonidet P40
NQO1	NADH quinon oxidoreductase 1
NRD1	Nardisylin 1
Nu	Nucleus
PAGE	Poly-acrylamid gel electrophoresis
PAI	Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCNA	Proliferating cellular antigen
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PHF6	PHD finger protein 6
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PFK	Phosphofructokinase
PGM	Phosphoglucomutase
PI	Propidium iodide
PIAS	Protein Inhibitor of Activated STAT
PIG3	p53-inducible gene 3
PIR2	p73-induced RING2 protein
Pirh2	p53-induced RING H2 protein
Plk	Polo-like kinase
ΡΚϹζ	Protein kinase
PML	Promyelocytic leukaemia protein
PP	Pentosephosphate
PRKRA	Protein kinase, interferon-inducible double stranded RNA dependent activator
PRMT5	Protein arginine methyltransferase
PUMA	p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis
Ras	Rat sarcoma protein
Rb	Retinoblastoma protein
RING	Really interesting new gene
RLU	Relative Luciferase units
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNF4	RING finger protein 4
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPLP0	Ribosomal protein, large, P0
SAM	Sterile a motif
SCO2	Synthesis of Cytochrome c oxidase
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SENP	Sentrin-specific protease
SIM	SUMO interaction motif
Sip1	Smad-interacting protein 1

SREBP	Sterol regulatory Element binding protein
SUMO	Small ubiquitin-related modifier
SV	Simian virus
TAD	Transcription activation domain
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TBS-T	TBS-Tween
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid
TEAB	Triethyl ammonium bicarbonate buffer
TEMED	Tetramethylethylenediamine
TET	Tetramerisation domain
TID	Transcription inhibitory domain
TIGAR	Tp53 induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TopBP1	Topoisomerase βII binding protein
Tris	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
UHFR2	Ubiquitin-like with PhD and RING finger
Ubc9	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 9
UBL	Ubiquitin-like modifier
USP	Ubiquitin-specific protease
VHL	von Hippel-Lindau
wt	wild-type
WWP1	WW-domain containing protein
YFP	Yellow fluorescent protein
Zeb1	Zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1

1 Introduction

1.1 Cancer: when cells grow out of control.

In a healthy individual, most cells are spatially confined to specific tissues and cell proliferation is strictly controlled. The term cancer describes a group of illnesses, where cells have begun to grow uncontrolled and invade tissue boundaries to form malignant tumours¹.

The degree of abnormal cellular behaviour can be classified into different severity grades. Hyperplasia describes the accumulation of excessively growing cells forming a histologically normal tissue organisation, which is considered a benign tumour. Dysplastic cells not only over-proliferate, but also adopt abnormal shape and tissue organisation, yet respect tissue boundaries. Neoplasms show a chaotic histology and penetrate surrounding tissue. Such malignant tumours, which can metastasise to distant organs, are commonly referred to as cancer.

Healthy cells can start to proliferate unconstrained and form tumours when incorporation of errors into the DNA leads to the alteration of genes that normally control important cell autonomous mechanisms such as DNA repair, cell division and cell movement. In order for a normal cell to be transformed to a tumour cell, mitogenic genes become activated or oncogenes are introduced via viral infections while surveillance and repair mechanisms are silenced.

Altogether, the cell physiology of tumour cells differs from that of normal cells in eight key aspects, the so-called hallmarks of cancer^{2,3}:

First, normal cells only proliferate if stimulated by pro-growth factors, but tumour cells have acquired independence of external mitogenic signals. Many tumour cells display a different array of surface receptors, produce their own growth-factors or stimulate surrounding fibroblasts to secrete them⁴. Furthermore, signals from external growth factor receptors can be uncoupled if mitogenic pathways become constantly activated as in the case of Ras mutants constitutively driving signalling through the MAP-kinase pathway⁵.



Figure 1-1: Eight Hallmarks of Cancer

Normal cells acquire self-sufficiency in pro-growth signalling, insensitivity to anti-growth and cell death signals, capabilities to replicate without limit, induce angiogenesis and invasion, reprogramme their metabolism and evade immune surveillance along the route of malignant transformation.

Second, tumour cells are insensitive to anti-growth signals that prevent cell cycle progression at the S-phase entry. Many exogenous anti-growth signals control the phosphorylation status of the Retinoblastoma protein (Rb) that blocks S-phase entry in its hypo-phosphorylated stage. It is therefore not surprising that tumour cells frequently harbour mutations in either Rb itself or in its phosphorylation pathway⁶.

Normal cells are subject to multiple mechanisms of cell death including the intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis pathways, necrosis and autophagy. The intrinsic apoptosis pathway can be triggered once internal faults such as DNA damage have been observed. Apoptosis thereby provides an effective barrier to cancer development. However, tumour cells have evaded this control mechanism enforced by tumour suppressors. For example, in order to avoid activation of intrinsic apoptosis, which is controlled by a balance or pro- and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins, many cancers show increased levels of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2⁷.

Tumours can exceed the limited number of replications constraining healthy cell proliferation. Normal cells can divide about 70 times⁸, but cancer cells divide much more often. As part of ageing, the telomere ends of chromosomes become shorter with every DNA replication, however many transformed cells activate the enzyme telomerase to actively rebuild the telomere ends⁹.

Tumour cells, just like untransformed cells, need to be supplied with oxygen and nutrients by blood vessels. Usually, cells in a tissue are within a 100 µm diameter of a blood vessel. In order to stimulate formation of new blood vessels, tumour cells express high levels of pro-angiogenic factors, for example the vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF¹⁰. A local inflammatory response can furthermore promote angiogenesis¹¹.

Most cancer deaths are not caused by the primary tumour, but by metastasis to other organs¹². During embryonic development, embryonic cells move around in order to form tissue layers and organs, but in an adult organism most non-hematopoietic cells are static in tissues and loss of cell-matrix interaction leads to a programmed form of cell death called anoikis¹³. However, tumour cells survive losing cell-cell and cell-matrix junctions without undergoing anoikis¹⁴. By altering the display

of cadherins and integrins on their cell surface, tumour cells convert to a mesenchymal morphology and become more motile¹⁵. Tumours do not only contain neoplastic cells and blood vessels, but also connective tissue. The stromal cells can be stimulated to express matrix-degrading enzymes that loosen up the surrounding fibres, facilitating metastasis of the neoplastic cells¹⁶.

Furthermore, transformation coincides with reprogramming of the cell metabolism. Tumour cells produce most energy via glycolysis rather than mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, a phenomenon that was termed the "Warburg effect"¹⁷. Switching to glycolysis as major supply of ATP is possibly advantageous for tumour cells since many glycolysis intermediates can be used for anabolic pathways, for example synthesis of nucleotides and amino acids, which are required to build up a new cell¹⁸. Metabolic reprogramming also affects the level of reactive oxygen species¹⁹, moderately high levels of which can drive cancer development²⁰. The increased glucose uptake of tumour cells can be a useful tool for imaging tumours by positron emission tomography (PET) using radiolabelled glucose analogues²¹.

Finally, tumour cells have escaped the surveillance of the immune system that should attack abnormal cells. Immuno-compromised mice develop more carcinogeninduced tumours than immuno-competent mice²², suggesting that the immune system poses another barrier to tumour development in healthy organisms. Furthermore, the tumours formed in immuno-compromised mice fail to establish tumours when injected into immuno-competent animals²².

Most of these cellular alterations are due to changes in the genetic information. DNA errors occur frequently during DNA replication and cell division, but tight control systems normally either trigger repair mechanisms or eliminate damaged cells in order to prevent faulty cells from multiplying. However, some mutations can escape the control system and if both proto-oncogenes are activated and tumour suppressor genes silenced, tumours can develop. Many tumours show not only single amino acid exchanges but also amplifications and deletions of entire chromosome pieces due to genomic instability after control checkpoints have been inactivated. Mutagens such as ultraviolet light, ionising radiation and tobacco smoke increase the rate of DNA errors and thereby raise the statistical chance of cell

transformation. Furthermore, the chromatin and the histones, which serve as scaffold structure, are subject to many modifications such as acetylation and methylation, specific patterns of which influence the accessibility of promoters and the rate at which genes are transcribed. Changes in these epigenetic marks are also frequently found in tumours and contribute to the genetic reprogramming²³.

1.2 The tumour suppressor p53

The p53 tumour suppressor is a key player in the cellular control system. If cells contain overactive oncogenes or DNA damage, p53 becomes activated and contributes to the repair of DNA damage and survival under low levels of stress and eliminates or terminally arrests damaged cells through the induction of programmes such as apoptosis and senescence under acute stress²⁴. Through this genome-guarding function, p53 prevents the accumulation of malignant cells - demonstrated by the development of spontaneous sarcomas and lymphomas in p53-knockout mice²⁵. Almost all tumour cells have escaped the control by p53 in some way, either by disruption upstream and downstream of p53, or by mutating p53 itself (in roughly half of all tumours)²⁶.

1.2.1 p53: guarding the genome

p53 is a member of the p53-family of transcription factors together with p63 and p73, which are discussed later (see section 1.5). p53 regulates the expression of many genes²⁷, however transcription-independent roles of p53 have also become apparent²⁸. In a simplified model, transient or mild stress predominantly leads to activation of cell cycle arrest via activation of p53-target genes like the Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 (also called CIP1 and WAF1)^{29,30}, whereas sustained or severe stress leads to apoptosis through the induction of p53-target-genes such as the BH3-domain proteins Bax³¹ and PUMA³². A number of other roles for p53 are emerging, including regulation of angiogenesis and metabolism, contributing to a complex network of tumour-prevention. Strikingly, a p53 mutant, deficient in regulating both apoptosis and cell cycle arrest but maintaining the metabolic activities was recently shown to be sufficient to suppress tumour development³³.



Figure 1-2: p53 responses depend on stress levels.

1.2.2 p53 induces cell cycle arrest and DNA repair under low levels of stress.

If problems in the cells are at a resolvable level, p53 will not eliminate the cell but rather allow for repair of the damage. The transcription factor can induce and repress an array of genes leading to temporary arrests at the G₁ or G₂ cell cycle checkpoints in case nucleotide levels are low³⁴, the DNA template replicate contains errors or chromosomes are damaged. These temporary arrests allow for replenishment of nucleotide pools or completion of DNA repair and prevent multiplication of damaged cells.

The most prominent p53-target gene involved in the G_1 -arrest is the Cyclindependent kinase (Cdk) inhibitor p21^{29,30} that inhibits G_1/S specific kinases Cdk2, 3, 4 and 6^{35} , thereby preventing Retinoblastoma protein (Rb) hyper-phosphorylation and cell cycle progression into S-phase.

Furthermore, p53 induces two Cdk-inhibitors, which preferentially target the G_2/M -specific Cdk1/Cyclin B complex, leading to an arrest in G_2 . While the 14-3-3 σ protein sequesters the Cyclin-Cdk complex in the cytoplasm^{36,37}, Gadd45 is thought to dissociate Cdk1 (also called Cdc2) from its binding partner Cyclin B₁³⁸, with both mechanisms preventing progression into mitosis. In addition to transcriptionally activating Cdk-inhibitors, p53 transcriptionally represses Cyclin B₁³⁹, Cyclin B₂⁴⁰,

p53 counteracts tumour development with a range of preventative measures under stress-free circumstances (green), DNA repair and cell cycle arrest under low to medium stress levels (yellow) and induction of apoptosis or senescence under high stress levels (red).

Cyclin A_2^{41} and Cdk1⁴², also contributing to the G_2 -arrest. Moreover, p53 represses Topoisomerase II, which is not part of the Cyclin-Cdk complexes, but is crucial for chromosome segregation, and progression into mitosis⁴³.



Figure 1-3: p53 activates cell cycle arrest.

p53's activities as transcriptional activator and repressor contribute to cell cycle arrest at G₁ and G₂ by preventing S-phase entry via the Cdk-inhibitor p21 and preventing G₂ exit via 14-3-3 σ , Gadd45 Cdk1, Cyclin A and Cyclin B. Rb is unphosphorylated (green arrows) during G₁ and hyperphosphorylated (red arrows) during S, G₂ and M-phase.

The p53 target Gadd45 not only dissociates the Cdk1-Cyclin B₁ complex but simultaneously activates DNA excision repair by binding to the Proliferating cellular antigen (PCNA)⁴⁴. PCNA is a co-factor for DNA-polymerase δ , which is important for the re-synthesis of excised damaged DNA. Another p53 target gene also links cell cycle arrest to DNA repair: the Ribonucleotide reductase p53R2 is activated by p53 and produces nucleotides required for DNA repair⁴⁵. p53 furthermore induces post-replicative mismatch repair by inducing the mismatch repair genes PMS2 and MLH1⁴⁶, which together form the endonuclease MutLa complex, introducing DNA strand breaks next to mismatched DNA in order to provide access for exonucleases

to remove the errors. Strikingly, even p53 itself was found to possess some 3' to 5' exonuclease activity⁴⁷.



Figure 1-4: p53 activates DNA repair. p53 induces DNA excision repair via PCNA and DNA Polymerase ∂ and contributes to nucleotide synthesis via p53R2. The p53 targets PMS2 and MLH1 form an endonuclease complex introducing DNA strand breaks at mismatch sites. p53 itself possesses some 3' to 5' exonuclease activity.

1.2.3 p53 induces apoptosis or pre-mature senescence under high levels of stress

p53 is a key regulator for eliminating cells on their road to transformation in response to oncogene activation and DNA damage, initiating cell death programmes, most famously apoptosis. Two pathways can initiate the apoptotic response: the extrinsic pathway, initiated by death factors binding to surface receptors such as Fas and the intrinsic pathway triggered by DNA damage or oncogene activation. Both apoptosis pathways converge in the activation of effector Caspases 3, 6 and 7, which cleave key cellular components such as lamins and actin, leading to the distinct apoptotic phenotype of a condensed nucleus and blebbed membrane and finally to the formation of apoptotic bodies⁴⁸.

The extrinsic apoptosis pathway is initiated by death factors binding to death receptors on the cell surface, leading to activation of the initiator capsases 8 and 10, which then initiate the effector caspases. p53 can influence the extrinsic apoptosis pathway by up-regulating the expression of the Tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptors Fas⁴⁹ and Killer/DR5⁵⁰.

The intrinsic apoptotic pathway is initiated by p53 when the state of a cell is beyond repair. p53 induces transcription of the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member Bax³¹, which locates to the outer mitochondrial membrane. Here Bax counteracts the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members and triggers the collapse of the mitochondrial membrane potential and release of Cytochrome c into the cytoplasm. Then, Cytochrome c forms the Apoptosome together with Apaf1, inducing the initiator caspase 9, which cleaves and activates the effector caspases.

p53 not only induces the Bcl-2 family member Bax, but also the related BH3-only proteins PUMA³² and Noxa⁵¹, which contribute to the Cytochrome c release by binding anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 and activating Bax and Bak⁵²⁻⁵⁴. Moreover, p53 prevents the transcriptional activation of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 by inhibiting its transcription factor Brn3a⁵⁵.

Many more of p53's transcriptional targets, which do not contain any BH3 domain, contribute to triggering the apoptotic response. The p53-induced protein with death domain (PIDD)⁵⁶ plays a role in activating Caspases 2, 3 and 7⁵⁷. Induction of the p53 target PERP stimulates apoptosis⁵⁸, while the role it plays in its location at the plasma-membrane remains unknown. A recently identified p53 target gene is the calcium-binding protein PDCD6 (also called ALG2), which promotes Cytochrome c release and accumulates in the nucleus during apoptosis⁵⁹. Interestingly, this protein had previously been described to have a role in the cytoplasm during Fas-induced apoptosis⁶⁰.



Figure 1-5: p53 activates the extrinsic and the intrinsic apoptotic pathways. p53 induces the extrinsic (left side) and intrinsic (right side) apoptosis pathways, converging in the activation of effector caspases 3, 6 and 7, which cleave many cellular proteins, for example lamins, that provide the structure for the nucleus. Many p53 target genes furthermore contribute to apoptosis by producing reactive oxygen species (ROS).

Many reports suggest that reactive oxygen species play a vital role in the p53induced apoptosis pathway^{61,62}. In line with this observation, it was found that the p53 inducible gene 3 (PIG3) encodes an NADPH-dependent reductase⁶³, which generates reactive oxygen species, critical for the oxidation of the mitochondrial components as part of the disassembly of the apoptotic cell⁶⁴. The p53-inducible protein 6 (PIG6) encodes a proline oxidase, which also generates pro-apoptotic reactive oxygen species⁶⁵. Finally, as part of the apoptotic response, p53 represses Nrf2-induced anti-oxidant genes such as the x-CT subunit of the Cysteine/Glutamate transporter, the Glutathione-S-transferase (GST-α1) and the NADPH Quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1), which is responsible for 2-electron reduction of Quinones⁶⁶.

Moreover, p53 contributes to the intrinsic apoptosis pathway directly at the mitochondria and in the cytoplasm independent of its transcriptional activity²⁸. It was reported that p53 itself can translocate to the outer mitochondrial membrane and counteract the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members Bcl-x_L and Bcl-2 there⁶⁷. Furthermore, p53 can bind and activate the pro-apoptotic proteins Bak in the mitochondria⁶⁸ and Bax in the cytoplasm⁶⁹.

More recently, another form of cell death, called autophagy (self-eating) was also linked to the activity of p53. The transcription factor induces a lysosomal protein termed damage-regulated autophagy modulator (DRAM) that induces macroautophagy⁷⁰. While DRAM-induced autophagy was reported to contribute to p53's apoptotic response⁷¹, autophagy can also promote cellular survival, for example by recycling non-essential cell components under conditions of starvation. Strikingly, p53-induced autophagy can also contribute to survival, as shown in Myc-driven lymphomas, where blocking p53-induced autophagy led to tumour regression^{72,73}. Complicating the picture even further, p53 was shown to inhibit autophagy under non-stressed conditions⁷⁴, possibly via a cytoplasmic p53 protein pool⁷⁵. Furthermore, p53 was found associated with the Cyclophilin D complex, leading to opening of the mitochondrial transition pore and ultimately causing cell swelling and rupture⁷⁶.

Adding another layer of complexity, p53 not only transcriptionally regulates genes that are then translated into proteins, but also induces a number of micro-RNAs, such as microRNA34a, which regulates the expression of many anti-apoptotic genes by initiating degradation of their mRNA transcripts and contributes to the initiation of apoptosis⁷⁷. One of the miR-34a regulated genes is the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2⁷⁸, which p53 also counteracts via multiple other transcription-dependent and independent

ways, either directly or via its target genes. The importance of miR-34α was recently demonstrated in a lung cancer model, where miR-34α treatment prevented tumour progression⁷⁹.

As well as physically eliminating damaged cells by initiating cell death, p53 can also trigger premature senescence, an irreversible cell cycle arrest that prevents damaged cells from multiplying. Two pathways converge to induce the permanent G₁ arrest after DNA damage, oncogene activation or telomere erosion: p16^{INK4A} and the p53-target p21 inhibit Cyclin-dependent kinases to prevent hyper-phosphorylation of Rb, thereby inactivating the E2F transcription factors and cell cycle progression⁸⁰. In contrast to transiently arrested cells, senescent cells undergo morphological changes, adopting a flattened cell shape and altering their chromatin with the appearance of senescence-associated heterochromatin foci⁸¹.

1.2.4 p53 prevents angiogenesis, metastasis and Warburg metabolism.

p53's multiple mechanisms to prevent transformation of healthy cells do not end here. p53 is involved in preventing the acquisition of almost every single hallmark of cancer, posing a great risk for any cell with inactivated p53 and explaining why all cancer cells have lost p53 activity in some way.

Tumours need to be supplied with nutrients and oxygen via blood vessels, like normal cells and p53 contributes to suppressing the formation of new blood vessels by inducing anti-angiogenic factors. p53 promotes the expression of the matrix glycoprotein Thrombospondin 1⁸² and a related brain-specific protein with Thrombospondin repeats, the angiogenesis inhibitor BAI-1⁸³, both of which inhibit neovascularisation⁸⁴. Additionally, p53 induces a Collagen-4 prolyl hydroxylase, which cleaves Collagen and leads to the release of anti-angiogenic Collagen 4 and 18 fragments, inhibiting endothelial cell growth⁸⁵. Moreover, p53 disrupts the signalling from areas of hypoxia to induce pro-angiogenic factors by suppressing expression of Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1β) via induction of microRNA miR-107⁸⁶.





p53 prevents epithelial-mesenchymal transition by repressing the ZEB-1/2 transcription factors, represses filopodia formation and cell polarisation (orientation of Golgi) via Cdc42 and prevents loosening of the extracellular matrix and collagen by repressing Plasmin and MMP-1. Furthermore the inhibitory cytokine MIC-1 prevents cell movement.

Overgrowing cells become neoplastic when they start to invade the surrounding tissue boundaries. p53 represses this invasive phenotype by a number of mechanisms: First, p53 prevents cells from moving by increasing the expression of KAI, a cell surface glycoprotein which contributes to cell-cell interaction and interaction of cells with the extracellular matrix⁸⁷. Secondly, p53 inhibits the formation of filopodia induced by Cdc42 GTPase⁸⁸, which are a critical part of the invasive cell morphology. Cdc42 is also required for cell polarity⁸⁹ and p53's inhibitory effect prevents Golgi orientation in direction of movement, thereby perturbing directed cell migration.

Thirdly, p53 induces expression of the secreted TGF β -family member Macrophage inhibitory cytokine MIC-1 (also known as growth differentiation factor GDF-15), which was shown to inhibit cell movement through transwell assays⁹⁰. Furthermore, p53 reduces the expression of ZEB-1 (also known as δ EF1) and ZEB-2 (also known as

Sip1) via up-regulation of the microRNAs miR-192 and miR-200^{91,92}. The ZEB transcription factors have a crucial role in epithelial to mesenchymal transition, by suppressing E-Cadherin transcription^{93,94}. Finally, p53 imposes a barrier to matrix remodelling by inducing the expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor PAI-1, which inhibits the activation of plasminogen and thereby prevents the proteolytic degradation of the extra-cellular matrix by Plasmin⁹⁵. Additionally, p53 represses the expression of Matrix metalloproteinase 1 (MMP-1) that catalyses the break-down Collagen I, II and III⁹⁶, loosening the tissue and creating space for invading cells.

One of the recent additions to the hallmarks of cancer is the observation that tumour cells alter their metabolism to mainly rely on glycolysis and less on oxidative phosphorylation. It has become apparent that p53 antagonises these metabolic changes, the so-called Warburg-effect, via two mechanisms: On the one hand it stimulates mitochondrial respiration by activating expression of the Synthesis of Cytochrome C oxidase 2 (SCO2)⁹⁷. This is a key regulator of the Cytochrome c oxidase complex, the last enzyme in the mitochondrial electron transfer chain, catalysing the oxygen-consuming step of the mitochondrial respiration. On the other hand it decreases glucose uptake by repressing the expression of glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT4⁹⁸ and down-regulating the GLUT3 glucose transporter via IKKa and NF- κ B⁹⁹.

p53-induced ubiquitination and degradation of Phosphoglycerate mutase (PGM), which catalyses the eighth step of glycolysis, poses another barrier to completing glycolysis¹⁰⁰. Moreover, p53 slows down the glycolytic flux by up-regulating the Fructose-2,6-bisphosphatase Tp53 induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator (TIGAR)¹⁰¹, lowering the levels of the fructose-2,6-bisphosphate that drives progression through glycolysis by activating the rate-limiting Phosphofructokinase.

Blocking progression through glycolysis drives diversion of the early intermediates through the pentose phosphate pathway. The NADPH produced in this enzymatic cascade is required to regenerate the reduced state of glutathione, once it has become oxidised by scavenging reactive oxygen species. Thereby, TIGAR not only suppresses the metabolic flow through glycolysis, but also increases the synthesis of antioxidant Glutathione, keeping intracellular reactive oxygen species low¹⁰¹.



Figure 1-7: p53 inhibits glycolysis and promotes oxidative phosphorylation. PP-pathway: Pentose phosphate pathway, TCA cycle: Tricarboxylic acid cycle

This is a critical measure in order to prevent genomic errors to be incorporated into the DNA in the first place. In line with preventing oxidative stress, p53 also induces the Glutaminase GLS2 that catalyses the conversion from glutamine to glutamate, which is required for the synthesis of Glutathione together with cysteine and glycine¹⁰². Furthermore, p53 induces expression of the antioxidant enzyme Glutathione peroxidase (GPX1), which scavenges hydrogen peroxide and organic hyperoxides¹⁰³ and of the mitochondrial matrix protein Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH4), which also decreases the levels reactive oxygen species¹⁰⁴. Moreover, a p53-induced family of cysteine sulfinyl reductases called Sestrins regenerate Peroxiredoxins, which are necessary for scavenging hydrogen peroxide¹⁰⁵.

Altogether, p53 can counteract transformation via a plethora of transcriptional target genes and mechanisms. On top of the repair or elimination of already damaged cells and its anti-angiogenic and anti-metastatic activity, p53 pre-empts genetic changes by keeping levels of intracellular reactive oxygen species low under physiological levels of stress.

Strikingly, it was recently reported, that p53 blocks the first rate-limiting first step of the pentose-phosphate pathway by inhibiting Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH)¹⁰⁶. This role is in opposition to the pentose-phosphate pathway-driving role of TIGAR¹⁰¹. However, since many intermediates of this pathway are required for anabolic processes, for example nucleotide synthesis¹⁸, inhibiting this route counteracts biosynthesis and could suppress uncontrolled growth in line with p53's many other anti-oncogenic roles.

p53's bivalent role in metabolism, driving the pentose phosphate pathway through TIGAR while inhibiting it through suppression of G6PDH, is only one of the many apparent paradoxes in p53's many functions. p53 can induce and inhibit autophagy, it can keep ROS levels low and increase ROS levels, overall, p53's responses can range from promoting death to promoting survival. But these contradictory activities are never activated at the same time and the output depends on cellular circumstances and stress levels. Hence, p53's activity must be tightly controlled in order to activate an appropriate response in each case and there must be a network of signals that determines which panel of targets p53 will modulate. For example, the

activation of antioxidant genes under conditions of normal physiological stress levels, but the inactivation of antioxidant genes during the apoptotic response clearly require input about the intrinsic cellular situation being translated into p53's activity.

1.3 Regulation of p53 activity

p53 activity is mainly regulated at protein level by the Ubiquitin E3 ligase MDM2^{107,108}. MDM2 itself is a p53 target gene, forming a negative feedback loop^{109,110}. p53's transcriptional activity is furthermore fine-tuned by an array of posttranscriptional and posttranslational modifications as well as a vast number of interacting proteins.

1.3.1 Structure of p53.

The transcription factor p53 harbours two distinct N-terminal transactivation domains (TAD) TAD I: amino acids 1-40 and TAD II: amino acids 43-63¹¹¹, which interact with the basal transcription machinery, and an adjacent proline-rich domain (amino acids 63-91), required for the transactivation of some, but not all target genes¹¹².

Alignment of the p53 amino acid sequence across species reveals 5 areas of very high conservation, termed the conserved boxes. The conserved box I is located between amino acids 15 and 29 and required for interaction with the Ubiquitin ligase MDM2¹¹³. Interaction with MDM2 shields the transactivation domain and inhibits p53's transcriptional activity^{114,115}.



Figure 1-8: Structure of the p53 protein.

The domains of the p53 protein. Transactivation domains, Proline-rich domain, DNA binding domain, nuclear localisation signal (NLS), tetramerisation domain (TET), C-terminal regulatory domain. I-V indicates conserved boxes.

All other conserved boxes are located in the central DNA binding domain from amino acids 102 to 300. Structurally, the DNA binding domain forms an anti-parallel sandwich of β -sheets (Figure 1-9 A), while the DNA-binding surface is built up of a

loop-sheet-helix motif and two large loops interacting with the minor and major grooves of the DNA (Figure 1-9 B). The residues K120, S241, R248, R273, A276, C277, R280 and R283 are involved in contacting the DNA¹¹⁶. The DNA binding domain confers sequence-specific binding activity to promoters of p53 target genes harbouring a p53 response element containing 2 copies of the p53 consensus binding site 5'-PuPuPuC(A/T)(A/T)GPyPyPy - 3' separated by a spacer of up to 13 base pairs¹¹⁷.





p53 contains nuclear localisation and nuclear export signals, which allow the protein to shuttle in and out of the nucleus. Three nuclear localisation signals for p53 have been described, the major bipartite NLS with two basic motifs between amino acid 305 and 322 and two less active sequences between amino acids 366 to 372 and 377 to 381¹¹⁸. p53 forms a tetrameric complex out of two homodimers via its oligomerisation domain in order to be an active transcription factor¹¹⁹. A nuclear export signal (amino acids 340 to 351) lies within the oligomerisation domain (amino acids 325 to 356) and it is thought that in its active state as tetramer, p53's nuclear export signal is masked¹²⁰.

p53's C-terminus adopts a flexible conformation and contains a regulatory domain (amino acids 363-393), which is subject to extensive posttranslational modification.
1.3.2 p53 isoforms

The p53 gene is located at chromosome 17p13.1 and spans 19200 base pairs across 11 exons. While the vast majority of research has focused on the full-length protein, 11 other p53 isoforms have been described more recently.



Figure 1-10: p53 lsoforms

Isoforms β and γ lack exons 10 and 11 after alternative splicing of intron 9. Δ 40 p53 is initiated at an alternative ATG in exon 4. Δ 133p53 and Δ 160p53 are translated from an internal promoter in intron 4. Translation of Δ 160p53 is initiated at a second ATG in exon 5.

TAD: transactivation domain, PR: proline rich domain, NLS: nuclear localisation signal, TET: Tetramerisation domain.

A second promoter is located in intron 4 of p53, and initiation of transcription here gives rise to an N-terminally deleted Δ 133p53, which lacks the first 133 amino acids, including both transactivation domains and part of the DNA binding domain. As expected, this isoform cannot induce p53 target genes, by contrast it was described to inhibit wild-type p53 in a dominant negative fashion, in particular inhibiting p53-induced apoptosis¹²¹. Full-length p53 was reported to induce expression of the Δ 133p53 isoform in response to stress by binding to its own internal promoter^{122,123}. Recently, the Δ 133p53 isoform was shown to promote angiogenesis and tumour progression and can therefore be classed as an oncogene rather than a tumour suppressor¹²⁴.

The Δ 133p53 mRNA transcript also gives rise to another isoform. If translation is initiated at an alternative ATG at codon 160, an even shorter Δ 160p53 protein, lacking the first 160 amino acids is produced¹²⁵. Although its expression was observed in multiple cancer-derived cell lines, the function of this isoform has not yet been studied.

If p53 translation is initiated at an alternative ATG at codon 40 from the full-length transcript, the resulting protein lacks the first transactivation domain, but retains TADII¹²⁶. Δ40p53 is also produced if intron 2 is alternatively spliced, which gives rise to a longer mRNA, containing multiple stop codons in the intron 2 sequence. Therefore a shorter protein starting at the later ATG 40 is produced¹²⁷. The second transactivation domain seems to be sufficient to induce some p53 target genes¹²⁸, however it lacks the MDM2-binding N-terminus and is consequently not degraded by MDM2¹²⁷.

Intron 9 can be spliced by two alternative methods, giving rise to $p53\beta$ and $p53\gamma$, which have prematurely terminated C-termini (with ten or fifteen additional amino acids, respectively) lacking the regulatory and the tetramerisation domains, but retaining the nuclear localisation signal¹²¹. While p53a has higher affinity towards the p21 and MDM2 promoters, p53\beta preferentially bind the p21 and Bax promoters¹²¹.

Finally, these 3 C-terminal alternative splice events can occur at the same time as the 4 N-terminal deletions, giving rise to a total number of 12 isoforms, or possibly more, since three more C-terminal splice variants were reported recently¹²⁹.

Furthermore, the p53 gene contains a common single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the proline-rich domain at codon 72, which can be a CCC, encoding a proline or a CGC, encoding an arginine residue. The ancestral form of p53 was found to be the proline variant¹³⁰. While both variants are very common, the distribution changes according to ethnicity and the 72P variant was found to be more prevalent nearer the equator, suggesting that it might confer better UV light protection¹³¹. The SNP influences p53's transcriptional output: the prolyl-isomerase PIN1 binds to the proline rich domain and preferentially binds the R72 variant¹³². Furthermore, the P72 variant binds the anti-apoptotic iASPP better than R72¹³³, leading to R72 p53 being a

more potent inducer of apoptosis. Interestingly, p53 cancer mutants with the 72R variant bind p73 better than 72P, leading to a more sustained suppression of p73's apoptotic activity¹³⁴.

1.3.3 MDM2 keeps p53 levels in check

It is crucial to quickly accumulate and activate p53 in the event of stress, it is however equally critical to control p53's ability to inhibit proliferation and survival when cells are perfectly healthy. Therefore, under unstressed conditions, regulation of p53 protein turnover is controlled by a number of factors, one of the most important of which is the Ubiquitin-E3-ligase MDM2, which constantly ubiquitinates newly synthesised p53 protein, leading to its degradation^{107,135,136}. The significance of this control is demonstrated by the MDM2-knockout mouse, which is embryonic lethal due to overactive p53, leading to widespread apoptosis. Importantly, the lethality can be rescued by simultaneous knockout of p53^{137,138}.

1.3.3.1 MDM2 ubiquitinates p53.

Multiple lysine residues in p53's C-terminus¹³⁹, DNA-binding¹⁴⁰, nuclear localisation and oligomerisation domains¹⁴¹ are targeted for modification with the small (76 amino acids) protein Ubiquitin via a 3-enzyme cascade of a Ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1, a Ubiquitin-activating enzyme E2 and an E3 Ubiquitin-ligase. Despite the identification of multiple E3 ligases for p53, MDM2 is still the most prominent one.

The Ubiquitin-activating E1 enzyme catalyses the formation of an Ubiquitin-adenylate intermediate with Ubiquitin and ATP and consecutively transfers the activated Ubiquitin to a thiol-group of its own cysteine residue to form an E1-Ubiquitin thioester. While only one mammalian Ubiquitin E1 enzyme, UBE1, was known for a long time¹⁴², more recently a second E1 UBE1L2 was identified¹⁴³. The E2 enzyme accepts the activated Ubiquitin from the E1, also forming a thioester with one of its cysteine residues, resulting in a Ubiquitin-E2 complex. There are more than ten different Ubiquitin conjugating enzymes in mammals¹⁴⁴, however the predominantly used E2 in conjunction with MDM2 is Ubch5 B/C¹⁴⁵. Finally, MDM2 serves as E3-enzyme, facilitating the formation of an isopeptide bond between the ε-group of the target lysine and the C-terminal glycine residue of Ubiquitin.

RING finger Ubiquitin ligases generally function as a dimer and the most efficient Ubiquitin-ligase for p53 is a heterodimer of MDM2 its closely related protein MDMX¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸. Although MDMX itself does not contain any catalytic activity, an MDMX protein containing a mutation, which prevents it from interacting with MDM2, is embryonic lethal due to overactive p53¹⁴⁹.



Figure 1-11: MDM2 negatively regulates p53. The MDM2/MDMX heterodimer is a Ubiquitin-ligase for p53, inducing p53's proteasomal degradation. Furthermore, MDM2 shields the p53 transactivation domain, while p53 induces MDM2, forming a negative feedback loop.

All C-terminal lysine residues in p53 are targeted for ubiquitination and mutation of all six lysine residues to arginine (6KR) was reported to block degradation by MDM2¹³⁹, although the 6KR p53 protein could still be ubiquitinated by MDM2 in vitro. Knock-in mice with 6KR or 7KR p53 (the mouse sequence has an additional lysine in the C-terminus) did not display a more stable p53 protein^{150,151}, suggesting that ubiquitination of p53 is not limited to these C-terminal lysine residues. Indeed, a number of lysine residues in the DNA binding domain were also found to be ubiquitinated by MDM2¹⁴⁰ and Ubiquitin conjugation was mapped by mass spectrometry to lysines 101, 292, 305 and 319-321 in the DNA binding domain and lysine 357 in the tetramerisation domain¹⁴¹.

Poly-Ubiquitin chains are built up by connecting Ubiquitin-molecules with a lysine residue of an already target-bound Ubiquitin by an isopeptide bond¹⁵². While mono-ubiquitination of p53 was linked to nuclear export¹⁵³, poly-ubiquitination by conjugation of four or more Ubiquitin-molecules linked via lysine 48 in Ubiquitin serve as a signal for degradation by the proteasome¹⁵⁴.

1.3.3.2 Structure of MDM2.

The E3 Ubiquitin ligase MDM2 (also called HDM2) belongs to the family of RING finger ligases, with the RING domain being crucial for its catalytic activity, directly contacting the Ubiquitin-conjugating E2 enzyme¹⁵⁵. MDM2's atypical C2H2C4 RING finger domain is located in the C-terminus between the amino acids 440 and 497, with cysteines 438, 441, 461, 464, 475 and 477 and histidines 452 and 457 binding the zinc ion¹⁵⁶. In line with this, mutation of the zinc-coordinating cysteine 464 perturbs the RING structure and completely abrogates MDM2's ability to ubiquitinate p53¹⁵⁷. Consistent with the importance of an intact RING domain, the single amino acid substitution C462A MDM2 (equivalent to human C464A) knock-in mouse is embryonic lethal due to overactive p53¹⁵⁸. The embryonic lethality can be rescued by simultaneous p53 knockout, just like the MDM2-knockout mouse^{137,138}.





The MDM2 protein contains an N-terminal p53-Binding domain, a nuclear localisation signal (NLS) and nuclear export signal (NES), an acidic domain, a zinc finger (ZF) and a C-terminal RING finger.

MDM2 also contains a C4 zinc-finger further towards the N-terminus between amino acids 296 and 335 with cysteine residues 305, 308, 319 and 322 coordinating the zinc-ion¹⁵⁹. Some cancer-associated MDM2 mutants harbour single amino acid exchanges of these zinc-coordinating cysteine residues^{160,161}. Interestingly, the zinc finger mutant C305F MDM2 was shown to be able to ubiquitinate, but not degrade p53¹⁶².

MDM2's N-terminus forms a deep hydrophobic binding pocket, which binds the ahelix formed by the conserved box I (amino acids 15-29) in the N-terminus of p53¹⁶³. An MDM2 protein deleted for amino acids 58-89 is unable to bind p53¹⁶⁴. Importantly, MDM2 not only regulates p53 by promoting its degradation, but also shields the transactivation domain thereby inhibiting the transactivation of p53's target genes^{114,115}. MDM2 shuttles between nucleus and cytoplasm and contains a nuclear localisation signal (NLS) between amino acids 181 and 185¹⁶⁵ and a nuclear export signal (NES) between amino acids 197 and 205¹⁶⁶. p53 also shuttles between nucleus and cytoplasm and MDM2 can promote the nuclear export of p53, which requires the export signal of p53, but not the NES of MDM2¹⁶⁷.

The central domain of MDM2 consists of an acidic domain between amino acids 212 and 296. Although not directly involved in the catalytic ubiquitination activity, this domain was shown to be crucial for efficient degradation of p53^{168,169}. More recently, it has become apparent that the acidic domain serves as a second contact point with the core domain of p53¹⁷⁰⁻¹⁷². The acidic domain is furthermore a platform for binding of multiple MDM2-interacting proteins, many of them inhibiting MDM2's Ubiquitin ligase activity, for example p14^{ARF} and L11. MDM2's acidic domain was also found to bind to the tumour suppressor Retinoblastoma protein (Rb), resulting in Rb inactivation¹⁷³.

A short stretch of nine amino acids in the extreme C-terminus after the RING domain was recently reported to be essential for MDM2 dimerisation¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁶. MDM2 is only a functional poly-Ubiquitin ligase, when present as a homodimer with itself or a heterodimer with its related protein MDMX (also called HDMX or MDM4) through their RING domains¹⁴⁶. Although MDMX contains a very similar p53-binding domain to MDM2 and a RING finger, it harbours no Ubiquitin ligase activity. Nevertheless, MDMX knockout mice were found to be embryonic lethal and lethality could be rescued by simultaneous p53 knockout^{177,178}, just like the MDM2 knockout mouse. It then emerged, that MDMX negatively regulated p53 by promoting MDM2's Ubiquitin ligase activity^{147,148,179}. The MDM2-MDMX heterodimer was found to show higher Ubiquitin ligase activity towards p53 and to be more stable than the MDM2 homodimer¹⁸⁰. MDM2 is furthermore not only a Ubiquitin-ligase for p53, but also for itself¹⁸¹ and MDMX^{182,183}.

1.3.3.3 Stress signals release p53 from MDM2's control.

Activation of p53 in response to stress is accompanied by a rapid stabilisation of the p53 protein, reflecting a block to MDM2's negative control. Various binding partners

and posttranslational modifications of both p53 and MDM2 were shown to regulate their interaction and the ability of MDM2 to target p53 for degradation.



Figure 1-13: DNA damage, oncogene activation and ribosomal stress activate p53. Without stress, p53 is kept at low levels by its Ubiquitin ligase MDM2/MDMX. Ionising radiation and UV exposure cause DNA damage, which activate a number of kinases, phosphorylating both p53 and MDM2 and disrupting their inhibitory complex, leading to p53 stabilisation and activation. Oncogene activation and ribosomal stress inhibit MDM2's Ubiquitin E3 ligase activity without affecting p53-MDM2 binding.

MDM2 itself is a transcriptional target of p53^{109,110}, providing a positive feedback loop and MDM2 accumulation simultaneous with p53 stabilisation, resulting in quick restoration of low p53 levels once the p53-MDM2 interaction block is lifted.

Three major pathways activate p53 by releasing it from MDM2's negative control: DNA damage activates stress-induced kinases, which phosphorylate p53's N-

terminus¹⁸⁴ at residues critical for interaction with MDM2, resulting in a weakened interaction¹⁸⁵. Oncogene activation results in expression of p14^{ARF}, which inhibits MDM2's ubiquitination activity¹⁸⁶ while not affecting p53-MDM2 binding¹⁸⁷. Similarly, ribosomal stress releases ribosomal proteins such as L11 inhibiting MDM2's E3 ligase activity without impairing binding to p53¹⁸⁸.

A number of kinases are activated by DNA damage and target serine residues in p53's N-terminus for phosphorylation. The Ataxia telangiectasia mutated kinase (ATM) is activated in response to chromatin alterations, which are a consequence of DNA strand breaks induced by ionising radiation¹⁸⁹, and phosphorylates serine 15 and 37 in p53's N-terminus¹⁹⁰. DNA strand breaks also stimulate the DNA-activated Protein Kinase (DNA-PK) targeting the same serine residues¹⁹¹, later found to impair p53 binding to MDM2¹⁸⁵. Serine 15 and 37 are also phosphorylated by the Ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related kinase (ATR)¹⁹², which is induced by replication blockage and stalled replication forks induced by UV-irradiation.

Both ATM and ATR can activate further kinases involved in p53-phosphorylation: ATM activates Chk2 by phosphorylating it at threonine 68¹⁹³ and Chk2 then phosphorylates serine 20 of p53^{194,195}. ATR activates the Chk1 kinase by phosphorylating it at serine 317 and serine 345^{196,197}, also leading to serine 20 phosphorylation of p53¹⁹⁸, contributing to p53's dissociation from MDM2. In addition, Chk1 phosphorylates threonine 18 of p53, if serine 15 has already been phosphorylated¹⁹⁹.

Interestingly, γ -irradiation not only stabilises the p53 protein, but was also found to increase ribosomal protein L26-mediated translation of p53 mRNA levels²⁰⁰.

Along with p53, MDM2 is also subject to phosphorylation after DNA damage. However, MDM2 phosphorylation does not take place at the N-terminus, and does not affect its interaction with p53. Instead, ATR-mediated phosphorylation at serine 407²⁰¹ and ATM-mediated phosphorylation of serine 395^{202,203} prevent MDM2mediated nuclear export of p53. MDM2 phosphorylated at serine 395 was furthermore reported to bind to the p53 mRNA, promoting p53 protein synthesis in another mechanism to achieve accumulation of the p53 protein²⁰⁴. Two further serine residues in MDM2's C-terminus serine 429 and 386 are also targeted by ATM and phosphorylation of these residues was proposed to disrupt dimerisation of the MDM2 RING domains, thereby contributing to p53 stabilisation by inhibiting MDM2-mediated poly-ubiquitination²⁰⁵. In response to ionising radiation, ATM furthermore activates the kinase c-Abl^{206,207}, which in turn phosphorylates MDM2's tyrosine 394, disrupting the p53-MDM2 complex²⁰⁸.

But not only DNA damage poses a threat to healthy cells, activation of protooncogenes, an important step on the way to cancer development, also triggers p53 activation. The alternative reading frame of the INK4A locus gives rise to p14^{ARF 209}, which was soon discovered to bind to the acidic domain of MDM2²¹⁰ and serve as inhibitor of its Ubiquitin ligase activity^{186,211-213}. Binding of p14^{ARF} exposes a cryptic nucleolar localisation signal in MDM2, leading to its nucleolar sequestration^{214,215}. p14^{ARF} expression is stimulated by many hyper-proliferative signals, including E1A²¹⁶, Myc²¹⁷ and Ras²¹⁸. Lacking this crucial p53-activating mechanism, p14^{ARF}-knockout mice were found to be prone to spontaneous tumour development²¹⁹.

A similar mechanism activates p53 in response to ribosomal stress that can be induced by treatment with RNA polymerase II inhibitor Actinomycin D. By now, many small ribosomal proteins were reported to bind MDM2's acidic domain and inhibit its ubiquitination of p53: Namely, the ribosomal proteins involved in inhibiting MDM2 are the ribosomal large subunit proteins L11^{188,220}, L23 ^{221,222}, L5^{223,224} and the small subunit protein S7^{225,226}. Activation of p53 by aberrant ribosome biogenesis was recently shown to be an important independent tumour suppressing mechanism: Tumours in a Myc-driven lymphoma mouse model formed more rapidly when MDM2 was substituted with an MDM2 mutant (MDM2 C305F), which could not bind to L11 or L5, but retained binding to p14^{ARF 227}.

In line with p53's metabolic responsibilities, glucose starvation was found to activate p53 via the glucose-dependent Adenosine mono phosphate dependent kinase $(AMPK)^{228}$. Under conditions of low glucose, the cell cycle should not proceed with cell division, but be halted until conditions have improved. Upon glucose starvation, AMPK induces phosphorylation of serine 15, once again contributing to the release of p53 from MDM2's negative control and activating the G₁/S checkpoint²²⁹.

Similarly, cells stop dividing when oxygen is scarce. p53 protein levels were reported to accumulate under hypoxic conditions, possibly by down-regulation of MDM2²³⁰. Serine 15 of p53 was also found to be phosphorylated in response to hypoxia²³¹, which is probably mediated by ATR²³².

Clearly, p53 is activated by many different routes, often resulting in accumulation of p53 protein. However, importantly, the levels of p53 in unstressed cells are sufficient to induce the genes required for p53's functions in unstressed circumstances. Broadly speaking, protein levels can affect the selection of target genes activated by p53. In a simplified model low levels of p53 preferentially occupy high-affinity promoters, which are mostly genes involved in cell-cycle arrest, while high levels of p53 bind to lower affinity promoters, including the genes of the apoptotic response²³³. But while not directly affecting p53 protein levels, many other interacting proteins and posttranslational modifications modulate p53's transcriptional activity and determine the ultimate response activated by the transcription factor.

1.3.4 p53 co-factors

As a transcription factor, p53 interacts with many transcriptional cofactors to induce or repress its target genes. Particular p53-binding proteins can influence which of the many p53-regulated promoters is activated and thereby stimulate a selective p53 response.

Transcription factors influence the regulation of their target genes via recruiting transcriptional cofactors, which allow or prevent transcription of the target genes by facilitating or hindering the transcription machinery to gain access to the chromatin. One mechanism of chromatin remodelling is posttranslational modification of the Histones, around which the DNA is organised. Acetylation of lysine residues in Histones leads to the removal of the positive charge of the unmodified amino-group. Thus acetylated Histones are less positively charged. This reduces their affinity to the negatively charged DNA, which is organised around them, thereby allowing access for the transcription machinery²³⁴. p300 was the first Histone acetyltransferase discovered to be recruited to the p21 promoter and was found to acetylate p53-bound nucleosomes²³⁵. p53 also transactivates some of its genes in conjunction with a multi-subunit transcriptional activator complex called STAGA, containing the

Histone acetyltransferase GCN5, crucial for promoter activation. The STAGA complex interacts with p53 at its transactivation domains and is required for the activation of p21, Gadd45 and PUMA²³⁶.

On the other hand, transcriptional repression by p53 can be mediated by binding of the co-repressor mSin3A, which recruits the Histone deacetylase HDAC1²³⁷. By removing the acetylation of Histones, a closed chromatin structure is achieved, which cannot be accessed by the transcription machinery. The pro-proliferation gene c-Myc and the anti-apoptotic gene Survivin are examples of p53-repressed genes by this mechanism^{238,239}. p53 also represses target genes without directly binding to their promoter, but by forming a complex with other transcription factors. Many of the cell cycle genes repressed by p53 contain a CCAAT box, which is recognised by the transcription factor NF-Y. NF-Y interacts with p53 in the C-terminus and the complex of NF-Y and p53 is required for the recruitment of Histone deacetylases to the promoters of the G_2/M genes Cyclin B_1 , Cyclin B_2 , Cdk1 and Topoisomerase II^{240} .

Many other proteins can influence p53's transcriptional output: The ASPP family (Apoptosis stimulating proteins of p53) bind to p53's proline-rich domain and the core DNA binding domain. The ASPP1 and ASPP2 proteins were found to promote transactivation of Bax and PIG3, while not affecting expression of p21 and MDM2, promoting p53's apoptotic response²⁴¹. Strikingly, another ASPP family member called iASPP binds to the same region in p53, but with the opposite outcome: In contrast to ASPP1 and ASPP2, iASPP inhibits rather than stimulates apoptosis²⁴².



Figure 1-14: p53 activates and represses target genes.

p53 recruits Histone acetyltransferases (GCN5, p300) in order to activate target genes such as p21 and recruits Histone deacetylases (HDAC) to inhibit target genes such as Cdk1.

Moreover, the Haemapoietic zinc finger protein HZF interacts with p53's DNA binding domain and promotes the induction of cell cycle arrest²⁴³. p53 bound to HZF was found to preferentially activate expression of p21 and 14-3-3 σ , while not inducing the promoters of Bax and Noxa.

An intriguing set of p53-binding transcription factors are the POU family members Brn3a and Brn3b. Interaction of Brn3a with p53 leads to activation of p21, but not Bax and Noxa²⁴⁴, while interaction of Brn3b results in the opposite effect: activating Bax, but not p21²⁴⁵.

Recruited by N-terminal serine and threonine phosphorylation of p53, the Prolylisomerase 1 (Pin1) induces conformational changes of the proline rich domain in p53²⁴⁶, resulting in a change in its interaction partners: Pin1 generally stimulates transactivation by inducing p300-mediated acetylation of p53, which in turn is required for the transcription factor's sequence-specific DNA binding (see section 1.3.5.1). If p53 is phosphorylated at serine 46 in the transactivation domain, Pin1 furthermore leads to the dissociation of the inhibitory iASPP protein, promoting the induction of apoptosis¹³². This is by no means a complete of p53-interacting proteins and their effects, furthermore many indirect effects of p53-binding proteins are complicating the p53-signalling networks²⁴⁷.

1.3.5 Posttranslational modifications modulate the p53 transcriptional response.

While p53-binding partners can modulate the outcome of the transcriptional response induced by p53, its activities are also modulated by a vast number of posttranslational modifications such as phosphorylation, acetylation, methylation, ubiquitination, neddylation and SUMOylation.

1.3.5.1 Phosphorylation

One of the first identified modifications on p53 was phosphorylation²⁴⁸, which takes place on serine and threonine residues in all regions of the protein. Phosphate groups are conjugated to the hydroxyl-groups of polar amino acid residues by kinases in a condensation reaction. As phosphate groups are two to three times

negatively charged (depending on the pH), phosphorylation is often associated with conformational changes of its target proteins. Phosphatases remove phosphate groups in a hydrolysation reaction, allowing reversible and highly dynamic phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. Phosphorylation is often used to amplify minor effects via multistep kinase activation pathways and is thus involved in many cellular signalling cascades.



Figure 1-15: p53 is phosphorylated in the N-terminus, DNA binding domain and C-terminus.

Many different kinases target p53 for phosphorylation, including ATM, ATR, Chk1, Chk2, DYRK2, HIPK2, AMPK, CSN, Cdk1, Cdk2 and Casein Kinase 2 (CK2) affecting binding to MDM2, protein localisation, modulation of the transcriptional response and influencing modification of neighbouring residues. NLS: nuclear localisation domain.

In response to DNA damage and UV, phosphorylation takes place on p53's Nterminus on serine 15, threonine 18, serine 20 and serine 37, induced by the ATM, ATR, Chk1, Chk2 and DNA-PK kinases. These modifications result in decreased MDM2 binding and p53 stabilisation (see section 1.3.3.3). Other residues in p53 are also phosphorylated with consequences other than disrupting the p53-MDM2 interaction. Serine 46 in the second transactivation domain is phosphorylated by a number of different kinases and the serine 46-phosphorylated protein was reported to induce an apoptotic response, via the target gene p53AIP1²⁴⁹. The kinases involved in this modification are the Homeodomain protein kinase 2 (HIPK2)²⁵⁰, which is controlled in a feedback loop via MDM2-mediated degradation²⁵¹, the dual-specific tyrosine phosphorylation-regulated kinase 2 (DYRK2), which translocates to the nucleus upon genotoxic stress²⁵² and AMP kinase (AMPK), phosphorylating p53 upon glucose deprivation²⁵³. Serine residue 315, which is phosphorylated by the Cyclin-dependent kinases Cdk1²⁴⁸ and Cdk2²⁵⁴, is located in the nuclear localisation signal of p53²⁵⁵. Indeed, serine 315 phosphorylation was reported to affect nuclear localisation of p53¹²⁰.

Serine 392 in the C-terminal regulatory domain of p53 is phosphorylated by Casein Kinase 2 (CK2) after treatment UV-light, but not γ -irradiation²⁵⁶. As part of the DNA-damage response this modification enhances p53 transcriptional activity, which is consistent with the observation that serine 392 phosphorylation stabilises the p53 tetramer in vitro²⁵⁷.

The DNA-damage induced kinases Chk1 and Chk2 do not only phosphorylate p53's N-terminus, but also a number of serine and threonine residues the C-terminus. These modifications are thought to activate p53's transcriptional activity by inducing acetylation of nearby lysine residues²⁵⁸.

Some serine and threonine residues in the DNA-binding domain (serine 149, threonine 150, threonine 155) are targeted for phosphorylation by the COP9 signalosome (CSN). These phosphorylation events occur under unstressed conditions and promote p53 degradation²⁵⁹.

1.3.5.2 Acetylation

Acetyl-groups can be conjugated to either N-terminal amino groups or ε-amino groups on lysine residues throughout the protein.

A major role of acetylation is the regulation of Histone modification. The enzymes catalysing acetyl conjugation and deconjugation reactions are therefore called Histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and Histone deacetylases (HDACs), although they also target non-Histone proteins. The amino group of lysine residues carries a positive charge, which is removed by acetylation. This can alter protein conformations and influence DNA binding.



Figure 1-16: p53 is acetylated in the DNA binding domain and the C-terminus. Different acetyltransferases contribute to p53's acetylation at multiple lysine residues in the DNA binding, nuclear localisation and C-terminal domains.

Acetylation of p53 predominantly takes place at lysine residues in the C-terminus and is generally associated with enhancing sequence-specific DNA-binding, which is probably due to a conformational change following the acetylation²⁶⁰. Moreover, acetylation has been reported to enhance p53 protein stability by blocking MDM2-mediated ubiquitination²⁶¹.

p53's main Histone acetyltransferase CBP/p300 was first identified as transcriptional co-activator²⁶² binding to p53's N-terminus²⁶³ and phosphorylation of p53's serine 15 promoted this interaction²⁶⁴. CBP/p300 was later found to acetylate lysine residues 370, 372, 373, 381 and 382 in p53's C-terminus²⁶⁰. Acetylation of lysines 373 and 382 is induced upon DNA damage²⁶⁵. Acetylation of the C-terminal lysine residues induces overall sequence specific DNA binding of p53 and thereby transactivation of all its target genes. Although initially described as non-acetylated²⁶⁰, mass-spectrometry analysis later found the sixth lysine residue in the C-terminus, lysine 386, to also be acetylated in COS cells²⁶⁶.

The p300 and CBP associated factor (PCAF) acetylates p53 at lysine 320 in the nuclear localisation signal in response to DNA damage, when serine 33 and 37 are phosphorylated²⁶⁷. Lysine 320 acetylation also enhances sequence specific DNA binding of p53 and promotes activation of p21²⁶⁸.

Interestingly, acetylation and ubiquitination target the same C-terminal lysine residues in p53 and it was reported that acetylation inhibits MDM2-mediated ubiquitination of p53²⁶¹. On the other hand, the Ubiquitin-E3 ligase MDM2 reduces acetylation of p53 by displacing p300 bound to p53^{265,269}, degrading PCAF²⁷⁰ and recruiting the deacetylating enzyme HDAC1²⁷¹.

p53's DNA binding domain is also subject to acetylation: Lysine 164 is targeted by CBP/p300, contributing to p21 activation²⁷² and lysine 120 is acetylated by the MYST family of Histone acetyltransferases, specifically Tip60²⁷³ and hMOF²⁷⁴, channelling p53's response towards the panel of apoptotic target genes such as PUMA and Bax.

While knock-in-studies with p53 proteins lacking the C-terminal lysine residues, did not reveal a major impact on p53 transactivation^{150,151}, a human protein lacking all 6 C-terminal lysines plus lysine 120 and 164 in the DNA binding domain failed to induce p21, PUMA, PIG3 and Bax, while still being able to transactivate MDM2²⁷². Indeed, a knock-in mouse mutated at just the K120 and K164 acetylation sites in the DNA-binding domain (K117 and K161/162 in mouse), cannot induce cell cycle arrest, apoptosis or senescence, but retains ability to induce p53's metabolic target genes³³. However, it is difficult to assess whether this ablation of p53's ability to transactivate most of its target genes is really due to the posttranslational modifications of the lysine residues mutated in this protein, since lysine 120 is known to interact with the major groove of the DNA and mutation of this single lysine residue already affects DNA binding²⁷⁵.

1.3.5.3 Methylation

Methylation refers to the displacement of a hydrogen atom with a methyl (CH_3 -) group. In proteins, the guanidinium group of arginine residues can be mono- or dimethylated by protein arginine methyltransferases and the ε -amino group of lysine residues can be mono-, di- or tri-methylated by lysine methyl transferases.



Figure 1-17: p53 is methylated at the C-terminus. p53 is mono-and di-methylated in the tetramerisation domain (TET) and the C-terminus.

Three lysine residues in p53's C-terminus are not only acetylated, but also methylated: Lysine 370 is targeted for mono-methylation by the SET and MYND domain containing 2 (Smyd2), resulting in repression of p53-mediated transactivation²⁷⁶. Methylation of lysine 370 is inhibited by acetylation of the neighbouring lysine 372.

Lysine 372 is methylated by the SET domain methyltransferase Set9, leading to increased transactivation of p21²⁷⁷. This methylation is induced by DNA damage and occurs together with acetylation of lysine 382.

Lysine 382 itself is mono-methylated by SET domain methyltransferase Set8, leading to repression of p53's strongly induced target genes (p21 and PUMA), while the transactivation of weaker target genes (Bax and Noxa) are not affected²⁷⁸.

Three arginine residues in p53's tetramerisation domain are methylated by the Protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (PRMT5) in response to DNA damage. This modification contributes to transactivation of a number of target genes, since p53 bound less to the p21, Gadd45 and PUMA promoters after ablation of PRMT5²⁷⁹.

1.3.5.4 Ubiquitin-like modifications

Ubiquitin-like modifications are posttranslational modifications of proteins by the conjugation of small proteins of the Ubiquitin family to form isopeptide bonds with ε -amino groups of lysine residues in the target protein.

Ubiquitin was the first identified and founding member of the family of Ubiquitin-like proteins. A chain of four or more Ubiquitin moieties is recognised and degraded by a large protein complex called the 26S proteasome¹⁵⁴. The proteasome is a ubiquitous 670 kD complex that serves to degrade proteins in the cytoplasm, nucleus and endoplasmatic reticulum. The large structure can be subdivided into three parts: Two regulatory 19S particles serve as gatekeepers at either end, and the 20S proteasome, a central core domain of four stacked rings, forms a barrel-like structure²⁸⁰. The regulatory 19S particles recognise and bind Ubiquitin chains. The Ubiquitin molecules are removed from the target protein by 19S-associated deubiquitinating enzymes and the substrate is unfolded with the help of ATPases. The linearised protein is then passed into the core, where it is cleaved by 20S-associated proteases²⁸¹.

Ubiquitin can form a number of different chains. The 76 amino acid residue Ubiquitin protein contains seven lysine residues: K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48 and K63 and every single one of these lysines can be used for conjugation of a further Ubiquitin molecule²⁸². Indeed, analysis of auto-ubiquitinated MDM2 in combination with the E2 conjugation enzyme Ubch5 identified all possible Ubiquitin chain-linkages and even forked chains as result of the conjugation of 2 Ubiquitin molecules to two different lysines in one Ubiquitin²⁸². However, certain chain linkages prevailed and K11, K48 and K63 linked chains were predominantly found²⁸². The specific chain-linkage is influenced by the E3 ligases: In a different study, MDM2 was found to predominantly produce K48 linked chains while MDM2 in complex with MDMX conjugated K6, K11 and K48 linked chains²⁸³.

The K48-linked chain is classically associated with proteasomal degradation. However, K63-linked chains are recognised by the 26S proteasome equally well as K48-linked chains, but deubiquitinating enzymes dissemble K63 chains six times faster than K48 linkages, possible explaining why proteins with K63 chains are less efficiently degraded²⁸⁴. While pure K11-linked chains can serve as degradation signal for mitochondrial proteins²⁸⁵, K11 and K63 mixed chains can serve as a signal for internalisation of cell membrane proteins²⁸⁶. Also linear Ubiquitin chains, where the Nterminal amino group is used for conjugation instead of the ε-amino group of a lysine residue, have been reported²⁸⁷. The NF-κB essential modulator (NEMO) was found to possess a binding motif that specifically recognises such linear Ubiquitin chains²⁸⁸.

MDM2 ubiquitinates p53 on lysine residues in the DNA-binding domain, nuclear localisation domain, tetramerisation domain¹⁴¹ and C-terminus¹³⁹. In addition to promoting p53 ubiquitination (described in 1.3.2.1), MDM2 was shown to bind to the 19S proteasome, delivering p53 for degradation²⁸⁹.



Figure 1-18: The central and C-terminal regions of p53 are ubiquitinated, neddylated and SUMOylated.

Many different E3-ligases target p53 for ubiquitination, only some of which are indicated here. Distinct lysine residues in the C-terminus and nuclear localisation domain are neddylated by MDM2 and FBXO11 respectively. Only lysine K386 has been reported to be SUMOylated. A number of different proteins have been shown to promote this modification of p53 (see chapter 1.4.3).

Additionally, roles for other Ubiquitin E3 ligases for p53 are emerging. The oldest known Ubiquitin ligase for p53 is the human papillomavirus protein E6-AP. While all types of HPVs encode an E6 protein that can bind to p53, only the E6 proteins of HPV 16 and 18 can also target p53 for degradation. Strikingly, these HPV types induce the formation of malignant lesions, while the other HPV types only trigger the formation of benign lesions^{290,291}. The E6 protein itself does not harbour any catalytic activity, but associates with the host protein E6-AP (E6-associated protein), which is the founding member of the HECT-domain (homologous to E6-AP C-terminus) Ubiquitin ligases²⁹². A p53-protein without the C-terminal lysine residues is resistant to E6-AP-mediated degradation, suggesting that the C-terminal lysine residues are the target of E6-AP mediated ubiquitination¹³⁹. The adenoviral E1B 55K protein together with E4orf6 also promotes the degradation of p53^{293,294}. By contrast, the

simian virus 40 (SV40) large T antigen does bind p53, but rather stabilises the protein and inhibits its transactivation²⁹⁵⁻²⁹⁷. Indeed, p53 was first discovered in a screen for SV40 binding proteins^{298,299}.

Non-viral proteins other than MDM2 target p53 for ubiquitination as well. The RING domain E3s Pirh2³⁰⁰ and COP1³⁰¹ target p53's C-terminal lysine residues for polyubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation, while themselves being upregulated by p53, forming a negative feedback loop with p53, just like in the case of MDM2. Pirh2 furthermore targets some lysine residues in the DNA binding domain for ubiquitination, most of them overlapping with MDM2, apart from Lys 164, which is exclusively modified by Pirh2¹⁴¹. Another RING finger ligase called Topors was also reported to induce ubiquitination and degradation of p53³⁰². The HECT Ubiquitin ligase ARF-BP1 shows Ubiquitin E3-ligase activity towards p53³⁰³. Moreover, the Caspase associated RING proteins (CARPs) target unmodified p53, as well as p53 phosphorylated at serine 15 and serine 20, which cannot be ubiquitinated by MDM2, for degradation³⁰⁴. UHRF2 is the most recent addition to the p53-E3-ligases. It contains Ubiquitin-like PHD and RING domains and has been shown to poly-ubiquitinate p53, possibly contributing to its degradation³⁰⁵.

Strikingly, a Ubiquitin-independent degradation mechanism for p53 has also been described, as unmodified p53 is constantly degraded by the 20S proteasome. However, upon treatment with ionising radiation, p53 interacts with the 20S proteasome-associated NQO1³⁰⁶, thereby preventing p53 degradation and contributing to the stabilisation of p53 upon stress³⁰⁷.

Four other Ubiquitin ligases modulate p53, but do not contribute to p53 degradation: Cullin 7 in complex with the small RING finger protein ROC1 mono- and diubiquitinates p53, thereby repressing the transactivation of its target genes³⁰⁸. The HECT domain E3 ligase WW-domain containing protein WWP1 does not degrade, but rather stabilises p53 by sequestering it in the cytoplasm³⁰⁹. The atypical Ubiquitin ligase E4F1 does not target the C-terminal lysine residues, but ubiquitinates lysine 320, not affecting protein stability, but inducing cell cycle arrest by promoting activation of the p53 target genes p21 and Gadd45³¹⁰. Finally, the cytoplasmic E3ligase Hades interacts with p53 at the mitochondria, poly-ubiquitinating lysine 24 and inhibiting p53 interaction with anti-apoptotic Bcl-2³¹¹.

Protein ubiquitination is a reversible reaction and deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) play a role in controlling p53 stability by counter-acting the work of Ubiquitin ligases. The deubiquitinating enzyme HAUSP was first reported as p53-stabilising enzyme, since it could remove Ubiquitin chains from p53³¹². However, it was subsequently found that HAUSP also deubiquitinated and stabilised MDM2, and that disruption of HAUSP ultimately lead to stabilised p53^{313,314}. By contrast, the deubiquitinating enzyme USP42 targets p53 but not MDM2, contributing to p53-stabilisation during the early phase of a stress-response³¹⁵.



Figure 1-19: The Ubiquitin-like modifiers share a β -barrel structure. Nedd8 is structurally homologous to Ubiquitin. Protein database accession numbers: Ubiquitin 1UBQ³¹⁶, Nedd8 1NDD³¹⁷.

Two Ubiquitin-like modifications are known to be conjugated to p53's C-terminal lysines as well: Nedd8 and the small Ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO (also called Sentrin). While SUMO only displays 18% sequence homology to Ubiquitin, Nedd8, with 58% sequence homology, is much more closely related to Ubiquitin. Although also conjugated via an E1, E2 and E3 cascade, conjugation of Nedd8 requires a different set of enzymes than ubiquitination with APPBP1-Uba3 serving as E1 enzyme and Ubc12 as E2 enzyme. The Ubiquitin-ligase MDM2 also shows Nedd8-E3 activity towards p53 and promotes neddylation of lysine residues 370, 372 and 373, leading to inhibition of p53-mediated transcriptional activation³¹⁸. Another

protein, the F-Box protein family member FBXO11, was later shown to induce neddylation of the C-terminal lysines and two other residues (lysine 320 and 321), also inhibiting the transactivation of p53's target genes³¹⁹. The Nedd8-protease NEDP1 was furthermore shown to specifically remove Nedd8, but not Ubiquitin from p53³²⁰.

1.4 Small Ubiquitin-related modifiers

Although not apparent at amino acid level (18% homology), SUMO is indeed very similar to Ubiquitin in its three-dimensional conformation³²³. Major differences are the presence of an N-terminal tail in SUMO and a different surface charge distribution, suggesting distinct binding partners for SUMO and Ubiquitin³²⁴.



Figure 1-20: SUMO-1 and SUMO-2 ribbon models. SUMO-1 and SUMO-2 have 50% identical amino acids and share the characteristic Ubiquitin-like fold of a barrel of β -sheets with one helix. Protein database accession numbers: SUMO-1 1A5R³²¹, SUMO-2 1WM2³²² In 1995, the first SUMO protein (SMT3) was discovered in baker's yeast as a suppressor of the centromeric protein Mif2 and was functionally linked to mitosis³²⁵. In the following year, a human homologue was found³²⁶. SUMO is a ubiquitously expressed protein of about 100 amino acid length and 10 kD weight in mammals.



Figure 1-21: SUMO is conjugated to p53 with the help of the SUMO-E1 SAE1/SAE2 and SUMO E2 Ubc9.

The Sentrin-specific proteases (SENP) cleave the SUMO precursor, exposing the C-terminal diglycine motif, which is used to conjugate the SUMO protein to amino-groups of lysines in the target proteins.

SUMO, like all Ubiquitin-like modifiers, is synthesised as inactive precursor and needs to be cleaved by proteases in order to be activated. The cleavage by Sentrin specific proteases (SENPs) results in the exposure of a diglycine motif, which is then used for the conjugation reaction to the ε-amino-group of a lysine residue in the target protein. All SUMO family members are conjugated to their target proteins via the same E1 - a dimer of SUMO-activating enzymes SAE1 and SAE2, which activates the cleaved SUMO by forming a thioester-bond between the C-terminal glycine of SUMO and its own active cysteine residue in an ATP-consuming step³²⁷. From here, SUMO is transferred to the conjugating E2-enzyme Ubc9, which forms the

isopeptide bond between the C-terminal glycine residue of SUMO and ε -aminogroup of a lysine residue in the target protein with the help of an E3-ligase³²⁸.

Mammals have four SUMO-family members; the best studied being SUMO-1, which is about 50% homologous to the almost identical SUMO-2 and 3. SUMO-4 is structurally more closely related to SUMO-2/3 than SUMO-1. SUMO 1, 2 and 3 have a broad tissue distribution and the expression of SUMO-4 is limited to certain organ types, being predominantly expressed in the kidney³²⁹. It is yet unclear, whether SUMO-4 can be conjugated to any target proteins because the SUMO-4 precursor contains a proline residue in close proximity to the diglycine motif, which may prevent activation via protease cleavage³³⁰.

SUMOylation predominantly takes place on lysine residues in a specific consensus motif, consisting of the four amino acid sequence Ψ KxE, Ψ being a hydrophobic residue, x being any amino acid³³¹. However, not all of these amino acid sequences are modified and most SUMOylated lysines reside in unfolded areas or extended loops, allowing access for the conjugating enzymes.

In contrast to Ubiquitin E3 ligases, SUMO E3 ligases are less essential for SUMO conjugation, as E1 and E2 are enough to promote SUMOylation in vitro³³². Other than the Ubiquitin E2s, the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 contains a substrate recognition site that directly interacts with the SUMO consensus motif with the target lysine residue fitting into a hydrophobic groove in Ubc9. Nevertheless, several SUMO E3 ligases have been identified, including RanBP2, the PIAS family proteins and Pc2³³³. While the PIAS proteins contain a RING finger similar to the Ubiquitin E3-ligases, RanBP2 contains neither a RING nor a HECT domain³³⁴. It is possible that E3 ligases have a role in determining the substrate specificity, as not all lysine residues in SUMO consensus motifs are actually SUMOylated. Furthermore, the E3-ligases might influence which SUMO isoform is conjugated to which substrate, as SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 proteins have distinct and overlapping target proteins. Exclusive modification with either SUMO-1 or SUMO-2/3 cannot be explained without the activity of an E3 ligase, as the SUMO-E2 ligase Ubc9, which can directly bind to the SUMO consensus³³⁵, does not discriminate between the SUMO isoforms. Ubc9's

target discrimination might be influenced by SUMOylation of its own lysine 14 residue³³⁶.

SENPs, which activate the inactive precursor proteins, also cleave the conjugated SUMO proteins off the target protein, resulting in a highly dynamic turnover of SUMO on and off its target proteins³³⁷. Humans have six different SENPs with different subcellular distribution and a varying degree of isoform specificity³³⁷. SENP1 is located throughout the nucleus and SENP2 localises to the nuclear pore³³⁸. SENP1 and SENP2 are the only SENPs that can process and deconjugate all SUMO isoforms from their targets. Both proteins can process the precursor forms of all isoforms, but SENP1 more efficiently catalyses the processing of SUMO-1³³⁹, while SENP2 preferentially cleaves SUMO-2³⁴⁰. All other SENPs exclusively use SUMO-2/3 as their substrate. SENP3 and SENP5 locate to both nucleus and nucleolus and hydrolyse both the SUMO-2/3 C-terminal peptide and the SUMO-diglycine - targetlysine isopeptide bond^{341,342}. SENP6 and SENP7 are located in the nucleoplasm and do not process unconjugated SUMO, but edit poly-SUMO-2/3 chains³⁴³⁻³⁴⁵. SENP6 was found to also cleave a SUMO-1 cap off a SUMO-2/3 chain, although less efficiently than editing pure SUMO-2/3 chains³⁴⁶. Recently, a new kind of SUMO protease called DeSI-1 was described, which seems to target a distinct set of SUMOylated proteins in the cytoplasm³⁴⁷.

Although SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 are conjugated via the same set of enzymes, they can preferentially target specific proteins, for example RanGAP1 is only SUMO-1 conjugated³⁴⁸. These isoforms are all nuclear, but show different distribution: SUMO-1 accumulates at the nuclear envelope and in nucleoli, while SUMO-2/3 does not³⁴⁹. Furthermore, SUMO-2/3 is more abundant in a large free pool than SUMO-1 and is also much more rapidly conjugated and removed³⁴⁸, consistent with a potential role for SUMO-2/3 in stress responses³⁵⁰. It is becoming apparent that the modification of proteins with SUMO-2/3 may have different consequences to the modification with SUMO-1³⁵¹. Strikingly, only SUMO-2/3 contains an internal SUMO consensus motif around lysine 11 and can therefore be conjugated in chains, whereas SUMO-1 cannot form chains and might act as chain-terminator on SUMO-2/3 chains³⁵². SUMO chain formation was observed in vitro and in vivo³⁵³ and distinct roles for SUMO-chains are beginning to emerge³⁵³.

Much of SUMO's function is most likely mediated through creation of a new interaction surface on the SUMOylated protein and recruitment of binding partners, which would not bind the unmodified protein. This model became an exciting new area of research with the discovery of SUMO interaction motifs.

1.4.1 SUMO interaction motifs

Analysis of SUMO-interacting proteins revealed that a stretch of amino acids with non-linear aliphatic side chains could interact non-covalently with all SUMO isoforms³⁵⁴. The SUMO interaction motif (SIM) was then defined as V/I-X-V/I-V/I or V/I-V/I-X-V/I, which forms a β -sheet that interacts with the β_2 -sheet of SUMO, in parallel or antiparallel direction³⁵⁵. A hydrophobic pocket on the SUMO surface formed by amino acids valine 30, phenylalanine 32 and isoleucine 34 in SUMO-3 interacts with the hydrophobic side chains of the SUMO interacting motif^{356,357}. Many SIMs are located in close vicinity to a stretch of acidic amino acids, which were thought to assist the SUMO recognition. However, it later emerged that this stretch incurred some isoform specificity, since SIMs with an acidic stretch preferentially bind to SUMO-1, while SUMO-2/3 is predominantly recognised by SIMs without acidic stretch. Possibly, the amino group of SUMO-1's lysine 78, which is not present in SUMO-2/3, forms a salt bridge with the carboxyl group of the acidic amino acids next to the SIM³⁵⁸. Interestingly, some SUMO interacting motifs contain a stretch of serine residues instead of acidic amino acids, which can also introduce the negative charge when they are phosphorylated³⁵⁹.

Many SUMO-conjugating enzymes contain SIMs, among them the SUMO-activating E1 enzyme that contains two SIMs, although the functional consequences on its E1activity remain unclear³⁶⁰. In contrast, the SUMO-1 specific E3 ligase RanBP2, which harbours neither a RING nor a HECT domain, contains a SUMO interaction motif that is strictly required for its SUMO-E3 activity³⁶¹. The PIAS E3 ligases, also require their SIM domain for the SUMO-promoting activity, while their SP-RING domain can be dispensable³⁶². Moreover, SUMO interacting motifs are found in SUMO-targets and provide a plausible explanation for SUMOylation of non-consensus sites³⁶³. Analogous to the SUMO system, presence of Ubiquitin-binding domains can also target proteins for ubiquitination without the need for a Ubiquitin-E3³⁶⁴. The presence of SUMO interacting motifs allows a vast array of proteins, which are not directly involved in the SUMO conjugation process to be recruited to SUMOylated proteins. An example for a SUMO-recruited protein is the Ubiquitin-ligase RNF4, which harbours a row of SUMO interaction motifs and is therefore recruited by poly-SUMO chains. The recruited Ubiquitin ligase then mediates the ubiquitination and degradation of the poly-SUMOylated target proteins, and is for example involved in the degradation of SUMOylated PML^{365,366}. Furthermore, SUMO-dependent recruitment of RNF4 to the mediator of DNA damage checkpoint MDC1, was recently shown to play a central role in homologous recombination after DNA damage^{367,368}. The hypoxia inducible factor HIF-2α was also reported to be poly-SUMOylated and subsequently degraded by RNF4 and von Hippel-Lindau VHL³⁶⁹. However, no SUMO-interacting motif could be found in VHL, making it an unlikely SUMO-targeted Ubiquitin ligase³⁷⁰.

1.4.2 SUMO function

SUMO clearly plays a significant role in development, since knockout mice of the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 are embryonic lethal³⁷¹ and some SUMO-1 heterozygous mice are born with a cleft lip³⁷². But the SUMO system is also emerging as a critical modulator in tumourigenesis and cancer treatment. Tumours engineered to overexpress a dominant-negative SUMO-E2 Ubc9 (with a point mutations at the critical cysteine residue 93) show increased drug sensitivity³⁷³, reduced tumour growth and increased apoptosis³⁷⁴. Importantly, expression of Ubc9 and polymorphisms of the SUMO systems have also been associated with risk³⁷⁵ and treatment prognosis³⁷⁶ of certain types of cancers.

In line with its role in cancer, SUMOylation influences many crucial cellular functions such as the mitosis³⁷⁷, DNA repair³⁷⁸ and the induction of senescence³⁷⁹. Many of the SUMO target proteins are transcription factors, whose activity is generally thought to be repressed by SUMOylation³⁸⁰. However, SUMOylation can also induce transcriptional activity of some transcription factors³⁸¹. Strikingly, SUMO-1 modification of chromatin was recently observed upstream of the transcriptional start of actively transcribed housekeeping genes³⁸², suggesting that SUMO might also play a role in the epigenetic regulation of gene transcription.

Particularly the highly dynamic conjugation of SUMO-2/3 is thought to play an important role in response to stress. Global SUMOylation is sensitive to even physiological levels of reactive oxygen species, which trigger a reversible disulfide bond between the E1 and E2 enzyme to be formed, completely blocking any SUMO-conjugation³⁸³. Furthermore, presence of SUMO-2 and SUMO-3 was found to be essential for survival of heat shock, which resulted in a global increase in SUMOylation³⁸⁴. A possible mechanism for this increased global SUMOylation is the finding that deSUMOylating enzymes are inactivated under heat shock³⁸⁵. It was furthermore described that misfolded proteins were generally marked by SUMO-2 modification³⁸⁶. The transfer of SUMO from the E1 to the E2 enzyme was recently found to be regulated by SUMOylation of lysines in close proximity to the catalytic cysteine residue 173 in the SUMO-activating enzyme SAE2³⁸⁷. Upon heat shock, the SUMO-E1 was deSUMOylated, leading to more efficient SUMOylation of its substrates³⁸⁷.

While poly-ubiquitination is frequently associated with proteasomal degradation, such a defined role for SUMOylation does not exist. However, as mentioned earlier SUMOylation can also influence other posttranslational modifications, for example when recruiting SUMO-targeted Ubiquitin ligases. But SUMOylation is part of a complex crosstalk not just with ubiquitination, but also phosphorylation and acetylation.

The discovery of SUMO-targeted Ubiquitin ligases like RNF4³⁶⁵, which were first identified in yeast³⁸⁸, brought the Ubiquitin- and SUMO pathways closer together. In addition, many players of the Ubiquitin-system are regulated by SUMOylation: The Ubiquitin E2 E2-25K is SUMO-1 modified on lysine 14, resulting in inhibition of its Ubiquitin chain formation activity³⁸⁹. By contrast, the Ubiquitin-E3-ligase activity of BRCA1 is enhanced after SUMOylation by PIAS1 and PIAS4 in response to DNA damage^{390,391}. Some deubiquitinating enzymes are also regulated by SUMOylation: The USP25 is modified by SUMO-2/3 within its ubiquitination interaction motif, which impairs its catalytic activity of hydrolysing Ubiquitin chains³⁹². Another way, by which SUMOylation influences ubiquitination is by occupying the same lysine residue, which would usually be targeted for ubiquitination. Through this mechanism SUMOylation stabilises IkBα, an inhibitor of NF-κB³⁹³.

Phosphorylation of serine and threonine residues within a phospho-dependent SUMO interaction motif can regulate the discrimination of the SUMO isoforms³⁵⁸. Moreover, phosphorylation of serine residues close to the SUMO consensus motif was observed to regulate the conjugation of SUMO to its targets. The phosphorylation-dependent SUMO motif consists of an extended classical consensus WKxExxSP, in which the serine residue is a target of proline-directed kinases³⁹⁴. It was proposed that phosphorylation introduced a negative charge interacting with a basic patch on the surface involving lysines 65, 74 and 76 of the SUMO-E2 Ubc9³⁹⁵. Via this mechanism, phosphorylation increases the SUMOconjugation to lysines within phosphorylation-dependent SUMO motifs, as observed for example for the SUMOylation of heat shock factor HSF1³⁹⁶ and PIAS1³⁵⁹. Phosphorylation outwith the extended consensus motif can also influence the rate of SUMOylation. In the case of p53 it was reported that phosphorylation at serine 20 impairs its association with Ubc9³⁹⁷. The notion of phosphorylation-dependent SUMOylation opens up new possibilities SUMO conjugation in stress response and signal transduction.

Like ubiguitination, acetylation also takes place on many of the SUMO-modified lysine residues. Interestingly, the SUMO conjugation system targets important players of the acetyltransferase system. For example SENP1 deSUMOylates the deacetylase HDAC1, which results in repression of its deacetylase activity towards the androgen receptor³⁹⁸, while SENP3 deSUMOylates the acetyltransferase p300 and contributes to its activation³⁹⁹. Regulation of p300-mediated repression was furthermore found to be dependent on SUMO-1 modification, which initiates recruitment of deacetylase HDAC6⁴⁰⁰. In the case of p53, which is SUMOylated at lysine 386 in close proximity to lysine residues acetylated by p300, SUMO-1 modification was shown to block p300-mediated acetylation of its lysine residues 373 and 382, while acetylated p53 could still be SUMOylated⁴⁰¹. Furthermore, it was reported that the N-terminus of SUMO-1 contains a domain similar to the acetylated region in p53's C-terminus and SUMO-1 itself was found to be acetylated at lysine residues 37, 38, 39, 45, 46 and 48. The conjugation of acetylated SUMO-1 to p53 had different consequences on p53's transcriptional activity than conjugation of nonacetylated SUMO-1⁴⁰². Indeed, further studies revealed that acetylation of lysine residues K37, K39 and K46 in SUMO-1 and K33, K35, K42 in SUMO-2 alters the basic surface of the SUMO protein, preventing its recognition by the negatively charged stretches in proximity of SUMO interacting motifs⁴⁰³.

1.4.3 SUMO and p53

Most studies on p53-SUMOylation have so far focused on SUMO-1, which was shown to modify a single lysine (K386) residue residing within a SUMO consensus motif in the p53's C-terminus. However, despite 13 years of research consequences of SUMO-1 modification of p53-activity are still a matter for debate⁴⁰⁴. The first publications reported that SUMO-1 modification of p53 led to augmented transcriptional activity, showing increased activation of PG13 Luciferase when p53 was over-expressed together with SUMO-1^{405,406}. Although the overall conclusion from both initial reports was that SUMOylation activated p53 transcriptional activity, it was noted in one report that the SUMO-site mutant p53 K386R activated the PG13 Luciferase reporter more strongly than wild-type p53⁴⁰⁵, suggesting that disruption of the SUMO site could also increase transcriptional activity of p53. However, it needs to be taken into account that other modifications such as ubiquitination, neddylation and acetylation also take place on this particular lysine residue, with the K386R mutation affecting all of them. Surprisingly, the second study showed equal activation of a p21 Luciferase construct with wild-type and p53 K386R⁴⁰⁶. These discoveries sparked several contradicting reports on the functional implications of p53 SUMOylation such as showing no SUMO-dependent change of p53's activity in a CAT assay⁴⁰⁷ and reduced induction of apoptosis by p53 K386R⁴⁰⁸.

PIAS1 was the first protein identified as promoting the SUMO-1 conjugation of p53. It was furthermore observed that PIAS1 required its RING domain for this activity, however the functional implications of p53-SUMOylation were not investigated⁴⁰⁹. Another report, which identified PIAS1 and PIAS2 (also known as PIASx) as SUMO-E3 ligases for p53, found that overexpression of SUMO-1 and PIAS1/2 repressed p53's ability to activate a pRGC Luciferase reporter. Strikingly, the same down-regulation was observed when the SUMO-site mutant p53 K386R was used instead of wild-type p53, indicating that this repression of transcriptional activity was not due to SUMO-1 modification of lysine 386⁴¹⁰. Interestingly, PIAS4 (also known as PIASy) had just been reported to prevent p53 from binding to DNA⁴¹¹ and it is possible that

a similar mechanism led to the observed repression in p53-mediated transactivation in the presence of PIAS1 and PIAS2. Later, the expression of PIAS4 was shown to induce p53 modification with both SUMO-1 and SUMO-2. Co-expression of PIAS4 enhanced p53's activation of a p21 Luciferase reporter and SUMOylation of both p53 and Rb was linked to the induction of senescence⁴¹². Mono-ubiquitination of p53 by MDM2 was demonstrated to enhance SUMO-1 conjugation by PIAS4, leading to nuclear export of p53⁴¹³. These observations were consistent with subsequent studies of a p53-SUMO-1 fusion protein, which showed partial cytoplasmic localisation⁴¹⁴.

Proteins outside the PIAS family were also reported to induce SUMO-1 modification of p53: Overexpression of the Ubiquitin-E3 ligase MDM2 together with its negative inhibitor p14^{ARF} was shown to increase SUMO-1 conjugation of p53 in vivo, but not in vitro⁴¹⁵. It was concluded, that the p14^{ARF}-MDM2 complex was relocating p53 to the nucleolus, where it would be SUMO-1 modified, however the cryptic nucleolar localisation signal in MDM2²¹⁴ was never mutated in order to fully test this hypothesis. A different RING-domain ligase called Topors, which also possesses Ubiguitin-E3 ligase activity towards p53³⁰², was shown to promote SUMO-1 conjugation of p53 in vivo and in vitro⁴¹⁶. While ubiquitination was dependent on its RING finger, mutants without RING domain could still promote SUMOylation of p53⁴¹⁶. Although coexpression of high levels of Topors induced p53's activation of the PG13 Luciferase reporter system, it was concluded that this was not due to p53 SUMOylation, since the p53-SUMO-1 level had already reached its maximum at lower Topors concentration which did not induce p53's transcriptional activity⁴¹⁶. Furthermore, an adenovirus E1B 55-Kilodalton protein was also reported to confer SUMO-1 conjugation to p53, leading to its nuclear export and repression of its transcriptional activities^{417,418}. New insights into other proteins not previously involved in the field of Ubiquitin like modifications came from a study on the protein kinase, interferoninducible double stranded RNA dependent activator PRKRA (also known as RAX/PACT), which was found to efficiently induce SUMO-1 modification of p53. PRKRA co-expression enhanced p53's activation of a BP100 Luciferase reporter construct, while K386R mutation of p53 prevented double stranded RNA activated protein kinase PKR mediated phosphorylation at serine 392. The group therefore proposed a model, in which PRKRA-induced SUMO-1 conjugation of p53 stimulated

PKR-mediated phosphorylation of serine 392, leading to stabilisation and activation of p53 and ultimately cell cycle arrest in G_1^{419} .

Further advances on delineating the functional impact of p53-SUMOylation were made recently: An intricate study on SUMO-1 modification of p53 and its crosstalk with acetylation revealed that, while acetylated p53 can be SUMOylated, SUMO-1 conjugation blocks p300-mediated acetylation of the C-terminus⁴⁰¹. Furthermore, SUMO-1 modified p53 could not bind DNA, while p53 that was both acetylated and SUMOylated did bind DNA. In line with these findings, the investigators found that p53 K386R induced a p21- Luciferase construct more strongly than wild-type p53 and was more present at the endogenous p21 promoter in a CHIP experiment⁴⁰¹, linking SUMOylation to repression of p53 activity. Complicating the SUMOacetylation crosstalk even further, another group reported that SUMO-1 itself could be acetylated at its N-terminus and could thereby mimic C-terminal acetylation of p53. These investigators found that conjugation of non-acetylated SUMO-1 to p53 led to the activation of p53's cell cycle arrest target genes, while conjugation of acetylated SUMO-1 increased the apoptotic target genes⁴⁰². Recently, Tip60mediated acetylation of lysine 120 in p53 in combination with SUMO-1-modification of K386 was shown to act as a signal for cytoplasmic accumulation of p53 and lead to induction of autophagy⁴²⁰.

In contrast to the plentiful studies on SUMO-1, relatively few studies have addressed SUMO-2/3 modification of p53. Overexpression of SUMO-2/3 was shown to induce senescence in a p53 and Rb-dependent manner⁴²¹. Both proteins were found to be SUMO-2/3 conjugated and SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 on lysine 386 was reported to be induced by H₂O₂ treatment of cells⁴²¹. In line with these findings, overexpression of PIAS4 also induced senescence via p53 and Rb⁴¹². But while PIAS4 was shown to modify p53 with both SUMO-1 and SUMO-2⁴¹², the viral protein K-bZIP from Kaposi's sarcoma associated herpes virus showed specificity towards SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53⁴²². Co-expression of K-bZIP enhanced p53's induction of the 4xBS2WT Luciferase reporter, dependent on the presence of its SUMO-2/3 specific SIM⁴²². A recent report demonstrated a transcription-independent role for SUMO-3 conjugation of p53 in disturbed-flow induced apoptosis of endothelia cells: the protein kinase PKCζ was induced by peroxynitrite

and subsequently promoted SUMO-3 conjugation of p53. The SUMO-3 conjugated p53 was then exported into the cytoplasm where it bound pro-apoptotic Bcl-2, leading to the induction of apoptosis⁴²³.

Clearly, SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53 is a poorly understood area with opportunities for exciting discoveries. Furthermore, the p53 regulators MDM2 and p14^{ARF} also play a significant role in the SUMO system.

1.4.4 MDM2, p14^{ARF} and SUMO

The investigation of MDM2-SUMOylation was unfortunately misled by a report published by Buschmann et al in 2000 claiming that MDM2 was SUMO-1 modified at lysine 446, leading to MDM2's stabilisation and increased ubiquitination of p53. The results subsequently turned out to be non-reproducible and the paper was retracted⁴²⁴. Although some attempts were made since, the site of SUMOconjugation has still not been definitively identified.

One study, reporting that p14^{ARF} induces SUMO-1 conjugation of MDM2 limited the SUMO-site to an area in the N-terminus between amino acids 134 and 212⁴²⁵. Other investigators used PIAS1, PIAS2 and RanBP2 to enhance SUMO-1 modification of MDM2 and found that mutation of lysine 182 to arginine stopped SUMOylation in vivo, but not in vitro. However, this effect was probably due to the K182R mutant protein's cytoplasmic localisation, since this lysine residue is located in the nuclear localisation motif⁴²⁶.

It was later observed that MDMX could inhibit p14^{ARF}-mediated MDM2-SUMOylation⁴²⁷ and around the same time a group discovered that p14^{ARF} was involved not only in the SUMOylation of MDM2, but stimulated the SUMOylation of many of its binding proteins including E2F1 and HIF-1a by directly interacting with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9⁴²⁸. The role of p14^{ARF} in the SUMO system was further strengthened by the notion that it could induce the degradation of the deSUMOylating enzyme SENP3, resulting in global changes of SUMOylation⁴²⁹.

A different deSUMOylating enzyme, SUSP4, a mouse homologue of SENP2, was found to remove SUMO-1 from MDM2 upon UV treatment. The deSUMOylation

induced MDM2 auto-ubiquitination and stabilisation of p53⁴³⁰. Other proteins found to enhance MDM2-SUMOylation were the TRIM family members, in particular TRIM27⁴³¹, and the proto-oncogene SKI⁴³². Consistent with the destabilisation of MDM2 upon deSUMOylation, both reports observed an enhanced MDM2 stability when SUMOylated and a subsequent decrease in p53.

In contrast to p53, where the SUMO site was identified straight away, but the functional consequences are still a matter of debate, multiple studies agree that SUMOylation of MDM2 affects its stability, yet the site of SUMO modification is still unclear. Surprisingly, no reports of SUMO-2/3 modification of MDM2 exist to this date.

1.5 The p53 family

Two p53-related genes called p63⁴³³ and p73⁴³⁴ were identified 20 years after the discovery of p53 and classed as a family of transcription factors based on their homology with p53. p63 and p73 can induce some p53 target genes, but also have other roles for example in the embryonic development.

All p53 family members, are active as tetramers^{435,436}. Strikingly, the structure of the p63 and p73 tetramerisation domains contains an additional α -helix, which is not present in the p53 protein. This allows p63 and p73 to form heterotetramers (heterodimers of two homodimers), while p53 cannot oligomerise with either of them⁴³⁷. However, cancer-associated mutants of p53 do bind and inhibit p63 and p73 and this is a potential mechanism, by which tumours can silence all three transcription factors at once by only mutating one gene.

1.5.1 p63



Figure 1-22: p63 isoforms.

Isoform β results from skipping of exon 13, resulting in alternative reading of exon 14, which presents a stop codon after 5 codons. Isoform γ lacks exons 11, 12, 13 and 14, ending on a 38 amino acid sequence from intron 10. Δ Np63 is transcribed from an alternative promoter in intron 3 and the resulting protein lacks the first 69 amino acids of TAp63, but starts with 26 different amino acids, harbouring an alternative transactivation domain (*).

TAD: transactivation domain, PR: proline rich domain, NLS: nuclear localisation signal, TET: tetramerisation domain, SAM: sterile a motif, TID: transcription inhibitory domain.

The p63 gene is located at chromosome 3q27-26 and contains 265822 nucleotides spanning 14 exons^{433,438-440}. The gene gives rise to a transcription factor with a domain structure similar to p53: an N-terminal transactivation domain, a central DNA binding domain and a tetramerisation domain. Particularly the DNA binding domain is highly homologous to p53 with 58% identical amino acids. The active transcription factor forms a dimer of dimers, just like p53⁴³⁵. The full-length p63 protein is considerably longer than p53 (641 amino acids) and contains a sterile α motif (SAM) at its C-terminus, which is not present in p53. The SAM domain forms a bundle of five helices that serve as platform for protein interactions⁴⁴¹. Interestingly, SAM-like domains are often found in proteins involved in development⁴⁴².

Many different isoforms can be derived from the p63 gene due to an internal promoter and alternative splicing of the C-terminus. An internal promoter is located in intron 3 and gives rise to ΔNp63 isoforms, which lack the transactivation domain present in the full-length TAp63 isoforms, but contain an alternative stretch of 26 amino acids not present in the TAp63 isoforms⁴³³. Two different coding sequences for the TAp63 isoform are available in the nucleotide sequence collection database, differing in the ATGs used for translation. The shorter protein, starting at the second

ATG, resulting in a 39 amino acid shorter N-terminus (accession number AF075430 for TAp63a) is considered to be the expressed full-length TAp63 in this study, since it results in a protein with a transactivation domain homologous to p53 and p73. The TAp63 isoforms can bind the p53 response element and induce p53 target genes such as p21⁴⁴⁰. However, the preferred TAp63 response element differs slightly from the p53 response element: While p53 preferentially binds to RRRCATGYYY, TAp63 preferentially binds to RRRCGTGYYY⁴⁴³ and consequently p63 target genes were identified, which could be induced by TAp63, but not p53, for example Bullous pemphigoid antigen (BPAG1)⁴⁴⁴. At first, the Δ Np63 isoforms were handled as purely negative regulators of the TAp63 response element. However, specific Δ Np63-inducible target genes were discovered^{445,446} and consistently, two alternative transactivation domains were identified, one in the first 26 amino acids of the Δ Np63 isoforms⁴⁴⁵ and another one between amino acids 410 and 512 in the C-terminus⁴⁴⁷.

Alternative splicing in the C-terminus gives rise to 3 different isoforms called α , β and y with a being the longest isoform⁴⁴⁸. p63 β lacks exon 13, which encodes for the SAM domain and ends after the second transactivation domain, since the alternative reading of exon 14 presents a stop, resulting in a protein roughly 100 amino acids shorter than p63a. p63y lacks exons 11, 12, 13 and 14, ending after the tetramerisation domain. TAp63y is the isoform most similar to p53. Two more isoforms have been predicted, but not yet been confirmed: p638 as a product from skipping exons 12 and 13 and p63c resulting from termination of transcription after exon 10, where intron 10 presents a stop codon⁴⁴⁸. All C-terminal splice variants can occur in the TA or ΔN version, resulting in 10 different p63 isoforms. Only the p63a isoforms contain the SAM domain and a following inhibitory sequence, which was shown to fold back to interact with the N-terminal transactivation domain, rendering TAp63a a much less potent transcription factor than TAp63 β and TAp63 γ^{449} . The inhibitory core element in TAp63a has been narrowed down to an amino acid stretch RFTLRQTISF between amino acids 604 and 613⁴⁵⁰. Strikingly, this inhibitory domain can be cleaved off by Caspases in response to stress⁴⁵¹.

While p63 can induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis by up-regulating p53-target genes, it clearly has a critical role distinct from p53 in regulating epithelial
development. p53 null mice are predominantly born without major developmental malformations other than a neural tube closure defect in about 20% of female embryos⁴⁵², and survive until they develop tumours, whereas p63 null mice are born with limb truncation, craniofacial malformation and no epidermis and only survive a few days after birth^{453,454}. The importance of p63's role in limb development is mirrored by a number of human diseases caused by mutations in the p63 gene. Heterozygous germ-line missense mutations in the p63 DNA binding domain can lead to the EEC syndrome with ectrodactyly (hand/feet malformation), ectodermal dysplasia and facial clefts⁴⁵⁵, while amino acid substitutions in the SAM domain lead to the AEC syndrome with ankyloblepharon-ectodermal dysplasia and clefting⁴⁵⁶. The scale of developmental abnormalities caused by this mutation is remarkable, since mutations in the SAM domain only affect the p63α isoforms.

Consistent with the role of p63 in skin development, p63 expression was initially found to be restricted to the nuclei of the basal cells in epithelia⁴³³. Furthermore, Δ Np63 was shown to be required to maintain the proliferative potential of keratinocytes⁴⁵⁷ and stem cells of stratified epithelia⁴⁵⁸. Most tissues express higher levels of the Δ Np63 isoforms, however more recently TAp63 has been found to be highly expressed in oocytes and shown to have a role in protecting the female germ-line by inducing apoptosis in oocytes upon DNA damage^{459,460}.

Studies using isoform-specific mouse models have allowed to delineate the roles of TAp63 and Δ Np63 in further detail. A conditional TAp63 knockout mouse (Exon 2) in the epidermis showed no abnormality, however a germ-line knockout of TAp63 led to premature aging of the skin with formation of blisters and abnormal hair morphogenesis. The TA-specific knockout did not result in any limb developmental defect and survived into adulthood, although premature ageing resulted in a decreased life span compared to wild-type littermates⁴⁶¹. Inducibly deleted Δ Np63 mice (by induction of Δ Np63-specific siRNA) were also viable, but showed skin fragility due to an abnormal basement membrane⁴⁶². An isoform-specific reconstitution study revealed that expression of Δ Np63 could restore epidermis formation of p63 null mice, while TAp63 expression could not⁴⁶³.

In contrast to p53, p63 is rarely mutated in cancer⁴⁶⁴, although it is frequently found to be deregulated. A large fraction of squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck express high levels of Δ Np63⁴⁶⁵. Despite the high expression levels in tumours, Δ Np63 amplification was correlated with good treatment response⁴⁶⁶. TAp63 levels are not detectable in many neoplasias, but lymphomas form an exception expressing only TAp63 and no Δ Np63⁴⁶⁷. While p63 null mice do not live long enough to develop cancers, p63 heterozygous mice were shown to develop some spontaneous tumours, mostly squamous cell carcinomas and histiocytic sarcomas⁴⁶⁸. Importantly, most of the tumours had lost the wild-type p63 allele, suggesting that p63 poses a barrier to tumour development. This is consistent with recent work that loss of p63 is associated with an invasive phenotype⁴⁶⁹. Indeed, 50% of tumours arising in p53^{+/-} mice had metastasised⁴⁶⁸.

1.5.2 p73

The p73 gene is located on chromosome 1p36.3 and includes 80728 nucleotides spanning 14 exons. Like p63, the p73 gene also gives rise to a transcription factor highly homologous to p53 with 62% identical amino acids in the DNA binding domain, 18% in the N-terminal transactivation domain and 22% in the tetramerisation domain⁴⁷⁰.

A number of different isoforms are transcribed from the p73 gene. The full-length protein TAp73 can induce p53-responsive genes such as p21, MDM2 and PIG3, just like the other p53-family members⁴⁷¹⁻⁴⁷³. Overexpression of p73 was shown to induce apoptosis with some isoforms being even more efficient than p53^{471,474}. Surprisingly, the Δ Np73 isoforms, which are product of an internal promoter at intron 3 and lack the N-terminal transactivation domain, were only described five years after the identification of the p73 gene⁴⁷⁵. Just as in the case of Δ Np63, the Δ Np73 isoforms were initially shown to inhibit the transcriptional activity of TAp73, and specific Δ Np73-responsive genes were identified later⁴⁷⁶. In line with this finding, two domains required for Δ Np73's transactivation capability were identified: one comprising the unique first 13 amino acids, which are not present in TAp73⁴⁷⁶ and another one in the C-terminus between amino acids 381 and 399⁴⁷⁷. Interestingly, while the N-terminal

transactivation domain of TAp73 was found to be crucial for the induction of apoptotic target genes, the C-terminal transactivation domain was sufficient to induce cell cycle arrest⁴⁷⁷. Two further N-terminally truncated splice variants of p73 were described, which are the result of alternative splicing skipping exon 2 or exons 2 and 3 resulting in proteins lacking the first 48 and 71 amino acids, respectively⁴⁷⁸.



Figure 1-23: p73 isoforms

Isoform β results from skipping of exon 13, resulting in alternative reading of exon 14, which presents a stop codon. Isoform γ lacks exons 11, reading exons 12, 13, and 14 in an alternative reading frame. Isoform δ lacks exons 12, 13 and 14. Isoform ε lacks isoform 11, resulting in alternative translation of exons 12, additional splicing of exon 13 reverts the frame-shift. Isoform ζ lacks exon 12. Δ Np73 is transcribed from an alternative promoter in intron 3 and the resulting protein lacks the first 62 amino acids of TAp73, but starts with 13 different amino acids, harbouring an alternative transactivation domain (*).

TAD: transactivation domain, PR: proline rich domain, NLS: nuclear localisation signal, TET: tetramerisation domain, SAM: sterile a motif, TID: transcription inhibitory domain.

Like the entire p53-family, p73's C-terminus is subject to alternative splice events giving rise to the full-length α -variant and five other shorter isoforms named β (lacking exon 13)⁴³⁴, γ (lacking exon 11), δ (lacking exons 11, 12 and 13)⁴⁷⁹, ϵ (lacking exons 11 and 13) and ζ (lacking exons 11 and 12). Combined with the four N-terminal variations at least 24 different proteins can be translated from the p73 gene. Deletion of exon 11 causes a frame-shift, due to which p73 γ expresses a different 75 amino acid C-terminal tail. A frame-shift, which results in an alternative exon 12 reading is reverted by deletion of exon 13 in p73 ϵ . p73 ζ has an internal deletion of amino acids 400 to 496, but retains the α -tail, while isoforms β , γ and δ terminate on a short

alternative translation of exon 14^{480} . Like p63, full-length p73 also contains a sterile a motif. Exon 13 encodes the SAM domain and consequently only the a and ζ isoforms contain this motif. Similar to the TAp63a isoform, TAp73a is less transcriptionally active than TAp73 β . In contrast to TAp63a, whose C-terminal inhibitory domain was shown to interact directly with the N-terminal transactivation domain, both the SAM domain and a following inhibitory domain are required for repressing the activity of TAp73a. Surprisingly, the inhibitory core sequence identified in p63a's C-terminus⁴⁵⁰ is not present in the p73a tail and the C-terminus of p73a does not seem to contact the N-terminus⁴⁸¹. Indeed, TAp73a is still much more potent in activating its target genes than TAp63a, possibly representing this difference in their C-terminal inhibitory domains.

Similarly to p53, the p73 protein is stabilised by proteasome inhibitors, suggesting that it is constantly degraded. While MDM2 can interact with p73 (see 1.5.4), it is not ubiquitinated by this E3 ligase^{482,483}. Instead, the p73 protein is targeted for degradation via ubiquitination by the E3-ligases Itch⁴⁸⁴, which also targets p63⁴⁸⁵, and Pirh2^{486,487}, which also ubiquitinates p53³⁰⁰. p53 induces expression of Pirh2, thereby negatively controlling expression levels of p73, while p73 induces MDM2, leading to degradation of p53⁴⁸⁸. However, Δ Np73 protein levels decrease in response to DNA damage, suggesting a separate regulation from TAp73⁴⁸⁹. Indeed, Pirh2 only affects TAp73, but not Δ Np73 protein levels^{486,487}. In contrast, the Ubiquitin-ligase p73-induced RING2 protein PIR2, only targets Δ Np73 for degradation⁴⁹⁰. TAp73 not only induces degradation of Δ Np73, but also transcriptionally activates its own internal promoter, inducing expression of Δ Np73⁴⁹¹.

p73's activity is induced by oncogenes like Myc, E1A and E2F1⁴⁹² and in response to DNA damage, thereby supplementing p53 function. E2F1 directly initiates transcription of p73⁴⁹³, while in response to γ -irradiation, p73's tyrosine 99 is phosphorylated by ATM-induced kinase c-Abl, promoting p73-dependent apoptosis^{494,495}. Additionally, p73 activity is regulated by the cell cycle due to p73's Cyclin-binding motif. In the G₂/M phase threonine 86 of p53 is phosphorylated by Cdk1 and Cdk2⁴⁹⁶, inhibiting p73's transcriptional activity and preventing a p73-induced cell cycle arrest while the DNA is being replicated and therefore vulnerable.

However, p73 also fulfils functions distinct from p53, particularly in the neuronal development. This role is demonstrated by p73-null mice that showed hippocampal dysgenesis with a selective loss of bipolar Cajal-Retzius neurons⁴⁹⁷. The animals furthermore suffered form cerebrospinal fluid hyper-secretion and abnormal reproductive and social behaviour, reflecting dysfunction in the pheromone sensory pathway due to a defect in the vomeronasal organ, which expresses high levels of $\Delta Np73^{497}$. High levels of $\Delta Np73$ were also found in the mouse brain and it was suggested that this inhibitory p73-isoform protected neurons from undergoing p53induced apoptosis⁴⁹⁸. Consistently, ΔNp73 null neurons were found to be hypersensitive to DNA damage, while $\Delta Np73$ was proposed to directly localise to sites of DNA damage, where it prevented ATM-induced p53-activation⁴⁹⁹. Interestingly, an isoform-specific TAp73-knockout mouse still developed some hippocampal defects, albeit not as severe as the p73 null mouse, suggesting that TAp73 contributes to the neuronal development⁵⁰⁰. Strikingly these mice also showed infertility, genomic instability and development of spontaneous tumours⁵⁰⁰. Although the initial p73 null mouse was reported not to be tumour-prone⁴⁹⁷, some p73 heterozygous mice were found to develop benign and malignant lesions, most commonly lung adenocarcinomas, haemangiosarcomas and thymic lymphomas⁴⁶⁸. Strikingly, 45% of tumours arising in p53^{+/-};p73^{+/-} were metastatic as compared to 5% metastatic tumours in p53^{+/-} mice, suggesting that p73 just like p63 has a role in protecting from metastasis⁴⁶⁸.

Despite the p73 gene being identified in a chromosomal region frequently lost in neuroblastoma⁴³⁴, the second p73 allele is rarely in lost cancers. No tumourassociated p73-mutations could be identified and on the contrary many ovarian cancers were found to overexpress p73^{501,502}. In contrast to normal tissue, which predominantly expresses p73a and p73β, neoplastic lesions frequently express shorter C-terminal splice variants⁵⁰³ or Δ Np73⁵⁰⁴. Strikingly, Δ Np63 amplification in head and neck squamous carcinoma was shown to silence TAp73 activity⁵⁰⁵ and it was found that N-terminally truncated isoforms of p63 and p73 can each inhibit both TAp63 and TAp73. In some cases, particularly in lymphomas and leukaemias, the p73 promoter is hyper-methylated and p73 transcription ablated without loss or mutation of the gene^{506,507}. p73 activity can furthermore be counteracted by a panel of interacting proteins, such as iASPP, which inhibits activation of p53- and p73 induced apoptosis⁵⁰⁸, mTOR⁵⁰⁹, certain p53 mutants (see 1.6.2) and MDM2, which inhibits p73's transcriptional activity^{482,483,510}.

1.5.3 MDM2 and p63/p73

MDM2's N-terminus interacts with the p53 N-terminus, thereby shielding p53's transcriptional domain and promoting ubiquitination of the p53 protein^{107,108,114,135}. Despite relatively low homology (around 30%) of the transactivation domain across the p53 family proteins, the three amino acid residues phenylalanine 19, tryptophan 23 and leucine 26, which were identified to be crucial for p53's interaction with MDM2^{163,511}, are also present in the N-termini of the TAp63 and TAp73 proteins. Consequently, several studies were conducted, analysing the ability of p63 and p73 to interact with MDM2.

The majority of reports suggest that MDM2 can interact with both TAp73a and TAp73B via their N-termini homologous to p53 and that this interaction silences TAp73's transcriptional activity, but does not result in TAp73 degradation^{482,483,510}. While it is conceivable that TAp73's transactivation domain is simply shielded just as in the case of p53¹¹⁴, another model suggests that MDM2 prevents the co-activator p300 from binding to TAp73's C-terminus and thereby impairs transactivation^{483,512}. A recent study revealed that MDM2 could promote neddylation of TAp73B, which resulted in its nuclear export, possibly contributing to the silencing of p73's transcriptional activity⁵¹³. Curiously, MDM2 overexpression was not previously shown to induce p73 export, although it is well known to induce export of p53^{153,167}. In contrast, MDM2 co-expression with TAp73 triggered accumulation of both proteins in nuclear speckles distinct from PML bodies^{514,515}. While some publications suggest that p73 protein levels are not affected by MDM2^{482,510}, other studies found MDM2 co-expression to increase TAp73 levels^{483,516} with one study consequently reporting MDM2-mediated induction of TAp73a and TAp73β activity⁵¹⁶. By contrast, a different recent study found MDM2 to promote association of p73 with the E3-Ubiguitin ligase Itch to promote TAp73a degradation⁵¹⁷. However, the MDM2-Itch complex and subsequent p73 degradation was only observed in HeLa cells, but not in H1299 cells, suggesting, that this might be a cell-type specific effect⁵¹⁷.

In contrast to TAp73, TAp63-MDM2 interaction was only observed in a few studies^{518,519}, while most reports agree, that MDM2 does not form a complex with TAp63 in cells⁵²⁰⁻⁵²³. The most compelling evidence comes from an intricate biochemical analysis of the p53, p63 and p73 transactivation domain peptides binding to MDM2. A number of different in vitro assays revealed that the p63 peptide bound MDM2 with at least one order of magnitude weaker affinity than p73 and p53, making it unlikely for the interaction to occur under endogenous circumstances⁵²³. This finding is striking, since the p63 transactivation domain contains the same conserved amino acids as p73 and p53, which were found to be critical for interaction with MDM2.

1.6 Mutant p53: an oncogene?

p53 poses a major barrier against cellular transformation and all cancers have escaped p53's control by some mechanism. In the majority of tumours, p53 is inactivated by mutations in the coding sequence. This accounts for 50% of all cases, although the prevalence of p53 mutations are dependent on the tumour type, from only 10% of leukaemia to 60% of ovarian cancers and colorectal cancers harbouring p53 mutations⁵²⁴. Other mechanisms of p53 inactivation were also observed: Around 7% of tumours contain MDM2 gene amplifications⁵²⁵ and the prevalence depends on the tumour type: up to 30% of soft tissue sarcomas were shown to harbour MDM2 amplifications⁵²⁶. Another tumour strategy to avoid induction of p53, is losing the MDM2-inhibitor p14^{ARF}, which is involved in sensing oncogene activation. p14^{ARF} is expressed as alternative reading frame the INK4A locus, which is mutated in roughly 50% of all tumours⁵²⁷, leading to loss of expression of both p16^{INK4A} in the Rb pathway and the MDM2-inhibitor p14^{ARF}. The p14^{ARF} promoter is furthermore frequently found to be epigenetically silenced by hyper-methylation⁵²⁸.

While most cancer patients harbour somatic p53 mutations in their lesions, very few individuals express a mutant p53 allele in all their tissues since they carry a heterozygotic germline p53 mutation. Germline p53 mutations are associated with the Li-Fraumeni-syndrome⁵²⁹, which is defined by development of sarcomas under

the age of 45, with first and second degree relatives also suffering from early-onset cancers⁵³⁰. The most common tumours observed in Li-Fraumeni families are sarcomas, brain and breast cancers and leukaemia⁵³¹. Strikingly, somatic p53 mutations occur with a different prevalence spectrum than germline p53 mutations, codon R337 in p53's tetramerisation domain is frequently mutated⁵³², while the most frequently somatic mutations all occur in the DNA binding domain.

The vast majority of p53 mutations (74%) are missense mutations leading to the expression of a full-length p53 protein with a single amino acid exchange⁵²⁴. Indeed, expression of these mutant p53 proteins is so common that the initially identified p53 was thought to be an oncogene^{298,299}, since it harboured a mutation in the DNA binding domain⁵³³. In the case of somatic mutations, most amino acid exchanges occur within exons 5 to 8 encoding for the DNA binding domain. Although every single amino acid of the DNA binding domain was observed to be mutated, 30% of these mutations are very rare⁵³⁴. However, the mutation frequency in the p53 database is biased towards the DNA binding domain, since frequently only the area of the DNA binding domain was sequenced when mutational status was assessed, missing out on the roughly 14% of mutations which occur outside exons 5 to 8⁵³⁵.





Most p53 mutations cluster to codons of the DNA binding domain. Particularly frequently mutated codons, the so-called "hotspots" are annotated with their respective codon numbers.

Only 6 amino acids in the DNA binding loops L2 and L3 account for a third of all somatic p53 mutations observed. These "hotspot" codons are arginine 175, glycine 245, arginine 248, arginine 249, arginine 273 and arginine 282 (Figure 1-24).

Mutants can be separated into 2 categories: amino acids, which are directly contacting the DNA, such as arginine 273 and arginine 248, and amino acids which are structurally critical with their mutation resulting in changes of local or overall conformation such as glycine 175, arginine 245 and arginine 282¹¹⁶. These mutations have in common that they disrupt p53's sequence-specific DNA binding and therefore lose wild-type p53's ability to transcriptionally regulate its target genes.



Figure 1-25: Ribbon model of p53 DNA binding domain in complex with DNA. DNA contacting amino acids R248 and R273 in pink and structurally important amino acids 175, 245 and 282 in green. Protein database accession number 1TUP¹¹⁶.

The p53 mutant proteins are often expressed to very high levels in tumours⁵³⁶, leading to the assumption that the mutant p53, in contrast to wild-type p53 is a stable protein. Since wild-type p53 induces MDM2, but mutant p53 has lost this ability, it seems plausible that mutant p53 could accumulate to higher levels, since it has lost this feedback regulatory mechanism. Indeed, high p53 staining as assessed by immunohistochemistry (IHC) is often judged as an indication for p53 mutations⁵³⁷. However, a study comparing staining by IHC to sequencing of the gene found that p53 protein levels only correctly indicated p53 mutations in 70% of all cases⁵³⁸. In line with this analysis, mutant p53 was found not to be intrinsically stable in normal tissue of Li-Fraumeni patients⁵³⁹ and knock-in mouse models^{540,541}. Actually, mutant p53 could still be degraded by MDM2^{107,542-544} and knockout of MDM2 stabilised mutant

p53 in the R172H (mouse equivalent of R175H) p53 knock-in mouse⁵⁴⁵. The mechanism, by which transformed cells stabilise the mutant p53 protein is not clear yet, it was hypothesised that similarly to wild-type p53, mutant p53 can be stabilised by stress, which prevails in tumour cells⁵⁴⁰.

1.6.1 Loss of function

Consistent with the observation that cancer-associated p53 mutations abrogate the transcription factor's sequence-specific binding, hotspot mutant p53 proteins could not induce p53 target genes, while other mutants of the DNA binding domain retained the activity to induce some promoters⁵⁴⁶. It was observed that mutant p53 could also inhibit the induction of p53-target genes in the presence of wild-type p53⁵⁴⁷⁻⁵⁴⁹. This suggested that mutant p53 acted in a dominant negative fashion, not only losing its own function, but also suppressing the wild-type p53 activity. Mechanistically this could be due to mixed wild-type - mutant p53 tetramers. Indeed, studying complexes of wild-type and the temperature sensitive A135V mutant p53, it was revealed that wild-type p53 adopted an unfolded conformation in a complex with mutant p53⁵⁵⁰. Conformation of the p53 DNA binding domain can be assessed by two conformation-specific antibodies (Figure 1-26): pAb 1620 recognises an epitope on the protein surface of the natively folded DNA binding domain created by arginine 156, leucine 206, arginine 209 and asparagine 210⁵⁵¹ and pAb 240 recognises an epitope on the S7 β-strand, which is buried in the wild-type conformation, but exposed upon unfolding of the DNA binding domain⁵⁵².

By contrast, a study expressing equal levels of wild-type and mutant p53 from a bicistronic plasmid revealed that mutant p53 (mutations at codons 143, 245 or 258) could not suppress wild-type p53 activity⁵⁵³. Consistently, it was later reported that three mutant proteins harbouring the R273H or R249S mutations were needed to inactivate a tetramer, while one p53 lacking the N-terminal domain was enough to inactivate a tetramer⁵⁵⁴. This suggests that mutant p53 is only dominant negative when expressed at high levels that are frequently found in neoplastic lesions. The suppressive activity of p53 mutants might not just be dependent on the type of mutation, but also on the target gene promoter, since a study using equal wild-type and mutant p53 expression found, that some p53 mutants (mutations at codons

245, 248 or 273) could only act dominantly negatively on the Bax promoter, but not on the p21 promoter⁵⁵⁵.



Figure 1-26: Conformational epitopes on p53's DNA binding domain. pAb1620 detects an epitope present only on natively folded p53 (blue), while pAb 240 detects an epitope only exposed in the unfolded conformation (pink). Protein database accession number 1TUP¹¹⁶

The notion that mutant p53 is not as dominant as initially assumed is supported by the observation that the wild-type p53 allele is often lost in tumours expressing mutant p53⁵⁵⁶. Indeed, survival of heterozygous knock-in mice expressing one wild-type p53 allele and one R172H mutant p53 allele^{540,541} resembled the heterozygous knockout mice with 15 months median survival rather than p53 null mice with 4 months median survival^{25,557}, suggesting that one mutant p53 allele was not enough to silence the wild-type p53 activity. Furthermore, MDM2-null mice can be rescued by knockout of both copies for p53, but not by knock-in of one R172H mutant p53 allele⁵⁴⁰.

Despite the same survival of the heterozygous knock-in and the p53^{+/-} mice, a different tumour spectrum was observed. Animals with a p53 R172H allele (equivalent to the human p53 R175H) developed osteosarcomas and those expressing p53 R270H (equivalent of human p53 R273H) developed adenocarcinomas⁵⁴¹. These tumours were rarely seen in p53 knockout mice, which develop predominantly lymphomas and sarcomas^{25,557}. Furthermore, 25% of tumours were found to metastasise, particularly in animals harbouring the p53 R172H allele ^{540,541}, while tumours of p53^{+/-} mice did not metastasise^{25,557}. This observation

raises the possibility of the mutant p53 protein acquiring new oncogenic potential rather than simply losing and suppressing wild-type p53 function.

1.6.2 Gain of function

It had already been noted a decade earlier that introducing mutant p53 into p53 null cells increased their transformation potential, which was described as gain of function⁵⁵⁸. The notion that a single amino acid exchange can turn a tumour suppressor into an oncogene is striking and raises questions as to how mutant p53 tumourigenicity⁵⁵⁸, molecules acquire new functions such as increased proliferation⁵⁵⁹, interference with cell differentiation⁵⁶⁰, genomic instability⁵⁶¹, resistance to drug treatment⁵⁶² and increased aggressiveness and metastasis^{540,541}. Several mechanisms seem to contribute to mutant p53's oncogenic activity and a number of mutant-p53 specific binding proteins and target genes have been identified.

Supporting the model of mutant-p53 induced transcription of genes was the observation that the mutant p53 protein required its N-terminal transactivation domain to exert its gain of function effect. Deleting two glycine residues (glycines 22 and 23), which were shown to interact with the transcription machinery⁵⁶³, suppressed the increased tumourigenicity conferred by the mutant p53 protein⁵⁶². It is a striking thought that a protein with an unfolded DNA binding domain (or which lost DNA-contacting amino acids) could be able to act as a transcription factor in the traditional sense. A mutant p53 response element could not be identified due to lack of similar regions in the promoters of activated genes and this struggle is consistent with the view that mutations in the DNA binding domain eradicate the sequence-specific binding of p53. However, mutant p53 activated genes commonly contain AT-rich unfolded matrix attachment regions⁵⁶⁴ or G/C rich G-quadruplex structures⁵⁶⁵ and it is now thought, that mutant p53 recognises secondary DNA structures rather than binding to specific sequence-determined response elements⁵⁶⁶.

Mutant p53 was found to upregulated the Multi-drug transporter MDR1⁵⁶⁷, which can confer chemoresistance by pumping drug molecules out of cells. Activation of MDR1 by mutant p53 depended on an intact transactivation domain, as a p53 D281G mutant with additional glycine 22/23 mutation could not induce MDR1⁵⁶⁸ anymore.

The activation of MDR1 also required mutant p53 to interact with the ETS-1 transcription factor⁵⁶⁹. Thus, binding other transcription factors could be another mechanism for mutant p53 to circumvent its deficiency in sequence-specific DNA binding. A striking example of the complete inversion of regulation comparing wild-type and mutant p53 is the regulation of G_2/M cell cycle genes via the NF-Y transcription factor. While wild-type p53 binds NF-Y and recruits the Histone deacetylase HDAC1 to repress genes such as Cdk1, Cyclin A₂ and Cyclin B₁, contributing to a G₂-arrest²⁴⁰, the mutant p53 protein also binds NF-Y, but recruits p300 instead of HDAC1, thereby initiating the target genes and driving proliferation⁵⁷⁰.

Interestingly, many oncogenic functions acquired by mutant p53 require the presence of its C-terminus⁵⁷¹. A number of protein interactions were mapped to this region, leading to gain of function via the transcription factor ETS-2⁵⁷² and Plk2 kinase⁵⁷³. Induction of c-Myc by mutant p53 also required p53's C-terminal domain⁵⁷⁴.

Two other transcription factors interacting with mutant p53 are its family members p63 and p73. While wild-type p53 cannot bind either of these proteins, multiple studies have shown that mutant p53 proteins can interact with both TAp63⁵⁷⁵⁻⁵⁷⁷ and TAp73^{134,575,577-581}. Importantly, binding of mutant p53 suppresses activation of p53 target genes induced by both TAp63 and TAp73^{575,576,578,579}. Since both p63 and p73 also have roles in inducing apoptosis⁵⁸², mutant p53 not only abrogates wild-type p53 function, but also inhibits its "back-up" partners p63 and p73⁵⁸³, thereby leading to a worse outcome than loss of p53 alone. One study suggested that the polymorphism at codon 72 could affect the mutant-p53 interaction¹³⁴ and it was consequently found that mutant p53 R72, which bound more strongly to p73, resulted in a worse response to chemotherapy⁵⁸⁴. However, other studies could not find a link between the polymorphism and p73 binding⁵⁸⁰ or therapy response⁵⁸⁵.

Several reports agree, that the core domain of p53^{575,576,579,581} interacts with the DNA binding domains of p63⁵⁷⁶ and p73⁵⁷⁹, however the extent to which p53's DNA binding conformation influences this interaction has been controversial. While some groups reported that both conformational and DNA contact mutants (R273 and

R248) interacted with p63 and p73^{576,578}, other groups found a correlation of the DNA binding domain unfolding (measured by reactivity with the pAb240 antibody) with the extent of interaction with p63 and p73 and reported DNA contact mutants to bind less efficiently^{134,575}. Even wild-type p53, which was experimentally unfolded was shown to bind p73 and the conformation of the DNA binding domain was postulated as only determinant of the interaction⁵⁸¹. Although the interaction is taking place at the core domain, the C-terminus of mutant p53 was required for promoting invasion towards EGF via TAp63⁵⁸⁶. The repression of TAp63α-activated Luciferase was also affected by deletion of mutant p53's C-terminus⁵⁸⁶, suggesting that other proteins binding here or posttranslational modifications taking place in this region could play a role in the repression of TAp63α.

More recently, it was reported that the structural mutations in the DNA binding domain (such as R175H and R282) exposed an aggregation motif located at amino acids 251 to 257 in the DNA binding domain. This motif, which is located on the S7 β-strand, is buried in the wild-type conformation and its exposure led to aggregation of p53 and also p63 and p73, which contain the same motif within their DNA binding domains. Deletion of the aggregation motif and a single point mutation at isoleucine 254 within the motif prevented this aggregation and alleviated mutant p53 induced repression of p63 and p73⁵⁷⁷. Aggregation of the thermodynamically relatively unstable wild-type p53 DNA binding domain had previously been observed in vitro⁵⁸⁷. The kinetics of p53 aggregation in vitro was determined to follow two-step sequential first order lag kinetics. The first rate-limiting step was found to be the formation of an aggregation competent state, followed by a rapid second polymerisation step⁵⁸⁸. Mutant p53 could also co-aggregate wild-type p53, however the kinetic analysis suggested that aggregates of mutant p53 could not serve to nucleate wild-type p53 aggregation⁵⁸⁹. While it is possible that aggregation is involved in the dominant negative and gain of function mechanism of mutant p53⁵⁹⁰, it is important to consider that most aggregation studies were carried out in vitro and p53 aggregates are only rarely observed in cells.

Patients who carry tumours harbouring p53 mutations, commonly face worse clinical prognosis due to therapy resistance and more invasive tumour behaviour⁵⁹¹⁻⁵⁹³. Since p63 and p73 heterozygous deletions in the p53^{+/-} mouse led to a dramatic increase

in metastasis⁴⁶⁸, it is possible that suppression of p63 and p73 by mutant p53 is responsible for the increase of metastasis observed in the mutant p53 knock-in mice^{540,541}. Indeed, p63 and p73 were found to be bound to R172H p53 and silenced in tumour cells derived from the R172H knock-in mice⁵⁴⁰. It is however not clear, whether the extent of mutant p53 binding fully correlates with the extent by which p63/p73 function is repressed as observed in one study⁵⁷⁵. After all, conformational and DNA contact mutants both show a gain of function for example in mouse models, although the p53^{R172H/+} knock-in mouse showed more metastasis than the p53 ^{R270H/+} knock-in⁵⁴¹.

More evidence on how mutant p53 could induce invasion and metastasis through inhibition of p63 was collected recently: Mutant p53 relieved the TAp63-mediated suppression of α5β1 integrin and EGFR recycling, stimulating invasion towards EGF⁵⁸⁶. A similar effect of mutant p53 on Met recycling and invasion towards HGF was observed later, although this was not strictly TAp63 dependent⁵⁹⁴. Moreover, induced by TGFβ, SMAD bridges a complex of mutant p53 and p63, which results in repression of SHARP1 and Cyclin G2, associated with higher metastasis⁵⁹⁵. Furthermore, mutant p53 represses p63-induced expression of miR-205, which controls the ZEB-1 transcription factor, regulating epithelial to mesenchymal transition⁵⁹⁶.

However, expression of mutant p53 does not simply reflect loss of p63 and p73, exemplified by the tumour spectra of the double heterozygous p53^{+/-};p63^{+/-} and p53^{+/-};p73^{+/-}mice, which are very different from the p53^{+/R172H} mouse which did not develop any squamous cell carcinoma or hepatocellular carcinoma⁴⁶⁸. But mutant p53 also binds to other proteins than p63 and p73. Mutant p53 was recently reported to disrupt the structure of mammary epithelial cells by upregulating the mevalonate pathway via the SREBP transcription factors⁵⁹⁷. Some functions of mutant p53 were also transcription factor independent: It was for example shown recently that mutant p53 interacts with Nardilysin NRD1 to promote invasion towards HB-EGF⁵⁹⁸. Analysing the mechanisms, by which mutant p53 induces the aggressiveness of cancers is crucial in light of cancer therapy. Despite the mouse survival curves of p53 null and mutant p53 mice being similar, the induced metastasis and possibly also chemoresistance would certainly lead to a poorer

treatment prognosis in patients with mutant p53-containing tumours and it would therefore be beneficial to be able to silence mutant p53 activity.

1.7 Targeting p53 for cancer treatment.

Considering p53's multiple role in eliminating faulty cells via apoptosis or senescence, it is clear that it would be beneficial for cancer patients to activate p53 in their tumour cells in order to trigger their destruction. Classic chemo- or radiotherapy relies on p53-induced apoptosis⁵⁹⁹: While radiation induces DNA strand breaks, drugs such as the pyrimidine analogues 5-Fluorouracil (thymidine) and Gemcitabine (cytidine) or the DNA intercalating Doxorubicin and DNA-crosslinking agent Cisplatin interfere with DNA synthesis and mitosis, all of which leads to p53 activation. Since tumour cells are derived from normal cells, it has been challenging to develop therapy strategies, which discriminate between tumour and healthy cell and only target the tumour cells. During systemic delivery of cytotoxic drugs, p53 also induces apoptosis in healthy dividing tissues such as the intestinal epithelium, the pluripotent cells in the bone marrow and hair follicles, leading to nausea, neutropenia and hair loss. It is therefore a priority to develop more targeted therapies with less severe side effects. The fact that every tumour cell has altered its p53 pathway in some way can be used to discriminate tumour cells from normal cells and makes p53 an ideal drug target.

Initially, it was not clear whether restoration of p53 without any further activating DNA damage would lead to regression of tumours. Mouse models demonstrated that p53 restoration even in advanced in tumours could lead to an impressive tumour regression. A switchable p53-knockin triggered apoptosis of tumour cells in the Eµ-Myc lymphoma model⁶⁰⁰ and even brief reactivation of p53 expression (via conditional RNA interference) in a liver carcinoma model led to senescence and clearance of tumour cells by macrophages⁶⁰¹. Restoring p53 in p53 null animals, which had developed spontaneous sarcomas and lymphomas also led to tumour regression and triggered apoptosis in lymphomas and senescence in sarcomas⁶⁰². Thus, although the specific response to p53 restoration seems to depend on the tissue of origin, in all cases, tumours responded and regressed, suggesting that restoration of p53 is a strategy worth pursuing.

1.7.1 Tumours expressing wild-type p53

Tumours that retain wild-type p53 suppress the transcription factor's activity by other means, for example preventing p53's accumulation by MDM2 overexpression. The p53-MDM2 interaction is well defined^{163,511} and inhibiting MDM2, which is amplified in 7% of all cancers⁵²⁵ would alleviate the constant p53 degradation. Indeed, blocking the p53 binding site in MDM2 was shown to be sufficient for activation of p53⁶⁰³. A small molecule MDM2 inhibitor called Nutlin-3a, displacing p53 at MDM2's hydrophobic pocket was developed by Roche and shown to reduce tumourigenicity in xenografts⁶⁰⁴ and is currently in Phase I clinical trials. Efforts have been made by a number of groups to develop other compounds, also targeting the p53-MDM2 interaction. While computational design led to the development of compound YH265⁶⁰⁵, another group successfully developed spirooxindole derivatives, which showed promising activity in mouse models and are scheduled to enter clinical trials later this year⁶⁰⁶.

A reciprocal inhibitor, binding to the MDM2-binding domain in p53, called RITA has also shown anti-tumour activity in xenografts⁶⁰⁷. However, the specificity of this compound is still under debate, since it was also found to activate a DNA-damage pathway exclusively in wild-type p53 cells⁶⁰⁸.

Systemic treatment with an MDM2-inhibitor would inhibit MDM2 and thus possibly activate p53 in all tissues. Thus, concerns over toxicity of this strategy were voiced, particularly after modelling this scenario in the mouse: An MDM2 null mouse with switchable p53 showed extensive damage to bone marrow, thymus, spleen and intestinal epithelium after switching p53 on⁶⁰⁹, suggesting that MDM2-inhibitors could induce severe side effects similar to chemotherapy. However, a further mouse model with a hypomorphic MDM2 allele demonstrated that reduction of MDM2 up to 50% was tolerated⁶¹⁰. Importantly, the extent of MDM2 reduction was sufficient to convey resistance to intestinal adenoma formation in the APC^{min/+} mouse⁶¹⁰. Hence, side effects seem to depend on the extent of MDM2 inactivation and a level of inhibition, which is tolerated, could still exhibit anti-tumour activity. In line with these preclinical models, updates from the phase I clinical trials with the Nutlin-3a-derived compound RG7112 in haematological malignancies and solid tumours suggest that toxicity is

limited. It remains to be determined, whether long-term treatment with MDM2inhibitors could incur other unpleasant side-effects, since a mice with slightly hyperactive p53 showed premature aging⁶¹¹.

Instead of targeting the MDM2-p53 interaction, a screen for inhibitors of MDM2's Ubiquitin E3 ligase activity identified a number of compounds called HLI89⁶¹², which inhibit MDM2 by binding to its RING domain and proved to be a successful alternative approach for stabilising p53⁶¹³.



Figure 1-27: Treatment strategies for stabilising wild-type p53. Different strategies can be implemented to stabilise wild-type p53, either disrupting p53-MDM2 interaction or inhibiting MDM2's ubiquitination activity.

Another way to release MDM2's negative regulation of p53 is via ribosomal stress, since ribosomal proteins are known to interact with MDM2's acidic domain and inhibit its ubiquitination activity. Inhibition of RNA Polymerase I, which leads to nucleolar disruption, was recently shown to activate p53 and selectively kill B-cell lymphoma cells⁶¹⁴. Furthermore, the RNA polymerase II inhibitor Actinomycin D was reported to induce a specific p53 response at low doses without triggering DNA damage⁶¹⁵. Promisingly, treatment of tumour cells resulted in p53-dependent apoptosis, while normal fibroblasts only underwent a temporary G₁ arrest⁶¹⁵. Many systemic therapies seem to induce a different response in normal tissue than in tumour tissue. Nutlin-3a treatment was shown to induce a reversible a cell cycle arrest in normal tissue⁶¹⁶, while induction of apoptosis could be observed in tumours⁶¹⁷. Tumour cells can be considered on the brink of death due to accumulation of genomic alterations, and the high level of stress signalling in this environment might lead to a different activation of p53 than in unstressed normal

tissues. Thus, treatment might activate p53 to induce apoptosis only in cancerous cells but not normal tissue⁶¹⁸.

In line with the drug mechanism, the major determinant for response to MDM2inhbitors is the p53 status⁶¹⁹. In fact, since mutant p53 can also be degraded by MDM2, treatment of mutant p53 lesions could potentially lead to an increase in mutant p53 levels⁵⁴⁴. Moreover, even patients with wild-type p53 tumours could harbour p53 mutations in sun-exposed skin⁶²⁰ or premalignant skin lesions such as moles⁶²¹, and the dormant mutant p53 could potentially be activated by MDM2 inhibitors.

Alongside mutation of p53⁶²², overexpression of MDM2's binding partner MDMX also conveys resistance to treatment with MDM2-inhibitors⁶²³. Surprisingly, although the N-termini of MDM2 and MDMX are very similar, Nutlin-3a does not interact with MDMX and it would therefore be useful to develop an inhibitor targeting both MDM2 and MDMX⁶²⁴. MDMX is frequently amplified in retinoblastoma and two different MDMX inhibitors were developed, which were able to activate p53 and induce apoptosis^{625,626}. Furthermore, 65% of melanomas overexpress MDMX and a stabilised α-helical peptide, derived from the p53 N-terminus⁶²⁷, was recently shown to efficiently inhibit MDMX, reactivate p53 and sensitise melanomas to cytotoxic therapy⁶²⁸.

1.7.2 Tumours expressing no p53

Not all cells harbouring a mutation in their p53 gene actually express a full-length p53 protein. While 74% of mutations recorded in the p53 database are missense mutations, 8% are nonsense mutations and 9% of mutations lead to a frameshift⁵²⁴. Even if truncated proteins might be expressed, these fragments are generally thought not to carry any p53 activity and it can therefore be assumed that around 8.5% of all cancers (if 50% of cancers harbour a p53 mutation, of which 17% contain a frameshift or nonsense mutant) are functionally deficient for p53.

An obvious strategy to treat p53-null tumours is to reintroduce wild-type p53 by gene transfer. The first attempt was made in 1996, when a p53 gene in a retroviral vector was locally injected into non small lung cancer⁶²⁹. While no adverse effects were

observed, gene integration efficacy was poor. The idea was further developed and a Phase I clinical trial launched to treat gliomas by injecting p53 in an adenoviral vector⁶³⁰. Delivery to every tumour cell transpired to be difficult to achieve and no effect on survival could be noted. However, treatment in head and neck squamous carcinoma was more successful, particularly in combination with radiotherapy⁶³¹ and the p53 adenovirus was approved for drug administration in China and launched under the name of Gendicine⁶³².

A different approach was developed at the same time, also involving viruses, but this time making use of the fact that only the tumour cells lack p53 expression, while the normal tissue contains wild-type p53. The investigators engineered an adenovirus to lack the E1B-55K gene, which is required to target p53 for degradation. Usually viral gene transfer will activate p53 and the cell cycle will stop, preventing virus replication. Therefore the adenovirus needs to inactivate the p53 gene in the infected cell, which it does by inducing degradation of the p53 protein via the Ubiguitin-ligase complex of E1B-55K and E4orf6²⁹⁴. Thus, a virus lacking the p53-silencing mechanism will not be able to replicate in wild-type p53-containing cells. However, it will be able to replicate in cells lacking p53, i.e. tumour cells, and lead to their lysis⁶³³. Indeed, the engineered virus named Onyx 015 showed promising tumour-restricted destruction in Phase II clinical trials in head and neck cancers⁶³⁴ and was found to be synergistic with Cisplatin and 5-FU⁶³⁵. However, it was noted that Onyx 015 activity did not entirely correlate with p53 status⁶³⁶, yet the virus still specifically targeted tumour cells, possibly due to differences in their ability to export viral RNA compared to normal cells⁶³⁷. The main problem with Onyx 015, which did not live up to its expectations in Phase III trials, was the limited life cycle due to deletion of the E1B 55K protein⁶³⁸. Nevertheless, the concept was further developed and a similar oncolytic virus called H101 was approved in China⁶³⁹.

Strikingly, the MDM2 inhibitor Nutlin-3a also showed some efficacy in p53 null cells. Since the p53-family member p73 can bind to MDM2 as well and it was proposed that Nutlin-3a treatment releases and induces p73⁶⁴⁰⁻⁶⁴³. MDM2 inhibition might therefore not be restricted to wild-type p53 tumours. Nutlin-3a could also improve response to chemotherapy via p73 in cells expressing mutant p53^{644,645} despite the concerns of stabilising mutant p53 by the MDM2-inhibitor. Indeed, Nutlin-3a was

shown to promote apoptosis independent of p53 in combination with Gemcitabine in cholangiocarcinoma cells⁶⁴⁴ and Doxorubicin in hepatocellular carcinoma cells⁶⁴⁵.

1.7.3 Tumours expressing mutant p53

The majority of p53 mutations in cancers (74%) are missense mutations and result in expression of a full-length protein with a single amino acid exchange⁵²⁴. In most cases, this mutant p53 protein will be present in the tumour, mostly to very high levels, but not in any other tissues, rendering it an ideal target for therapy discriminating between normal and neoplastic tissue. Furthermore, since the mutant p53 protein confers more advantage to the tumour than just a pure p53 loss, abrogation of mutant p53 already leads to reduced tumour malignancy⁶⁴⁶.

With mutant p53 accumulating to high levels in tumour cells, p53-vaccination was attempted as cancer therapy. Since p53-specific T-lymphocytes were observed in the blood of cancer patients, p53 expressed to high levels seemed to be immunogenic, despite its presence at low levels in normal tissue. Mouse models showed remarkable tumour regression induced by p53-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes and T-helper cells^{647,648}. p53 peptides were successfully used to stimulate a specific response against p53 in colorectal cancer patients⁶⁴⁹, however the tumour regression with Survivin and Telomerase at once seems to be more promising⁶⁵⁰. A challenge for this therapy approach is that combination with chemo- or radiotherapy is limited by the factor that cytotoxic therapy tends to be immunosuppressant.

A fascinating observation about mutant p53 folding was made by structural chemists in that a second mutation could refold the DNA binding domain of certain structural mutants to adopt a wild-type like conformation⁶⁵¹. Based on these observations, a small molecule called PhiKan083 was developed, which stabilises the conformation of the p53 Y220C mutant⁶⁵². Although this codon is not a "hot-spot" mutant, the Y220C mutation accounts for 1.8% of all somatic mutations reported in the p53 database⁵²⁴. Residue 220 lies outside the DNA-binding surface, peripheral to the βsandwich with the mutation resulting in the formation of a large destabilising cleft, which is an ideal target for the development of small binding molecules⁶⁵³.

However, ideally, mutant p53 restoring drugs could be applied to more than one specific mutation. The low molecular weight molecule PRIMA-1 was identified in functional screen as suppressing growth of mutant p53 cells⁶⁵⁴. Strikingly, this compound reactivates a range of mutants, of both contact and conformational kind. The initial screen was performed using a p53-null cell line stably expressing the p53 R273H mutant. While restoration of DNA binding domain folding by a binding molecule is understandable, it is surprising, that this molecule also activates the transcriptional activity of DNA contact mutants such as p53 R273H. One explanation might be, that PRIMA induces cell death independent of transcriptional activation by promoting Bax translocation to the mitochondria⁶⁵⁵. Furthermore, PRIMA-1 was shown to induce transcription of apoptotic genes such as caspase-2, Bax and Noxa in mutant p53 cells⁶⁵⁶⁻⁶⁵⁸. Decomposition products of the PRIMA-1 drug were found to alkylate cysteine residues in the p53 DNA-binding domain, providing a mechanism for stabilisation of conformational mutants⁶⁵⁹. A PRIMA-1 analogue, PRIMA-1^{MET}, in combination with Cisplatin showed convincing tumour regression of xenografts harbouring both p53 R175H and p53 R273H⁶⁶⁰ and the drug is currently in Phase I/II trials in haematological malignancies.

Thiosemicarbazone compounds were recently shown to inhibit tumour growth in xenografts in a mutant p53 dependent mechanism. p53 R175H was reactivated, possibly by chelating the zinc ion, which is required to maintain the structure of p53's DNA binding domain and is lost as a result of the R175H mutation⁶⁶¹.

A different screen in A431 cells, which express p53 R273H, identified the small molecule RETRA, which was found to stimulate induction p21 and PUMA. This drug seems to delay tumour formation by releasing p73 from its repression by mutant p53⁶⁶².

A different approach to treating mutant p53 (or p53 null) tumours is by taking advantage of their inability to induce p53 in a setting termed cyclotherapy. Treatment with MDM2-inhibitors such as Nutlin-3a or low dose Actinomycin D results in a reversible G₁ arrest in normal tissue, however the tumour cells lacking wild-type p53 continue to proliferate. Therapy targeting dividing cells, such as the spindle poison paclitaxel now only affects tumour cells, while eliminating the adverse effects on the

intestinal epithelium and bone marrow, since these cells are temporarily arrested. Consistent with this model, Nutlin-3a pre-treatment protected mice from PLK1inhibitor induced neutropenia⁶⁶³ and importantly did not compromise the response of tumour cells to Paclitaxel⁶⁶⁴. Pre-clinical results are looking promising and further studies are under way to determine the best combination of p53-activator as tissue protector and mitotic poison as tumour killer^{665,666}.

1.8 Objectives

p53 plays a central role in both tumour formation and cancer therapy. Furthermore, p53 activity in the wrong moment (such as induction of apoptosis of healthy cells) as well as inactivity, when its actions are needed (such as letting cells with genomic alterations multiply) can have serious consequences. p53 can take up some transcription-independent functions, however most of its actions are controlled via activating and repressing a plethora of different target genes. Much of p53's activity by complex sets of posttranslational modifications. While regulated is phosphorylation, acetylation and ubiquitination of p53 have been extensively studied, the consequences of p53 SUMOylation are still a matter of debate. Particularly, the modification with SUMO-2/3, which is more dynamically conjugated and deconjugated and available in a larger free pool than its close relative SUMO-1, is not well understood. Therefore, this study is aimed at determining how SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53 could be promoted, particularly what role the Ubiquitin- and Nedd8 E3 ligase MDM2 plays in this pathway, and what the consequences of SUMO-2/3 modification are on p53's activity.

Half of all tumour cells do not retain wild-type p53 and expression of mutant p53 is often associated with a poor prognosis. Several studies have suggested that phosphorylation of mutant p53 can modify its oncogenic activity^{573,667,668}, but the impact of other modifications such as SUMOylation on mutant p53 activity have not been explored. In order to block the detrimental gain of function conferred by mutant p53, it is criticial to understand the mechanisms of function of mutant p53 in more depth, including its interaction with the family members p63 and p73. While multiple studies have shown mutant p53 in complex with p63 and p73, it is not clear where this interaction takes place, how binding of the mutant p53 proteins translate into

repression of p63 and p73 or whether this interaction can be regulated. Furthermore, most studies have focused on the interaction with the TA isoforms, however most tumours express the ΔN isoforms of p63 and p73 at much higher levels. Although initially treated as pure inhibitors of the TA isoforms, identification of additional transactivation domains have raised the complexity of roles that the ΔN isoforms can play.

MDM2 inhibitors such as Nutlin-3a not only lead to accumulation of p53, but concomitantly to an increase in MDM2 levels. In the light of MDM2-inhibitors moving into the clinic, the role of MDM2 binding to p63 and p73 and its impact on their activity is important to bear in mind. Again, while TA isoforms were investigated previously, no study to date has addressed the interaction of MDM2 with the Δ N isoforms of p63 and p73. Furthermore, the impact of MDM2 on the mutant p53/p63 or mutant p53/p73 complexes is entirely unknown.

In brief, the main goals of this work were to

- Analyse the mechanism of SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 (Chapter 3).
- Assess the consequences of SUMO-2/3 conjugation on p53 activity (Chapter 4).
- Determine the interplay between mutant p53, p63/p73 and MDM2 (Chapter 5).

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 General Reagents

Reagent	Source
Acetonitrile	Sigma-Aldrich
Acrylamide 29:1 (40%w/v)	National diagnostics
Agar	Sigma-Aldrich
Agarose	Sigma-Aldrich
Ampicillin	Sigma-Aldrich
APS (Ammonium persulfate)	Sigma-Aldrich
Bacto Tryptone	BD Biosciences
Benzonase	Sigma-Aldrich
Blasticidin	Sigma-Aldrich
Blasticidin S Hydrochloride	Sigma-Aldrich
BSA (bovine serum albumin)	Sigma-Aldrich
Calcein	Life Technologies
Complete Protease inhibitor cocktail	Roche
Cycloheximide	Sigma-Aldrich
DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole)	Sigma-Aldrich
DMEM (Dulbecco's modified eagle medium)	Life Technologies
DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide)	Sigma-Aldrich
DTT (dithiothreitol)	Sigma-Aldrich
EDTA	Sigma-Aldrich
Effectene	Qiagen
Ethanol	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Fetal Calf Serum	GE Healthcare
Fibronectin	Sigma-Aldrich
Formaldehyde 16% w/v	TAAB labs
Formic Acid	Sigma-Aldrich
GeneJuice	Novagen, Merck
Glutamine	Life Technologies
HLI 373	A Weissman
lodacetamide	Sigma-Aldrich
IPEGAL CA-630 (NP-40 equivalent)	Sigma-Aldrich
Kanamycin	Sigma-Aldrich
KCI	Thermo Fisher Scientific
KH2PO4	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Leptomycin B	Sigma-Aldrich
Methanol	Thermo Fisher Scientific

MG132	Sigma-Aldrich
MgCl ₂	Sigma-Aldrich
Na2HPO4	Thermo Fisher Scientific
NaCl	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Nutlin-3a	Sigma-Aldrich
Opti-MEM	Life Technologies
Orange G	Sigma-Aldrich
Penicillin-Streptomyicin	Life technologies
PI (Propidium Iodide)	Sigma-Aldrich
Pierce ECL (enhanced chemiluminescence) reagent	Thermo Fisher Scientific
Polybrene	Sigma-Aldrich
SDS (sodium dodecyl sulphate)	Thermo Fisher Scientific
TEMED (Tetramethylethylenediamine) Sigma	Sigma-Aldrich
Trichloroacetic acid	Sigma-Aldrich
Triethyl Ammonium Bicarbonate buffer (TEAB)	Sigma-Aldrich
Tris-HCI	Sigma-Aldrich
Triton X-100 Sigma	Sigma-Aldrich
Trypsin 2.5%	Life Technologies
Tween-20 Sigma	Sigma-Aldrich
Urea	Sigma-Aldrich
Vectashield Hard Set	Vector Laboratories
Whatman Nitrocellulose membrane Protran 0.2µm	VWR
Yeast Extract	Sigma-Aldrich
β-Mercaptoethanol	Sigma-Aldrich

Table 2-1: General Reagents

2.1.2 Solutions and Buffers

Lysogeny Broth (LB) 1% Bacto-Tryptone 86 mM NaCl 0.5% Yeast Extract

LB Agar

1% Bacto-Tryptone 86 mM NaCl 0.5% Yeast Extract 1.5% Agar Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) 170 mM NaCl 3.3 mM KCl 1.8 mM Na₂HPO₄ 10.6 mM KH₂PO₄ pH 7.4 Tris Buffered Saline (TBS) 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4 147 mM NaCl 5 mM KCl **TBS-Tween** 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4 147 mM NaCl 5 mM KCl 0.1% Tween 20 Tris-EDTA (TE) 10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0 1mM EDTA **3x SDS Sample Buffer** 15% β-Mercaptoethanol 30% Glycerol 9% SDS 188 mM Tris pH 6.8 0.1% Orange G SDS-PAGE Running Buffer 0.1% SDS 192 mM Glycine 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.3 **Electroblotting Buffer** 192 mM Glycine 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.3 20% Methanol NP-40 Buffer 150 mM NaCl 50 mM Tris pH 8.0 1% IPEGAL (NP-40 equivalent) **HUNT Buffer** 20 mM Tris pH 8 120 mM NaCl 1 mM EDTA 0.5% IPEGAL

SUMO assay lysis buffer 1 1% SDS 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4 147 mM NaCl 5 mM KCl

SUMO assay lysis buffer 2 1.5% Triton X-100 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4 147 mM NaCl 5 mM KCl

Resolving Gel 8-12% acrylamide 375 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.8 0.1% SDS 0.1% APS 50 mM TEMED

Stacking Gel 5% acrylamide 0.4% SDS 500 mM Tris pH 6.8

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Cells

H1299 cells (p53-null human non-small-cell lung adenocarcinoma cells), HCT116 cells with and without wild-type p53 (human colorectal carcinoma cells), A2780 cells (wild type p53 expressing ovarian cancer cells), U2OS cells (wild type p53 expressing human osteosarcoma cells), Hek293T cells (human embryonic kidney cells, transformed with SV40 large T antigen) and Phoenix cells expressing the ecotropic receptor were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum, 2 mM glutamine and antibiotics.

2.2.2 DNA preparation

Competent E. coli DH5a bacteria (Molecular Services, Beatson Institute) were transformed with plasmid DNA by mixing 0.5 µg DNA with 50 µl competent bacteria. After incubation on ice for 30 min, the bacteria-DNA mix was heat-shocked at 42°C

for 45 seconds. 200 μl LB was added and incubated shaking at 37°C for an hour. The bacteria suspension was spread on LB agar plates containing 100 μg/ml Ampicillin or 50 μg/ml Kanamycin upside down over night at 37°C to grow colonies.

Single colonies were picked and left shaking over night at 37°C in LB with 100 µg/ml Ampicillin or 50 µg/ml Kanamycin using 5 ml for small scale DNA preparation (mini prep) and 200 ml for large scale DNA preparation (maxi prep).

Small-scale preparation of DNA was performed by the Beatson Molecular Technology Services with the QIAgen BioRobot 9600 according to the QIAprep 96 Plus Miniprep protocol. Large-scale DNA preparations were carried out by the Beatson Molecular Technology services using the Invitrogen Purelink plasmid filter purification kit according to the manual.

2.2.3 Plasmids

The following plasmids were used in this study:

Plasmid	Source
pcDNA3 empty	Life Technologies
pcB6+ empty	from L Lamis
pcDNA3 p53 (72R)	published ⁴¹³
pcDNA3 p53 (72P)	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3.1 mouse p53	from K Ryan
pcDNA3 p53 K386R	published ⁴¹³
pcDNA3 p53 E388A	published ⁴¹³
pWZLneo p53	from K Ryan
pWZL neo p53 K386R	site-directed mutagenesis
pWZL neo p53 E388A	site-directed mutagenesis
pWZL blast p53	from A Vigneron
pWZL blast p53 R175H	site-directed mutagenesis
pWZL blast p53 R273H	site-directed mutagenesis
pWZL p53 R248W	site-directed mutagenesis
pWZL p53 I254R	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 (72R)	published ⁵⁴⁴
pcB6+ flag p53 (72P)	published ⁶⁶⁹
pcB6+ p53 Δl	published ⁶⁶⁹
pcB6+ p53 ΔII	published ⁶⁶⁹

pcB6+ p53 ΔNLS (L305A, R306A, L319-321A)	published ⁴¹³
pcB6+ p53 ΔNES (L348A, L350A)	published ⁴¹³
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H	published ⁵⁴⁴
pcB6+ p53 R273H	published ⁵⁴⁴
pcB6+ flag p53 l254R	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 C277Y	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 R248W	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H I254R	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ p53 R273H I254R	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 Δ96-312	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H Δ95-150	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 l254R ∆150-200	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H Δ201-250	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H Δ251-312	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H Δ251-257	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ p53 ΔΤΕΤ	$= pcB6+ p53 \Delta NES$
pcB6+ p53 R175H ΔΤΕΤ	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ p53 R273H ΔΤΕΤ	site-directed mutagenesis
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H ∆347	published ⁵⁸⁶
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H Δ363	mutated by L. Jobeili
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H ∆370	published ⁵⁸⁶
pcB6+ flag p53 R175H Δ380	mutated by L. Jobeili
pcB6+ p53 R273H Δ347	published ⁵⁸⁶
pcB6+ p53 R273H Δ363	mutated by L. Jobeili
pcB6+ p53 R273H Δ370	published ⁵⁸⁶
pcB6+ p53 R273H Δ380	mutated by L.Jobeili
pCHDM1A MDM2	published ¹¹³
pCHDM1A MDM2 Δ58-89	published ¹¹³
pCHDM1A MDM2 ΔAD (Δ222-437)	published ⁶⁷⁰
pCHDM1A MDM2 ΔRING (1-440)	published ⁶⁷⁰
pCHDM1A MDM2 C464A	published ¹³⁶
pCHDM1A MDM2 NoLS (466-473 Ala)	published ²¹³
pCHDM1A MDM2 ΔAD NoLS	site-directed mutagenesis
pCHDM1A MDM2 C305F	site-directed mutagenesis
pCHDM1A MDM2 C319R	site-directed mutagenesis
pCHDM1A MDM2 ΔAD K185R	site-directed mutagenesis
pCHDM1A MDM2 Δ AD Δ NLS (181T 183L)	site-directed mutagenesis
pCHDM1A MDM2 Δ9 (483 stop)	published ¹⁷⁴
pCHDM1A MDM2 ΔAD SIM1 (L107S V110D)	site-directed mutagenesis
pCHDM1A MDM2 ΔAD SIM2 (L199R I202R)	site-directed mutagenesis

pCHDM1A MDM2 ΔAD SIM1+2	site-directed mutagenesis
(L107S V110D L199R I202R)	
pCHDM1A MDM2 ΔAD Δ9 (483 stop)	site-directed mutagenesis
pCHDM1A MDM2 Δ58-89 C464A	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 flag MDM2 ΔAD	site-directed mutagenesis
peGFP MDM2	cloned by R. Ludwig
peGFP MDM2 ΔAD (Δ222-437)	site-directed mutagenesis
peGFP MDM2 C464A	site-directed mutagenesis
peGFP MDM2 Δ9	site-directed mutagenesis
peGFP MDM2 ΔAD Δ9	site-directed mutagenesis
pWZL Blast MDM2	from K Ryan
pWZL Blast MDM2 ΔAD	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 myc MDMX	published ⁶⁷¹
pcDNA3 p14 ^{ARF}	published ⁶⁷²
flag-L11	published ¹⁸⁸
pMT123 HA-Ubiquitin	from R Hay ⁵⁴⁴
pcDNA3 HA-SUMO-3	from R Hay ⁶⁷³
pcDNA3 HA-SUMO-1	from R Hay ³⁹³
pcDNA3 HA-SUMO-3 QFI (Q30A F31A I33A)	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-SUMO-3 K11R	site-directed mutagenesis
p53-SUMO-3	from S Carter
p53-SUMO-3 QFI (Q30A F31A I33A)	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 SV5-Ubc9	from R Hay
pCMX PML1	published ⁶⁷⁴
pBOS YFP-RNF4	from R Hay ⁶⁷⁵
pCMV CD20	published ⁶⁷⁶
pcDNA3 TAp63a	from C de Fromentel ⁶⁷⁷
рсDNA3 НА-ТАр63a	from G Melino ⁶⁷⁸
ρcDNA3 ΗΑ-ΔΝρ63α	from G Melino ⁶⁷⁹
pcDNA3 HA-TAp63α Δ70-161	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp63α Δ161-261	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp63α Δ263-361	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp63α Δ362-461	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp63α Δ462-561	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp63a ΔQQ (Δ398-411)	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp63α ΔDBD (Δ138-319)	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-ΔNp63α ΔDBD (Δ84-265)	site-directed mutagenesis

pcDNA3 HA-TAp73a	from G Melino ⁴⁷⁹
pcDNA3 HA-TAp73a Simian	published ⁴⁸²
ρcDNA3 ΗΑ-ΔΝρ73α	from G Melino
pcDNA3 HA-TAp73α Δ47-130	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp73a ΔDBD (Δ131-307)	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp73α Δ308-386	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp73α Δ387-500	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp73α Δ131-223	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-TAp73α Δ224-307	site-directed mutagenesis
pcDNA3 HA-ΔNp73α ΔDBD (Δ82-258)	site-directed mutagenesis
Bax Luciferase	published ⁴⁸²
PG13 Luciferase	published ³⁰
BPAG1 Luciferase	from G Melino ⁶⁸⁰
K14 Luciferase	from G Melino ⁶⁷⁹
TK Renilla	published ⁵⁸⁶

Table 2-2: Plasmids

2.2.4 Site-directed Mutagenesis

Site-directed mutagenesis was performed using the KOD Hot Start Master Mix (MERCK Biosciences). 60 ng of plasmid DNA was mixed with 10 µM forward and reverse mutagenesis primer and 25 µl KOD Master Mix (containing reaction buffer with MgSO₄, deoxynucleotides and KOD Hot Start Polymerase) in a 50 µl reaction. PCR-cycles were run according to the following programme: 2 min 95° hot start and 20 cycles of 20 sec denaturation at 95°, annealing at 55° and 4 min elongation at 70°. Mutagenesis primers were synthesised and purified by Eurofins MWG Operon.

p53 K386R fw	aaa ctc atg ttc agg aca gaa ggg cct gac
p53 K386R re	gtc agg ccc ttc tgt cct gaa cat gag ttt
p53 E388A fw	ctc atg ttc aag aca gca ggg cct gac tca gac
p53 E388A re	gtc tga gtc agg ccc tgc tgt ctt gaa cat gag
p53 72P fw	gag gct gct ccc ccc gtg gcc cct gc
p53 72P re	gca ggg gcc acg ggg gga gca gcc tc
p53 R175H fw	acg gag gtt gtg agg cac tgc ccc cac cat gag cgc tgc t
p53 R175H re	agc agc gct cat ggt ggg ggc agt gcc tca caa cct ccg t
p53 R273H fw	act ggg acg gaa cag ctt tga ggt gca tgt ttg tgc ctg tcc tgg g
p53 R273H re	ccc agg aca ggc aca aac atg cac ctc aaa gct gtt ccg tcc cagt
p53 I254R fw	gaa ccg gag gcc cat cct cac ccg cat cac act gga aga ctc c

p53 I254R re	gga gtc ttc cag tgt gat gcg ggt gag gat ggg cct ccg gtt c
p53 C277Y fw	gag gtg cgt gtt tgt gcc tat cct ggg aga gac cgg cgc ac
p53 C277Y re	gtg cgc cgg tct ctc cca gga tag gca caa aca cgc acc tc
p53 R248W fw	ctg cat ggg cgg cat gaa ctg gag gcc cat cct cac cat cat c
p53 R248W re	gat gat ggt gag gat ggg cct cca gtt cat gcc gcc cat gca g
p53 ∆96-312 fw	ccc tcc tgg ccc ctg tca tct agc tcc tct ccc cag cca aag
p53 ∆96-312 re	ctt tgg ctg ggg aga gga gct aga tga cag ggg cca gga ggg
p53 ∆95-150 fw	ccc cct cct ggc ccc tgt cac ccc gcc cgg cac ccg cgt ccg
p53 ∆95-150 re	cgg acg cgg gtg ccg ggc ggg gtg aca ggg gcc agg agg ggg
p53 ∆151-200 fw	cag ctg tgg gtt gat tcc aca ttg cgt gtg gag tat ttg g
p53 ∆151-200 re	cca aat act cca cac gca atg tgg aat caa ccc aca gct g
p53 ∆201-250 fw	ctt atc cga gtg gaa gga aat atc ctc acc atc atc aca ctg
p53 ∆201-250 re	cag tgt gat gat ggt gag gat att tcc ttc cac tcg gat aag
p53 ∆251-312 fw	cgg cat gaa ccg gag gcc cag ctc ctc tcc cca gcc aaa ga
p53 ∆251-312 re	tct ttg gct ggg gag agg agc tgg gcc tcc ggt tca tgc cg
p53 ∆251-257 fw	ggc ggc atg aac cgg agg ccc gaa gac tcc agt ggt aat cta c
p53 Δ251-257 re	gta gat tac cac tgg agt ctt cgg gcc tcc ggt tca tgc cgc c

Table 2-3: p53 primers

MDM2 222-437 fw	cta cag gga cgc cat cga att gtg tga ttt gtc aag gtc g
MDM2 Δ222-437 re	cga cct tga caa atc aca caa ttc gat ggc gtc cct gta g
MDM2 C464A fw	cag gac atc tta tgg cct gct tta cag ctg caa aga agc taa
MDM2 C464A re	tta gct tct ttg cag ctg taa agc agg cca taa gat gtc ctg
MDM2 Δ 9 fw	gta gac aac caa ttt aaa tga ttg tgc taa c
MDM2 $\Delta 9$ re	gtt agc aca atc att taa att ggt tgt cta c
MDM2 Δ58-89 fw	gaa aga ggt tct ttt tta tct tag ctt ctc tgt gaa aga gca c
MDM2 Δ58-89 re	gtg ctc ttt cac aga gaa gct aag ata aaa aag aac ctc ttt c
MDM2 ANLS fw	ctg gtg aac gac aaa caa aac tcc aca aat ctg ata g
MDM2 ANLS re	cta tca gat ttg tgg agt ttt gtt tgt cgt tca cca g
MDM2 K185R fw	gaa aac gcc aca gat ctg ata gta
MDM2 K185R re	tac tat cag atc tgt ggc gtt ttc
MDM2 C305F fw	cta ttg gaa att cac ttc atg caa tg
MDM2 C305F re	cat tgc atg aag tga att tcc aat ag
MDM2 C319 fw	ctt cca tca cat cgc aac aga tgt tg
MDM2 C319 re	caa cat ctg ttg cga tgt gat gga ag
MDM2 SIM1 fw	cat gat cta cag gaa ctc ggt agt aga caa tca gca gga atc
MDM2 SIM1 re	gat tcc tgc tga ttg tct act acc gag ttc ctg tag atc atg
MDM2 SIM2 fw	gat gaa agc ctg gct cgg tgt gta aga agg gag ata tgt tg
MDM2 SIM2 re	caa cat atc tcc ctt ctt aca cac cga gcc agg ctt tca tc

Table 2-4: MDM2 primers

SUMO-3 K11R fw	caa gga ggg tgt gag gac aga gaa tga c
SUMO-3 K11R re	gtc att ctc tgt cct cac acc ctc ctt g
SUMO-3 QFI fw	ggc tcc gtg gtg gcg gcc aag gcc aag agg cac a
SUMO-3 QFI re	tgt gcc tct tgg cct tgg ccg cca cca cgg agc c

Table 2-5: SUMO primers

TAp63a Δ70-161 fw	gac tgt atc cgc atg cag gac ctc tac tgc caa att gca aag
TAp63α Δ70-161 re	ctt tgc aat ttg gca gta gag gtc ctg cat gcg gat aca gtc
TAp63a ∆162-261 fw	gta ttc cac tga act gaa gaa aac agt ctt gta caa ttt cat g
TAp63α Δ162-261 re	cat gaa att gta caa gac tgt ttt ctt cag ttc agt gga ata c
TAp63a Δ263-361 fw	tgg cac tga att cac gac att ata ctt acc agt gag ggg c
TAp63a Δ263-361 re	gcc cct cac tgg taa gta taa tgt cgt gaa ttc agt gcc a
TAp63a Δ362-461 fw	gat ccc cag atg atg aac tgg cca aca ttc cca tga tgg g
TAp63a Δ362-461 re	ccc atc atg gga atg ttg gcc agt tca tca tct ggg gat c
TAp63a Δ462-561 fw	cca ttc ctg gca tgg gaa tcc tgg acc acc ggc agc tc
TAp63a Δ462-561 re	gag ctg ccg gtg gtc cag gat tcc cat gcc atc agg aat gg
TAp63α ΔQQ (Δ398- 411) fw	cac aca att gaa acg tac agg acc tca ata cag tct cca tc
TAp63α ΔQQ (Δ398- 411) re	gat gga gac tgt att gag gtc ctg tac gtt tca att gtg tg
TAp63a Δ138-319 fw	ccc agg ccc gca cag ttt cat cag aaa gca gca agt ttc g
TAp63a Δ138-319 re	cga aac ttg ctg ctt tct gat gaa act gtg cgg gcc tgg g

Table 2-6: p63 primers

ggt ggt ggg cgg aac gga ttt cca gca gtc cag cac ggc c
ggc cgt gct gga ctg ctg gaa atc cagt tcc gcc cac cac c
ccc acc act ttg agg tca ctc act acc ggg agc agc agg c
gcc tgc tgc tcc cgg tag tga gtg acc tca aag tgg tgg g
ccg aaa agc tga tga gga cga ctc cta tcg gca gca gca g
ctg ctg ccg ata gga gtc gtc ctc atc agc ttt tcg g
ggt gcc gca gcc act ggt ggg gtg tcc aaa ctg cat cga g
ctc gat gca gtt tgg aca ccc cac cag tgg ctg cgg cac c
cca cca ctt tga ggt cac tca gta tgt gga tga ccc tgt c
gac agg gtc atc cac ata ctg agt gac ctc aaa gtg gtg g
gga agg caa taa tct ctc gca cta ccg gga gca gca ggc c
ggc ctg ctg ctc ccg gta gtg cga gag att att gcc ttc c

Table 2-7: p73 primers

2.2.5 DNA Sequencing

Correct site-directed mutagenesis products were confirmed by DNA sequencing. DNA was sequenced by the Beatson Molecular Technology Services on an Applied Biosystems 3130xl genetic analyser. The results were analysed using the ApE plasmid editor v1.17.

The following sequencing primers were used (synthesised and purified by Eurofins MWG Operon):

Primer name	Sequence	
CMV fw	cgc aaa tgg gcg gta ggc gtg	
p53 fw	ggt tca ctg aag acc cag gtc c	
p53 121	tct gtg act tgc acg tac	
p53 221	gag ccg cct gag gtt ggc	
MDM2 3 fw	gtg caa tac caa cat g	
MDM2 317	ctt ggt agt caa tca gca	
MDM2 430 re	cct gaa gct ctt gta caa ggt	
MDM2 628	gca gta gca gtg aat cta cag g	
MDM2 663 re	atc cgg att cga tgg cgt c	
MDM2 946	cat cac att gca aca gat gt	
MDM2 1248	gaa gaa acc caa gac aaa g	
MDM2 1476 re	cta ggg gaa ata agt tag cac aat c	
p63A fw	ccc tcg ccc tac gca cag ccc agc tcc	
p63A re	gga gct ggg ctg tgc gta ggg cga ggg	
p63 B fw	cag tct tgt aca att tca tgt gta aca gc	
p63 B re	gct gtt aca cat gaa att gta caa gac tg	
p63 C fw	cct caa tac agt ctc cat ctt cat atg g	
p63 C re	cca tat gaa gat gga gac tgt att gag g	
p63 D fw	cct gag caa ttt cga cat gcg gtc tgg aag	
p63 D re	ctt cca gac cgc atg tcg aaa ttg ctc agg	
TAp73 103 fw	agc cgg ggg aat aat gag gt	
TAp73 403 fw	agc acg gcc aag tca gcc ac	
TAp73 717 fw	cta tga gcc acc aca ggt gg	
TAp73 1079 fw	gag gcc ggg aga act ttg ag	
TAp73 1418 fw	agt cca tgg tct cgg ggt cc	

Table 2-8:	Sequencing	primers
------------	------------	---------
2.2.6 Transfections

Cells were transfected with Effectene (QIAgen) or GeneJuice (MERCK Biosciences). For SUMOylation studies p53 and MDM2 plasmids were transfected in a ratio of 3:1. For co-immunoprecipitation studies plasmids encoding the interaction partners were transfected in a 1:1 ratio.

For Effectene transfections 7.5×10^5 cells per 10 cm plate were seeded in 10 ml medium and grown for 24 hours. 2 µg plasmid DNA was diluted in DNAcondensation buffer EC to a total volume of 300 µl. 16 µl Enhancer was added, mixed by vortexing and incubated 5 minutes at room temperature. 60 µl Effectene reagent was added, mixed by vortexing and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature to allow formation of the transfection-complexes. Medium on the cell dishes was replaced by 4 ml fresh medium. The Effectene transfection mix was diluted in 1 ml medium and added drop-wise to the cell dishes. Cells were harvested 24 hours later.

For GeneJuice transfection 7.5 x 10⁵ cells were seeded per 10 cm plate in 6 ml medium. 24 hours later, cells were transfected with 5-6 µg DNA. 15 to 18 µl GeneJuice was incubated in 300 µl OptiMem (Life Technology) and incubated for 5 minutes. DNA was added, mixed by pipetting up and down and incubated for 10 minutes. The transfection mix was added to the plates drop-wise and cells were harvest 20-24 hours later. Smaller dishes were transfected with the same medium-DNA-GeneJuice ratio, amounts were scaled down according to plate surface area.

For retroviral infections 10 cm plates of Phoenix cells were transfected with GeneJuice. The virus-containing supernatant was collected 36, 48 and 60 hours later, 4 μ g/ml Polybrene was added and transferred to 10 cm plates growing H1299 cells at 50% confluency for retroviral infection.

2.2.7 SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting

SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was performed as previously described⁶⁸¹. Samples were boiled in sample buffer for 5 min at 99°C and loaded on SDS-polyacrylamide gels with 8-12% acrylamide content depending on the protein size.

Electrophoresis was performed in SDS-PAGE buffer at 90-120 V on Hoefer Mighty Small vertical units SE250 (Amersham). Protein was transferred to nitrocellulose membrane in Blotting buffer by Western blotting as previously described^{682,683} using the Hoefer TE22 Mini transfer tank (Amersham) at 200 mA for 2 hours. Membranes were blocked in 5% milk powder in TBS-T for one hour and incubated with primary antibodies over night at 4°C. The following antibodies were used for blotting (1:1000 dilution) and immunoprecipitation (5 µl):

target	antibody name and supplier
human p53	DO-1 (aa 20-25) (Beatson Molecular Services) ⁶⁸⁴
human p53	1801 (aa 46-55) (Beatson Molecular Services) ⁶⁸⁵
wild-type p53	1620 (Calbiochem) ⁶⁸⁶
unfolded p53	240 (Calbiochem) ⁶⁸⁷
murine p53	1C12 (Cell Signaling Technology)
MDM2	Ab-1 (Calbiochem, Merck)
p21	C19 (Santa Cruz, Insight Biotechnology)
p14 ^{ARF}	4037, raised in rabbit ⁶⁷²
flag-tag	Flag-M2-HRP (Sigma-Aldrich)
HA-tag	16B12 (Covance, Cambridge Bioscience)
SV5-tag	SV5-PK1 (AbD Serotec)
SUMO-1	PW8330 (Enzo Life Sciences)
SUMO-2/3	PW9465 (Enzo Life Sciences)
MDMX	A300-287A (Bethyl Laboratories, Cambridge Bioscience)
GCN5	H-75 (Santa Cruz, Insight Biotechnology)
LDHB	2H6 (Sigma-Aldrich)
PML	H-238 (Santa Cruz, Insight Biotechnology
p63	BC4A4 (Santa Cruz, Insight Biotechnology)
Actin	C4 (Chemicon, Merck)
GFP	7.1/13.1 (Roche)

Table 2-9: Primary antibodies

Rat anti mouse IgK Light Chain HRP	BD Biosciences
Rabbit anti goat IgG HRP-linked	Amersham, GF Healthcare
Donkey anti rabbit HRP-linked	Amersham, GE Healthcare
Sheep anti mouse IgG HRP-linked	Amersham, GE Healthcare

Table 2-10: Secondary antibodies

After three washes in TBS-T, membranes were incubated with horseradishperoxidase (HRP) conjugated secondary antibodies at 1:10 000 dilution for 2 hours. Proteins were visualised by Pierce ECL reagent, using Fuji Medical X-Ray Film Super RX 18x24 on an AGFA classic E.O.S film processor.

2.2.8 SUMOylation and Ubiquitination of p53 in cells

Cells were seeded in 10 cm plates to reach 70% confluency 24 hours prior to transfection with Effectene (QIAgen) or GeneJuice (MERCK Biosciences) reagent. 24 hours later cells were scraped off the plate, washed with PBS and lysed in 200 µl SUMO assay lysis buffer 1. The lysate was boiled for 10 minutes with intermediate vortexing and diluted with 400 µl SUMO assay lysis buffer 2. Lysates were precleared with 25 µl Protein G Sepharose FastFlow (Sigma) for 1 hour and p53 was immunoprecipitated with 5 µl DO-1 antibody and 30 µl Protein G beads over night. Beads were washed 3 times with HUNT buffer and taken up in 3x sample buffer.

2.2.9 Immunoprecipitation under native conditions

Cells were transfected at 70% confluency in 10 cm plates with 2-3 µg DNA for each protein (5-6 µg total DNA per plate) using GeneJuice. 24 hours later, cells were scraped off the plates, washed in PBS and lysed in NP-40 buffer with proteasome inhibitor cocktail. The suspension was frozen and thawed three times and debris spun down. Immunoprecipitation was carried out with 5 µl antibody and 30 µl Protein G Dynabeads (Invitrogen) over night, rotating at 4°C. Beads were washed three times with NP-40 buffer and resuspended in 3x sample buffer.

2.2.10 Immunofluorescence staining

Cells were grown on coverslips in 12-well plates and transfected when cells were 30-40% confluent. 24 hours after transfection coverslips were rinsed with PBS. Cells were fixed in 4% w/v formaldehyde in PBS for 15 min at 4°C. Coverslips were washed 3 times with PBS and cells permeabilised with 0.2% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 min. Coverslips were washed 3 times with PBS and incubate in 5% BSA in PBS for 30 min to block unspecific binding. Proteins were stained with 150 µl primary antibody solution (p53: 1:200 DO-1, MDM2: 1:100 Ab1 and Ab2, PML: 1:100 PML

H-238) in 5% BSA/PBS over night. Coverslips were washed three times with PBS and incubated with 150 µl secondary antibody in 5% BSA (1:150 Alexa Fluor 594 (red), Alexa Fluor 488 (green) and DAPI 1:1000 for 60 min. After further 3 PBS washes, coverslips were mounted on slides with Vectashield hard set. Confocal images were taken at an Olympus FV100 microscope.

2.2.11 Cellular fractionation

Fractionation into cytoplasmic and nuclear fraction was carried out with Epigentek's Nuclear Extraction Kit. Cells were seeded to 70% confluency in 10 cm dishes the day before transfection. Transfection was performed with GeneJuice. 24 hours later, cells were trypsinated off the plate and spun down (5 min, 1000rpm). The outer membrane was lysed in 200 µl NE1 buffer supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail and 10 µM iodacetamid to prevent deSUMOylation and incubated on ice for 20 min. Organelles and debris were spun down at 800g for 5 minutes and supernatant collected as cytoplasmic fraction. The pellet was washed twice in 200 µl NE1 buffer and resuspended in 200 µl NE2 buffer containing proteinase inhibitor, benzonase and 10 µM iodacetamid. During 15 minutes of incubation on ice the mix was vortexed every 3 minutes, then cell debris was spun down at full speed for 10 minutes and supernatant collected as nuclear fraction. Successful fractionation was confirmed using LDHB as cytoplasmic and GCN5 as nuclear marker. For subsequent SUMO-analysis both cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions were then boiled in 1% SDS and subject to an in vivo SUMO assay.

2.2.12 Analysis of half-life by Cycloheximide treatment

Cells were transfected with p53, SUMO and MDM2 using GeneJuice. 24 hours later, medium was removed and replaced with medium containing 200 µg/ml Cycloheximide to block protein translation. In order to assess protein stability, dishes were harvested at 0, 1.5, 3 and 4.5 hours time points after translation block. Samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting and primary antibody incubation as usual. Membranes were then incubated with the infrared fluorescently labelled IRDye 800CW Goat anti-mouse secondary antibody (Licor) and infrared fluorescence intensity was quantitated with the Licor Odyssey imaging system.

2.2.13 Oligomerisation Assay

HCT116 p53^{-\-} cells were transfected with MDM2 ΔAD and either wild-type or SUMO consensus mutant p53 (E388A, K386R). Cells were lysed in 1 ml NP40 buffer supplemented with 10 µM lodacetamide to block deSUMOylation. Half of the lysate was cross-linked with 0.01% Glutaraldehyde for 20 minutes on ice. Cross-linking was stopped by addition of 3x SDS sample buffer. Samples of lysates with and without cross-linking reagent were run on a 6% polyacrylamide gel.

2.2.14 Luciferase assays

Cells were seeded to 70% confluency into 24-wells for transfection using GeneJuice (Fig 4-9: 10 or 100 ng p53, 30 ng MDM2 Δ AD, 20 ng TK Renilla Luciferase and 100 ng PG13 or Bax Luciferase; Fig: 5-6 and 5-7: 25 or 100 ng MDM2 C464A, 75 ng p53, p63 or p73, 25 ng TK Renilla and 75 ng BPAG1 Luciferase; Fig 5-25: 25 or 100 ng p53 constructs, 50 ng TAp63a, 25 ng Renilla, 100 ng K14 Luciferase). 24 hours after transfection, cells were lysed in 100 µl lysis buffer provided by the Promega Renilla Luciferase Kit for 30 minutes at 4°C. 20 µl lysate were transferred to luminometer plates and readings with both Renilla and Luciferase substrate (Promega Dual Luciferase Kit) were carried out at the Veritas Microplate luminometer (Turner Biosystems) using the Glomax Software. Relative Luciferase units were determined by dividing the Luciferase readings by the values obtained for Renilla Luciferase to correct for cell number and transfection efficiency. Data was plotted as fold change to p53-null control readings. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean for 3 independent experiments.

2.2.15 RNA extraction and Realtime-PCR

H1299 cells were retrovirally infected with pWZL blast MDM2 Δ AD and selected for 5 days in 5 µg/ml Blasticidin. RNA was extracted using the RNeasy kit from QlAgen, following the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA was synthesised from 1 µg RNA using Oligo d(T) primers and the DyNAmo SYBR Green two-step kit (Finnzymes) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The Realtime PCR reaction was performed on 5 µl cDNA, diluted 1:20 using the DyNAmo SYBR Green two-step kit (Finnzymes).

The amount of fluorescent PCR product accumulating during the PCR programme (15 min 95°C hot start, 40 cycles of 20 sec denaturing at 94°C, 30 sec annealing at 60°C and 30 sec elongation 72°C; final elongation 10 min 72°C) was detected by the Chromo4 Reader (Bio-Rad) and analysed using the Opticon Monitor 3 software. Gene expression was quantified relative to the housekeeping genes β_2 -microglobulin and ribosomal protein, large, P0 (RPLP0) according to the comparative $\Delta\Delta C_t$ -method. Results are presented relative to target gene induction by wild-type p53. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean of three independent experiments.

The following primers were used (all primers only amplified one product):

RPLP0 fw	gca atg ttg cca gtg tct g
RPLP0 re	gcc ttg acc ttt tca gca a
B2M fw	gtg ctc gcg cta ctc tct c
B2M re	gtc aac ttc aat gtc gga t
p21 fw	ctg gag act ctc agg gtc gaa a
p21 re	gat tag ggc ttc ctc ttg gag aa
MIC-1 fw	gtt gca ctc cga aga ctc ca
MIC-1 re	gag aga tac gca ggt gca gg
Bax fw	ggg ttg tcg ccc ttt tct act t
Bax re	cagc cca tga tgg ttc tga tca g
Cdk1 fw	ctt gcc aga gct ttt gga ata c
Cdk1 re	ttc tga atc ccc atg gaa aa
Cyclin A ₂ fw	cct gca aac tgc aaa gtt ga
Cyclin A ₂ re	tgc tgt ggt gct ttg agg ta
Cyclin B ₂ fw	ttg cag tcc ata aac cca ca
Cyclin B ₂ re	gaa gcc aag agc aga gca gt

Table 2-11: Quantitative Realtime PCR primers

2.2.16 MIC-1 ELISA

The MIC-1 ELISA was performed using the human GDF-15 Quantikine ELISA Kit (R&D Systems). Medium of H1299 cells retrovirally infected with empty vector, wild-type p53, p53 K386R or p53 E388A and MDM2 Δ AD was collected. 50 µl medium from each condition (in triplicate) or standards were mixed with 100 µl assay diluent RD1-9 and incubated on the microplate for 2 hours at room temperature. Wells were

washed four times with 400 µl wash buffer and plate dried upside down on paper towels. 200 µl MIC-1 conjugate was added to each well and incubated for one hour. Wells were washed four times with wash buffer. 100 µl Substrate solution A and 100 µl Substrate solution B were added to each well and incubated in the dark for 30 minutes. 50 µl of stop solution was added to each well and optical density at 450 nm determined on a microplate reader. Measurements were corrected for plate imperfections by subtracting readings at 540 nm. A standard curve was generated using MIC-1 concentrations in a range of 23.4 pg/ml to 1500 pg/ml.

2.2.17 Flow Cytometry

Cells were transfected with empty vector or p53 constructs and MDM2 ΔAD, SUMO-3 and CD20 using GeneJuice 24 hours prior to harvesting. Media was collected from each plate and plates were washed with 2 ml PBS containing 2.6 mM EDTA (PBS/EDTA). PBS was collected and combined with previously collected media. Cells were incubated with 2 ml PBS/EDTA at 37°C until cells were lifting from the plate. Cells were collected and added to previously collected media.

Cells were spun down for 5 min at 2000 rpm, the supernatant aspirated and the pellet washed with 2 ml cold PBS. Cells were spun down again and the supernatant was aspirated. The pellet was resuspended in 20 µl anti FITC-conjugated CD20 antibody (BD Biosciences) and incubated on ice for 30 min. Antibody incubation was stopped by addition of 2 ml cold PBS containing 1% serum. Cells were spun down and resuspended in 500 µl PBS. 5 ml cold methanol was added while vortexing and the mix was incubated over night at 4°C to fix the cells.

Cells were rehydrated in 500 µl PBS/1%FCS for an hour at room temperature. After another spin and removal of supernatant pellets were resuspended in 400 µl PBS containing 125 µg/ml RNase and 50 µg/ml Propidium Iodine. Cells were analysed by flow cytometry after 30 minutes incubation in the dark. CD20 status was assessed in the FL1 channel and CD20-positive cells (representing the transfected fraction) were gated for PI analysis. DNA content was analysed in the FL3 channel determined by PI intensity. The FL3 chromatogram of the CD20 positive cell population was analysed with FlowJo software in order to determine the percentage of cells in each cell cycle phase according to DNA content.

2.2.18 Flag-Elution and Mass-Spectrometry of MDM2 interacting proteins

Hek293T cells were transfected with 5 μg flag MDM2 or flag MDM2 ΔAD using GeneJuice and lysed in 600 μl NP40 buffer 24 hours after transfection. MDM2 was immunoprecipitated using 30 μl flag-beads (Sigma-Aldrich) over night, rotating at 4°C. Beads were washed three times using 150 mM Tris pH 7.5. Flag-tagged protein was eluted using 100 μl 150 mM Tris pH7.5 containing 100 μg/ml flag peptide. Supernatant was collected after 30 min incubation rotating at 4°C. All remaining protein was eluted with 1% SDS and collected separately as elution efficacy control. 20 μl of input, flag-elution and SDS-elution were run on a polyacrylamide gel to confirm protein expression and immunoprecipitation.

The flag-peptide eluate was analysed by mass spectrometry by the Beatson Advanced Technologies Unit. 30 μ I of the sample were dried down and re-dissolved in 30 μ I 1% SDS, 50 mM Triethyl Ammonium Bicarbonate buffer (TEAB) and 10 mM DTT. The solution was boiled and incubated at room temperature with 15 μ I 0.2M ioadacetamide for 30 min to alkylate free cysteine residues in order to prevent formation of disulfide bonds. Protein was precipitated with 0.5 ml 20% trichloric acid on ice for 15 min and pelleted by spinning at 13000 rpm for 10 min. The pellet was washed with 0.5 ml 10% trichloric acid and pelleted at 13 000 rpm, followed by further three washes with 1 ml H₂O.

The pellet was dissolved in 10 µl 8 M urea and diluted with 70 µl 50 mM TEAB. Trypsin was added to 5 µg/ml and protein digested over night at 30°C. The digested protein mix was diluted with 20 µl 2.5% formic acid/water. 10 µl out of the 100 µl sample were analysed on an LTQ Orbitrap Velos ion trap mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific) using the 60 min Top10 method:

The tryptic digests were analysed by LC-MS-MS using a Proxeon Easy-LC connected to an LTQ Orbitrap Velos system via a Proxeon nanospray source fitted with a New Objective FS360-20-20 uncoated emitter. 10 μ l of the tryptic digest was injected onto 20 x 0.1mm C₁₈ guard column equilibrated in buffer A (2% acetonitrile/ 0.1% formic acid in water) at 7 μ l/min. After washing the injector loop with 30 μ l buffer A, the guard column was switched in line with a 150 x 0.075 mm PepMap C18

column (Dionex) equilibrated in buffer A at 300 nl/min. The column was developed with a 60 min discontinuous gradient of buffer B (80% acetonitrile/0.1% formic acid in water).

Nanoelectrospray was performed by applying a voltage of 1.6 kV to the emitter and the Orbitrap was set to perform a survey scan of m/z 350-1800 at a resolution of 60000 and the top 10 multiply charged ions (minimum intensity 10000 cps) were selected for collision induced dissociation in the LTQ and then excluded for 30 sec after 2 occurrences. The raw data was converted to a Mascot Generic File (mgf) using Raw2msm program (a gift from M Mann) and searched using Mascot 2.3 run on a local server. The data was searched using the following criteria:

Database = SwissProt Species= Human Enzyme= Trypsin (1 missed cleavage permitted) Fixed modification = Carboxyamidomethylation of cysteine Variable Modification = Oxidation of Methionine Precursor mass tolerance = 10ppm, MSMS mass tolerance = 0.8 Da.

Significant peptide assignments were based on a minimum peptide score of above 20 and proteins were identified on the basis of at least 2 peptides meeting these minimum criteria.

2.2.19 Inverted Transwell Invasion Assays

H1299 cells were retrovirally infected with empty vector, or p53 mutants and selected with 7.5 µg/ml Blasticidin for 3-4 days.

Transwells (Corning Life Sciences) were filled with 60 µl Matrigel batch A6520 (BD Bioscience) diluted 1:1 in PBS, containing 25 ng/ml Fibronectin and incubated 45 min at 37°C to allow polymerisation. Transwells were inverted and 100 µl of a 2.5 x 10⁵ cells/ml cell suspension were pipetted onto the filter. Cells were allowed to settle onto the filter for 5 hours at 37°C. Transwells were washed in serum-free medium and transferred (upright) to a 24-well plate containing 1ml serum-free medium. 100 µl of medium containing serum and 10 ng/ml HGF were pipetted into the centre of the transwell on top of the set matrigel to attract cells from underneath the matrigel plug.

Cells were allowed to migrate for 3 days and stained in medium containing 4 nM Calcein for one hour.

Migration was visualised on a Leica TCS SP2 laser scanning confocal microcope, taking images in serial sections every 15 µm starting at the membrane and moving up into the matrigel plug until no more cells could be detected. The number of pixels with intensity of 100 or above was quantified in each binary confocal image using ImageJ. The percentage of invading cells was calculated by dividing the sum of pixels at or beyond 45 µm by the sum of pixels in all images.

3 MDM2 promotes SUMO-2/3 modification of p53.

3.1 SUMO-2/3 conjugation by MDM2.

MDM2 is a well-known E3-Ubiquitin ligase for p53, promoting its mono¹⁵³- and polyubiquitination^{107,108}. More recently, MDM2 was also reported to promote conjugation of the ubiquitin-family members Nedd8³¹⁸ and SUMO-1 (in complex with p14^{ARF})⁴¹⁵ to p53.

Most studies on p53-SUMOylation have so far focused on SUMO-1, which has been shown to modify a single lysine (K386) residue residing within a SUMO consensus motif in the p53's C-terminus. However, in contrast to SUMO-1 the SUMO-2/3 isoforms are more abundant in a large dynamic pool in the cell³⁴⁸, suggesting an interesting and distinct role for modification with SUMO-2/3.

In this part of the study, how the Ubiquitin- and Nedd8 ligase MDM2 promotes SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 was investigated. The requirements of functional domains in p53, MDM2 and SUMO for successful SUMOylation were analysed in more detail.

3.1.1 MDM2, but not MDMX promotes SUMO-3 conjugation of p53.

Since MDM2 can induce ubiquitination, neddylation and conjugation of SUMO-1 (in complex with p14^{ARF}), its ability to promote conjugation of SUMO-2/3 to p53 was tested. Overexpression of p53, MDM2 and SUMO-3 induced modification of p53 with SUMO-3 in HCT116 cells (Figure 3-1 A) and H1299 cells (Figure 3-1 B). MDM2 can form a heterodimer with MDMX, a protein of the MDM2-family with a very similar p53-binding domain to MDM2⁶⁸⁸. The MDM2/MDMX heterodimer was found to be more stable¹⁴⁶ and a more efficient ubiquitin-E3-ligase than the MDM2-homodimer¹⁴⁷. However, MDMX overexpression had no effect on p53-SUMOylation, either alone (Figure 3-1 A and B) or together with MDM2 (Figure 3-1 B).



Figure 3-1: MDM2 promotes SUMOylation of p53, while MDMX does not. HCT116 cells (A) and H1299 cells (B) were transfected with indicated plasmids. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated (IP) with the DO-1 antibody.

These data suggest that MDM2 on its own efficiently promotes SUMO-3 modification of p53, but presence of MDMX does not further stimulate MDM2-mediated SUMO-3 conjugation. Since MDMX had been reported to promote MDM2's ability to conjugate Ubiquitin to p53¹⁴⁷, but this was not the case for SUMO-3 modification, the importance of functional domains of MDM2, which are known to be required for ubiquitination, in promoting SUMOylation of p53 were also analysed.

3.1.2 MDM2-p53 interaction is required for efficient SUMOylation.



Both p53 and MDM2 consist of clearly structured functional domains (Figure 3-2).

Figure 3-2: Representation of p53 and MDM2 interacting domains.

Regions deleted in the mutants MDM2 Δ 58-89 and p53 Δ I (conserved box I: amino acids 13-18) are indicated in red.

The interaction of MDM2 and p53 was mapped to their N-termini, where a hydrophobic pocket of MDM2 contacts an α -helix in p53's N-terminus^{163,511}. Interaction of the N-terminal domains was shown to be critical for efficient ubiquitination of p53¹³⁶. Therefore, the role of p53-MDM2 binding on SUMO-3 modification of p53 was examined. An MDM2 protein that does not contain the N-terminal p53-binding domain (MDM2 Δ 58-89) could not induce SUMOylation of p53 (Figure 3-3, lane 3). Similarly full-length MDM2 (wt) could not enhance SUMOylation of a p53 protein (p53 Δ I) lacking the MDM2-binding domain (Figure 3-3, lane 4).



Figure 3-3: MDM2 binding to p53 is necessary for its SUMO-3 modification.

U2OS cells were transfected with the constructs indicated, lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

These observations indicate that direct interaction of MDM2 and p53 via their Nterminal binding regions has to take place in order for MDM2 to efficiently promote SUMO-3 conjugation onto p53. This is a prerequisite similar to p53 modification with other Ubiquitin-like proteins by MDM2³¹⁸.

As well as the N-terminus, the central and C-terminal domains of MDM2 also play a critical role in promoting p53 ubiquitination. Hence, the role of these functional domains in SUMOylating p53 was analysed next.

3.1.3 Promoting SUMOylation and ubiquitination are two distinct activities of MDM2.

Although the RING domain of MDM2 on its own can show Ubiquitin ligase activity and can function in auto-ubiquitination assays¹⁷⁵, both the N-terminal p53-binding domain¹⁵⁷ and the central acidic domain with adjacent zinc finger^{168,169} are also necessary for MDM2's Ubiquitin ligase activity towards p53 (Figure 3-4).



Figure 3-4: Representation of domains contributing to MDM2's ubiquitination activity. Regions lacking in the deletion mutants MDM2 ΔAD (amino acids 222-437) and MDM2 ΔRING (amino acids 441-491) are illustrated in red. Point mutation of cysteine 464 is also indicated.

In order to compare the role of the different functional domains in SUMOylation and ubiquitination of p53, ubiquitination and SUMOylation assays were performed in parallel with the same MDM2 constructs, deleted for particular functional domains. In line with previous observations, MDM2 mutants deleted of the RING domain (MDM2 Δ RING) or harbouring mutation of a structurally critical cysteine residue within the RING (MDM2 464A) both lost the ability to ubiquitinate p53 (Figure 3-5 A). Similarly, deletion of the central part of MDM2 (MDM2 Δ AD) strongly reduced, although did not completely abrogate, the ability of MDM2 to drive ubiquitination of p53 (Figure 3-5 A). By contrast, when repeating the assay with SUMO-3 instead of Ubiquitin, the RING deletion and point mutants (MDM2 Δ RING and C464A) did not impede the SUMO-3 modification of p53 by MDM2, suggesting that the ability to promote SUMOylation is distinct from the Ubiquitin ligase activity (Figure 3-5 B). Deletion of the acidic domain of MDM2 (MDM2 Δ AD) also did not prevent SUMOylation of p53, consistent with previous work showing that this region is not necessary for SUMO-1 modification of p53 by MDM2⁴¹⁵.

The finding that the integrity of the RING domain of MDM2 was not required for promoting SUMO-3 conjugation was very surprising, since this domain is strictly required for promoting both Ubiquitin^{157,181} and Nedd8³¹⁸ conjugation to p53.

Interestingly, the RING domain was also found to be dispensible for SUMO-1 conjugation to p53 mediated by an MDM2-p14^{ARF} complex⁴¹⁵.



Figure 3-5: MDM2-domains required for ubiquitination (A) and SUMOylation (B) of p53.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with p53, MDM2 mutants and either HA-Ubiquitin (A) or HA-SUMO-3 (B) as indicated. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

3.1.4 SUMOylation can be observed with endogenous protein.

Most previous studies of SUMO-1 modification of p53 by MDM2 have utilised ectopic expression of tagged SUMO, as in these experiments so far. However, overexpression of MDM2 could also promote conjugation of endogenous SUMO-2/3 to p53 (Figure 3-6 A). Using the MDM2 mutants deleted for functional domains, even stronger endogenous SUMO-2/3 conjugation on p53 with MDM2 Δ AD and the RING domain point mutant of MDM2 mutants (MDM2 464A) was observed. The MDM2 Δ RING protein showed a modest activity, while an MDM2 protein lacking the N-terminal p53-binding pocket (MDM2 Δ 58-89) was once again unable to drive p53 SUMOylation (Figure 3-6 B).





The effect of MDM2 on the SUMO-2/3 modification of endogenous p53 was also tested. Efficient conjugation of endogenous SUMO-2/3 by MDM2 ΔAD and MDM2 464A, the latter of which was expressed at lower levels in this experiment, were observed (Figure 3-7). No clear SUMOylation activity of wild-type MDM2 was detected here, although this is likely to reflect the confounding effect of the ubiquitination and degradation of p53 by this protein, resulting in low p53 levels

(Figure 3-7). MDM2 ΔAD was therefore used to enhance SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 for further experiments, since this MDM2 mutant promotes the highest level of p53 SUMOylation.

Having analysed the SUMO-promoting ability of overexpressed MDM2, the activity of endogenous wild type MDM2 was also investigated. In order to study the function of endogenous MDM2, small molecule inhibitors of MDM2-mediated ubiquitination of p53 were used. Treatment of cells with either Nutlin-3a (which inhibits the N-terminal MDM2/p53 interaction)⁶⁰⁴ or HLI373 (which directly inhibits MDM2's Ubiquitin ligase activity)⁶⁴¹ stabilised MDM2, as previously shown (Figure 3-8). p53 levels remained equal despite MDM2-inhibitor treatment, since p53 was overexpressed in this experiment.





U2OS cells were transfected with p53 and either wild-type MDM2 or MDM2 mutants. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated using the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Figure 3-8: Nutlin-3a disrupts SUMOylation, but HLI373 does not.

A2780 cells were transfected with p53 and treated with 20 μ M Nutlin-3a or 7.5 μ M HLI373 over night. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Nutlin-3a treatment completely abolished p53-SUMOylation, confirming the requirement of endogenous MDM2 to interact with p53 for efficient p53 SUMOylation. By contrast, HLI373 treatment did not affect the SUMOylating activity of endogenous MDM2 (Figure 3-8). These data confirm that the p53-MDM2

interaction is absolutely required for SUMOylation. Furthermore, endogenous MDM2 could still drive the SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 when the Ubiquitin ligase activity was inhibited, which is consistent with the finding that the RING domain of MDM2 is dispensable for SUMOylation.

3.2 A single SUMO-2/3 is conjugated to lysine 386 in human p53.

In contrast to ubiquitination, SUMOylation is often restricted to certain lysine residues, which are surrounded by a SUMO consensus motif, mediating the direct binding to SUMO-E2 ligase Ubc9³³⁵. p53 contains one classical SUMO consensus motif in its C-terminus, around lysine 386. This SUMO consensus was analysed and the effect of p53 localisation on MDM2-mediated SUMOylation was also studied. Furthermore, it was investigated, whether p53 is poly-SUMOylated.

3.2.1 The SUMO consensus around lysine 386 is essential.

In most cases SUMOylation is restricted to lysine residues in the environment of a SUMO motif Ψ KxE^{405,406}.





Figure 3-9: p53 requires an intact SUMO motif to be SUMOylated.

(A) Alignment of p53 C-termini across species. The SUMO-accepting lysine (red) is conserved in all species, however the glutamic acid residue 2 codons down-stream (bold) is not present in the mouse sequence. Ψ: hydrophobic amino acid, X: any amino acid. SwissProt accession numbers: human p53: P04637; mouse p53: P02340; zebrafish p53: P79734.

(B) H1299 cells were transfected with the wild-type or SUMO site mutant p53 and MDM2 Δ AD and lysed under denaturing conditions. p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Previous studies showed that both SUMO-1⁴⁰⁵ and SUMO-2/3⁴²¹ were exclusively conjugated to p53 on lysine 386 of the human p53 protein within the canonical

SUMO motif (Figure 3-9 A). In line with these previous studies, p53 K386R, which lacks the SUMO-accepting lysine residue, could not be SUMOylated (Figure 3-9 B). Furthermore, mutation of the glutamic acid residue 388 in p53's SUMO consensus motif also abrogated SUMOylation of p53 by MDM2 ΔAD (Figure 3-9 B). Since lysine 386 is not only SUMOylated, but also ubiquitinated and acetylated, the E388A mutation served as a useful tool, since it specifically abrogates SUMOylation of K386 while sparing lysine 386 for other modifications.

Surprisingly, alignment of the p53 C-termini across different vertebrate species revealed that despite the conservation of the SUMO-accepting lysine residue in mice, the required glutamic acid two residues downstream is not present in the murine p53 protein (Figure 3-9 A). Hence, it was investigated, whether mouse p53 could still be SUMOylated.





HCT116 p53^{-/-}cells were transfected were transfected with MDM2 ΔAD and either human or mouse p53. Cells were lysed (A) under denaturing conditions to assess SUMOylation or (B) under mild conditions to assess p53-MDM2 interaction. p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53 (A) and co-IP p53 (B)).

Consistent with the observation that mutation of glutamic acid residue 388 in the human protein disrupts SUMOylation, human MDM2 did not modify mouse p53 with SUMO-2/3 (Figure 3-10 A). In order to confirm that this lack of SUMOylation was not due to a deficiency in binding of the human MDM2 protein to murine p53, a co-immunoprecipitation assay of mouse p53 and human MDM2 Δ AD was performed

(Figure 3-10 B). Human MDM2 could bind mouse p53 equally well as human p53, therefore the absence of SUMOylation of mouse p53 is unlikely to be due to a lack of interaction and can be ascribed to the missing canonical SUMO consensus site in the mouse p53 protein.

3.2.2 Both genetic variants of p53 are SUMOylated.

The p53 gene contains a common polymorphism at codon 72 in the proline-rich domain, which can encode for either an arginine or proline residue⁶⁸⁹. The polymorphism has biochemical implications for the p53 activity⁶⁹⁰ and differences in regulation of apoptosis⁶⁹¹ and cell cycle progression⁶⁹² were reported. To avoid potential polymorphism effects affecting the results, so far only the 72R variant of p53 has been used in this study.



Figure 3-11: p53 72P is SUMOylated slightly less than p53 72R.

HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells were transfected with both variants of p53 and either wild-type MDM2 and HA-SUMO-3 or MDM2 Δ AD. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Since the polymorphism can influence the interaction with p53-binding proteins, it was of interest to study, whether the polymorphism can have an impact on p53

SUMOylation. Both variants were therefore tested in an in vivo SUMO assay (Figure 3-11).

The p53 72P variant not only migrated more slowly in the gel, which had also been observed by others⁶⁹³, but was also SUMOylated slightly less well by both full-length MDM2 (wt) and MDM2 ΔAD compared to the p53 72R variant (Figure 3-11). Although the proline-rich domain of p53, where this polymorphism is located, is not directly involved in interacting with MDM2, p53 72R was shown to bind more strongly to MDM2 in previous studies, resulting in more efficient ubiquitination⁶⁹¹. Hence, it is likely that the moderate difference observed between the two isoforms is a reflection of their extent of MDM2 binding. Since the p53 72R variant was SUMOylated more efficiently, it was used for all further experiments.

3.2.3 p53's nuclear localisation signal is dispensable, but the nuclear export signal is required for SUMOylation.

p53 shuttles in and out of the nucleus, using its nuclear localisation (NLS) and nuclear export signals (NES), which are located between the DNA-binding and the C-terminal regulatory domain¹²⁰. Most SUMOylated proteins are localised in the nucleus and a nuclear localisation signal was described as prerequisite for efficient SUMO-conjugation³³¹. In order to disrupt the nuclear localisation signal in p53, lysine residues 305, 319, 320 and 321 and arginine 306 were mutated to alanine, creating p53 ΔNLS, which is defective in entering the nucleus. Similarly, leucines 348 and 350 in the nuclear export signal were replaced with alanine residues resulting in p53 ΔNES, which is defective for export (Figure 3-12 A). The p53 ΔNLS and p53 ΔNES mutants had been shown by others to be defective for import and export, respectively, resulting in exclusive cytoplasmic or nuclear immunofluorescence staining⁴¹³.

The impact of p53 localisation on its SUMOylation was analysed using p53 mutants, which could not enter (p53 Δ NLS) or could not leave the nucleus (p53 Δ NES), with the p53 K386R mutant serving as negative control. Strikingly, mutation of the nuclear export signal in p53 Δ NES abrogated SUMOylation completely (Figure 3-12 B). While the observed effect could be a result of the lack of nuclear export, it could also reflect the requirement of p53 to oligomerise in order to be SUMOylated, because the

nuclear export signal is located within the oligomerisation domain and this p53 Δ NES mutant was previously reported to disrupt tetramerisation of p53⁶⁹⁴. Since the nuclear export signal is an integral part of the oligomerisation domain, it is difficult to discriminate between the two activities. However, it would be possible to block nuclear export with compounds such as the CRM1-inhibitor Leptomycin B⁶⁹⁵. If pharmacological inhibition of nuclear export did not affect p53 SUMOylation, the observed effect of the Δ NES mutation would most likely be due to lack of oligomerisation. Interestingly, loss of p53 oligomerisation was found to abrogate C-terminal acetylation⁶⁹⁴. Furthermore, MDM2 could not ubiquitinate p53, if it was not tetrameric⁶⁹⁶, however poorly ubiquitinated monomeric p53 could still be degraded by MDM2⁶⁹⁷.



Figure 3-12: Mutation of the NES abrogates SUMOylation.

(A) Representation of the p53 amino acid sequence of the nuclear localisation (NLS) and nuclear export signals (NES) with mutations indicated in bold. SwissProt accession number: p53 P04637.
(B) H1299 cells were transfected with MDM2 ΔAD and the p53 plasmids indicated. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated using the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Surprisingly, mutation of the nuclear localisation signal of p53 did not stop SUMOylation of the protein, but altered the band pattern from three to two bands (Figure 3-12 B, lane 3). While the ladder of bands could represent different states of mono- and poly-SUMOylation, it could also be an indication for SUMOylation and ubiquitination on the same p53 molecule, since both modifications result in a shift of the modified product of 11-20 kD. Four of the mutated residues in p53 ΔNLS are lysine residues, which could be subject to modification with UBLs themselves. The lysine cluster K319, K320 and K321, which is mutated in p53 ΔNLS, was shown to

be targeted for ubiquitination by E4F1³¹⁰ and more recently also by MDM2¹⁴¹. Since MDM2 Δ AD can still mono-ubiquitinate p53, albeit less strongly than wild-type p53, a missing ubiquitination on the K319-321 lysine cluster could be the cause for the altered band pattern (Figure 1-12 B). However, it is still unclear how p53 can be SUMOylated without being localised to the nucleus, unless p53 Δ NLS still enters the nucleus by another mechanism. It has previously been observed that MDM2 can import p53 Δ NLS into the nucleus⁶⁹⁸. In order to prevent p53 from entering the nucleus in a complex with MDM2, the NLS in MDM2 Δ AD was also disrupted by mutating arginine residues 181 and 183 to threonine and leucine, respectively⁶⁹⁹, resulting in the MDM2 Δ AD Δ NLS protein (Figure 3-13 A).



Figure 3-13: p53 Δ NLS is still SUMOylated by MDM2 Δ AD Δ NLS.

(A) Representation of the nuclear localisation signal (NLS) in MDM2 (red). Amino acids mutated in the MDM2 Δ NLS protein are indicated in bold.

(B) HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with the plasmids indicated. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Strikingly, p53 Δ NLS could still be SUMOylated by an MDM2 protein, lacking the NLS (MDM2 Δ AD Δ NLS) (Figure 3-13 B). It is possible that the nuclear localisation is not necessary for p53 SUMOylation, analogous to ubiquitination, which can still be promoted by MDM2 on p53 Δ NLS in the cytoplasm⁶⁹⁶. Nevertheless, to determine whether these NLS mutations really prevented nuclear import, their subcellular distribution was assessed by cellular fractionation (Figure 3-14).



Figure 3-14: p53 Δ NLS and MDM2 Δ AD Δ NLS can enter the nucleus.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} were transfected with the plasmids indicated. Cells were fractionated into cytoplasmic (Cy) and nuclear (Nu) fractions. Efficient fractionation was confirmed using GCN5 as nuclear and LDHB as cytoplasmic marker.

Fractionation revealed that both p53 ΔNLS and MDM2 ΔAD ΔNLS could still enter the nucleus and were evenly distributed between cytoplasm and nucleus in contrast to the mainly nuclear and partially cytoplasmic wild-type proteins (Figure 3-14). Although the nuclear fraction of p53 was largely reduced compared to the wild-type protein, no reduction in SUMOylation of p53 ΔNLS had been observed (Figure 3-13 B). However, since no complete nuclear exclusion was achieved, no firm conclusion can be drawn as to whether nuclear localisation is required for SUMOylation. It is possible that the NLS mutations are not sufficient to disrupt the import signal completely. Two further nuclear localisation signals have been described around amino acids 370 and 380 of p53¹¹⁸. Since these regions were left intact in the p53 ΔNLS protein, partial nuclear import could be allowed via these alternative nuclear localisation signals. In order to determine whether exclusively cytoplasmic p53 could be SUMOylated, a p53 protein mutated for all nuclear localisation-associated sequences should be tested.

Since a change in the band pattern of SUMOylated p53 ΔNLS was observed, it was investigated whether the ladder of bands represented poly-SUMOylation of p53.

3.2.4 SUMO-3 does not form a chain on p53.

In contrast to SUMO-2/3, which contains a SUMO consensus motif around lysine 11 and can form chains³⁵³, SUMO-1 does not contain the necessary hydrophobic amino acid (Ψ) next to the lysine residue and cannot form chains (Figure 3-15 A). Poly-SUMOylation has functionally distinct consequences to mono-SUMOylation⁷⁰⁰, for example in the recruitment of SUMO-interacting proteins. When blotting for SUMOylated p53, a ladder of three bands in about 20 kD intervals, which would be consistent with a chain of up to three SUMO molecules, was frequently observed. The transfected HA-SUMO-3 in the SUMO assay was therefore replaced by a mutant HA-SUMO-3 K11R, in which the chain-accepting lysine 11 is substituted for an arginine residue (Figure 3-15 B).



Figure 3-15: p53 is not poly-SUMOylated.

(A) Alignment of human SUMO-1, 2 and 3 around lysine 11 in SUMO-2/3. SwissProt accession numbers: SUMO-1: P63165; SUMO-2: P61956; SUMO-3: P55854

(B) U2OS cells were transfected with p53, MDM2 Δ AD and either SUMO-3 or SUMO-3 K11R. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

The band-pattern of immunoprecipitated p53 blotted with the HA-specific antibody consistently did not change in ten repeat experiments, whether or not SUMO-3 had an intact SUMO motif (Figure 3-15 B). This suggests that the upper bands represent a combination of different modifications, possibly SUMO and ubiquitin on multiple

lysine residues in one p53 molecule, rather than a SUMO chain. This finding is consistent with the observation that mutation of multiple lysine residues (305, 319, 320 and 321) as in p53 Δ NLS resulted in an altered band pattern of SUMOylated p53 (see Figure 3-12).

3.2.5 SUMO-2 and 3 are preferentially conjugated to p53.

p53 was first identified as a SUMO-1 target^{405,406} and MDM2 in complex with p14^{ARF} was reported to promote SUMO-1 conjugation to p53⁴¹⁵. Clearly, MDM2 can also promote SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53. However, it is unclear, whether MDM2 preferentially conjugates one of the SUMO isoforms. Despite the same set of E1-and E2 enzymes conjugating the three different SUMO-isoforms, certain targets have been shown to be preferentially modified by particular isoforms³⁴⁸.





HCT116 cells were transfected with either (A) p53, MDM2 and SUMO-1 (SU-1) or SUMO-3 (SU-3) or (B) p53 and MDM2 constructs. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated using the DO-1 antibody (IP p53). SUMOylation was assessed with either (A) HA-antibody in case of overexpressed SUMO or (B) SUMO-1 and SUMO-3 specific antibodies in the case of endogenous SUMO. *indicates smaller MDM2 isoform.

HA-tagged SUMO-1 and SUMO-3 were overexpressed in the presence of p53 and MDM2. Wild-type MDM2 only conjugated HA-SUMO-3, but not HA-SUMO-1 to p53

(Figure 3-16 A, lanes 1 and 2), while MDM2 ΔAD modified a considerable amount of p53 with SUMO-1. However, MDM2 ΔAD still conjugated substantially more SUMO-2/3 to p53 (Figure 3-16 A, lanes 3 and 4). Although it remains to be verified that both SUMO-1 and SUMO-3 isoforms were expressed to the same level, this data suggests that MDM2 mainly drives p53 modification with SUMO-2/3 and only to a limited extent modification with SUMO-1.

Since SUMO-2/3 is naturally much more abundant as free pool in a cell than SUMO-1, overexpression of either isoform, but particularly the more restricted SUMO-1, can shift the natural balance and skew results due to a non-physiological isoform representation⁷⁰¹. Demonstrating the importance of using the endogenous pool of UBLs, a recent study showed that Nedd8 was being used by the conjugation system instead of Ubiquitin if overexpressed to unphysiological levels⁷⁰². Thus, MDM2-induced SUMOylation of p53 with endogenous SUMO isoforms was assessed with isoform-specific antibodies. Conjugation of SUMO-2/3, but not SUMO-1 to p53 was observed with wild-type MDM2. However, overexpression of the stronger SUMOylator MDM2 Δ AD led to more SUMO-2/3-conjugated p53 and also some SUMO-1-conjugated p53 (Figure 3-16 B). This result suggests that while MDM2 does not completely discriminate against SUMO-1, it still preferentially drives SUMO-2/3 conjugation to p53.

Having studied the functional domains in p53 required for efficient SUMOylation, the role of MDM2 in the SUMOylation process was also addressed in more detail.

3.3 Regulation of MDM2's SUMOylation activity.

The data presented here suggest that the ubiquitination and SUMOylation activity are distinct features in the MDM2 protein. Thus, the effect of known ubiquitination regulators such as the MDM2-inhibitors $p14^{ARF}$ ⁶⁷² and $L11^{188}$ on the SUMOylation activity of MDM2 was analysed. Furthermore, it was investigated why certain MDM2 mutants, particularly the protein deleted for the central domain including acidic domain and zinc finger (MDM2 Δ AD), were able to promote SUMOylation of p53 more efficiently than the wild-type MDM2 protein.

3.3.1 The MDM2-inhibiting proteins p14^{ARF} and L11 stimulate SUMOylation.

The interaction of MDM2 with p14^{ARF} leads to the inhibition of ubiquitination of p53⁶⁷², but was shown to promote p53's SUMO-1 modification⁴¹⁵. A similar result was observed for endogenous SUMO-2/3 conjugation to p53, which was enhanced by addition of p14^{ARF}, both under endogenous and overexpressed MDM2 levels (Figure 3-17 A, lane 5 and 6). However, p14^{ARF} was also shown to associate with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9, promoting SUMOylation of p14^{ARF}-interaction partners⁴²⁸, and to inhibit deSUMOylation of proteins by increasing the turnover of the sentrin-specific protease SENP3⁴²⁹. It is therefore difficult to discriminate between specific p53-related and global SUMOylation effects of p14^{ARF}.



Figure 3-17: MDM2 strongly SUMOylates p53 in complex with p14^{ARF} and L11.

U2OS cells were transfected with the plasmids indicated. Cells were then lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

The ribosomal protein L11 functions similarly to p14^{ARF} by binding to the acidic domain of MDM2 and inhibiting its ubiquitination activity¹⁸⁸, but has not yet been linked to any SUMOylating or deSUMOylating activity. Hence, the effect of L11 co-

expression with MDM2 was investigated. Similar to p14^{ARF} co-expression of L11 also strongly induced the SUMOylation of p53 (Figure 3-17 A, lane 3 and 4).

Previous studies suggested that the ability of MDM2 and p14^{ARF} to drive SUMO-1 modification of p53 was depending on nucleolar relocalisation of MDM2⁴¹⁵. A cryptic nucleolar localisation (NoLS) signal between amino acids 466 and 473 in MDM2, which is exposed upon p14^{ARF} binding, was identified and characterised earlier²¹⁴. The ribosomal protein L11 was also reported to recruit MDM2 to nucleoli¹⁸⁸. Deletion of the central domain of MDM2 also exposed this nucleolar localisation signal, resulting in nucleolar accumulation of MDM2 Δ AD²¹⁴. In order to assess whether the strong SUMOylation promoted by MDM2 Δ AD was due to its relocalisation to the nucleoli, a mutation disrupting the nucleolar localisation signal (Figure 3-8 A), was introduced into MDM2 Δ AD (MDM2 Δ AD Δ NoLS). Mutation of lysine residues 466, 467, 469, 470, 471 and 473 was previously shown to prevent p14^{ARF}-induced nucleolar relocalisation of MDM2²¹⁴.





However, mutation of the NoLS did not affect the ability of MDM2 Δ AD to promote SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53 (Figure 3-18 B). This finding is consistent with the observation that the Δ RING MDM2 mutant, which only consists of amino acids 1-

440 and therefore lacks the nucleolar localisation signal²¹⁴, can still efficiently SUMOylate MDM2 (Figure 3-5 B).

Analysing cancer-associated missense MDM2 mutation in liposarcomas⁷⁰³, lymphomas and hepatocellular carcinomas¹⁶¹ revealed that many point mutations affect the structurally critical cysteine residues of the zinc finger in MDM2's central domain (C305, C308 and C319). One of these mutations (C305F) was subsequently reported to abrogate L11 binding to MDM2, while not affecting binding of p14^{ARF 162}. Interestingly, the MDM2 C305F mutant was deficient in degrading p53, however retained its ability to promote p53 ubiquitination¹⁶².



Figure 3-19: Cancer-associated zinc-finger MDM2 mutants SUMOylate p53.

U2OS cells were transfected with the plasmids indicated. Cells were then lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53)

Since L11 had a profound impact on MDM2's SUMOylation activity, the ability of two cancer-associated zinc-finger mutants C305F and C319R MDM2 to SUMOylate p53 was studied. Both cancer-associated MDM2 mutants could SUMOylate p53 well, even slightly better than wild-type MDM2 (Figure 3-19). The data suggests that, although presence of L11 enhanced MDM2-mediated SUMO-2/3 modification of p53, binding of endogenous L11 to MDM2 is not a prerequisite for SUMOylation of p53. Interestingly, mutation of zinc-coordinating cysteine residues leads to slightly stronger SUMOylation of p53.

3.3.2 MDM2 does not require SUMO interaction motifs to SUMOylate p53.

One important mechanism, by which conjugation of SUMO can modify the interactome of the target protein, is by providing a new binding surface for SUMO-interacting motifs (SIMs). The SIM motif has been described to consist of a cluster of hydrophobic amino acids V/I-X-V/I-V/I³⁵⁴ or V/I-V/I-X-V/I/L³⁵⁵ with a following stretch of negatively charged amino acids, which later turned out to be more crucial for SUMO-1 and are thought to be dispensable for SUMO-2/3 recognition³⁵⁸.



Figure 3-20: MDM2 proteins without putative SIM domains SUMOylate p53.

(A) Representation of the putative SIMs identified in MDM2, indicated in red. Numbers represent the amino acids replaced by hydrophilic amino acids (in bold) in the SIM mutant proteins. SwissProt accession number: MDM2 Q00987.

(B) HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells were transfected with p53 and MDM2 Δ AD with two, one or no SIM motifs. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53)

Many proteins involved in the SUMO pathway, for example the SUMO E3 ligase RanBP2³⁶¹, rely on SUMO interacting motifs as means to associate with SUMO. Indeed MDM2 interaction with SUMO-2/3 could be observed (data not shown) and it was therefore investigated whether the SUMO binding motif also played a role in the process of SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 via MDM2. Analysis of the MDM2 protein sequence revealed four hydrophobic amino acid clusters, two of which lie outside the acidic domain and could potentially act as SUMO interaction motif in the MDM2 Δ AD protein. Although none of the sequences were perfect matches to the published SIM

consensus, since the first amino acid was a leucine rather than the proposed valine or isoleucine residue, the potential SUMO interaction motifs were mutated. In order to disrupt the motifs, two of the amino acids hydrophobic amino acids within each proposed SIM was replaced with non-hydrophobic residues resulting in the mutant proteins MDM2 Δ AD SIM1, MDM2 Δ AD SIM2 and MDM2 Δ AD SIM1+2 (Figure 3-20 A).

All SIM mutant MDM2 proteins still SUMOylated p53 to a comparable extent (p53 is expressed slightly less in the third lane), suggesting that the mutated domains are either not serving as SUMO-interaction motifs or that the non-covalent SUMO-SIM interaction is not required for p53 SUMOylation by MDM2 (Figure 3-20 B).

3.3.3 MDM2 does not need to dimerise in order to SUMOylate.

Previously, it was observed that MDM2 mutants, which were impaired for ubiquitination, were able to SUMOylate p53 more efficiently. The ability of MDM2 to dimerise was shown to be important for conjugation of Ubiquitin mediated by MDM2¹⁷⁶. The RING domain of the MDM2 protein can form dimers with another MDM2 RING¹⁵⁶ or the RING domain of the related MDMX protein¹⁴⁶. Interestingly, mutations affecting the MDM2-dimerisation not only affect its ability to promote ubiquitination, but also neddylation of p53⁷⁰⁴.





In contrast to ubiquitination of p53, co-expression of MDMX did not induce MDM2's ability to promote SUMO-3 modification of p53 (Figure 3-1). Furthermore, the data presented here suggest that MDM2 mutants that cannot ubiquitinate tend to SUMOylate p53 more strongly (e.g. C464A MDM2 and MDM2 Δ AD). Not only the RING domain, but also the acidic domain was reported to influence MDM2's dimerisation⁷⁰⁵. Thus, it is possible, that all MDM2 mutants shown to strongly

SUMOylate p53 fail to dimerise, leading to a model of dimeric MDM2 driving ubiquitination of p53 and monomeric MDM2 promoting SUMOylation of p53.

In order to investigate whether the dimerisation of MDM2 mutants correlates with their ability to SUMOylate p53, the dimerisation capability of a number of MDM2 mutants was assessed. An MDM2 protein deleted for the acidic domain and lacking the last 9 amino acids (MDM2 Δ AD Δ 9) in the C-terminal tail behind the RING domain (Figure 3-21) was included as a control. This MDM2 mutant was previously reported to neither dimerise nor ubiquitinate p53¹⁷⁴.



Figure 3-22: MDM2 C464A and MDM2 ΔAD dimerise.

HCT116 cells were transfected with untagged wild-type or mutant MDM2 constructs and their matching GFP-tagged counterparts. Cells were lysed under mild conditions and the tagged MDM2 was immunoprecipitated using a GFP antibody (IP GFP). MDM2 dimerisation was assessed via co-immunoprecipitation of the untagged MDM2.

In this dimerisation assay, untagged and GFP-tagged versions of the MDM2 mutants, which run 30 kD higher on an SDS poly-acrylamid gel, were co-expressed.

Having immunoprecipitated tagged MDM2 with a GFP antibody under native lysis conditions, the amount of un-tagged MDM2 co-immunoprecipitated with the tagged MDM2 was analysed as indication of their ability to dimerise.

Consistent with previous reports that this MDM2 mutant fails to dimerise, the MDM2 protein deleted for the acidic domain and the C-terminal tail (GFP MDM2 Δ AD Δ 9) co-immunoprecipitated significantly less untagged protein (Figure 3-22, lane 5) compared with the GFP MDM2 Δ AD protein (Figure 3-22, lane 4). However, all other MDM2 mutants tested, including the RING domain mutant MDM2 C464A still co-immunoprecipitated untagged MDM2 proteins to an extent similar to wild-type MDM2. This observation was surprising, since the RING structure is clearly distorted by the C464A mutation. It is possible that a second interaction via the acidic domain is responsible for the dimerisation observed in this experiment. The MDM2 Δ AD mutant was the strongest promoter of p53 SUMOylation, but dimerised well in this assay. This data suggests that the extent of dimerisation and strength of SUMOylating activity do not correlate.



Figure 3-23: MDM2 dimerisation is not required for SUMOylation of p53. HCT116 cells were transfected with the plasmids indicated and lysed under denaturing conditions. p53 was immunoprecipitated using the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

However, it was not clear, whether MDM2 dimerisation was a pre-requisite for SUMOylation as in the case of ubiquitination. In order to assess, whether monomeric

MDM2 could promote SUMO-2/3 modification of p53, the monomeric MDM2 Δ AD Δ 9 was tested in a SUMO assay (Figure 3-23). This mutant has previously been reported to fail to induce ubiquitination of p53¹⁷⁴, however it can still efficiently promote SUMO-2/3 conjugation (Figure 3-23). Dimerisation of MDM2 is thus not necessary for its SUMOylation activity.

In order to investigate in more detail, why some MDM2 are such efficient promoters of p53 SUMOylation, the interaction of MDM2 with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 was studied next.



3.3.4 MDM2 interacts with SUMO-E2 Ubc9.

Figure 3-24: MDM2 ΔAD interacts strongly with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9.

HCT116 cells were transfected with the MDM2 constructs indicated and either SV5-tagged Ubc9 or an empty vector. Cells were lysed under mild conditions and Ubc9 immunoprecipitated with an SV5 antibody (IP SV5). The ability of MDM2 to interact with Ubc9 was assessed via the amount of co-precipitated MDM2 protein. * indicates the IgG heavy chain.
SUMO is conjugated to target proteins via a 3-step enzyme cascade similar to conjugation of Ubiquitin. In contrast to the multiple ubiquitin-E2 enzymes described, the only SUMO-conjugating enzyme reported so far is Ubc9³²⁸. Since MDM2 can promote p53-SUMOylation, the interaction of MDM2 with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 was analysed.

While hardly any wild-type MDM2 was immunoprecipitated with Ubc9, a weak interaction with MDM2 C464A and a much more pronounced interaction with MDM2 Δ AD were observed (Figure 3-24). It is a striking finding that deletion of the central part of the MDM2 protein leads to such dramatic changes in interaction with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9. This interaction with Ubc9 could explain why the MDM2 Δ AD mutant promotes SUMOylation of p53 particularly efficiently.

3.3.5 MDM2 and MDM2 \triangle AD interacting proteins.

Encouraged by the observation that MDM2 Δ AD bound more strongly to Ubc9 than wild-type MDM2, it was investigated whether any other proteins, which could potentially be linked to SUMOylation, also bound differentially to the two proteins. On the one hand it is possible that MDM2 Δ AD not only interacts better with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9, but also cooperates with other SUMO-E3 ligases or factors that promote SUMOylation. On the other hand, the acidic domain of MDM2 could serve as binding platform for deSUMOylating enzymes, which could counteract the SUMO-conjugating activity of the full-length MDM2 protein, but would not be recruited to the MDM2 Δ AD protein. The deSUMOylating enzyme SENP3 was recently reported to bind MDM2 between amino acids 222-274⁷⁰⁶, which are missing in the MDM2 Δ AD protein. MDM2 was furthermore shown to interact with SUSP4, the mouse homologue of SENP2⁷⁰⁷, although it is not known where this interaction takes place.

Proteins interacting with MDM2 and MDM2 Δ AD were identified using mass spectrometry on eluates from an MDM2 immunoprecipitation experiment. In brief, MDM2 and its interacting proteins were immunoprecipitated with flag-antibodycoupled beads and eluted with triple-flag peptide using lysates from cells overexpressing either flag-tagged full-length MDM2 or flag-tagged MDM2 Δ AD. Flagpeptide elution was used to circumvent elution of proteins binding to the beads or the tubes, which would be present in the sample if MDM2 had been eluted in SDS instead.

First, the eluted proteins were denatured and trypsin-digested, then the resulting peptides were separated by liquid chromatography. This involved capturing peptides from the digest on a C₁₈ column and eluting them according to their polarity with a water/acetonitrile gradient. The peptides eluted from the reversed phase liquid chromatography column were automatically sprayed into an LTQ Orbitrap Velos MS-MS system. In this system, ionised peptides first pass through an orbitrap mass spectrometer in a survey scan, certain peptides are then selected for collision in a linear trap quadropole (LTQ) and their fragment spectra recorded in another Orbitrap.



Figure 3-25: MDM2 is efficiently eluted from the flag beads. Hek293T cells were transfected with flag MDM2 or flag MDM2 ΔAD (untagged MDM2 was included as control, but not used for analysis by mass-spectrometry). Cells were lysed under native conditions and MDM2 immunoprecipitated using flag beads. Elution from the beads with the flag-peptide was achieved efficiently (IP flag).

In an Orbitrap mass spectrometer, ions are injected perpendicular to an electric field between a central inner electrode and a barrel-shaped outer electrode. The ions begin to rotate around the central electrode (orbital trapping) and the path of oscillation is dependent on the mass to charge ratio (m/z) of the peptide. Thus, the m/z peaks, which are used to identify the peptides in the sample, can be calculated from the oscillation path of the ions in the Orbitrap⁷⁰⁸. Recording a spectrum of the peptide fragments after collision in a second round of mass spectrometry helps to identify the peptides corresponding to the m/z peak corresponding to the unfragmented peptide recorded in the first round of mass spectrometry. In this

system, the linear trap quadrupole (LTQ) was used to select the ions giving rise to the ten most intense peaks for collision.

The mass spectra were used to find matches for the trypsin-cleaved peptides in the human SwissProt database. Although this experiment was not a quantitative assay, if a number of peptides of the same protein are exclusively identified in one sample, this could be an indication that the protein predominantly interacts with either wild-type MDM2 or MDM2 Δ AD. Hits, which had 5 or more unique peptides identified in one sample and none or only one in the other sample were therefore treated as proteins preferentially binding to either full-length MDM2 or MDM2 Δ AD.

Identified proteins	Accession Number	Unique peptides	
		MDM2 AAD	wt MDM2
E3 Ubiquitin-protein ligase MDM2	Q00987	9	19
Cellular tumour antigen p53	P04637	13	16
60S ribosomal protein L5	P46777	10	15
40S ribosomal protein S3	P23396	8	12
60S ribosomal protein L11	P62913	3	8
60S ribosomal protein L23	P62829	3	7
Nucleophosmin	P06748	6	7
Nucleolin	P10338	10	5

Table 3-1: Well-established MDM2-binding proteins identified in both samples.

Proteins well established to interact with MDM2 identified in both samples by detection of at least 5 unique peptides in one and at least 3 in the other sample. Numbers represent unique peptides identified.

Serving as positive control for a successful assay setup, MDM2 itself and its binding partner p53 were identified in both samples. Since MDM2 Δ AD is considerably shorter than full-length MDM2, it is not surprising that less unique peptides were identified in the cells expressing MDM2 Δ AD. A number of ribosomal proteins are well established binding partners for p53, such as L5²²³, L11¹⁸⁸, L23²²² and more recently also S3⁷⁰⁹. Interaction of MDM2 with the ribosomal protein S3⁷⁰⁹ and the proteins Nucleolin⁷¹⁰ and Nucleophosmin⁷¹¹ were found to take place outside the acidic domain, consistent with the identification of peptides in both samples (Table 3-1). However, although L5, L11 and L23 were described to bind to the MDM2 acidic domain²²⁰⁻²²², interaction with MDM2 Δ AD was also observed in this proteomics analysis (Table 3-1). It is possible that MDM2 Δ AD could have dimerised with

endogenous full-length MDM2 and co-immunoprecipitated these ribosomal proteins via the acidic domain of the endogenous protein. However, since overexpression levels were very high, the likelihood for exogenous/endogenous MDM2 dimers to occur is very low. Furthermore, the acidic domain binding protein p14^{ARF} was exclusively identified in cells expressing full-length MDM2, but not MDM2 Δ AD (not included in list since only 4 peptides were identified), suggesting that differences in binding can be picked up with this experimental setup.

Identified proteins Accession Number	Accession	Unique peptides	
	Number	MDM2 AAD	wt MDM2
PHD finger protein 6	Q8IWS0	0	16
40S ribosomal protein S4	P62701	1	10
DNA ligase 3	P49916	0	10
Splicing factor 3B subunit 2	Q13435	0	8
Proliferation-associated protein 2G4	Q9UQ80	1	7
Ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase 7	Q93009	1	6
60S ribosomal protein L10	P27635	0	6
40S ribosomal protein S3a	P61247	0	6
40S ribosomal protein S2	P15880	1	5
60S ribosomal protein L26-like 1	Q9UNX3	0	5
40S ribosomal protein S11	P62280	0	5
Developmentally-regulated GTP-binding protein 1	Q9Y295	0	5
40S ribosomal protein S25	P62851	1	4
E3 Ubiquitin-protein ligase HUWE1	Q7Z6Z7	14	0
Protein phosphatase 1G	O15355	9	1
Sodium/potassium-transporting ATPase subunit alpha	P05023	9	1
Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins A2/B1	P22626	5	1

Table 3-2: Proteins binding selectively to either full-length MDM2 or MDM2 ΔAD.

Proteins identified in one sample by detection of at least 5 peptides in the mass-spectrometer, with no more than one peptide identified in the other sample were selected for this list. Numbers represent unique peptides identified.

A number of other ribosomal proteins S2, S3a, S4, S11, S25, L10 and L26L1 exclusively interacted with full-length, but not MDM2 Δ AD (Table 3-2). While many of these proteins have never previously been described to interact with MDM2, S25⁷¹² and L26⁷¹³ were recently reported to bind to MDM2. Since many other ribosomal

proteins, such as S7²²⁶, S14⁷¹⁴, S20⁷¹⁵ and S27a⁷¹⁶ have only recently been discovered to bind to MDM2, it is possible that the interaction with other ribosomal proteins, such as the ones identified here, had not yet been described. Since ribosomal proteins are part of large protein complexes, it is furthermore conceivable that some of these proteins do not directly interact with MDM2, but are pulled down in a complex with other ribosomal proteins.

Several non-ribosomal proteins were identified that bind exclusively to full-length MDM2, such as PHD finger protein 6, DNA ligase 3, Splicing factor 3B subunit 2, Proliferation-associated protein 2G4, Ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase 7 and Developmentally regulated GTP-binding protein 1. While none of these proteins are involved in the SUMO-pathway, the Ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolase 7, also known as USP7 or HAUSP, is known to deubiquitinate both p53 and MDM2^{313,314}. In contrast to one study mapping the HAUSP interaction to MDM2's amino acids 147 and 159⁷¹⁷, a preferred interaction with the full-length MDM2 protein was observed here, suggesting that the acidic domain of MDM2 might be supporting the interaction with HAUSP. Consistent with these results, a different structural study mapped the HAUSP interaction region to amino acids 222-232, which are deleted in our the MDM2 ΔAD protein⁷¹⁸. However, HAUSP seems to be specific for the removal of Ubiguitin and no SUMO-related activities have been reported to date. It is possible though, that posttranslational modifications such as ubiguitination of MDM2 regulate its activity to SUMOylate p53 or Ubiquitin-modification of p53 could regulate its availability for subsequent SUMOylation and it would therefore be interesting to investigate whether HAUSP could modulated MDM2's ability to promote SUMO-2/3 modification of p53.

Another notable hit was the PHD finger protein 6 (PHF6) that exclusively bound to full-length MDM2, but not MDM2 ΔAD. PHD domains contain zinc-coordinating structures similar to RING fingers⁷¹⁹. The PHD domain of the Kip1 protein has recently been demonstrated to confer intramolecular SUMO-E3 ligase activity⁷²⁰ and it is possible that the PHD finger 6 protein also plays a role in SUMOylation.

The Proliferation-associated protein 2G4, also known as ErbB3 binding protein EBP1, is a part of a large ribonucleotide protein complex and was previously

observed to bind MDM2, promoting its interaction with p53⁷²¹. Since MDM2mediated p53 ubiquitination was also induced by EBP1, it was described as ubiquitination cofactor⁷²¹. It could be informative to investigate whether this binding factor exclusively promotes ubiquitination, or also drives SUMOylation, since the p53-MDM2 interaction was promoted by EBP1. No association with MDM2 or the UBL pathway are known for DNA ligase 3, Splicing factor 3B subunit 2 or developmentally-regulated GTP-binding protein.

By contrast, peptides of a number of proteins (E3 Ubiquitin ligase HUWE1, Protein phosphatase 1G, Sodium/potassium-transporting ATPase subunit alpha (ATP1B1) and heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins A2/B1) were exclusively identified in the sample overexpressing MDM2 Δ AD. No associations of ATP1B1 with MDM2 or SUMOylation could be found. While no direct interaction of Protein phosphatase 1G (PPM1G) and MDM2 has been described, the phosphatase was recently found to dephosphorylate HAUSP, leading to downregulation of its deubiquitinating activity towards MDM2⁷²². MDM2's SUMOylation activity could potentially be regulated by modification with ubiquitination, and it is furthermore possible that MDM2 is a PPM1G target and that MDM2's E3 functions are regulated by phosphorylation. Strikingly, the HECT-domain containing E3 Ubiquitin ligase HUWE1 bound exclusively to MDM2 Δ AD, but not to wild-type MDM2. To date, no HECT-domain ligases have been described to promote SUMOylation, however it would still be informative to test whether HUWE1 could aid p53-SUMOylation.

While the proteomics analysis did not reveal any obvious explanation as to why MDM2 ΔAD promotes SUMOylation so efficiently, a number of hits, most of which are associated with ubiquitination, were identified and could form the basis for future studies.

Having studied the SUMO-2/3 conjugation to p53, the potential of MDM2 to be modified by SUMO-2/3 itself was investigated.

3.4 SUMO-2/3 modification of MDM2.

SUMO-1 conjugation to MDM2 was previously reported^{425,426,431,432}, yet no definite SUMO-site has been identified to date. Since MDM2 is a Ubiquitin-ligase not only for p53, but also for itself^{157,181} it was investigated, whether MDM2 could also be SUMO-2/3 modified itself.

Unlike ubiquitination, SUMOylation is in most cases restricted to lysine residues in the environment of a SUMO motif Ψ KxE³³¹. However, not every SUMO motif is SUMOylated and sometimes also lysine residues outwith the canonical consensus sequence are modified by SUMO. Analysis of the MDM2 amino acid sequence with the SUMO site prediction tool SUMOsp 2.0⁷²³ revealed one classical SUMO consensus motif (Ψ KxE) around lysine 346 and two non-canonical SUMO sites at lysine 185 and 422 (Figure 3-26). A study from David Lane's lab had previously narrowed the SUMO-1 conjugation site down to an area between amino acids 134 and 212⁴²⁵.



- SUMO consensus motif (lysine 346)
- non-canonical SUMO motif (lysine 185 and lysine 422)

Figure 3-26: Potential SUMO sites on MDM2.

Representation of the MDM2 protein with SUMO sites predicted by SUMOsp2.0 prediction tool and previous studies (in red). The area deleted in the MDM2 Δ AD protein is indicated in black.

All studies on MDM2-SUMOylation have so far been conducted with SUMO-1, and it was therefore assessed whether any SUMO-2/3 conjugated MDM2 could be detected after overexpressing SUMO-3 with an MDM2 mutant, which had been found to drive strong SUMOylation of p53 in previous experiments. Indeed, MDM2 ΔAD showed a higher band doublet in the SUMO assay, which was shifted up by roughly 20 kD and could represent conjugation of a single SUMO-3 moiety (Figure 3-27 A).



Figure 3-27: MDM2 ΔAD MDM2 is SUMO-2/3 modified.

HCT116 cells were transfected with the indicated MDM2 mutants and SUMO-3. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and MDM2 was immunoprecipitated using the Ab-1 antibody (IP MDM2). * indicates an Actin band. Size marker is included as guidance, numbers indicate protein size in kD.

Since MDM2 Δ AD is efficiently SUMOylated, both the canonical SUMO consensus site at lysine 346 and the non-canonical site at lysine 422 were excluded as potentially SUMOylated residues, because all amino acids between 222 and 437 are deleted in this protein. The only remaining proposed SUMO site lies at lysine 185, which also fulfils the previously set requirement of SUMOylation taking place between amino acids 134 and 212⁴²⁵. MDM2's lysine 185 was thus mutated to arginine and its ability to be SUMOylated analysed. The resulting MDM2 Δ AD K185R protein was still SUMOylated equally well as MDM2 Δ AD (Figure 3-27 B), suggesting that SUMO-2/3 is conjugated to a different lysine residue in MDM2 Δ AD.

Taken together, these data show that MDM2 is not only SUMO-1 modified, but also SUMO-2/3 conjugated. At least one SUMO site is located outside the region deleted in the MDM2 ΔAD mutant, however the predicted SUMO site around lysine 185 is not the SUMOylated residue. Three other lysine residues (K136, K146 and K182) are located in the region proposed to be SUMOylated by Xirodimas et al⁴²⁵ and it could be of interest to determine whether mutation of any of these lysines could abrogate SUMO-2/3 modification.

3.5 Summary and Discussion

Taken together, these data show that, in addition to promoting Ubiquitin conjugation to p53, MDM2 can also enhance modification by SUMO-2/3 and that the requirements are different to those previously reported for SUMO-1.

MDM2-mediated conjugation of SUMO-2/3 to p53 depends on the p53-MDM2 interaction (Figure 3-3), but is independent of the integrity of the RING domain (Figure 3-5), which is essential for p53 ubiquitination¹⁸¹. Although the Ubiquitin-E3 ligase activity is not required for SUMOylation of p53, MDMX, which binds p53 in a manner similar to MDM2, cannot promote p53 SUMOylation (Figure 3-1). Furthermore, a monomeric MDM2 is sufficient to drive SUMOvlation (Figure 3-23), while a homodimer of MDM2 or heterodimer of MDM2 and MDMX is required for efficient ubiquitination¹⁷⁴. Interestingly, the SUMO-E2 can directly bind to the SUMO consensus in the target protein³³⁵ in contrast to Ubiquitin E2 enzymes that do not tightly associate with the target protein. In light of this different role of the conjugating enzyme in the SUMOylation cascade, it is conceivable that a potential SUMO-E3 ligase would also require different activities than a Ubiquitin-E3 ligase. The PIAS family SUMO-E3 ligases contain SP-RING domains related to Ubiquitin-E3 RINGs, and it was suggested that they act similarly to the Ubiquitin-E3 RINGs by binding to the E2-UBL thioester and activating the thioester-bond for transfer to the target⁷²⁴. However, even though RING fingers (or similar structures like PHD fingers) or HECT domains seem to be strictly required for the activity of Ubiquitin E3 ligases, SUMO-E3s do not always rely on this functional domain to promote SUMOylation of their targets. Indeed, the first identified SUMO-E3 ligase RanBP2 contains neither RINGnor HECT-domain like structures³³³, but harbours its catalytic activity in two internal repeat domains³⁶¹. While PIAS4 requires an intact RING domain to promote SUMOylation of p53⁴¹², it can promote SUMOylation of Yin Yang1 independently of the SP RING⁷²⁵. PIAS4-mediated SUMO-modification of GATA-2 also does not rely on the RING domain, but requires to bind to GATA-2726, similar to the requirement of MDM2 to interact with p53 in order to promote SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 (Figure 3-3).

Generally, MDM2 mutants that were unable to ubiquitinate were better in promoting SUMOylation of p53 (Figure 3-6). This finding points towards distinct SUMO- and ubiquitination activities in the same enzyme and possibly a competition of both activities. The degree of SUMO conjugation activity however does not correlate with the loss of ubiquitination activity. For example, the MDM2 ΔAD mutant retains some residual ubiquitination activity, but promotes SUMOylation of p53 most efficiently (Figure 3-6). This MDM2 mutant had previously been shown to promote SUMO-1 conjugation to p53, which was linked to its relocalisation to the nucleolus⁴¹⁵. However, relocalisation of MDM2 to the nucleolus is not a prerequisite for SUMO-2/3 modification of p53, since MDM2 mutants that have lost the nucleolar relocalisation signal, for example Δ RING (Figure 3-5) and MDM2 Δ AD Δ NoLS (Figure 3-18), or are not activated for nucleolar localisation, for example 464A MDM2 (Figure 3-6), show efficient SUMO-2/3 conjugating activity. Interestingly, only SUMO-1, but not SUMO-2/3 localises to the nucleolus³⁴⁹, which might explain the differences observed between the requirements for MDM2-mediated SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 modification. Nevertheless, similar to previous observations for SUMO-1 conjugation of p53, co-expression of p14^{ARF}, which induces nucleolar relocalisation of MDM2 and inhibits its ubiquitination activity, markedly induced MDM2's ability to promote SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53 (Figure 3-17). Importantly, p14^{ARF} has been linked to other MDM2-independent mechanisms of promoting SUMOylation, since it binds and recruits the SUMO-E2 Ubc9428 and induces turnover of the deSUMOylating enzyme SENP3⁴²⁹. Co-expression of the ribosomal protein L11, which also inhibits MDM2-mediated ubiquitination, but has not been linked to any further involvement in the SUMOylation pathway, also promoted SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 by MDM2 (Figure 3-17).

Rather than relying on MDM2 relocalisation to the nucleolus, I propose that the strong SUMO-2/3 conjugating activity of MDM2 Δ AD depends on MDM2-interacting proteins, as this mutant interacted particularly well with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 (Fig 3-24). Other proteins binding to this region could have additional effects, for example it has recently been published that the Sentrin-specific protease Senp3 interacts with MDM2 between amino acids 222-274⁷⁰⁶, which are missing in the MDM2 Δ AD protein. Although no SUMO-specific proteases known to interact with MDM2^{706,727} were identified as MDM2-interacting proteins in the mass-spectrometry experiment

(Table 3-2), a number of proteins were identified to bind exclusively to either protein. In particular, the HECT-E3-ligase HUWE1, which only interacted with MDM2 ΔAD and the PHD finger protein 6, which only interacted with full-length MDM2 could form the basis for further investigations. Although these proteins have not yet been linked to SUMOylation, it would still be conceivable that they might have an effect on p53-SUMOylation since both Ubiquitin ligases, albeit to date no HECT-domain ligases, and PHD-domain containing proteins⁷²⁰ have previously been found to confer SUMOylation activity.

The observation that mouse p53 cannot be SUMOylated (Figure 3-10) is crucial for the choice of an animal model. The knock-in mouse created by Krummel et al. where all C-terminal lysine residues (7 in the mouse, 6 in the human protein) were mutated to arginine¹⁵¹, which strikingly did not result in any major change in p53 regulation, was thought to affect all C-terminal Ubiquitin-like modifications. But since wild-type murine p53 cannot be SUMOylated, no conclusions about the effects of SUMOvlation on p53-activity can be drawn from this study. Histological co-staining of p53 and SUMO-1 in mouse tumours⁴⁰² will therefore most likely not represent SUMOylated p53 either. Strikingly, SUMOylation of p53 was recently also studied in rat brain neurons⁷²⁸, however similar to mouse p53, the SUMO motif is not conserved in the rat p53 sequence and it remains to be determined, where this SUMOylation of the rat p53 took place. SUMOylation of p53 has also been studied in drosophila, but limited conclusions can be drawn form these experiments, since drosophila p53 has two SUMO motives, one in the N-terminus and the central part of the protein, but the C-terminal SUMO consensus found in the human protein is not conserved⁷²⁹. Interestingly, a lethal SUMO knockout model in zebrafish could be rescued by deletion of p53, raising the possibility that p53-SUMOylation could play a crucial role here⁷³⁰. Since zebrafish p53 does contain a C-terminal SUMO-site homologous to the human site, it would be informative to create a lysine 366 or glutamate 368 mutant knock-in zebrafish (analogous to the human K386R and E388R p53) to study functional consequences of p53 SUMOylation in vivo.

Although the same SUMO-E2 enzyme (Ubc9) is responsible for conjugating all SUMO-isoforms, some target genes are preferentially conjugated with SUMO-1 and others show much higher SUMOylation with SUMO-2/3^{348,731}. While MDM2

predominantly modified p53 with SUMO-3 (Figure 3-16), it remains challenging to compare SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 conjugated levels. Although overexpression of tagged SUMO-isoforms might be able to eliminate possibly different isoform-specific antibody quality issues, immunoprecipitation of SUMOylated targets can only capture a snapshot picture, which might be highly flawed due to the different dynamics of SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3³⁴⁸. Overexpression, especially of SUMO-1, which is normally mostly conjugated to proteins rather than available free in the cell, can furthermore shift the natural balance of a high free SUMO-2/3 pool and identify SUMO-1 targets which would naturally preferentially be conjugated to SUMO-1 versus SUMO-2/3 conjugation are emerging. Isoform-specific SUMO-interacting motifs for the recruitment of interacting proteins³⁵⁸ and SUMO-chain-specific functions⁷³¹ - chain formation is limited to SUMO-2/3⁶⁷³ - have been described.

Despite the observation of a ladder of SUMOylated p53 bands, p53 did not seem to be poly-SUMOylated since mutation of lysine residue 11 in SUMO-3, which is required for chain formation, did not alter the band pattern (Figure 3-15). Thus, the ladder of bands probably reflects a combination of SUMO- and Ubiquitin- or Nedd8-conjugation to different lysine residues in p53. This hypothesis is consistent with the observation that mutation of multiple lysine residues in p53 ΔNLS, some of which are known to be targeted for ubiquitination^{141,310} and neddylation³¹⁹, altered the band pattern of SUMOylated p53 from three main bands to two main bands (Figure 3-12). However, in light of a recent report that SUMO-3 can also form chains via lysine 41⁷³², the question of a SUMO chain on p53 could be re-adressed by also mutating lysine 41. Furthermore, the cells overexpressing the arginine mutant SUMO isoforms, still contain endogenous SUMO, which could still be used for conjugation of another SUMO molecule. In order to eliminate these technical limitations, it would be useful to analyse SUMOylated p53 with mass-spectrometry, where identification of branched SUMO-peptides would give a clear indication of the presence of SUMO-chains⁷³³.

Specific SUMO-paralogues can be selected for conjugation to certain targets, mediated by SUMO-interacting motifs showing higher affinity towards particular isoforms. A stretch of hydrophobic residues is important for recognition of all SUMO-isoforms, whereas a cluster of negatively charged amino acids in close proximity was

identified to preferentially interact with SUMO-1, potentially due to interaction with a lysine residue at position 78 in SUMO-1, which is not present in SUMO-2/3³⁵⁸. Analysis of the MDM2 amino acid sequence revealed two potential SUMO interaction motifs outside the central acidic domain region. One of the hydrophobic clusters identified in MDM2 (SIM1) is followed by a number of negatively charged amino acids and serine residues (QQESSDS), which have also frequently been observed in vicinity to SIMs, and could be negatively charged after phosphorylation of the hydroxyl group. This suggests that SIM1 would possibly prefer binding to SUMO-1, which might explain why no difference in SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53 was observed here (Figure 3-20).

Since the second hydrophobic stretch (SIM2) lacks negatively charged amino acids it would probably preferentially interact with SUMO-2/3. Indeed, SIM2 is an inverted version of the SUMO-2/3 specific SIM identified in the deubiquitinating enzyme USP25³⁹². However, no reduction of SUMOylation activity was observed with the MDM2 SIM2 mutant. Many SUMO-E3 ligases, including RanBP2⁷³⁴, PIAS proteins³⁵⁴ and Pc2⁷³⁵ contain SIMs and these motifs can contribute to their SUMO-ligase activity. Possibly, since MDM2 can directly interact with Ubc9, which would bring along the activated SUMO and p53, no non-covalent interaction with SUMO is required for MDM2-mediated SUMOylation of p53.

SUMO targets can also contain SIMs, through which they can interact with Ubc9 charged with SUMO. This provides a mechanism for SUMOylating lysine residues outwith a classical SUMO consensus, which Ubc9 would bind directly³³⁵. Such a SIM, which is crucial for its SUMOylation, has been identified in the BLM DNA helicase³⁵⁷. p53 also contains a hydrophobic stretch of amino acids, starting from amino acid 252 (ILTII) in proximity of negatively charged amino acids (EDSS). It would be interesting to assess, whether mutation of this potential SIM could affect SUMOylation of p53.

Furthermore, the potential SIMs identified in MDM2 could also play a role in SUMOylation of itself^{425,427}. MDM2 SUMOylation has been subject to many controversies, especially after the retraction of a paper, which proposed the SUMO site to be lysine 446 (reviewed in³²³). To date the definitive SUMO site on MDM2 has

not been identified. Mutation of K185, which was a software-predicted non-canonical SUMO site⁷²³ matching previous observations that the site of SUMOylation lies within amino acids 134 and 212⁴²⁵ did not prevent SUMOylation (Figure 3-27). This finding recapitulates earlier experiments, where K185R MDM2 was also SUMO-1 modified to a similar extent as wild-type MDM2⁴²⁶. The search for the SUMO site is further complicated by the presence of the nuclear localisation signal in this region (between amino acids 181 and 185)⁶⁹⁹. Lysine 182 had also been suggested as SUMO site, since K182R could not be SUMOylated by PIAS1 in cells⁴²⁶. However, it needs to be considered that lysine 182 is part of the MDM2's nuclear localisation signal and the MDM2 K182R mutant protein was mostly found in the cytoplasm. Indeed, MDM2 K182R was still SUMOylated in vitro, suggesting that the change in localisation could indeed have been the factor abolishing SUMOylation of the MDM2 K182R protein in cells⁴²⁶. It is therefore difficult to determine whether lysine 182 is a SUMO accepting lysine residue. There are two more lysine residues (K136 and K146) in the region predicted to be SUMOylated between amino acids 134 and 212⁴²⁵. It would be informative to mutate these to lysine residues as well and to investigate, whether a reduction in SUMOylation could be observed. MDM2's SUMO site has still not been determined and it is possible that the identification has been hindered by the presence of multiple sites, which could explain why a single lysine replacement has not yielded any success so far.

Taken together, the data presented in this chapter suggest that rather than catalytically enhancing the SUMOylation reaction by activating the Ubc9-SUMO thioester through contact of the RING, MDM2 promotes the SUMOylation of p53 by bringing the E2, SUMO and the target into close proximity. It is therefore crucial for MDM2 to interact with both p53 and Ubc9, interactions with both of which were shown here. I therefore suggest that MDM2 does not act as a classic E3 ligase, but rather as a co-activator and scaffold to the SUMOylation reaction. Promotion of SUMOylation independent of the RING domain was often shown to require SUMO interaction motifs, as in the case of the PIAS proteins⁷³⁶. However, the potential SIMs in MDM2 were not required to promote SUMO-2/3 modification of p53. Since an interaction between MDM2 and Ubc9 was observed, it is possible that MDM2 does not directly interact with SUMO, but rather brings the SUMO-charged Ubc9 into proximity of p53.

This model is in accordance with the observation that the MDM2 RING domain and dimerisation were not required for the SUMOylation of p53. However, it is still unclear how the multiple activities of MDM2 are regulated. It was observed here, that conditions which inhibited the Ubiquitin-ligase function generally stimulated SUMOylation. It is possible that MDM2 is by default in ubiquitination mode and that a switch to SUMOylation mode is triggered by MDM2-binding proteins. For example co-expression of p14^{ARF} and L11, which inhibit MDM2's Ubiguitin E3-ligase activity, enhanced its ability to SUMOylate. It is furthermore possible, that posttranslational modifications play a role in regulating the multiple functions of MDM2. It was shown that the Ubiquitin- and SUMO-E3 ligase Topors switches from ubiquitination to SUMOylation of p53 after Topors has become phosphorylated by PLK1⁷³⁷. A similar scenario could be proposed for MDM2 and it would be useful to test the impact of serine 386 and serine 429 phosphorylation, which were reported to disrupt MDM2 dimerisation²⁰⁵, on MDM2's ability to promote SUMOylation of p53. Also, acetylation of lysine residues K466 and K467 in MDM2's RING domain was reported to inhibit p53 ubiquitination by MDM2⁷³⁸ and it would be informative to test the impact of these modifications on MDM2-mediated SUMOylation of p53.

It is still unclear, when p53 would become SUMOylated in a cell. Both p53 and SUMO-2/3 are involved in stress response pathways and it is possible that SUMOylation has a role in modulating p53's transcriptional output in response to certain stresses. DNA damage is unlikely to induce p53 SUMOylation, since many phosphorylation events modify the N-terminus of p53, thereby disrupting its interaction with MDM2, which is clearly required for efficient SUMO-2/3 modification. Indeed, phosphorylation of p53 has previously been reported to impair its SUMOylation⁴⁰⁸. However, since L11 and p14^{ARF} were found to stimulate p53 SUMOylation, SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 could be induced as part of the responses to oncogenic and ribosomal stress.

Clearly, many posttranslational modifications have important roles in modulating p53's activity. Therefore the functional implication of p53 SUMOylation was studied in the following chapter.

4 Modulation of p53 activity by SUMO-2/3 modification.

Posttranslational modifications are often involved in regulating the activity of transcription factors. It was therefore investigated whether SUMO-2/3 modification on p53 affected its activity as a transcription factor. Although more studied than SUMO-2/3, consequences of SUMO-1 modification on p53 activity are still a matter for debate⁴⁰⁴ (the early p53-SUMO results are reviewed in⁷³⁹). There have been reports that SUMO-1 modification of p53 results in increased^{405,406}, decreased⁴¹⁰ and unchanged transcriptional activity⁴⁰⁷. A more recent study has shown that SUMO-1 modification of p53 plays a role in inhibiting C-terminal acetylation, thereby repressing DNA binding and transcriptional activity⁴⁰¹. Other investigators reported that conjugation of acetylated SUMO-1 to p53 can modulate the transcriptional activity of p53 differently than conjugation of unmodified SUMO-1⁴⁰². The few studies, which have addressed SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53, linked H₂O₂⁴²¹ or KbZIP induced⁴²² SUMO-2/3 modification to increased p53 transcriptional activity. However, SUMOylation has generally more often been associated with transcriptional repression³⁸⁰. In order to study the consequences of SUMOylation, the SUMO isoforms were often overexpressed together with p53. This approach harbours caveats, because SUMO-overexpression would affect SUMOylation of many other proteins as well, making it difficult to link observed differences back to p53. Others used a p53 protein mutated for the SUMO-accepting lysine residue, p53 K386R. While this approach will certainly yield more p53-specific results, it is difficult to determine the impact of SUMO-modification of this lysine residue, since lysine 386 is also acetylated and ubiquitinated. SUMOylation is in most cases dependent on the presence of a SUMO motif, particularly a glutamic residue in proximity to the SUMOylated lysine, mutation of which abrogates SUMOylation at the lysine (Figure 3-9), but most probably does not impair other modifications of the lysine residue. Thus, if p53 K386R and p53 E388A show the same phenotype, the effect can most likely be attributed to disruption of SUMOylation of p53. Surprisingly, none of the above mentioned studies used the p53 E388A mutation to specifically inhibit SUMOylation of p53, while sparing lysine 386 for other modifications.

In order to determine the effect of MDM2-induced SUMO-2/3 conjugation on p53 localisation, protein stability, tetramerisation and transcriptional activity, the assays performed here used both p53 K386R and p53 E388A as non-SUMOylatable p53. While mutating the SUMO-site cannot distinguish between the effects of the different

SUMO-isoforms, most of these experiments were carried out in the presence of MDM2 ΔAD, which predominantly promotes SUMO-2/3 modification of p53.

4.1 SUMOylation does not affect p53 localisation.

p53 activity can be regulated by its localisation, since it cannot act as a transcription factor on the promoters of its target genes, if it is excluded from the nucleus.



Figure 4-1: p53 proteins with and without SUMO site localise to the nuclei. H1299 cells were transfected with wild-type or SUMO-consensus mutant (K386R and E388A) p53. p53 was stained with DO-1 primary and Alexa Fluor 488 secondary antibody. Nuclei were stained with DAPI.

Mono-ubiquitination of p53 is thought to promote the protein's nuclear export⁷⁴⁰ and previous studies of p53-SUMO-1 fusion proteins also suggested a role for SUMO-1 in promoting p53 nuclear export⁴¹³. It was therefore investigated whether the two

SUMO-consensus mutants of p53 (K386R and E388A) would show a different cellular distribution than wild-type p53 when overexpressed in H1299 cells.

All p53 proteins, with and without SUMO consensus, localised exclusively to the nuclei (Figure 4-1). It is possible that the fraction of SUMOylated p53 was too small to observe any differences of total p53 protein localisation in this setup. Localisation of the p53 proteins was therefore assessed under co-expression of MDM2 Δ AD in order to enhance SUMO-2/3 modification of p53. Localisation of the p53 proteins was assessed by subcellular fractionation.



Figure 4-2: SUMO-2/3 modified p53 is exclusively nuclear.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with MDM2 Δ AD and wild-type or SUMOconsensus mutant p53 (E388A and K386R). Cells were fractionated into cytoplasmic (Cy) and nuclear (Nu) fractions in the presence of 10 μ M lodacetamid to prevent deSUMOylation. p53 was immunoprecipitated using the DO-1 antibody under denaturing conditions (IP p53). GCN5 served as nuclear and LDHB as cytoplasmic marker.

In the presence of MDM2 Δ AD, localisation of p53 was mainly nuclear and the distribution pattern was identical for wild-type p53, p53 K386R and p53 E388A (Figure 4-2, input).

Since SUMOylation is a highly dynamic process, analysing total p53 levels might conceal a change of localisation of only the modified fraction of p53. In order to study

the localisation of the SUMOylated fraction, p53 was immunoprecipitated from the fractionated lysates under denaturing conditions. Notably, SUMO-2/3 modified p53 was exclusively found in the nuclear fraction (Figure 4-2, IP). Thus, SUMO-2/3 conjugated p53 is not exported out of the nucleus. It is however possible that SUMOylation affects the sub-nuclear distribution of p53.



Figure 4-3: SUMOylation does not alter intranuclear localisation of p53. U2OS cells were transfected with PML and wild-type p53, p53 E388A or p53 K386R. p53 was stained with DO-1 and Alexa Fluor 488 secondary antibodies (p53), PML was stained with PML rabbit (Santa Cruz) and Alexa Fluor 594 secondary antibodies (PML). Nuclei were stained with DAPI.

The p53 protein can localise to PML bodies⁷⁴¹ and PML bodies have been suggested to serve as a hub for SUMOylated proteins⁷⁴². In order to investigate whether SUMO-2/3-modification influences p53 localisation at the PML bodies, PML was overexpressed together with p53 proteins with and without SUMO motif and localisation was assessed by confocal microscopy of immunofluorescently stained cells overexpressing p53 and PML.

PML formed characteristic punctae representing PML bodies in the nucleus and these PML bodies were excluded from DAPI staining, since they are free of DNA

(Figure 4-3). Bright p53 punctae co-localising with the PML bodies would indicate accumulation of p53 at the PML bodies, while appearance of dark dots in the p53 staining overlapping with the PML bodies (similar to the DAPI staining) would indicate that p53 was excluded from the PML bodies. However, wild-type p53, p53 K386R and p53 E388A all showed equal nuclear distribution with some darker spots, which did not overlap with the PML bodies (Figure 4-3). It can therefore be concluded that all p53 proteins tested (with and without SUMO motif) are neither enriched at nor excluded from the PML bodies. These data suggest that modification with SUMO-2/3 does not affect sub-nuclear localisation of p53. This is in line with previous reports suggesting that p53 is recruited to PML via its core domain without involvement of the C-terminus⁷⁴³ and that lysine 386 is not required for p53 localising to PML bodies in the context of SUMO-1⁴⁰⁷. It would be informative to repeat this experiment in the presence of MDM2 Δ AD in order to stimulate SUMO-2/3 modification of wild-type p53.

Taken together, SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 does not appear to alter localisation of the p53 protein. However, it is still possible that the fraction of SUMOylated p53 was too small to observe an effect on total p53. Indeed, the p53-SUMO-1 fusion proteins were used as models for SUMOylated p53 in the past. The p53-SUMO-1 protein was observed to promote cytoplasmic p53 localisation⁴¹⁴ and therefore the localisation of a p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein was also analysed. The fusion protein is expressed from a vector containing the SUMO-3 sequence cloned in frame after the p53 sequence, resulting in a C-terminal fusion to the p53 protein. SUMO is usually conjugated to its substrates via a C-terminal diglycine motif, which is free in the fusion protein. Previous studies have shown that the presence of the diglycine motif can affect the localisation of a p53-SUMO-1 fusion protein: p53-SUMO-1 with the diglycine motif was localised to distinct sub-nuclear structures partially overlapping with PML bodies, while p53-SUMO-1 without the diglycine motif was present at the nuclear envelope and in some cells also to the cytoplasm⁴¹⁴. It was concluded that the p53-SUMO-1 fusion protein was conjugated to other proteins instead of free SUMO-1 and the fusion protein without diglycine was proposed to be a more accurate model of SUMO-1-modified of p53⁴¹⁴. Hence, SUMO-3's diglycine motif in the p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein was removed so that it could not be conjugated to any target proteins instead of free SUMO-3.



Figure 4-4: p53-SUMO-3 fusion proteins locate to the cytoplasm in some cells. H1299 cells were transfected with wild-type p53, p53-SUMO-3 or p53-SUMO-3 QFI fusion. p53 was stained with the DO-1 primary and Alexa Fluor 488 secondary antibodies. Nuclei were stained with DAPI.

While wild-type p53 was exclusively nuclear, the p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein localised to both the nucleus and the cytoplasm in some cells, but was predominantly nuclear in most cells (Figure 4-4). This is similar to the localisation of p53-SUMO-1, which is cytoplasmic in 40% of cells⁴¹⁴. Although the number of cells with cytoplasmic staining was not quantified here, the impression from confocal microscopy analysis was that significantly less than half of all cells showed cytoplasmic p53-SUMO-3, probably more in the range of 20%.

Many functions of SUMOylation are mediated by recruitment of proteins that contain SUMO-interaction motifs. It is possible that interaction of SUMO-2/3 conjugated p53 with a SUMO-binding protein is necessary for the export of the fusion protein. For a

SIM to recognise and non-covalently bind SUMO, the surface provided by the β_2 -strand (amino acids 31-39 of SUMO-3) is required³⁵⁶. The surface recognition can be abolished by mutating Q30, F31 an I33 in SUMO-3³⁵⁷, resulting in the SUMO-3 QFI protein (Figure 4-5 A).

Surprisingly, the p53-SUMO-3 QFI protein showed cytoplasmic staining in almost all transfected cells (Figure 4-4). In order to confirm these results with another assay, cells overexpressing either wild-type p53, the p53-SUMO-3 or the p53-SUMO-3 QFI fusion protein were fractionated and nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions assessed by western blotting.





(A) Representation of the amino acids in the β_2 strand of SUMO-3 (in red). Amino acids replaced to make the QFI mutations are indicated in bold. SwissProt accession number: P55854.

(B) HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with either p53 or p53-SUMO fusion proteins. Cells were fractionated into cytoplasmic (Cy) and nuclear (Nu) fraction. GCN5 served as nuclear and LDHB as cytoplasmic marker.

Although all p53 constructs led to expression of a mainly nuclear protein, a fraction of the p53-SUMO-3 QFI fusion protein was cytoplasmic (Figure 4-5), which is consistent with the immunofluorescence staining of these two proteins (Figure 4-4). However, the p53-SUMO-3 fusion with intact β_2 -strand was hardly present in the cytoplasmic fraction (Figure 4-5), although some cells with cytoplasmic p53-SUMO-3 had been observed in the immunofluorescence staining (Figure 4-4).

Taken together, these data suggest, that the export of the p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein does not require SUMO's β_2 -strand surface. Since a SUMO protein without the SUMO-interaction surface (p53-SUMO-3 QFI) was more prominently located in the cytoplasm than the p53-SUMO-3 fusion, it is possible that non-covalent

interaction of a SUMO-binding protein counteracts the export of the p53-SUMO-3 protein. Since SIMs can be SUMO-isoform specific, this could also explain, why a larger fraction of the p53-SUMO-1 fusion than of the p53-SUMO-3 fusion was exported, suggesting that a protein with a SUMO-2/3 specific SIM retains SUMO-2/3 modified p53 in the nucleus.

The finding that SUMO-2/3 modified p53 was only present in the nuclear fraction (Figure 4-2), but the SUMO-3 fusion-protein was also observed in the cytoplasm (Figure 4-4), albeit less evident in the fractionation experiment (Figure 4-5), seem contradictory and raise questions as to whether the fusion protein is an appropriate model for SUMOylated p53. Clearly, the structure of the fusion protein is different than the SUMOylated protein, since it is conjugated in a linear fashion to the Cterminus of p53, rather than conjugated to the ε -amino group of lysine 386. However, the observed effect is not likely to be purely an artefact of adding a small protein to the C-terminus of p53, since previous studies of p53-UBL fusion proteins deonstrated that only p53-Ubiguitin and p53-SUMO-1 fusions were exported, while p53-Nedd8 fusions showed no change in localisation⁴¹⁴. It is possible that SUMO-3 promotes export of p53 and that the SUMO modification is removed on its journey into the cytoplasm (SUMO-2/3 modified p53 was only observed in the nucleus) and that no change in overall p53 localisation was evident, because the SUMOylated fraction was too small. However, since the majority of p53-SUMO-3 expressing cells also showed nuclear staining and only p53-SUMO-3 QFI was cytoplasmic in the majority of cells, it can be concluded that SUMO-3 modification of p53 does not evidently affect protein localisation as long as the β_2 -interaction surface of SUMO-3 is present.

4.2 SUMOylation does not alter p53 protein stability.

p53 is a very short-lived protein and much of its activity is regulated by protein degradation. The most important regulator of p53 stability is MDM2, which poly-ubiquitinates p53^{135,136} thereby labelling it for subsequent proteasomal degradation^{107,108}.

While no direct induction of proteasomal degradation by SUMOylation has been reported, it has become evident that the SUMO-pathway crosstalks with the Ubiquitin-system in a number of ways. For example SUMOylation of IkBa at lysine residue K21, which is also targeted for ubiquitination, prevents the protein's proteasomal degradation³⁹³. It has also recently become apparent that SUMOylation can recruit Ubiquitin-ligases such as RNF4 via their SUMO-interaction motif in order to promote the degradation of the SUMO-target^{365,388,744-746}.

Hence, the stability of wild-type p53 was compared to the stability of p53 proteins harbouring mutations in the SUMO consensus (K386R and E388A p53). p53 was co-expressed with wild-type MDM2 and SUMO-3, in order to enhance SUMOylation, yet still allow degradation of p53. Protein synthesis was blocked with Cycloheximide and cells were harvested 0, 90, 180 and 270 minutes later to follow the decreasing levels of p53 protein. Band intensity on the western blot was quantified using the Odyssey Licor infrared fluorescent system.

The stability of all p53 proteins tested was very similar, no matter whether they could be SUMOylated (wild-type p53) or not (K386R and E388A p53) (Figure 4-6). Although these data suggest that SUMO-2/3 modification does not affect p53 protein stability, it is possible that the small fraction of SUMOylated protein was not sufficient to allow observation of an effect on total protein level. In order to avoid the problem of only a small SUMOylated protein fraction, the stability of the p53-SUMO-3 protein could be assessed.



Figure 4-6: SUMOylation does not affect p53 protein stability. HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with MDM2, SUMO-3 and either wild-type p53, p53 E388A or p53 K386R. Cells were treated with 200 µg/ml Cycloheximide for indicated times (in minutes). Wild-type p53 lysates were loaded onto 2 gels in order to run a control on each gel. Band intensities were

guantified with the Licor Odyssey Imager and are plotted relative to the band intensity at 0 min.

Particularly, since MDM2 promotes SUMOylation more efficiently when it cannot ubiquitinate p53, it is difficult to assess the MDM2-mediated degradation of SUMO-modified p53. In order to address the degradation of SUMOylated p53 by another E3-ligase, levels of p53 SUMO-2/3-modified by wild-type MDM2 or MDM2 Δ AD, were analysed in the presence of the SUMO-2/3-targeted Ubiquitin ligase RNF4^{365,388}.



Figure 4-7: RNF4 does not degrade SUMOylated p53. HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells were transfected with p53 and MDM2 or MDM2 Δ AD and either empty vector or YFP-tagged RNF4. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody. Expression of RNF4 was detected with a GFP antibody.

Overexpression of RNF4 did not affect levels of SUMOylated p53, induced by fulllength MDM2 or MDM2 ΔAD (Figure 4-7), suggesting that RNF4 does not induce degradation of SUMO-2/3 modified p53. RNF4 contains multiple SIMs in a row and was reported to be specifically recruited by SUMO-2/3 chains³⁶⁵. No poly-SUMOchains on p53 were observed (Figure 3-25), hence RNF4 is probably not recruited to SUMOylated p53.

4.3 SUMOylation does not prevent p53 tetramerisation.

The transcription factor p53 is predominantly present as a tetramer⁷⁴⁷. Importantly, tetramerisation not only forms a prerequisite for sequence-specific DNA binding⁷⁴⁸, but also for interaction with MDM2⁷⁴⁹. p53 contains a nuclear export signal within the oligomerisation domain. The export signal is masked in tetramers¹²⁰, whereby tetramerisation can influence p53 localisation.

Tetramerisation can be influenced by posttranslational modifications of the Cterminus, for example phosphorylation of serine 392 was reported to stabilise p53 tetramers²⁵⁷, while acetylation of lysines 370 to 382 was shown to prevent tetramerisation⁷⁵⁰. Since SUMOylation occurs in the same region of the p53 protein, the effect of SUMO-2/3 modification on p53 oligomerisation was studied.



Figure 4-8: SUMOylation does not hinder p53 tetramerisation. HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with MDM2 Δ AD and either wild-type or SUMO consensus mutant p53 (E388A, K386R). Cells were lysed under mild conditions with 10 μ M lodacetamide to block deSUMOylation. Half of the lysate was crosslinked with 0.01% Glutaraldehyde (GA) for 20 minutes. Samples of lysates with (+) and without (-) crosslinking reagent were run on a 6% polyacrylamide gel.

p53 proteins with or without the SUMO site were expressed together with MDM2 ΔAD in order to promote SUMOylation of wild-type p53. After cross-linking with Glutaraldehyde, monomers, dimers and tetramers of p53 were observed in all three samples (Figure 4-8). Although slightly under-loaded, oligomers of p53 E388A could be detected and these were much more clearly seen for the second SUMO-site mutant p53 K386R. These studies show clearly that SUMOylation does not hinder p53 tetramerisation, similar to reports that SUMO-1 modified p53 exists in tetramers⁴⁰¹. It could also be investigated whether SUMO-2/3-modified tetramers have the same affinity for DNA as unmodified tetramers, since SUMO-1-modified p53 was found to bind less well to DNA in in vitro experiments⁴⁰¹.

4.4 SUMOylation modulates p53's transcriptional activity.

p53 plays a major role as stress-induced transcription factor and its activity has been shown to be influenced by many posttranslational modifications in the C-terminal domain, such as phosphorylation²⁵⁶, acetylation²⁶⁰, methylation^{277,278} and neddylation³¹⁸. The effect of SUMO-1 modification on p53 transcriptional has been studied before, yet the outcome remains controversial^{405-407,410}. Here, the effect of SUMO-2/3 conjugation on p53's transcriptional activity was studied.

In order to assess the influence of SUMOylation on the activation of classic p53 target genes, Luciferase assays with two p53-responsive reporter gene constructs were performed. The PG13 Luciferase construct is regulated by a series of 13 p53 binding sites³⁰ and the Bax-Luciferase construct is under the control of a naturally occurring p53 binding site in the Bax-promoter⁴⁸². Induction of the PG13 Luciferase can be a surrogate for induction of the p21 promoter. The PG13 Luciferase was used instead of a p21 Luciferase, since PG13 Luciferase has lower background Luciferase activity. The PG13 and Bax Luciferase constructs were chosen since they represent subsets of differentially activated target genes. p53 rarely induces apoptosis and cell cycle arrest at the same time and many binding proteins or posttranslational modifications of p53 have been shown to induce one of the two, but not the other⁷⁵¹. Interestingly, several p53 mutants activate the p21, but not the Bax promoter⁷⁵³.

Wild type p53 and both mutants of the SUMO consensus, p53 K386R and p53 E388A, were titrated in the presence of MDM2 ΔAD for maximal SUMOylation. The Luciferase assays (plotted as RLU: (firefly Luciferase units relative to constitutively active TK Renilla as correction for cell number) fold change relative to cells not expressing any p53) revealed that both SUMO-site mutants of p53 induced the PG13 promoter significantly more efficiently than wild-type p53 (Figure 4-9 A).



Figure 4-9: SUMOylation modulates p53's activation of Luciferase reporters. HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with either PG13 Luciferase (A) or Bax Luciferase (B), MDM2 ΔAD and 10 or 100 ng of the p53 constructs indicated. Activation of the promoters was assayed using the Promega Luciferase system. Data was plotted as Relative Luciferase Units (RLU) (Firefly Luciferase readings divided by Renilla Luciferase readings) fold change relative to p53-null control. The diagrams represent the mean of three independent sets of triplicates with error bars as standard error of the mean. * indicates a p-value < 0.02 as results of an unpaired two-tailed Student t-test compared to readings from cells expressing wild-type p53. Equal transfection was confirmed by western blot (C).

The opposite effect was observed on Bax-Luciferase, which was more strongly induced by wild type p53 than the SUMO-site mutants p53 E388A and p53 K386R (Figure 4-9 B), suggesting that SUMOylation can both positively and negatively modulate p53 transcriptional activity depending on the target promoter. Equal p53 protein level in the Luciferase assays were confirmed by western blotting (Figure 4-9 C).

It was investigated next, whether linear conjugation of SUMO-3 as in the p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein, could also modulate p53's transcriptional activity.



Figure 4-10: p53-SUMO-3 fusion proteins are impaired in inducing Luciferase reporters.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with either PG13 Luciferase (A) or Bax Luciferase (B) and 10 or 100 ng of the p53 constructs indicated. Activation of the promoters was assayed using the Promega Luciferase system. Data is plotted as Relative Luciferase Units (RLU) (Firefly Luciferase readings divided by Renilla Luciferase readings) fold change relative to p53-null control. The diagrams represent the mean of two independent sets of triplicates with error bars as standard error of the mean. * indicates a p-value < 0.02 as results of an unpaired two-tailed Student t-test, compared to readings from cells expressing wild-type p53. Equal transfection was confirmed by western blot (C).

As expected, a p53 protein without the SUMO consensus site (p53 E388A) induced PG13-Luciferase significantly more strongly than wild-type p53. Consistent with the conclusion that SUMOylation dampens p53-induced PG13 Luciferase activation, the p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein could not induce PG13 Luciferase at all (Figure 4-10 A). Surprisingly, induction of Bax-Luciferase, which would have been expected to be strongly induced by SUMOylated p53, was also significantly impaired by the SUMO-3 fusion (Figure 4-10 B). However, in contrast to the PG13 Luciferase reporter, which could not be induced, even by high levels of p53-SUMO-3 (Figure 4-10 A), a small induction of Bax Luciferase activity was observed with higher levels of the p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein (Figure 4-10 B). This finding is consistent with the hypothesis that SUMOylated p53 is more likely to activate Bax than p21 and might indicate a role for SUMOylation of p53 in guiding the selective activation of a subset of p53 target genes. Since the p53-SUMO-3 fusion localised to the cytoplasm in some cells in previous experiments, while wild-type p53 was predominantly nuclear (Figure 4-4), it is possible that the lower induction of Bax-Luciferase compared to wild-type p53 is

a consequence of reduced amount of protein available for transcriptional activation of the reporter in the nucleus.

In order to investigate the impact of SUMOylation on p53-induced transcription of endogenous promoters, mRNA of p53 target genes was extracted from p53-null H1299 cells retrovirally infected with empty vector, wild-type, p53 E388A or p53 K386R in the presence of MDM2 ΔAD, transcribed into cDNA and quantified by Real-time PCR. Retroviral infection was chosen in order to achieve relatively equal expression of the p53 constructs in the maximum number of cells to allow for detection of subtle changes in the regulation of p53 targets.



Figure 4-11: SUMOylation modulates mRNA levels of p53-activated and -repressed target genes.

H1299 cells were retrovirally infected with MDM2 Δ AD and either empty vector, wild-type (wt) or SUMO-site mutant p53 (E388A and K386R). Half the cells were used for RNA extraction and reverse transcription PCR into cDNA. Quantitative Real-time PCR was performed with a SYBR Green Mastermix for p53-activated (left panel) and -repressed (right panel) genes. Gene expression was quantified relative to the housekeeping genes B2M and RPLP0 according to the comparative $\Delta\Delta C_t$ method. Results are displayed as mean of $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ values obtained from three independent experiments. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean. * indicates a p-value ≤ 0.02 as calculated by an unpaired, two-tailed Student t-test compared to cells expressing wild-type p53.

Quantitative Real-time PCR showed small, yet significant differences between p21 mRNA-levels depending on p53 SUMO status with both p53 E388A and p53 K386R inducing the p21 mRNA significantly more strongly than wild-type p53 (Figure 4-11, left), following the same trend as observed with PG13 Luciferase (Figure 4-9 A). Expression of the TGFβ-family member Macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1 MIC-1 (also known as growth/differentiation factor-15 GDF-15), which is strongly induced

by p53 expression⁷⁵⁴, was also dampened by p53 SUMOylation indicated by the SUMO-negative mutants p53 E388A and p53 K386R inducing MIC-1 to significantly higher levels than wild-type p53 (Figure 4-10, left). However, the decreased activation of Bax expression by the SUMO site mutants p53 E388A and p53 K386R observed using the Bax Luciferase reporter could not be reproduced with endogenous mRNA levels. Bax was slightly induced by p53-expression and SUMOylation status of p53 had no significant effect on its induction (Figure 4-11, left). Since the induction of the Bax mRNA by p53 was much less pronounced than induction of p21 and MIC-1, it is possible that subtle modulation of this activation by SUMOylation could not be observed in this setting.

p53 is not only a transcriptional activator, but also has an important role in repressing a range of target genes²⁷. Thus, the effect of p53 SUMOylation on some established p53-repressed cell cycle genes was also studied. p53 is known to repress both Cyclin-dependent Kinase 1 (Cdk1)⁴² and Cyclin B₂⁴⁰ that form a complex, required for progression through the G₂/M checkpoint. Cyclin A₂, which is necessary for the S/G₂-transition together with Cdk1, was also found to be repressed by p53⁴¹.

Both non-SUMOylatable mutants p53 E388A and p53 K386R repressed the S- and G_2 -phase genes Cdk1 and Cyclin A_2 significantly more strongly than wild type p53, suggesting that SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 can alleviate p53-mediated repression (Figure 4-11, right). Strikingly, a similar p53-repressed gene Cyclin B_2 did not show significant differences in repression levels depending on p53-SUMOylation status (Figure 4-11, right), suggesting that the SUMO-induced alleviation of p53-mediated repression is confined to a subset of p53-respressed target genes. Equal p53 protein expression was confirmed by western blotting (Figure 4-12, A).

Taken together, these results suggest that SUMO-2/3 conjugation can dampen both activation and repression of p53 targets and that modulation of p53 activity by SUMO-2/3 modification is limited to a subset of p53 target genes.

Since SUMO-dependent differences in induction of the secreted p53 target MIC-1 were observed at mRNA level, media, in which the cells used for mRNA-extraction had grown, were collected and MIC-1 protein concentration was determined using an ELISA-Kit.



Figure 4-12: SUMO-status of p53 determines levels of secreted MIC-1 protein.
H1299 cells were retrovirally infected with MDM2 ΔAD and p53 constructs indicated.
(A) Cells were lysed in sample buffer and p53-expression levels were analysed via SDS-PAGE.
(B) Medium from the infected cells was collected and levels of secreted MIC-1 assessed using an ELISA-Kit. Protein concentration was determined with a standard curve. Diagram represents the mean of triplicate measurements of MIC-1 protein concentration in the medium. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. * indicates a p-value <0.02 as calculated by an unpaired, two-tailed Student t-test compared to cells expressing wild-type p53.

In accordance with the levels of MIC-1 mRNA as assessed by Real-time PCR, concentration of secreted MIC-1 protein was significantly higher in medium collected from cells expressing p53 K386R than in medium collected from cells with wild-type p53 (Figure 4-12 B). Cells expressing the SUMO consensus mutant p53 E388A showed the same trend as those expressing p53 K386R, although the MIC-1 concentration was not found to be significantly different to wild-type p53 (Figure 4-12 B).

Following on from the finding that modulation of p53's transcriptional activity by SUMOylation can also be detected on protein level in the case of MIC-1, the effect of p53-SUMOylation on the expression of p21 at the protein level was also investigated. Using MDM2 Δ AD to promote SUMOylation of p53, increasing amounts of both wild-type and SUMO-consensus mutant p53 E388A were titrated and endogenous p21 protein levels were analysed by western blot.



Figure 4-13: SUMOylation of p53 represses activation of p21 at protein level.

H1299 cells were transfected with MDM2 Δ AD and either 0.2, 0.5 or 1.0 µg of wild-type p53 (wt) or p53 E388A. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated using the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Analysis of the protein levels revealed that SUMOylated wild-type p53 was impaired in driving the expression of p21 protein compared to p53 E388A, which is not SUMOylated (Figure 4-13), just like wild-type also induced PG-13 Luciferase and p21 mRNA-levels less well than the SUMO-consensus mutant p53 E388A. It can be concluded that the modulation of p53's transcriptional activation by SUMO-2/3 modification results in altered expression of p53's targets at protein level.

4.5 Consequences of p53 SUMOylation on the cell cycle.

The transcription factor p53 regulates the cell cycle via multiple mechanisms. Induction of its target gene p21, which efficiently inhibits the G_1/S -specific Cdk/Cyclin complexes^{29,755}, prevents Rb hyper-phosphorylation by the Cdk2/Cyclin E complex leading to a cell cycle arrest in G_1 . Furthermore, p53 represses the S/ G_2 -specific Cdk1 and Cyclins A and B, contributing to a G_2 -arrest⁷⁵⁶. Since SUMOylation of p53 impairs its ability to activate p21 fully (see Figure 4-13) and alleviates repression on the cell-cycle genes Cdk1 and Cyclin A_2 (see Figure 4-11), the implication of SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 on the cell cycle was studied.

Cells were transfected with either empty vector, wild-type p53 or SUMO-consensus mutants p53 E388A and p53 K386R in the presence of MDM2 Δ AD and SUMO-3 to maximise SUMOylation. CD20 was included as a marker to select for transfected cells. Flow cytometry of PI-stained cells with subsequent FlowJo cell cycle analysis revealed induction of apoptosis (sub-G₁), a moderate, albeit not significant G₁-arrest and reduction of cells in S-phase after p53 overexpression compared to p53-null cells. No accumulation in G₂ could be observed (Figure 4-14).





HCT116 p53^{-/-}cells were transfected with either empty vector, wild-type (wt) or SUMOconsensus mutant p53 (E388A and K386R) together with MDM2 ΔAD, SUMO-3 and CD20. Cells were fixed and stained with a FITC-conjugated CD20-specific antibody. PI was used to assess DNA content. Cells were analysed by flow cytometry and cell cycle distribution of CD20-positiv cells (as transfection control) according to FlowJo analysis of FACS chromatogram was plotted as mean of three independent experiments with error bars representing the standard error of the mean. * indicates a p-value <0.05 as calculated by an unpaired, two-tailed Student t-test compared to cells expressing wild-type p53. * indicates a p-value <0.05 compared to p53 null cells.

Expression of p53 harbouring mutation of the SUMO-accepting lysine (K386R) or the SUMO consensus (E388A) resulted in a cell cycle distribution not significantly different from wild-type p53, although the sub- G_1 population appeared to be reduced. Due to the observation that p53 K386R and p53 E388A induced p21 more strongly, a stronger induction of a G_1 -arrest had been expected in this scenario. However, the G_1 -arrest induced by p53 expression was not very pronounced (35% cells in p53 E388A cells in G_1 compared to 25% of p53-null cells in G_1), it is possible that no subtle differences between the p53 proteins could be observed here. For
technical reasons resolution of S- and G₁ phases might not have been sufficiently reached with PI-staining alone and it would be informative to repeat the cell cycle analysis with BrdU and PI double staining. BrdU was not used in this experiment because the FL1 channel on the FACS was already occupied with CD20-staining to select for transfected cells. However, using retroviral infection with subsequent selection of infected cells could circumvent the need for CD20 staining and BrdU staining could be used together with PI staining in such an experiment.

Importantly, the SUMOylated wild-type p53 induced a significant apoptotic response and only a moderate (non-significant) induction of G_1 . This observation is in line with our previous observations that SUMOylated p53 might be more inclined to activate Bax than p21 (Figure 4-10). Furthermore, p53 E388A induced a significant increase of the G_1 , but not the sub- G_1 population, suggesting that unSUMOylated p53 induces G_1 arrest rather than apoptosis. Cells expressing p53 K386R showed a trend similar to those expressing p53 E388A, however, the errors were higher in this sample and the cell cycle profile was not significantly different from the p53-null cells (Figure 4-14).

Taken together the data presented in this chapter reveals a role for SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 in modulating transcriptional activation of a subset of p53-activated and -repressed genes, and SUMO-2/3 modification might have a role in channelling the p53 response towards induction of apoptosis over cell-cycle arrest.

4.6 Summary and Discussion.

Analysis of localisation, oligomerisation and transcriptional activity of p53 revealed interesting roles for SUMO-2/3 modification in modulating p53 activity. Importantly, mutations of the SUMO consensus as in p53 K386R and p53 E388A disrupt both SUMO-1 and SUMO-2/3 conjugation of p53, but most of the experiments presented here were performed under conditions where SUMO-2/3 conjugation was predominant. The similar behaviour of both p53 K386R and p53 E388A rules out effects of other modifications on lysine 386.

SUMOvlation is frequently associated with changes in subcellular localisation. Indeed, the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 localises to the nuclear pore complex, suggesting the proteins being imported or exported from the nucleus are modified as they pass through⁷⁵⁷. For example, SUMOylation induces nuclear export of the transcription factor Smad3⁷⁵⁸ and PIASy-mediated conjugation of SUMO-3 to p53 was also recently reported to contribute to its nuclear export in endothelial cells⁴²³. However, in the experiments described here, p53 cellular distribution was mainly nuclear in immunofluorescence (Figure 4-1) and subcellular fractionation experiments (Figure 4-2), whether or not p53 could be SUMOylated. It needs to be taken into consideration that the immunofluorescence experiment was performed without co-expression of MDM2 Δ AD and therefore not a large fraction of p53 might have been SUMO-2/3 modified (Figure 4-1). However, p53 distribution of cells clearly harbouring SUMO-2/3-modified p53 as assessed by subcellular fraction, also did not change according to its SUMO status (Figure 4-2). Furthermore, SUMOylated p53 was exclusively detected in the nucleus (Figure 4-2), suggesting that SUMO-2/3-conjugated p53 is not exported.

It had previously been reported that a SUMO-1-fusion to p53 leads to nuclear export of p53⁴¹⁴ and a similar, albeit less pronounced, induction of cytoplasmic staining was observed with a p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein. This observation was not consistent with the data obtained with posttranslationally SUMO-2/3 modified p53, but could represent a model, according to which SUMOylation induces nuclear export of p53, with the posttranslational SUMO-modification being removed during or shortly after the export. Since only a minority of p53-SUMO-3 fusion expressing cells showed cytoplasmic staining, other factors most likely influence whether export of p53 is triggered. A p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein with disrupted SUMO-interaction surface (p53-SUMO-3 QFI) showed cytoplasmic staining in a much larger fraction of cells (Figure 4-4). Thus, nuclear export of the p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein could be restricted by proteins non-covalently interacting with SUMO-2/3. Posttranslational modifications of the p53-fusion proteins might also take place, further influencing its localisation. Mono-ubiquitination of p53 promotes nuclear export⁷⁴⁰ and this modification could be enhanced by the SUMO-3 fusion, similar to previous reports that mono-ubiquitination of p53 contributes to the export of a p53-Ubiquitin fusion protein⁴¹³. Lysine residues in SUMO-3 proximal to the amino acids replaced in the QFI mutation were recently shown to be acetylated⁴⁰³ and it is thus also possible that posttranslational modification of the SUMO-2/3 protein influences the export of SUMO-2/3 modified p53.

The emerging field of Ubiquitin-SUMO crosstalk with reports of mixed SUMO-Ubiguitin chains and identification of SUMO-targeted Ubiguitin ligases³⁷⁰ raised the possibility that SUMOylation of p53 modulates the protein stability. However, no differences between protein stability of wild-type p53 and SUMO-consensus mutant p53 could be noted (Figure 4-6), suggesting that p53 protein stability is not regulated via SUMO-2/3 modification. It is possible that the fraction of SUMOvlated p53 induced by MDM2 was not large enough to reveal differences in overall protein stability. In order to assess p53 stability in the presence of a larger fraction of SUMO-2/3 conjugated p53, it might be more informative to express p53 in the presence of both MDM2 Δ AD to promote p53 SUMOylation and full-length MDM2 to promote p53 ubiguitination and degradation. Furthermore, the influence of p53-SUMO-2/3 modification on degradation mediated by other known Ubiquitin-ligases for p53 such as the viral protein E6AP²⁹² or non-viral E3 ligases such as Pirh2³⁰⁰ and COP1³⁰¹ could be tested in combination with MDM2 Δ AD. Stability of the SUMOylated p53 fraction could be tested by conducting a Cycloheximide assay with subsequent immunoprecipitation under denaturing conditions to visualise the SUMO-2/3 modified p53.

Co-expression of the SUMO-targeted Ubiquitin-ligase RNF4 did not affect the levels of SUMO-2/3 modified p53, neither did it alter the band pattern of SUMOylated p53,

which could have indicated modification with Ubiquitin without subsequent degradation (Figure 4-7). However, RNF4 contains four SUMO interaction motifs in a row and was shown to only be recruited to poly-SUMOylated target proteins. Indeed, the SIMs of RNF4 were successfully used as a tool to enrich for poly-SUMOylated proteins⁷⁵⁹. Consistent with the conclusion that p53 was not poly-SUMOylated (Figure 3-15) RNF4 co-expression did not modify p53-SUMOylation (Figure 4-7 and it can be concluded that SUMO-2/3 modified p53 is not a target for RNF4-mediated ubiquitination.

SUMO-3 modification of p53 did not hinder tetramerisation of the protein (Figure 4-8). This is in contrast to p53-Nedd8 fusions, which were observed to form more high-molecular weight aggregates^{414,760}. It could be informative to test the p53-SUMO-3 fusion in an oligomerisation assay, although the fusion might not be able to recapitulate the structure of posttranslational SUMO-3 conjugation. Interestingly, a recent in vitro study showed that SUMO-1 modified p53, which blocked its subsequent acetylation, had a lower affinity towards DNA than non-SUMOylated p53⁴⁰¹. Therefore, despite not affecting the oligomerisation of p53, SUMO-3 modification might influence p53's ability to bind DNA.

Many posttranslational modifications such as phosphorylation, acetylation and methylation, ubiquitination and neddylation influence transactivation by p53 and specific modifications of particular amino acid residues have been shown to be involved in steering p53 towards the activation of certain panels of target genes. Many transcription factors are modified by SUMOylation and SUMO-modification has often been associated with transcriptional repression of their target genes^{356,380,761}. The data presented here show that SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 reduces activation of both p21 and MIC-1 at mRNA- and protein level, since p53-proteins with a disrupted SUMO consensus were inducing these target genes more strongly than wild-type p53 (Figures 4-11, 4-12 B and 4-13). Although never shown for p53 E388A before, enhanced activation of p21 after p53 K386R expression had previously been observed on Luciferase-reporters^{401,405} and is consistent with a report stating that the SUMO-site mutant p53 K386R is more present at the p21 promoter in a chromatin immunoprecipitation experiment⁴⁰¹. Importantly, other studies have also shown the opposite effect of SUMOylation on p53's induction of

p21^{405,406,412} and while it is possible that SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 has a different impact on its transcriptional activity than SUMO-1 modification, the p53 response is known to be divergent in different tissue types and results might therefore also be influenced by the choice of cell line studied.

The effect of SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 on the induction of Bax was less straightforward. Mutation of the p53 SUMO consensus significantly enhanced activation of a Bax-Luciferase reporter (Figure 4-9 B), however no significant difference could be observed at Bax mRNA-level (Figure 4-11). Furthermore, expression of a p53-SUMO-3 fusion protein induced activation of the Bax-reporter construct significantly less than p53 (Figure 4-10 B), which is contrary to what would have been expected, if SUMO-3 modification of p53 promoted its activation of Bax. However, induction of the Luciferase activity by high levels of p53-SUMO-3 was observed only on the Bax-reporter and not at all on the PG13 promoter (Figure 4-10). It is thus possible, that the fusion protein is generally less active than wild-type p53 (possibly since it can be exported from the nucleus or the artificial fusion makes it more prone to misfolding than wild-type p53), but selectively induces the Bax, but not the p21 reporter. This would be consistent with the observation that the SUMOsite mutants p53 K386R and p53 E388A induced PG13 Luciferase more strongly than wild-type p53, while inducing Bax-Luciferase less efficiently (Figure 4-9). I therefore suggest a model of SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 preventing p21activation and favouring activation of Bax.

Nevertheless, it is still unclear, why wild-type p53, p53 K386R and p53 E388A induced similar levels of Bax mRNA (Figure 4-11). Since expression of all p53 proteins only resulted in a very small induction of Bax mRNA (less than two-fold), the impact of a small SUMOylated fraction of p53 on its induction might have been missed in this experiment. Other members of the lab had also observed that Bax mRNA was not strongly induced purely by p53 overexpression and found that further stresses Adriamycin treatment), probably inducing posttranslational (e.g. modifications such as phosphorylation and acetylation of p53, were required to achieve substantial Bax mRNA induction. p53 has a lower affinity towards the Bax promoter than towards the p21 promoter⁷⁵³ and it is conceivable that either higher levels of p53 or DNA-binding-enhancing posttranslational modifications of p53 would

have been required to induce Bax more efficiently. The Realtime PCR experiment was performed with retroviral infection, which leads to a more uniform and generally lower p53 expression in the infected cells. By contrast, the Luciferase assay was performed with transient transfection, which can lead to very high p53 expression in some cells (only the transfected cells are measured in this assay, since only these cells contain the reporter construct and therefore equal expression in all cells is not required). Furthermore, Luciferase reporters can be much more sensitive than endogenous promoters. Therefore, the observed differences between Bax-activation in Luciferase assays and Realtime PCR experiments could be explained by technical differences. Furthermore, only a small selection of p53-induced genes was tested and while the effect on the Bax promoter might not have been very pronounced, the data indicate that SUMOylation of p53 does not dampen the activation of all p53 target genes, but only of some genes such as p21 and MIC-1 and it is possible that other target genes are more strongly induced by SUMOylation of p53, similar to the effects observed on the Bax Luciferase. This study could be expanded to test more p53 target genes, for example conducting a ChIP-sequencing experiment with wildtype p53, p53 K386R and p53 E388A could lead to the identification of target genes, which are regulated by SUMOvlation of p53.

Since SUMOylation has often been reported to contribute to the assembly of repressor complexes^{356,380}, but its effect on p53-mediated repression had not yet been investigated, the impact of SUMO-2/3 conjugation on p53-repressed target genes was also studied. In contrast to the transcription factor Ikaros, which is dependent on SUMOylation in order to repress its target genes⁷⁶², the SUMO-site deficient p53 mutants (p53 K386R, p53 E388A) repressed some targets (Cdk1 and Cyclin A₂) even more efficiently than wild-type p53, while having no effect on another (Cyclin B₂) (Figure 4-11). Cdk1, Cyclin A₂ and Cyclin B₂ have previously been shown to be repressed by p53⁴⁰⁻⁴², yet the proposed mechanism of repression remains controversial (reviewed in⁷⁶³). It has been proposed that p53 binds to the CCAAT binding factor NF-Y to recruit chromatin remodeling Histone deacetylases^{42,240}, but it is also possible that the repression might be mediated more indirectly via the p53-target gene Cyclin-dependent kinase-inhibitor p21, which prevents hyper-phosphorylation of retinoblastoma-protein Rb by the Cdk2/Cyclin E complex, thereby enhancing Rb-mediated repression of E2F target genes⁷⁶⁴. E2F1 was found to bind

the Cyclin A and Cdk1 promoters^{765,766}, but not the Cyclin B₂ promoter, which is bound by E2F4 instead⁷⁶⁷. Since differences in p21-expression according to the SUMO-status of p53 were observed, the stronger repression of the Cyclin and Cdk genes could also be an indirect consequence of E2F1 repression by Rb via p21. The quantitative Real-time PCR experiment was therefore repeated under treatment with the ribonucleotide reductase inhibitor Hydroxyurea⁷⁶⁸. Under these conditions cells arrest in S-phase since DNA replication is stalled, but at this point in the cell cycle Rb has already been hyper-phosphorylated and can therefore not inhibit the E2F transcription factors. Exactly the same repression pattern (data not shown) was observed when cells were treated with Hydroxyurea and the possibility that differences in repression of p53-target genes dependent on SUMO-status are indirect effects via p21/Rb/E2F-mediated repression can thus be excluded.

Instead, I propose a model in which SUMOylation affects interaction with the transcription factor NF-Y, which has been shown to interact with C-terminal part of $p53^{240}$. Indeed, C-terminal acetylation of p53 was shown to be required for p53-mediated repression via NF-Y²⁴⁰. Acetylation of p53 could be affected by the SUMO status of p53, since SUMO-1 modification was reported to inhibit p300-mediated acetylation of p53⁴⁰¹. However, it is still unclear why repression of Cyclin B₂ that also contains CCAAT boxes, which are recognised by the NF-Y transcription factor, was not affected by p53 SUMOylation. It would be interesting to also study the effect of SUMO-3-modification on repression of p53 target genes that are repressed independent of NF-Y, such as PLK-1⁷⁶⁹.

Contrary to the common assumption that SUMOylation of transcription factors is associated with repression of their transcriptional activity, these data show that SUMO-3 modification dampens the activation of some p53-activated genes, while possibly inducing others and furthermore alleviating the repression of a number of p53-repressed target genes. A microarray study with a p53-SUMO-1 fusion protein found that while p53 repressed 634 target genes, the p53-SUMO-1 fusion protein only repressed 168 target genes and concluded that SUMO-modification alleviated p53-mediated repression⁴⁰². This study also found that the p53-SUMO-1 fusion protein induced Noxa more strongly than wild-type p53, which would be consistent with a model of SUMOylation targeting p53 towards its apoptotic target genes.

Cell cycle analysis of cells expressing no p53, wild-type p53, p53 K386R or p53 E388A showed no significant differences in cell cycle distribution between cells expressing wild-type p53 or the SUMO-site mutants p53 K386R and p53 E388A. However, a slightly smaller, albeit not significant, fraction of cells expressing the SUMO-consensus mutants p53 K386R and p53 E388A had sub-G₁ DNA content, which would be consistent with SUMOylation of p53 promoting a stronger apoptotic response. Importantly, others had also observed that p53 K386R had a reduced apoptotic potential compared to wild-type p53⁴⁰⁸. Furthermore, expression of wild-type p53 in the p53-null cells did not induce a significant G₁-arrest, but did result in a significant increase in apoptosis (Figure 4-14), while expression of p53 E388A resulted in a significant G₁-arrest, but no significant induction of apoptosis. Thus, under the conditions used to promote p53-SUMOylation (MDM2 Δ AD expression), induction of apoptosis seems to be favoured over induction of cell cycle arrest, suggesting a role for SUMO-2/3 modification modulating the p53 stress response.

50% of tumours do not express any wild-type p53, the majority of which expresses a mutant p53 protein harbouring a missense mutation. These mutant p53 proteins acquire novel oncogenic activities, such as repressing the transcription factors p63 and p73. Our lab has previously published that mutant p53 can drive invasion and that this activity is dependent on the C-terminal amino acids⁵⁸⁶, including the SUMO-site. The activity of mutant p53 was therefore studied in the next chapter.

5 Mutant p53 interacts with p63 and p73.

Approximately half of all tumours express a mutant p53 protein, which has lost wildtype p53 activity. A significant fraction of somatic p53 mutations observed in cancer patients result in expression of point-mutated p53 proteins, which additionally gain new oncogenic functions. This gain of function is partially mediated by mutant p53 binding to and repressing the p53 family transcription factors p63 and p73^{134,575-581}.

Both p63 and p73 can induce some p53 target genes and have been found to be required to support p53 in initiating apoptosis⁵⁸². The transcription factors also induce sets of target genes distinct from those of p53. As well as its important role in embryonic development, p63 also represses epithelial-to mesenchymal transition⁵⁹⁶, migration⁷⁷⁰ and invasion. Thus, loss of p63 is often associated with more aggressive and invasive tumours^{771,772}. A number of studies have recently addressed the mechanism as to how mutant p53 induces invasion via p63 in crosstalk with EGFR, Met and TGFβ signalling^{586,594,595}. While p73's role in migration is less well established than p63, loss of p73 has also been associated with more invasive tumours in some studies⁷⁷³. Loss of p63 or p73 in p53 heterozygous mice leads to a significant increase in invasive tumours from 5% to 50% in p53^{+/-};p63^{+/-} and 45% in p53^{+/-};p73^{+/-} mice⁴⁶⁸, suggesting that p73 also plays a role in inhibiting metastasis. It is possible that rather than affecting epithelial to mesenchymal transition and motility directly, p73 suppresses metastasis by inducing anoikis and thereby posing a barrier to anchorage-independent growth⁷⁶⁰.

5.1 The mutant p53 C-terminus is dispensable for interaction with p63.

Having studied the SUMO-2/3 modification of wild-type p53 and its consequences on p53 function, it was investigated whether mutant p53 could also be SUMOylated. Since other members of the lab recently found that mutant p53 required its Cterminus to promote invasion via p63⁵⁸⁶, the consequences of SUMOylation on mutant p53 activity and in particular its binding to p63 were studied.

5.1.1 Mutant p53 is SUMOylated.

It has previously been shown that mutant p53 and wild-type p53 interact differently with MDM2, although mutant p53 was found to still be ubiquitinated by MDM2⁵⁴⁴. Since MDM2 needs to physically interact with p53 via the N-terminus for successful SUMOylation to occur, it was investigated whether conformational p53 mutants could also be SUMOylated.





HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells were transfected with p53 mutants an either MDM2 Δ AD (A) or HA-SUMO-3 (B). Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Both cancer-derived p53 mutants tested, which are impaired for DNA-binding (273H) or overall conformation of the DNA-binding domain (175H), retain the ability to be SUMOylated (Figure 5-1 A).

While earlier studies found that MDM2 can ubiquitinate mutant p53, the level of MDM2-independent ubiquitination was much higher for mutant p53 compared to wild-type p53⁵⁴⁴. In order to test whether mutant p53 is also SUMOylated without MDM2 overexpression, the level of SUMOylated protein after expression of HA-SUMO-3 was assessed. It is important to note that endogenous MDM2 was still present in these cells. Both hot-spot mutants p53 R175H and p53 R273H as well as deletion of the conserved box II (ΔII), which adopts a mutant conformation, showed a similar degree of residual SUMOylation compared to wild-type p53 (Figure 3-18 B). It can therefore be concluded that SUMOylation of p53 is neither affected by p53's DNA-binding capability nor the conformation of its DNA-binding domain.

5.1.2 The SUMO site is not required for interaction with p63.

An important property of mutant p53 is its ability to interact with the transcription factors TAp63⁵⁷⁵⁻⁵⁷⁷ and TAp73^{134,575,577-581}, preventing induction of their target genes. Since SUMOylation modulated wild-type p53 activity, its effect on mutant p53 activity was also analysed. Thus, the interaction of the p53-hotspot mutants p53 R175H and p53 R273H with TAp63a was assessed. The role of the C-terminal SUMO site in this interaction was studied by expressing mutant p53 proteins deleted for the last 14 (p53 Δ 380), 24 (p53 Δ 370), 31 (p53 Δ 363) or 47 (p53 Δ 347) amino acids (Fig 5-2 B). The latter three proteins lack the SUMO site at lysine 386.



Figure 5-2: Interaction of C-terminally deleted p53 mutants with TAp63a.

(A) HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with wild-type or mutant p53 constructs and TAp63a and lysed under native conditions. p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53) and interaction was assessed as level of TAp63a protein co-immunoprecipitated with p53.

(B) Domain structure of TAp63a with indication of deletion mutants. TET: tetramerisation domain.

While hardly any binding between wild-type p53 and TAp63a was observed, the conformational p53 R175H mutant strongly interacted with TAp63a in the coimmunoprecipitation experiment (Fig 5-2 A). None of the C-terminal deletions influenced the degree of TAp63a binding. All C-terminal deletion mutants lack the SUMO-site at lysine 386. Therefore, the SUMO site of mutant p53 does not seem to be required for interaction with TAp63a. The p53 R175H Δ 347 mutant lacks a part of the tetramerisation domain (Fig 5-2 B), deletion of which also did not affect TAp63a binding (Fig 5-2 A). In contrast to p53 R175H, the DNA contact mutant p53 R273H interacted only very weakly with TAp63a. Again, the C-terminal deletions did not influence the binding to a large extent, although the p53 R273H Δ 347 mutant showed slightly enhanced interaction in this particular experiment, possibly since the TAp63a levels were slightly higher in this lane. While the presence of the SUMO site did not affect the ability of mutant p53 to interact with TAp63a, strong differences were observed depending on the kind of p53 mutant used.

5.2 p53 in unfolded conformation interacts with p63 and p73.

Other studies have also shown different degrees of p63 and p73 binding, depending on the particular p53 mutation. One study suggested that only p53 mutations that lead to a disruption of the wild-type p53 conformation gain the ability to efficiently interact with p63 and p73⁵⁷⁵.

5.2.1 Different p53 mutants show different binding behaviour.

p53 hot-spot mutants are classically sub-divided into conformational and DNA contact mutants. The frequently detected R175H mutation globally alters the conformation of p53's DNA structure, disrupting binding of the critical zinc ion required for stabilising the L2 and L3 loops⁷⁷⁴. By contrast, mutation of the DNA-contacting residue R273 leaves the conformation of the DNA binding domain largely intact, while directly impairing binding of p53 to the DNA⁶⁵¹. While the DNA binding domain structure of p53 R273H and wild-type p53 are virtually identical⁶⁵¹ and the mutation has little impact on the thermodynamic stability of the protein⁷⁷⁵, mutation of other DNA-contacting side chains, for example arginine 248, was found to have

some impact on the local conformation and thermodynamic destabilisation⁷⁷⁵, albeit much smaller than the R175H mutation. Consequently, p53 mutants were reclassified into three groups: Mutants that are highly destabilising (3 kcal/mol or above) and result in global unfolding (e.g. p53 R175H), mutants that destabilise by less than 2 kcal/mol and result in local conformational changes (e.g. p53 R248Q) and mutants that only affect DNA contacting, but do not clearly destabilise the conformation (e.g. p53 R273H).

Unfolding of the DNA binding domain can be monitored by immunoprecipitation with the conformation-specific antibodies pAb1620 and pAb240, which recognise epitopes accessible in the folded or unfolded conformation, respectively (see Figure 1-26 in the introduction).





Consistent with the published structural evidence⁷⁷⁴, both wild-type p53 and the DNA contact mutant p53 R273H were predominantly immunoprecipitated with the pAb1620 antibody, recognising native folding, while a large fraction of p53 R175H was pulled down with the pAb240 antibody (Fig 5-3), which detects an epitope exposed only in the unfolded protein. Mutation of isoleucine 254, which is located in the S7 β -strand within the β -sandwich structure, occurs in 0.2% of mutant p53 tumours⁵²⁴. The I254R mutation has a very strong effect on the conformation of the p53 DNA binding domain, resulting in the p53 I254R protein being almost exclusively immunoprecipitated by the pAb240 antibody, thus destabilising the DNA binding domain even stronger than the R175H mutation (Fig 5-3).

The unfolding of the DNA binding domain and the reactivity with the pAb240 antibody were reported to correlate with p63 binding⁵⁷⁵. Indeed, one study on the temperature-sensitive xenopus p53 protein showed that wild-type p53 started to interact with p73, once the DNA binding domain was unfolded as a result of increased temperature⁵⁸¹. Thus, the p63-binding capability of a range of p53 mutants including the highly unfolded p53 I254R and p53 R175H, and the DNA contact mutants R273H and R248W was addressed.



Figure 5-4: Interaction of p53 mutants with TAp63a. HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with empty vector, wild-type or mutant p53 constructs and TAp63a and lysed under native conditions. p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Strong interactions of the conformational hotspot mutant p53 R175H and the highly unfolded p53 I254R mutant with TAp63a were observed, while the DNA contact mutants p53 R273H and p53 R248W showed only marginal interaction, comparable to the level of background-interaction observed between wild-type p53 with TAp63a (Fig 5-4). This observation supports the notion that the conformation of the DNA binding domain determines the level of p63 binding. It is therefore likely that p63 binds to an epitope on p53 that is hidden in the native folding of the DNA-binding domain and becomes exposed upon unfolding.

Most previous investigations have focussed on the interaction of mutant p53 with the TA-isoforms of p63 and p73. Initially thought to act purely as a negative regulator of the full-length isoforms, the ΔN -isoforms are now also well established as activators

of distinct sets of target genes^{445,446,476} through second transactivation domains in their C-termini^{447,477}. Since many cancers express high levels of the shorter Δ Np63 and Δ Np73 isoforms, the interaction of mutant p53 with these shorter isoforms was also studied.



Figure 5-5: Mutant p53 interacts with the TA- and Δ N-isoforms of p63 and p73.

HCT116 p53^{-\-} cells were transfected with either p53 R175H or p52 R273H and HA-tagged TAp63a, Δ Np63a, TAp73a or Δ Np73a. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated using the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

The conformational mutant p53 R175H strongly interacted with the TA- and Δ Nisoforms of both p63 and p73 to a similar extent (Fig 5-5). The DNA contact mutant p53 R273H showed much weaker interaction with all isoforms and bound to the TAand Δ N variants to a similar degree. Thus, mutant p53 does not seem to display any preference as to which isoform it interacts with. Since Δ N- and TA isoforms of p63 and p73 can play opposite roles on some target gene promoters, this broad interaction would complicate predictions of the overall outcome of mutant p53 repression in cells expressing both TA- and Δ N isoforms.

5.2.2 Mutant p53 binds p63 and p73 via the DNA-binding domain.

While p63 and p73 can form mixed tetramers via their tetramerisation domains, p53's oligomerisation domain is slightly different, missing an additional α -helix, and does not allow formation of heterotetramers with the other family members⁴³⁷. By contrast, interaction of mutant p53 with p63 and p73 is thought to take place via their core domains^{576,579}.



Figure 5-6: The DNA binding domain of p53 R175H is required for interaction with TAp63a and $\Delta Np63a.$

(A) HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with p53 R175H and either full-length TAp63a or the deletion mutants indicated. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53). All samples were part of the same experiment and were run on the same gel, irrelevant samples were excised as indicated to produce this figure.

(B) Domain structure of TAp63 α with indication of deletion mutants. TET: tetramerisation domain.

In order to investigate the contribution of the DNA binding domain to the interaction between p53 R175H and TAp63a or Δ Np63a, a deletion mutant, lacking the entire DNA binding domain (p53 Δ 96-312), was co-expressed with p63 (Fig 5-6 B).

While no interaction between wild-type p53 and either TAp63a or Δ Np63a could be observed, p53 R175H bound to both p63 isoforms, although Δ Np63 was expressed at much lower levels here. Deletion of the DNA binding domain completely abrogated any interaction between p53 and TAp63a or Δ Np63a (Fig 5-6 A). These observations are in line with previous reports that the p53 R175H core domain is sufficient to interact with TAp63a⁵⁷⁶. In order to narrow down the region of interaction with TAp63a, a series of mutants with smaller deletions of around 50 amino acids within the DNA binding domain was tested (Fig 5-7 B).



Figure 5-7: Deletion of amino acids 251-312 impairs p53 binding to TAp63a.

(A) HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with TAp63α and either wild-type or p53 R175H or the deletion mutants indicated. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

(B) Domain structure of TAp63a with indication of deletion mutants. TET: tetramerisation domain

As expected, wild-type p53 did not interact with TAp63a, while p53 R175H coimmunoprecipitated TAp63a (Fig 5-7 A). The construct deleted for the first 55 amino acids of the DNA binding domain in mutant p53 (p53 R175H Δ 95-150) failed to express any protein. The other three deletion mutants expressed to comparable levels. Since deletion of amino acids 150 to 200 removes the R175H point mutation, a different unfolding point mutation (I254R) was introduced into this construct (p53 I254R Δ 151-200). Both p53 I254R Δ 151-200 and p53 R175H Δ 201-250 interacted with TAp63a to a similar degree as full-length p53 R175H, however p53 R175H Δ 251-312, lacking the DNA-binding region adjacent to the C-terminal part of the protein, co-immunoprecipitated less TAp63a, suggesting that this region contributes to the interaction with TAp63a (Fig 5-7 A).

5.2.3 Mutant p53 interacts with p63 and p73 independent of aggregation.

The C-terminal part of the DNA binding domain of p53 contributes to TAp63a binding (Figure 5-7 A). This region harbours an amino acid stretch between 251 and 257 that was recently described to serve as an aggregation-nucleating segment⁵⁷⁷. This region is located on the S7 β -strand and is usually buried in the hydrophobic core of the protein. According to the aggregation model, this amino acid sequence becomes exposed upon unfolding of the DNA binding domain and induces aggregation of mutant p53 protein with other mutant p53 or wild-type p53 molecules. Since this amino acid stretch is located in conserved box IV, p63 and p73 also contain a similar amino acid sequence (Fig 5-8 A) and it has been proposed that mutant p53 achieves gain of function by co-aggregating with p63 and p73⁵⁷⁷. Deletion of amino acids 251-257 or point mutation of the central isoleucine residue 1254 were reported to abrogate aggregation of unfolded p53 mutants⁵⁷⁷. While deletion of the last 63 amino acids of the DNA binding domain (p53 R175H Δ251-312) severely impaired binding to TAp63a consistent with earlier experiments (Fig 5-7), deletion of only the aggregation region (p53 R175H Δ 251-257) surprisingly did not have any impact on the co-immunoprecipitation of TAp63a (Fig 5-8 B). Similarly, point mutation of the I254 residue (p53 R175H I254R) did not reduce interaction with TAp63a (Fig 5-8 B). It must therefore be concluded that the interaction between p53 R175H and TAp63a does not depend on p53 aggregation.



Figure 5-8: p53 interacts with TAp63a independent of an aggregation domain.

(A) Alignment of the aggregation domain in box IV across the p53-family. Amino acids identical with the aggregation domain in p53 are highlighted in bold. The central isoleucine residue is marked in red. Accession numbers: p53: P04637, TAp63a: AAF43487, TAp73a: O15350.
(B) HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with TAp63a and either wild-type or p53 R175H or the

deletion mutants indicated. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP Do-1)

Mutation of isoleucine 254 resulted in a large pool of unfolded p53 protein in a previous experiment (see Fig 5-3) and the p53 I254R protein interacted strongly with TAp63a (Fig 5-4). Due to the recent reports that this point mutation stopped co-aggregation of unfolded p53 with p63 and p73, the effect of the I254R mutation in the background of p53 R175H and p53 R273H were also tested in the presence of Δ Np63a (Fig 5-9).

Similar to the interaction with TAp63a, the p53 I254R mutant bound strongly to Δ Np63a. Furthermore, mutation of I254R in p53 R175H did not weaken the binding of Δ Np63a (Fig 5-9), similar to the results obtained with TAp63a (Fig 5-8). In line with the finding that mutant p53 interacts with p63 via its DNA binding domain, disruption of the tetramerisation domain of p53 (p53 R175H Δ TET) did not affect the interaction with Δ Np63a either (Fig 5-9).



Figure 5-9: p53 R175H I254R binds strongly to Δ Np63a. HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with Δ Np63a and either empty vector, wild-type p53 or the p53 mutants indicated. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53). p53 Δ TET contains the following mutations in order to disrupt tetramerisation: L348A, L350A

While p53 R273H did not co-immunoprecipitate much Δ Np63a, the p53 R273H I254R double mutant strongly bound to Δ Np63a (Fig 5-9), probably due to the unfolding effect of the I254R mutation (Fig 5-3). An intact aggregation domain is therefore not required for p53 R175H to interact with TAp63a or Δ Np63a.

The impact of the I254R mutation on p53 R175H on binding to TAp73a was assessed next. While the first lane was under-loaded in this experiment, expression levels of p53 R175H and p53 R175H I254R p53 were comparable. As seen before, p53 R175H interacted strongly with TAp73a. The p53 R175H I254R double mutant interacted with TAp73a to similar strength as p53 R175H (Fig 5-10 A). Thus, the aggregation domain is not required for mutant p53 to interact with TAp73a.

Although not dependent on the aggregation domain located between amino acids 251-257, the last 63 amino acids of the DNA binding domain were important for the interaction of p53 R175H with TAp63a (Fig 5-7 A). Next, the DNA binding domain's role in p53 R175H binding to TAp73 was examined in more detail (see Fig 5-7 B for an overview of deletion mutants used in Fig 5-10 B).



Figure 5-10: p53 R175H I254R still interacts with TAp73a.

Both unfolded mutants p53 R175H and p53 I254R strongly bound TAp73a and wildtype p53 only interacted with TAp73a very weakly (Fig 5-10 B). The p53 I254R Δ 151-200 construct was expressed at much lower levels in the input and levels were also lower after immunoprecipitation, consequently the decreased amount of TAp73a pulled down in this lane is difficult to interpret (Fig 5-10 B). However, p53 R175H Δ 201-250 and p53 R175H Δ 251-312 were expressed to similar levels and the latter co-immunoprecipitated lower levels of TAp73a (Fig 5-10 B).

Although the reduction of TAp73a binding to p53 R175H deleted for amino acids 251-312 (Fig 5-10 B) was not as prominent as the effect of the deletion on TAp63a binding (Fig 5-7 A), the same region in mutant p53 was identified to be important for interacting with both p63 and p73. Thus, the DNA binding domain of p53, in particular the region towards the C-terminus, is critical for the formation of the mutant p53-p63 and mutant p53-p73 complexes, while the aggregation domain, also located in this region, is dispensable for either complex formation.

⁽A) and (B) HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with TAp73α and either wild-type or p53 R175H or the deletion mutants indicated. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

5.3 p63 and p73 interact differentially with mutant p53.

The interaction of mutant p53 with p63 and p73 is thought to involve the DNA binding domain of p53 and to take place via the core domains of p63 and p73 as well^{576,579}. While mutant p53 interacted with TAp63a, Δ Np63a, TAp73a and Δ Np73a to the same extent (Fig 5-5), deletion of only the last 62 amino acids of the DNA binding domain (p53 R175H Δ 251-312) had a more disruptive effect on the mutant p53-p63 complex (Fig 5-7 A) than on the mutant p53-p73 complex (Fig 5-10 B). It is therefore possible, that p63 and p73 interact with mutant p53 in slightly different ways. Hence, the contribution of the functional domains of p73 and p63 in contacting mutant p53's core domain was studied.

5.3.1 p73 interacts with mutant p53 via the DNA binding domain

In order to identify the domain responsible for interaction of TAp73a with mutant p53, a series of p73 deletion mutants was created, deleting the proline-rich domain (Δ 47-130), the DNA binding domain (Δ 131-307), the central nuclear localisation signal, tetramerisation domain and second transactivation domain (Δ 308-386) and a C-terminal region up to the SAM domain (Δ 387-500) (Fig 5-11).





Domain structure of TAp73a with indication of deletion mutants. TAD: transactivation domain, NLS: nuclear localisation, TET: tetramerisation, SAM: sterile a motif, TID: transcription inhibitory domain.

A mutant deleted for the extreme C-terminus (1-500) failed to express (not shown) and the effect of deleting the SAM domain and transcriptional inhibitory domain could therefore not be studied.

While most p73 deletion mutants bound p53 R175H, deletion of the DNA binding domain in TAp73a Δ 131-307 reduced the interaction markedly (Fig 5-12 A). This finding is consistent with a previous report showing that a p73 protein containing only the DNA binding domain and oligomerisation domain bind mutant p53⁵⁷⁹. Since this deletion mutant lacks almost 200 amino acids, attempts were made to narrow the interacting region down further and two TAp73a mutants with smaller deletions of either the N-terminal half (Δ 131-223) or the C-terminal half (Δ 224-307) of the DNA binding domain were created (Fig 5-11).



Figure 5-12: TAp73a interacts with p53 R175H via the DNA binding domain. (A) and (B) HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with p53 R175H and either empty vector, full-length TAp73a or the deletion mutants indicated. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53). * indicates the IgG heavy chain.

Surprisingly, while TAp73a deleted for the whole DNA binding domain (Δ 131-307) hardly bound any p53 R175H as observed before (although p53 is expressed at a lower level in this lane), both smaller deletion mutants TAp73a Δ 131-223 and TAp73a Δ 224-307 bound p53 R175H very strongly. It can be concluded that these deletion mutants both contain regions interacting with mutant p53, suggesting that at least two areas of the DNA-binding domain are involved in the binding, with either of them being sufficient for complex formation.

5.3.2 p63 does not require the DNA binding domain to bind mutant p53.

Since TAp73's DNA-binding domain was crucial for the interaction with mutant p53, the experiment was repeated with a Δ Np73 mutant lacking the DNA binding domain. It was furthermore studied whether the DNA-binding domains of TAp63 and Δ Np63 were also important for their interaction with mutant p53.



Figure 5-13: p63's DNA binding domain is dispensable for binding to p53 R175H.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with p53 R175H and either full-length TAp63a, Δ Np63a, TAp73a, Δ Np73a or deletions of the DNA binding domain (DBD): TAp63a Δ 138-319, Δ Np63a Δ 84-265, TAp73a Δ 131-307, Δ Np73a Δ 82-258. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody. * indicates the IgG heavy chain.

Deletion of the DNA-binding domain of TAp73a once again largely reduced interaction with p53 R175H and interaction of Δ Np73a with p53 R175H was equally compromised by deletion of the DNA-binding domain (Fig 5-13). By contrast, deletion of the DNA binding domain did not affect the interaction of TAp63a or Δ Np63a with p53 R175H (Fig 5-13). This finding is in contrast to a study that found the DNA-binding domain of p63 sufficient to bind to mutant p53⁵⁷⁶. It is possible that the core domain of TAp63 contacts mutant p53, while another part TAp63 outside

this region provides a secondary interaction, which is sufficient for coimmunoprecipitation.

In order to determine which region outside TAp63's DNA binding domain serves as contact point for mutant p53, differences in the amino acid sequence between TAp63 and TAp73 were analysed. In light of the recent report linking aggregation of mutant p53 to interaction with TAp63 and TAp73⁵⁷⁷, the poly-glutamine region in the C-terminal region of TAp63 was considered a possible point of interaction. Poly-glutamine stretches of up to hundreds of glutamines tend to aggregate and multiplication of glutamine stretches have been linked to neurodegenerative diseases⁷⁷⁶. TAp63's sequence contains six glutamines in a row with 3 further glutamine residues in close proximity, but TAp73's sequence harbours only four sequential glutamines and one proximal glutamine (Fig 5-14 A).



Figure 5-14: Deletion of a glutamine stretch does not affect TAp63a's binding to p53 R175H.

(A) Alignment of TAp63a and TAp73a sequences with indication of Δ QQ deletion. Accession numbers: TAp63a: AAF43487, TAp73a: O15350.

(B) HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells were transfected with either wild-type p53 or p53 and either wild-type or ΔQQ TAp63a. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Neither full-length TAp63a nor TAp63a deleted for the glutamine-rich region (TAp63a Δ QQ) bound to wild-type p53, however both full-length and deletion mutant bound strongly to p53 R175H (Fig 5-14 B). Therefore this glutamine-rich region does not appear to be crucial for the TAp63a-mutant p53 interaction. However, in case two interactions - one within the DNA binding domain and outside the DNA binding domain - are responsible for the TAp63a-mutant p53 binding, it would be informative

to repeat this experiment with a double deletion mutant, lacking both DNA-binding domain and poly-glutamine stretch in order to rule out that the glutamine stretch does not contribute to the binding.



Figure 5-15: Representation of TAp63a deletion mutants.

In order to identify the region important for the mutant p53-TAp63a interaction, a series of deletion mutants, lacking 100 amino acids each (Fig 5-15), was created.



Figure 5-16: Deletion of amino acids 462-561 abrogates TAp63's interaction with p53 R175H.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with p53 R175H and either full-length TAp63a or the deletion mutants indicated. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

Domain structure of TAp63a with indication of deletion mutants. TAD: transactivation domain, NLS: nuclear localisation, TET: tetramerisation, SAM: sterile a motif, TID: transcription inhibitory domain.

The deletion mutants expressed to slightly different levels. The TAp63a Δ 462-561 mutant, which showed the strongest expression out of all mutants, failed to interact with p53 R175H, while full-length TAp63a and all other deletion mutants readily coimmunoprecipitated with p53 R175H (Fig 5-16). The Δ 462-561 deletion comprises the entire SAM domain. Interestingly, the a-helices of the sterile a motif (SAM) are generally thought to act as platform for protein-protein interactions⁴⁴¹. Since deletion of this C-terminal region completely abrogated the complex formation with mutant p53, it is unlikely that the DNA binding domain of TAp63a plays a major role in binding to mutant p53.



Figure 5-17: Amino acids 462 to 561 are not present in TAp63 γ . Domain structure of TAp63 α , TAp63 β and TAp63 γ with indication of the region deleted in the TAp63 α Δ 462-561 mutant. TAD: transactivation domain, NLS: nuclear localisation, TET: tetramerisation, SAM: sterile α motif, TID: transcription inhibitory domain.

Strikingly, only the α -isoforms of p63 contain the full SAM domain, while the p63 β proteins retain a small part of it and the p63 γ proteins lack it entirely (Fig 5-17). Testing the TAp63 β protein and its interaction with mutant p53 could give further information as to which part of the region deleted in the TAp63 α Δ 462-561 protein is responsible for contacting mutant p53. Following from the observations that the TAp63 α Δ 462-561 protein does not interact with p53 R175H, the TAp63 γ protein would be expected not to bind to mutant p53 less well than TAp63 α . This hypothesis could be investigated with further co-immunoprecipitation experiments.

In summary, these experiments clearly show that mutant p53 interacts with the DNA binding domains of TAp73a and Δ Np73a, while the core domains of TAp63a and Δ Np63a are dispensable for mutant p53 binding. This is a striking observation since the DNA binding domains of p63 and p73 are highly homologous with 86% identical amino acids. It would be interesting to determine which regions in p73's core domain

are responsible for the interaction and to analyse whether these regions are not present in the p63 protein.

5.4 MDM2 interplay with p63, p73 and mutant p53.

One of p53's strongest interacting proteins is its negative regulator MDM2. In addition to ubiquitinating and targeting p53 for degradation^{107,108}, MDM2 also shields the N-terminal transactivation domain of p53^{114,115} and modulates its transcriptional activity by SUMOylation⁷⁷⁷. TAp63 and TAp73 show 26% and 30% homology to the p53 N-terminus, respectively⁴⁷⁰. It was therefore investigated whether MDM2 could interact with and SUMOylate the p53-family transcription factors.

5.4.1 p63 and p73 are SUMOylated

A SUMO-site homologous to that of p53 is not present in the p63 or p73 sequences. However, a SUMO consensus can be found in the extreme C-termini of p63a and p73a (Fig 5-18 A). Consistent with this observation, only the a isoforms of p63 and p73 were reported to be SUMOylated^{450,734,778-781}. The lysine residue K627 within the SUMO consensus in TAp73's transcription inhibitory domain is to date the only lysine residue in p73 shown to be modified by SUMO-1^{734,781}. By contrast, lysine residue K549, residing in a non-classical SUMO motif, was described as a second SUMO site in TAp63 α^{778} , although the majority of studies only reports SUMOylation of lysine 637 within the classical SUMO consensus^{450,778-780}. This second non-classical motif is also present in p73a and was predicted as potential SUMO site by the SUMOsp2.0 SUMO consensus analysis software for both p63a and p73a (Fig 5-18 B). Since some SUMO-1 modification of TAp73a K627R, disrupted for the classical SUMO site, could still be observed⁷³⁴, it is possible that a lysine 532 in TAp73a is also SUMOylated. Since MDM2 Δ AD strongly induced SUMO-2/3 modification of p53, SUMO-2/3 modification of p63a and p73a in the presence of MDM2 Δ AD were tested.



Figure 5-18: p63a and p73a are SUMO-2/3 modified.

(A) Alignment of the extreme C-termini of TAp63a and TAp73a. The SUMO consensus motif is highlighted in bold with SUMO-accepting lysine in red. Accession numbers: TAp63a: AAF43487, TAp73a: O15350.

(B) Alignment of non-classical SUMO motif in SAM domains of TAp63α and TAp73α. amino acids matching the classical consensus highlighted in bold, SUMO-accepting lysine in red.

(C) U2OS cells were transfected with p53, TAp63a, TAp73a or Δ Np73a and MDM2 Δ AD. Cells were lysed under denaturing conditions. p53 was immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP DO-1) and TAp63a, TAp73a and Δ Np73a were immunoprecipitated with the HA antibody (IP HA). Samples were part of one experiment and were run on the same gel, a sample in the middle has been removed as indicated for this figure.

SUMOylation of p53 was strongly induced by MDM2 Δ AD as previously observed (see chapter 3) and served as a positive control. TAp63a showed a faint ladder of bands with the lowest band running at the height corresponding of TAp63a plus one SUMO molecule (+20kD). Both TAp73a and Δ Np73a showed stronger bands corresponding to SUMO-modified p73, with TAp73a being most strongly SUMO-2/3 modified. This is the first time that SUMO-2/3 modification of TAp63a, TAp73a and Δ Np73a has been observed, since previous studies had only investigated SUMO-1 modification of TAp73a^{734,781} and TAp63a^{450,778,779}. Since no samples without co-expression of MDM2 Δ AD were included in this experiment, it cannot formally be excluded that the SUMOylation of p63 and p73 is promoted independent of MDM2 Δ AD. MDM2 needs to bind p53's N-terminus in order to promote SUMOylation, thus MDM2's ability to interact with p63 and p73 was investigated next.

5.4.2 MDM2 interacts with p73, but not p63.

MDM2 binds p53 at its N-terminal transactivation domain¹⁶³. The amino acid sequence of the p53 family of transcription factors is well conserved, particularly in the DNA binding domain, where p63 and p73 share about 60% of amino acids with p53. The N-termini are less well conserved with TAp73's sequencing containing 18% amino acids and TAp63 containing 6% amino acids identical with p53. Regardless of this relatively low homology, the three amino acids in p53's N-terminus (F19, W23 and L26), which are contacted by MDM2 for the p53-MDM2 interaction¹⁶³, are present in both TAp63 and TAp73 (Fig 5-19). A number of reports suggest that MDM2 interacts only with TAp73⁵²⁰⁻⁵²², however some studies also found MDM2 binding to TAp63^{518,519}.

	2 5 19 2 2 19	
p53	MEEPQSDPSVEPPLSQET F SDL W KL L PENNVLSPLPSQAM	40
TAp63	MSQS-TQTNEFLSPEVFQHIWDFLEQPICSVQPIDLNF	37
TAp73	MAQS-TATSPDGG-TT F EHL W SS L EPDSTYFDLPQSSR	36
ΔNp63		0
ΔNp73		0

Figure 5-19: Alignment of the N-termini of p53 family members.

Both TAp63 and TAp73 contain the amino acids, which have been shown to be crucial for p53 binding to MDM2 (highlighted in red). Δ Np63 and Δ Np73 lack this N-terminal region entirely. Accession numbers: p53: P04637, TAp63a: AAF43487, TAp73a: O15350.

In order to study the interaction of MDM2 with p63 and p73, cells were transfected with the MDM2 C464A mutant, which is incapable of ubiquitinating, so that no protein degradation could take place. As expected, MDM2 C464A strongly interacted with p53 (Fig 5-20). A very subtle interaction with TAp63a and Δ Np63a was observed and MDM2 C464A bound much more strongly to both TAp73a and Δ Np73a (Fig 5-19).

The binding of Δ Np73 to MDM2 had not been assessed previously, but several reports suggested that MDM2 and TAp73 interact in a manner homologous to p53, with the p53-binding pocket of MDM2 contacting the N-terminus of TAp73^{482,483,510}. While the amino acids crucial for p53's interaction with MDM2 (F19, W23 and L26)¹⁶³ are present in TAp73's N-terminus, they are deleted in the Δ Np73 isoform (Fig 5-19).



Figure 5-20: MDM2 strongly interacts with p73, but not with p63. HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells were transfected with MDM2 C464A and either p53 or HA-tagged TAp63a, Δ Np63a, TAp73a (Simian) or Δ Np73a constructs. Cells were lysed under native conditions and MDM2 immunoprecipitated with the Ab-1 antibody (IP MDM2).

Strikingly, the interaction between MDM2 and $\Delta Np73\alpha$ was as strong as the interaction with TAp73 α (Fig 5-20), suggesting that a domain other than the amino acids homologous to p53's MDM2-binding domain is also involved in the interaction with MDM2. Hence, it was investigated whether interaction of p73 and MDM2 exclusively required the p53-binding domain in MDM2.

In order to study the role of the N-terminal interaction in the MDM2-p73 complex formation, an MDM2 mutant deleted for the p53-binding domain (Δ 58-89) was coexpressed with p73. Consistent with the previous experiment, MDM2 C464A interacted strongly with p53, TAp73a and Δ Np73a, but only weakly with TAp63a or Δ Np63a (bands visible after longer exposure). An MDM2 mutant lacking the p53binding domain, MDM2 Δ 58-89 C464A, interacted strongly with p73, particularly with Δ Np73a, suggesting that this interaction takes place via a domain outside the p53binding region in MDM2 (Fig 5-21).



Figure 5-21: MDM2's p53-binding domain is dispensable for binding p73. HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with either MDM2 C464A or MDM2 Δ58-89 C464A MDM2 and empty vector, p53, ΔNp63a, TAp63a, ΔNp73a or TAp73a. Cells were lysed under native conditions and MDM2 immunoprecipitated wtih the Ab-1 antibody (IP MDM2).

The interaction of MDM2 Δ 58-89 C464A with TAp73a was slightly reduced compared to the binding of MDM2 C464A, raising the possibility that the p53binding region of MDM2 contacts the N-terminal amino acids in TAp73, as previously suggested by others^{482,483,510}, although a second interaction appears to take place outside the p53-binding domain. Surprisingly, deletion of the p53-binding region in MDM2 reduced the co-immunoprecipitation of p53, but did not completely abrogate the interaction (Fig 5-21). While the N-terminal p53-MDM2 interaction serves as the primary docking site, a secondary binding mechanism with the central acidic domain of MDM2 contacting a region around box V in p53's DNA binding domain was reported^{171,172,782,783}. Since the MDM2 Δ 58-89 C464A mutant contains a functional acidic domain, this secondary interaction between box V in p53 and the acidic domain in MDM2 could explain the residual interaction observed here.

Taken together, the data suggests that MDM2 only poorly interacts with p63, but binds well to both TAp73a and Δ Np73a and that this binding takes place outside the N-termini of p73 and MDM2.

Unlike p53, TAp73 was found not to be targeted for ubiquitination by MDM2^{482,483,510}. By contrast, some studies reported an increase in TAp73 levels in the presence of MDM2^{483,516}. However, without affecting TAp73 levels, co-expression of MDM2 with TAp73 was found to dampen its transcriptional activity in most studies^{482,483,510}, while one group reported an increase in transcriptional activity⁵¹⁶.



Figure 5-22: p53-induced PG13 Luciferase is repressed by MDM2 C464A. HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with PG13 Luciferase, TK Renilla and either empty vector or p53 together with increasing amounts of MDM2 C464A (25 and 100ng). (A) Activation of the promoters was assayed using the Promega Luciferase system. Data is plotted as Relative Luciferase Units (RLU) (Firefly Luciferase readings divided by Renilla Luciferase readings) fold change relative to p53-null control. The diagram represents the mean of triplicates with error bars as standard error of the mean. (B) Equal transfection was confirmed by western blot.

In the case of p53, MDM2 binds to p53's transactivation domain and interaction alone affects the transcriptional activity of p53^{114,115}. Consequently, co-expression of the RING finger mutant MDM2 C464A, which is incapable of ubiquitinating p53, prevented p53-induced activation of PG13 Luciferase (Fig 5-22 A).

In contrast to previous studies that had addressed the MDM2-p73 interaction as homologous to the MDM2-p53 interaction and proposed a model in which MDM2 shields the TAp73 transactivation domain^{482,483,510}, a strong MDM2-p73 interaction outside the N-terminus was observed here. Therefore the ability of MDM2 C464A to interfere with p63 and p73 transcriptional activity was assessed.

Induction of BPAG1-Luciferase by TAp73a was strongly reduced by addition of MDM2 C464A, supporting the theory that MDM2 interacts with the p73's transactivation domain homologous to p53 (Figure 5-23 A). Since BPAG1-Luciferase was not induced by Δ Np73a no conclusions could be drawn about the repression of Δ Np73a's transcriptional activity.



Figure 5-23: TAp73a induced BPAG1 Luciferase is repressed by MDM2 C464A.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with BPAG1-Luciferase, TK Renilla and either empty vector, TAp63α, ΔNp63α, TAp73α or ΔNp73α plus increasing amounts of MDM2 C464A (0, 25 or 100ng) (A) Activation of the promoters was assayed using the Promega Luciferase system. Data is plotted as Relative Luciferase Units (RLU) (Firefly Luciferase readings divided by Renilla Luciferase readings) fold change relative to empty vector control. The diagram represents the mean of two independent sets of triplicates with error bars as standard error of the mean. * indicates a p-value < 0.02 as results of an unpaired two-tailed Student t-test compared to readings from cells not transfected with MDM2 C464A. (B) Transfection efficacy was determined by western blot.

In line with the finding that MDM2 C464A only interacted well with p73, but not p63, induction of BPAG1-Luciferase by TAp63a and Δ Np63a was not reduced by co-

expression of MDM2 C464A (Fig 5-23 A). Surprisingly, addition of small amounts of MDM2 C464A significantly increased induction of BPAG1 Luciferase by both TAp63a and Δ Np63a (Fig 5-23 A). Indeed, it had previously been reported that MDM2 induced the transcriptional activity of p63⁵¹⁸. However, in this experiment, the samples co-expressing low MDM2 levels express higher levels of TAp63a or Δ Np63a as compared to the samples not co-transfected with MDM2 C464A, which could be the reason for the higher Luciferase activity observed here (Fig 5-23 B).

It is a striking observation that MDM2 binds to p53 and p73, but not to p63. In order to investigate, whether these differences in MDM2 binding would translate into effects on mutant p53-p63 or mutant p53-p73 complexes, MDM2 was co-expressed with mutant p53 and p63 or p73 and complex formation was studied by co-immunoprecipitation.

5.4.3 MDM2 affects mutant p53 binding to p63 and p73.

While the interaction of MDM2 and mutant p53, and the interaction of MDM2 and p63 and p73 were studied previously, the consequence of MDM2 addition to the mutant p53-p63 or mutant p53-p73 complexes had not been investigated before.

TAp63a did not interact strongly with wild-type p53 or the DNA contact mutants p53 R273H and p53 C277Y, as observed earlier, and addition of MDM2 C464A did not alter the p53-p63 interaction (Fig 5-24). By contrast, the unfolded p53 mutants p53 R175H and p53 I254R interacted strongly with TAp63a and strikingly, addition of MDM2 C464A markedly reduced the amount of TAp63a co-precipitated with p53 (Fig 5-24). Those two mutants also co-immunoprecipitated a considerable amount of MDM2 C464A and it is possible that MDM2 competes with TAp63a for its interaction with mutant p53. Since MDM2 bound much more strongly to TAp73 than to TAp63, the effect of MDM2 C464A co-expression on the mutant p53-p73 interaction was also analysed.


Figure 5-24: MDM2 C464A disrupts the mutant p53 - TAp63a complex. HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with TAp63a, the p53 constructs indicated and either empty vector or C464A MDM2. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).



Figure 5-25: MDM2 C464A induces the interaction of folded p53 with TAp73a.

HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells were transfected with TAp73a, the p53 constructs indicated and either empty vector or C464A MDM2. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the DO-1 antibody (IP p53).

As seen before, wild-type p53 and the contact mutant p53 R273H hardly interacted with TAp73α. Remarkably, upon co-expression of MDM2 C464A, TAp73α was coimmunoprecipitated with p53 in both cases (Fig 5-25). In contrast to the reduction of interaction observed when MDM2 C464A was added to the mutant p53-p63 complex, MDM2 did not have any effect on the interaction of the conformational mutants p53 R175H and p53 I254R with TAp73α (Fig 5-25).

These observations suggest the following model of complex formation: Conformational mutants of p53, such as p53 R175H bind strongly to both TAp63a and TAp73a (Fig 5-26 A and C). Addition of MDM2 displaces p63 and p73 in the complex, possibly due to higher affinity for a similar region in p53 (Fig 5-26 B and D). However, since MDM2 binds p73 but not p63, this results in different complexes: In the case of TAp63a, MDM2 forms a dimeric complex with mutant p53, releasing TAp63a, while in the case of TAp73a, a trimeric complex of mutant p53, MDM2 and TAp73a is formed.



Figure 5-26: Model of the MDM2/mutantp53/p63/p73 complexes. While MDM2 replaces TAp63 in the dimeric complex with mutant p53, TAp73 forms a trimeric complex with MDM2 and p53.

For conformational p53 mutants, no alteration of the mutant p53-p73 interaction was observed despite this change of complex, since TAp73 is still co-immunoprecipitated

with mutant p53, albeit now via MDM2. However, due to this sandwich-structure with MDM2 contacting p73, p53 in native conformation, which does not interact with TAp73 directly, but does bind to MDM2, starts to co-immunoprecipitate p73 via MDM2 as well.

 $\Delta Np73\alpha$ potentially interacts with MDM2 in a manner distinct from TAp73a, since there is no N-terminal component contributing to the binding. Therefore, the effect of MDM2 on the p53- $\Delta Np73$ complex formation was also analysed.

The same pattern as previously observed for TAp73a, could be reproduced with Δ Np73a. Co-expression of MDM2 C464A induced co-immunoprecipitation of Δ Np73a with both wild-type p53 and DNA contact mutant p53 R273H, while the interaction of conformational mutants p53 R175H and p53 I254R with Δ Np73a was not affected (Fig 5-27).



Figure 5-27: p53 ΔI does not interact with $\Delta Np73a$ via MDM2.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with TAp73a, the p53 constructs indicated and either empty vector or C464A MDM2. Cells were lysed under native conditions and p53 immunoprecipitated with the 1801 antibody (IP p53).

In order to test the proposed model that the induced interaction of wild-type p53 and Δ Np73 is mediated by trimeric complex formation via MDM2, p53 Δ I, which lacks the amino acids critical for interaction with MDM2, was co-expressed with Δ Np73a with and without MDM2 C464A. Immunoprecipitation of Δ I p53 did not pull down any TA-p73a and due to the lack of MDM2-binding domain, no MDM2 was co-immunoprecipitated either. Co-expression of MDM2 C464A did not induce co-immunoprecipitation of Δ Np73a with Δ I p53 (Fig 5-27), supporting the model of a trimeric p53-MDM2-p73 complex. MDM2 has strikingly contrasting effects on the mutant p53-p73 and mutant p53-p63 complexes and it would be important to determine whether releasing TAp63 from its complex with mutant p53 by MDM2 also has functional consequences for TAp63's activity as a transcription factor.

Mutant p53's interaction with p63 and p73 was shown to repress the ability to induce their transcriptional targets in many studies^{134,575-581}. However, big differences in mutant p53 binding to p63 and p73, depending on the type of mutation, were observed here. The repression of TAp63a was shown to be crucial for stimulating an invasive phenotype by stimulating integrin- EGF-receptor recycling and Metsignalling^{586,594}. Hence, the correlation between mutant p53-TAp63a binding, repression of TAp63a transcriptional activity and translation into an invasive phenotype was investigated.

5.5 The extent of mutant p53 and p63 interaction does not reflect the gain of invasive phenotype.

Since mutant p53 exerts some of its gain of function activity via the repression of p63 and p73, the interaction between the proteins was investigated in more detail. Only conformational mutants p53 R175H and p53 I254R were found to interact strongly with both p63 and p73, while DNA contact mutants such as p53 R273H and p53 C277Y bound rather weakly, comparable to residual levels sometimes observed after overexpression of wild-type p53 (Fig 5-4). According to the distribution spectrum of somatic mutations in tumours (see Fig 1-24), contact mutants do not seem to pose a disadvantage for tumours compared to conformational mutants. Remarkably, the mutations of the 273 codon is even more frequent than mutations of the 175 codon⁵²⁴. A previous report suggested that the degree of mutant p53 interaction with

TAp63 or TAp73 translated into the extent of repression of p63 or p73 target genes⁵⁷⁵ and therefore the panel of p53 mutants used in this study were analysed for their ability to repress TAp63a -induced K14-Luciferase.



Figure 5-28: All p53 mutants reduce TAp63a-induced K14 Luciferase.

HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were transfected with K14 Luciferase, TK Renilla and either empty vector or TAp63a together with increasing amount (25 and 100ng) of the p53 mutants indicated. (A) Activation of the promoters was assayed using the Promega Luciferase system. Data is plotted as Relative Luciferase Units (RLU) (Firefly Luciferase readings divided by Renilla Luciferase readings) fold change relative to p53-null control. The diagram represents the mean of triplicates with error bars as standard error of the mean. (B) Transfection efficacy was determined by western blot.

Expression of TAp63a induced K14 Luciferase activity and co-expression of increasing amounts of mutant p53 inhibited Luciferase activation in all cases (Fig 5-28 A). If the strength of interaction were a predictor for strength of repression, the conformational mutants p53 R175H and p53 I254R would have been expected to be stronger repressors. However, the DNA contact mutants p53 R273H and R248W

repressed TAp63a at least as well, if not even better (Fig 5-28 A). In particular p53 R248W, which is expressed at lower levels in this experiment (Fig 5-28 B), still markedly inhibited the Luciferase activity (Fig 5-28 A). It would be informative to repeat this experiment on Δ Np63a and TAp73a induced Luciferase in order to investigate whether this mechanism is specific to TAp63a.

Our lab has previously shown that an important gain of function activity of mutant p53 is its stimulation of invasion towards EGF and HGF via the repression of TAp63^{586,594}. Therefore, the ability of the conformational and contact mutants to drive invasion in an inverted transwell invasion assay towards the hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) was investigated.





(A) Representation of an inverted transwell invasion assay setup. Cells are seeded on the membrane of the transwell insert, invading upwards into a matrigel-fibronectin (FN) plug towards HGF.

(B)+(C) H1299 were retrovirally infected with an empty vector or the p53 mutants (in a pWZL Blast vector). Blasticidin-resistant cells were selected and their invasion towards HGF over 72 hours measured in inverted transwell invasion assays. (B) Bars represent the mean of invasion beyond 45µm in 4 sets of triplicates. Error bars as standard error of the mean. * indicates a p-value <0.02 compared to the empty vector expressing cells. (C) Equal expression was confirmed by western blot.

In line with the observation that both contact and conformational mutants were able to inhibit TAp63-induced Luciferase, all p53 mutants tested significantly induced invasion of H1299 cells towards HGF (Fig 5-29). This finding raises the question, how the contact mutants inhibit p63 and drive the gain of function. While it is possible that a very weak interaction of mutant p53 with p63 and p73 is sufficient to achieve the gain of function effect, mechanisms other than protein-protein interaction with p63 and p73 are likely to also play a part. It could be informative to test the mutant p53 deletion mutants, which were identified to bind less well to p63 and p73 mutational analysis (p53 R175H Δ 251-312), in order to investigate whether the reduced binding translates into a less effective repression of p63 and p73 and reduced invasion. However, in order to determine whether the mutant p53 interaction with p63 and p73 is required for mutant p53 to repress p63 and p73 and exert its gain of function, a p53 mutant without residual weak binding to p63 and p73 would be required.

5.6 Summary and Discussion

Taken together the results presented here show that, despite their high level of homology, p63 and p73 interact differently with mutant p53 and MDM2. Three critical amino acids phenylalanine 19, tryptophan 23 and leucine 26 in p53 were shown to interact with MDM2 (Fig 5-19)^{163,563}. Since both TAp63a and TAp73a contain the same three amino acids, it is surprising that MDM2 only interacts with p63 but not with p73 (Fig 5-20). Three further amino acids, leucine 14, aspartate 21 and leucine 22, in p53 were shown to play a minor role in interacting with MDM2's N-terminus^{163,563}. Aspartate 21, mutation of which to alanine has been thought to break the helical structure¹⁶³, is present in neither p63 nor p73. However, leucine 14 is conserved only in p63, but not p73 and leucine 22 only in p73, but not in p63 (see Fig 5-20). Although all three crucial amino acid residues are present in the N-termini of both TAp63 and TAp73, in vitro studies with N-terminal peptides of TAp63 and TAp73 suggest that MDM2 has a much lower affinity towards the transactivation domain of TAp63 compared to the transactivation domain of TAp73⁵²³. Furthermore, there clearly are differences between TAp63a and TAp73a from a structural point of view: The TAp63a protein was reported to adopt a closed inactive dimeric structure with a stretch of amino acids located within the transcriptional domain (amino acids 604 to 613) contacting the N-terminal transactivation domain⁴⁵⁰. This intra-molecular binding involves the conserved N-terminal three amino acids, which serve as contact points for MDM2 in p53⁷⁸⁴. Therefore, despite their presence in TAp63a, these critical amino acids might be shielded in this closed conformation, preventing MDM2 from interacting with TAp63a. Since the TAp63β and TAp63γ isoforms do not contain this inhibitory C-terminal domain, it would be very interesting to assess their binding to MDM2 as well. However, one study showed that TAp63y could also not interact with MDM2⁵²¹, similar to TAp63a, making it unlikely that this closed folded structure is the reason why MDM2 cannot interact with TAp63a.

Furthermore, MDM2 also binds to $\Delta Np73\alpha$, which lacks the region homologous to the MDM2-binding domain in p53. Since an MDM2 mutant lacking the p53-binding domain can still interact with both TAp73 and $\Delta Np73$ (Fig 5-20), another interaction outside the N-terminal regions of MDM2 and TAp73 must take place. The conserved box V in p53 can contact the acidic domain of MDM2 in a secondary

interaction^{171,172,782,783}. This region of p53 is highly conserved in p63 and p73 and it is possible that MDM2 contacts p73 in a box V homologous domain.

	272 272 273 273	
p53	SGNLLGRN SFEVRV CACPGRDRR	283
TAp63	DGQVLGRRC FE A R ICACPGRDRK	314
TAp73	DGQVLGRR SFE G R ICACPGRDRK	303

Figure 5-30: Alignment of box V in p53, TAp63 and TAp73. Amino acids in red are crucial for the interaction with MDM2, while amino acids in bold are thought to have a subtle influence. Accession numbers: p53: P04637, TAp63a: AAF43487, TAp73a: O15350.

Alignment of the box V regions of p53, TAp63 and TAp73 reveals that two amino acids that are crucial for interaction with p53 (serine 269 and phenylalanine 270)¹⁷² are conserved in TAp73, while only one is present in TAp63 (Fig 5-30). Two of the four amino acids, which have been found to only weakly contribute to the interaction, are present in both TAp63 and TAp73, while the other two are not present in either protein (Fig 5-30). The lack of the crucial serine residue in TAp63 could serve as an explanation for the much weaker affinity of MDM2 to TAp63. It would therefore be informative to test the interaction of TAp73 lacking the box V or TAp63-TAp73 chimeras with swapped box V domains to study the influence of this region on MDM2 binding.

Importantly, the MDM2 inhibitor Nutlin-3a, which binds to MDM2's N-terminal p53 binding pocket, was shown to also induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in settings without wild-type p53. The suggested mechanism of action was that Nutlin-3a released TAp73 from MDM2's inhibition⁶⁴²⁻⁶⁴⁵. It could be informative to repeat the MDM2-TAp73 co-immunoprecipitation experiments in the presence of Nutlin-3a. However, since an MDM2 mutant lacking the N-terminal p53-binding domain Δ58-89 still bound TAp73 (Fig 5-21), Nutlin-3a would not be expected to disrupt the binding of MDM2 and TAp73 under the conditions used in this study. Since Nutlin-3a also disrupts the binding of MDM2 to E2F1, which is a transcriptional activator for TAp73⁴⁹³, it is also possible that the observed TAp73 activation is at least partially due to E2F1-induced TAp73⁶⁴⁰.

Strikingly, the much lower affinity of MDM2 towards TAp63 resulted in a very different effect on the mutant p53-p63 and mutant p53-p73 complexes. MDM2 separated the complex of conformational p53 mutants and TAp63 but induced formation of a trimeric complex of wild-type p53 or DNA contact mutant p53 with TAp73a or $\Delta Np73\alpha$ (Fig 5-26). It would be important to assess the consequence of MDM2 binding mutant p53 and releasing TAp63a. Presumably, the free TAp63a would be transcriptionally active and thereby high levels of MDM2 in the presence of mutant p53-p63 complexes could rescue TAp63a activity. This hypothesis could be examined further experimentally, for example by determining TAp63a's transcriptional activity in presence of mutant p53 alone and mutant p53 with additional MDM2 in a Luciferase assay.

Understanding the mechanism through which MDM2 regulates p63 and p73 could prove very important in respect to turnour therapy, since both TAp63 and TAp73 can activate a number of p53's cell cycle arrest and apoptotic target genes⁷⁸⁵ and contribute to the activation of apoptosis⁵⁸². Furthermore, loss of p63 activity in particular has been associated with an enhanced invasive phenotype^{469,586,595,596}, leading to metastasis and poor prognosis for cancer patients^{771,772}. While high expression of MDM2 is more common in turnours expressing wild-type p53 (since mutant p53 cannot induce the MDM2 target gene), treatment with an MDM2 E3-inhibitor would lead to accumulation of MDM2 protein, because MDM2 is also a Ubiquitin-ligase for itself. The MDM2 protein would then displace TAp63α bound to mutant p53 and release TAp63α from its inhibition. Reactivation of TAp63α could be beneficial to constrain turnour growth and metastasis. TAp73 would not be reactivated by this mechanism, since MDM2 forms a trimeric complex with mutant p53 and p73.

With the long-term therapeutic goal of interrupting the repressing interaction of mutant p53 with p63 and p73, it is important to understand how these proteins bind each other. TAp73a interacted with mutant p53 via its core domain, while TAp63a's interaction with mutant p53 still occured even without the DNA binding domain (Fig 5-13). The region identified to contribute to TAp63a's binding to p53 R175H comprises the sterile a motif in the C-terminus (Fig 5-16), which is only entirely present in the p63a isoforms (Fig 5-17). Despite its presence in only one of the

isoforms, the SAM domain is crucial to TAp63a's function: Multiple germ-line mutations associated with severe developmental effects cluster in this region, for example point-mutations at L518, G532, T537 and Q540 were identified in patients with AEC syndrome⁴⁵⁶. It would be of interest to test the other C-terminal splice-variants and assess their ability to interact with mutant p53. Based on the result that Δ 462-561 TAp63a did not bind p53 R175H, TAp63 γ would not be predicted to interact with p53 R175H, however one study showed a weak interaction of TAp63 γ with p53 R175H⁵⁷⁶. This study identified the DNA binding domain as point of interaction, raising the possibility that two points of contact contribute to the mutant p53-p63 complex formation. TAp73a also seems to contact mutant p53 via two regions: While deletion of the entire DNA binding domain severely impaired the interaction, TAp73a deleted of either the N-terminal or the C-terminal half of the DNA binding domain strongly interacted with mutant p53 (Fig 5-12).

Since the level of mutant p53 interaction with p63 and p73 does not appear to correlate with their ability to repress p63 and p73 activity, a mutant p53, which was completely negative for interaction with p63 and p73 would be a very useful tool to determine whether interaction of the proteins is required for the inhibitory function. While deletion of the entire DNA binding domain abrogated all interaction (Fig 5-6), the remaining protein lacks more than half of all amino acids (216 out of the 393 amino acids). A shorter deletion or point mutation, resulting in a protein more closely resembling the full-length p53 protein, would be suited better to study its functional impact on p63 and p73 activity and gain of function, such as invasion.

The C-terminal region of the DNA binding domain (amino acids 251-312) was identified to be required for the interaction of mutant p53 with TAp63a (Fig 5-20) and it would be interesting to study whether the observed reduction in binding translates into an effect on p53 R175H's ability to repress TAp63a and drive invasion. The recently published aggregation region around isoleucine 254 falls into this region. Mutation of isoleucine 254 to arginine was reported to inhibit co-immunoprecipitation of p63 and p73 with p53 R175H by preventing their coaggregation⁵⁷⁷. Surprisingly, in my hands, introduction of the I254R mutation failed to stop interaction of p53 R175H with TAp63, Δ Np63 or TAp73 (Fig 5-8, 5-9, 5-10). Following discussion with the authors of the original paper, the experiments performed here were repeated with

exactly the same plasmids, buffers and cells as in the original study and the discrepancies are therefore unexplainable. Importantly, mutation of isoleucine 254 in the wild-type p53 background completely unfolded the p53 DNA binding domain (Fig 5-3). Somatic mutation of codon 254 is documented in the p53 database at a rate of 0.2% compared to 6.1% for the very frequent mutation of codon 175⁵²⁴, suggesting that mutation of the I254 codon in the p53 protein occurs in tumours and thus possibly confers some oncogenic activity. This would be consistent with the classification of the p53 I254R mutant as an unfolded mutant (Fig 5-3), which inhibits TAp63a 's transcriptional activity (Fig 5-28) and promotes invasion (Fig 5-29).

Despite the fact that the level of co-immunoprecipitation of p63 and p73 with mutant p53 does not directly correlate with repression of p63 and p73 (Fig 5-28, 5-29), targeting the mutant p53-p73 interaction with small molecule inhibitors may be a useful strategy to reduce tumour growth. A study with small interfering peptides of the p73 DNA binding domain (between amino acids 190 and 210) rendered mutant p53 cells more susceptible to Adriamycin and Cisplatin treatment in SK-BR-3 cells expressing p53 R175H⁷⁸⁶. However, no such effect could be observed in MDA-MB-468 cells which express the p53 R273H mutant⁷⁸⁶, suggesting that in this cell-line the contact mutant p53 exhibited its oncogenic gain of function by a mechanism distinct from p73 binding.

By contrast, the small molecule RETRA has recently been shown to reduce the number and size of tumours in a xenograft model of the p53 R273H-expressing cell line A431⁶⁶². Although the p53 R273H DNA contact mutant does not bind strongly to p73, treatment of RETRA was shown to reduce the interaction by two to three-fold while inducing the p73 levels⁶⁶². The release of mutant p53-mediated inhibition was measured by the activation of p53 target genes and only treatment with p73-specific shRNA, but not p63-specific shRNA prevented the induction of p53 target genes⁶⁶². The conclusion drawn from this finding was that RETRA functioned exclusively by releasing p73 from its complex with mutant p53. Considering the different interaction mechanisms of p63 and p73 with mutant p53, it is conceivable that RETRA targets only the mutant p53-p73 interaction. However, it is important to note that the A431 cell line expresses extremely high amounts of Δ Np63 α and hardly any TAp63. Since the TA-isoforms of p63 are thought to be the stronger inducers of the classic p53

target genes⁴⁴⁵, it is not surprising that the observed induction of p53 target genes in this cell line was predominantly mediated by p73. It would therefore be interesting to investigate in a different cell line, whether RETRA also reactivates TAp63. Furthermore, it would be important to study whether the observed effect can be reproduced or even augmented in cell lines expressing a conformational mutant of p53.

6 Final Summary and Discussion

In brief, the following main conclusions can be drawn from the data presented here: MDM2 drives conjugation of the tumour suppressor p53 with SUMO-2/3 at lysine 386, independently of its ability to promote ubiquitination. SUMO-2/3 modification modulates both transcriptional activation and repression by p53. While mutant p53 can also be SUMOylated, this does not affect its interaction with p63 and p73. MDM2 on the other hand alters mutant p53's interaction with p63 and p73, displacing p63 in the complex with mutant p53 and forming a trimeric complex with mutant p53 and p73.

Although MDM2's activity in ubiquitinating p53 is undoubtedly crucial to control p53's activity, many more ubiquitination-independent roles for MDM2 in controlling the p53-family have been uncovered in this study.

Interestingly, conditions that inhibit ubiquitination, such as deletion of the RING domain and the central acidic domain (Figure 3-6), but also expression of the ubiquitination-inhibitory proteins $p14^{ARF}$ and L11, did not dampen but rather enhanced MDM2's ability to SUMOylate p53 (Figure 3-7). This suggests that ubiquitination and SUMOylation may be two competing activities of MDM2. However, the levels of SUMOylation- and ubiquitination activity do not match a perfect inverse correlation, since the MDM2 Δ AD protein retained some residual ubiquitination activity, but promoted SUMOylation more strongly than the MDM2 RING mutants, which had lost all ubiquitination activity (Figure 3-7). Nevertheless, overall conditions that block the ubiquitination activity induced MDM2's SUMOylation activity and the particularly efficient SUMOylation induced by the MDM2 Δ AD mutant could be due to its strong interaction with the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 (Figure 3-24).

Although the particular MDM2 deletion mutants used in this study were intended purely as molecular tools, MDM2 isoforms deleted for the N-terminal, central and C-terminal domains also occur in cells. The full-length MDM2 transcript encodes for a 90 kD protein, but shorter isoforms of around 75 kD and 60 kD were also observed⁷⁸⁷. The 60 kD MDM2 isoform does not arise from alternative splicing or translation initiation and was shown by a number of groups to be the product of cleavage by caspase-3 related proteases⁷⁸⁸⁻⁷⁹¹ or caspase-2 in complex with the p53 target PIDD⁷⁹². The p60 MDM2 protein lacks the entire RING domain, since cleavage

takes place after aspartate 361 within the Caspase cleavage motif DVPD. Therefore, this protein does not ubiquitinate p53 and was found to stabilise p53 by preventing its interaction with full-length MDM2⁷⁹². However, MDM2 deletion mutants lacking the RING domain were able to promote SUMOylation of p53 efficiently and thus p60 MDM2 could influence p53's transcriptional activity by SUMO-2/3 modification. While MDM2 cleavage is induced during apoptosis as Caspases become activated, the p60 product is also present without apoptosis⁷⁹¹ and has been observed in breast⁷⁹³ and lung tumours⁷⁹⁴. Notably, the HCT116 colon carcinoma cell line used throughout this study expresses multiple MDM2 isoforms, with a band at 60 kD being the most prominent band on western blots, suggesting that this cell line might express the cleaved MDM2 isoform. The 75 kD MDM2 isoforms arises from alternative translation initiates at internal ATG codons 61 or 101⁷⁹⁵. The resulting proteins lack the N-termini and are unable to bind p53 and would neither ubiquitinate nor SUMOylate p53.

Many more MDM2 splice variants have been reported, some of which were exclusively found in tumour cells. Strikingly, the majority of variants retain the N-terminal p53-binding site, but show large deletions in the central region of the protein, including the acidic domain and zinc finger^{796,797}, similar to the strongly SUMOylating MDM2 ΔAD deletion mutant, which lacks amino acids 222 to 437. It would be very interesting to investigate the SUMOylation potential of these natural MDM2 splice variants. While most of them will have lost their ubiquitination activity, the isoforms that retain the p53-binding motif will probably be able to promote SUMOylation of p53, possibly to higher levels than full-length MDM2.

SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 modulates its transcriptional activity and can activate, repress or alleviate repression depending on the particular target gene analysed (Fig 4-11). p53 mutants that could not be SUMOylated were more efficient inducers of a PG13-Luciferase, but weaker inducers of a Bax-Luciferase construct compared to wild-type p53 (Fig 4-9). While the p53-target gene p21 was also induced to higher levels on mRNA (Fig 4-11) and protein level (Fig 4-13) by the SUMO consensus mutants p53 K386R and p53 E388A, no significant differences of Bax mRNA regulation could be observed (Fig 4-11). However, cell cycle profiling of cells by FACS suggested that cells expressing p53 E388A and K386R underwent less apoptosis, since the sub-G₁ population was slightly reduced in these cells (Fig 4-14).

Furthermore, cell cycle genes repressed by p53, were repressed to an even greater extent by p53, which could not be SUMOylated (Fig 4-11). Overall, the data suggest that SUMO-2/3 modification channels p53 activity towards apoptosis rather than G_1 or G_2 arrest.

In light of the attractive therapeutic option to inhibit p53-ubiguitination by MDM2, effects of MDM2 inhibitors on SUMOylation need to be taken into consideration. For example, the MDM2-inhibitor Nutlin-3a disrupts the binding of MDM2 and p53⁶⁰⁴ and thereby inhibits not only ubiquitination, but also SUMOylation of p53. By contrast, E3-ligase inhibitors such as HLI373 only affect ubiquitination of p53⁶⁴¹, but do not disrupt SUMOylation of p53 (Figure 3-8). It is still unclear, whether p53 SUMOylation would pose a general advantage or disadvantage to tumour growth. The data presented here suggest that disruption of p53 SUMOylation could induce cell cycle arrest at G₁ via induction of p21 or G₂ via stronger repression of G₂/M genes. Despite no significant difference of G₁ phase population in the FACS analysis of cells expressing SUMO-site mutant p53 compared to wild-type p53, it is possible that a slight alteration of p21 levels could translate into a cell cycle arrest in vivo, where tumour cells are subject to many other stresses simultaneously. Furthermore, since a slight reduction of sub-G₁ population for cells expressing the SUMO-site mutant p53 K386R or E388A was observed, disrupting SUMOylation could also be detrimental to therapy outcome by lowering the apoptotic potential. The functional consequences of SUMO-modification might depend on other posttranslational modifications present. It was recently suggested that the SUMO-E3 PIAS4 induces SUMOmodification of p53 and Tip60 simultaneously, thereby activating Tip60, which in turn acetylates p53 at lysine 120. This particular combination of posttranslational modifications, K120 acetylation and K386 SUMOylation served as a binary death signal, inducing cytoplasmic accumulation of p53 and triggering autophagy⁴²⁰. It could be very informative to study the role of p53 SUMOylation in tumourigenesis and cancer treatment in vivo and it would be important to consider the lack of SUMO consensus in the mouse p53 protein when choosing an animal model. Even a knockin mouse with human p53 with the K386R mutation would potentially not recapitulate the situation in human cells, since mouse cells obviously do not require their p53 protein to be SUMOylated.

Interestingly, the SUMO pathway is often deregulated in cancer and many tumours express high levels of Ubc9. Consequently, p53 might also be highly SUMOylated in tumours with overexpression of the SUMO conjugating enzyme. Overall, high levels of SUMOylation confer an advantage to tumours. Indeed, in the majority of studies high expression of the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 was correlated with poor prognosis^{374,798-800}. Ubc9 promotes cell growth and prevents apoptosis in breast cancer cells, possibly by regulating Bcl-2 since MCF7 cells expressing a dominant negative Ubc9 showed reduced mRNA levels of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 mRNA³⁷⁴. Furthermore, Ubc9 overexpression confers chemoresistance in breast cancer³⁷⁶. Although targeting the SUMO-conjugating function of Ubc9 has been suggested as a promising strategy for cancer therapy⁸⁰¹, some functions of the E2 conjugating enzyme seem to be independent of SUMOylation such as its promotion of breast cancer cell invasion, which is also induced by the dominant negative Ubc9 C93A, possibly via down-regulating miR-224⁸⁰².

Other members of the SUMO-pathway are also involved in tumourigenesis: It has recently been reported that Myc-driven tumourigenesis depends on the presence of SUMO-E1 SAE1/2⁸⁰³ and Myc itself has been shown to be a transcriptional activator of SAE1⁸⁰⁴. Contrasting to the situation in breast cancer, melanoma, multiple myeloma and colon cancer, where high levels of SUMOylation were observed, deSUMOvlation (indicated by high SENP1 expression) correlates with tumour aggressiveness and recurrence in prostate cancer⁸⁰⁵. Indeed, mouse models showed that SENP1 overexpression in the prostate induced development of neoplasias⁸⁰⁶. In cervical cancer the human papillomavirus E6 protein was reported to target the SUMO-E2 Ubc9 for degradation, leading to a global drop in SUMO levels as part of the malignant transformation⁸⁰⁷. These data raise the possibility that the status of p53 SUMOylation could also be different depending on tumour type and it would be informative to study SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 on tissue microarray. This would be greatly aided by the development of a SUMOylated p53-specific antibody raised against a p53-SUMO branched peptide, similarly to an antibody successfully raised against ubiquitinated Histone H2B⁸⁰⁸.

Despite high levels of SUMOylation conferring resistance to cytotoxic therapy, SUMOylation of certain proteins was shown to be crucial for the response of some

drugs. For example, treatment of acute promyeloytic leukaemia patients with arsenic relies on the PML-RARa fusion protein to become SUMOylated and form nuclear bodies in order to then recruit the SUMO-targeted Ubiquitin ligase RNF4, which targets the PML protein for degradation^{366,675}. SUMO-1 modification of Topoisomerase I was found to be key to the success of Irinotecan treatment in non-small lung cancer patients, where therapy response was associated with SUMO-1 and Ubc9 expression⁸⁰⁹. It would be very interesting to investigate whether the SUMO status influenced therapy response, particularly since SUMO-2/3 modified p53 seemed to activate apoptosis more readily than cell cycle arrest.

The C-terminus of mutant p53, which contains the C-terminal SUMO site, had been shown to be important for invasion via suppression of p63⁵⁸⁶, hence SUMOylation of mutant p53 was also studied. While mutant p53 was readily SUMOylated independent of conformation (Fig 5-1), deletion of the area comprising the SUMO site did not impair mutant p53 interaction with TAp63a and mutation of the SUMO site in p53 R273H also did not affect its ability to promote invasion (experiment performed by P. Muller, data not shown). Thus, SUMOylation does not obviously influence mutant p53 gain of function via p63. Strikingly, SUMO-2/3 modified TAp63a, TAp73a and $\Delta Np73a$ could be observed in the presence of MDM2 ΔAD (Fig 5-18). While TAp73a, Δ Np73a and TAp63a had not previously been shown to be modified with SUMO-2/3, a recent study identified p14^{ARF} as inducer of SUMO-2-modification of $\Delta Np63a$, resulting in degradation of $\Delta Np63a^{780}$. SUMO-1 modification of TAp63a and TAp73a similarly destabilised these proteins^{450,780,781}, suggesting that SUMOylation of p63 and p73 could lead to the recruitment of SUMO-targeted Ubiguitin ligases. Further experiments could be conducted to assess whether the SUMO-2/3 modification of p63 and p73 is indeed induced by MDM2 and whether protein interaction with MDM2 is required for this activity. Importantly, a larger fraction of TAp73α and ΔNp73α was SUMO-2/3 modified compared to TAp63α (although it was expressed to slightly lower levels) and this could be due to MDM2 interacting much better with p73 than p63 (Fig 5-19).

Since MDM2 interacts differently with p73 and p63, MDM2 also influences the mutant p53-p63 differently than the mutant p53-p73 complex. While MDM2 induced interaction of wild-type p53 and DNA contact mutant p53 with TAp73a (Fig 5-25),

possibly by formation of a trimeric complex, it disrupted the interaction of conformational p53 with TAp63a (Fig 5-24). This observation is intriguing, since MDM2 is thought to bind the N-terminus of p53, while TAp63 interacts with the core domain of mutant p53. However, our lab recently published evidence that MDM2 interacts differently with mutant p53 than with wild-type p53, since p53 R175H lacking the MDM2-binding region (p53 R175H Δ I) can still bind MDM2, probably via its RING domain⁵⁴⁴. It is unclear which region in mutant p53 serves as point of contact for the RING domain and it is possible that a region of the mutant p53 core domain that is required for binding to p63, binds to MDM2 with higher affinity, leading to the displacement of p63 in the presence of MDM2. It would be important to follow up these findings and investigate whether the release of TAp63a from the complex coincides with a release of functional inhibition by mutant p53.

Similar to the differences of p63 and p73 in binding to MDM2, the interactions of the p53-family transcription factors with mutant p53 were also not homologous. While TAp73a bound mutant p53 via at least two regions in the DNA binding domain (Fig 5-12), the core domains of TAp63a and $\Delta Np63a$ were dispensable for mutant p53 binding (Fig 5-13). Instead, deletion of a C-terminal region of TAp63α (Δ462-561), which contains the SAM domain, severely impaired the interaction with mutant p53 (Fig 5-14). Many protein interactions take place in this region and an extended PPxY motif located between amino acids 501 and 510 in the SAM domain was recently shown to be required for recognition of p63a by its E3-ligase Itch⁸¹⁰. This motif is conserved in p73, which is also recognised by Itch⁴⁸⁴, possibly via the same region. The SAM domains of p63 and p73 are fairly similar with 53% identical amino acids and it is intriguing that only p63's SAM domain was identified to be important for interaction with mutant p53 (Figure 5-14). However, the influence of deletion of the SAM domain in p73 was not assessed, because a TAp73a mutant containing a stop codon at codon 500 did not express. Since TAp73a Δ 131-307, which lacks the DNA binding domain, showed some residual interaction with mutant p53, it is possible that another interaction takes place at the TAp73a SAM domain, similar to TAp63a. However, in contrast to p73, deletion of the DNA binding domain in p63 did not weaken the interaction with mutant p53, clearly demonstrating that the p63 core domain is not required for mutant p53-p63 complex formation.

Strikingly, while both p63a and p73a contain a C-terminal transactivation inhibitory domain, they seem to function by different mechanisms. Only the p63 inhibitory domain folds back to bind and shield the N-terminal transactivation domain⁴⁴⁹, while the p73a inhibitory domain does not contact its N-terminus⁴⁸¹. It is possible that due to this closed conformation of TAp63a, the DNA-binding domain is not accessible to bind to mutant p53 and the interaction therefore has to take part via a different region, exposed in the structure. However, since $\Delta Np63a$, which cannot form this closed conformation, also does not require the DNA-binding domain for binding mutant p53, the unusual conformation of TAp63a is unlikely to be the reason that the core domain of p63 does not to bind mutant p53. Strikingly, p63 and p73 contain 86% identical amino acids in their DNA binding domain and no areas of clear differences between the two sequences could be identified in the sequence alignment. The DNA binding domains of p63 and p73 are also highly homologous to p53, with roughly 60% identical amino acids, but both p63 and p73 contain a divergent L2 loop, the result of an insertion of two extra amino acids, lacking in p53⁸¹¹. As a consequence of this slightly different structural arrangement, p63 and p73 are more thermodynamically stable than p53⁸¹² and are resistant to inhibition by SV40 large T⁸¹¹. While p63 and p73 retain their ability to bind ASPP and iASPP, one report suggests that the iASPP and ASPP2 C-terminal domains, which bind to the p63 and p73 core domains, bind three-fold more strongly to p63 over p73⁸¹³. Thus, preferences of proteins to either interact with the p63 or p73 DNA binding domain clearly exist and it is conceivable that mutant p53 to the p73 core domain with higher affinity than to the p63 core domain.

Regardless of the exact interaction mechanism, mutant p53 was reported by many groups to inhibit the transcriptional activity of both p63 and p73^{134,575,576,579}. Surprisingly, the DNA contact p53 mutants, which only bound weakly to both p63 and p73, were able to suppress TAp63a -induced K14 Luciferase at least as well as the strongly interacting conformational p53 mutants (Fig 5-28). It would be interesting to repeat this experiment on TAp73-induced Luciferase in order to determine whether the same effect can be observed with the inhibition of p73-activated target genes, since one previous report demonstrated that p53 R273H did not inhibit TAp73-mediated activation of a Luciferase-reporter¹³⁴.

The finding that strength of interaction does not correlate with the extent of repression of p63 raises questions about the exact mechanism transcriptional repression by mutant p53. Clearly, DNA contact mutants are among the most frequently observed p53 mutations and many studies have shown evidence for gain of oncogenic function by mutants such as p53 R273H. It is possible that the weak interaction observed with the DNA contact mutants and p63 is sufficient to disrupt p63's transcriptional function. Mutations of many DNA-contacting residues such as R248 or R280 can indeed marginally impair the folding of the DNA binding domain⁷⁷⁴. Strikingly, even the DNA binding domain of the wild-type p53 protein is thermodynamically unstable and the wild-type protein can adopt an unfolded conformation, for example under hypoxic conditions⁸¹⁴. While unfolded wild-type p53 has been demonstrated to bind and inhibit p73 in vitro⁵⁸¹, in endogenous settings, wild-type p53 levels are probably too low to impact on p63 and p73 activity under unstressed conditions. By contrast, mutant p53 often accumulates to high levels in neoplastic lesions and thus even if only a small percentage of the contact mutants were to be unfolded, this fraction could be sufficient to bind and repress p63 and p73. It is possible that the interaction with the DNA stabilises the conformation of the wild-type p53 DNA binding domain, but since the DNA contact mutants have lost this ability, even the DNA binding domain of p53 R273H, which was not found to be thermodynamically destabilised in vitro⁶⁵³, could be less stable in a cellular context. Furthermore, the ratio of unfolded to folded p53 protein is affected by many factors: The conformation of the DNA binding domain can be stabilised by posttranslational modifications and binding partners such as heat shock proteins^{815,816}. Other proteins destabilise p53 conformation and binding to MDM2 was reported to induce unfolding of p53^{817,818}.

Three recent reports suggest that additional proteins might be involved in stabilising the mutant p53-p63 complex: Upon TGFβ signalling Smads were shown to act as a scaffold for mutant p53-p63 interaction⁵⁹⁵. Furthermore, the scaffold protein Topoisomerase βII binding protein (TopBP1) was shown to facilitate complex formation of mutant p53 with p63 and p73 and in the absence of TopBP1, p53 R273C was unable to form a complex with p63⁸¹⁹. Similarly, the Prolyl-isomerase Pin1 alters the conformation of proline residues in p53 and thereby promotes binding of p53 R280 and p63⁶⁶⁸. It might be informative to test, whether more p63 would be

co-immunoprecipitated with p53 R273H in the presence of Pin1, TopBP1 or Smad2 under the conditions used in this study and whether strengthening of the interaction would translate into stronger p63 repression.

Mutant p53 expression is often associated with more aggressive and invasive tumours. The p53 mutants used throughout this study were found to induce invasion in an inverted transwell invasion assay and this effect was independent of the class of p53 mutation (Fig 5-29). A number of different mechanisms were reported to contribute to mutant p53's gain of oncogenic function, some of them limited to certain types of p53 mutation: Both p53 R175H and p53 R273H were shown to enhance Rab-coupling protein-mediated recycling of the EGF-receptor and integrin α5β1, inducing invasion towards EGF and this effect was mediated by repression of p63⁵⁸⁶. Similarly, different kinds of mutant p53 (p53 R175H, p53 R273H, p53 R280K) induced invasion upon TGFβ signalling via repression of p63, mediated by Smads⁵⁹⁵. Recently, p53 R248Q and p53 R282W were shown to alleviate repression of p63's induction of miR-155 expression, driving invasion and metastasis of breast tumours⁸²⁰. p53 R175H also prevented induction of miR-205 by p63 in prostate cancer⁵⁹⁶. miR-155 and miR-205 both target ZEB-1, which regulates epithelial-tomesenchymal transition. Furthermore, p53 R175H and p53 R273H were shown to induce scattering and invasion in response to HGF-signalling, mediated by Met recycling⁵⁹⁴. While this effect was p63-dependent in cell lines expressing TAp63, it was p63-independent in other cell lines⁵⁹⁴ and it would be interesting to investigate, whether the mechanism could be instead mediated by p73 repression. Repression of p63-target genes had been proposed to be a consequence of mutant p53 preventing p63 to bind to the promoters of its target genes⁸¹⁹, nonetheless mutant p53 was recently shown to recruit p63 to promoters of genes usually not regulated by p63⁸²¹. Strikingly, an expression microarray comparing the transcriptional changes induced by 5 different hotspot mutants including p53 R175H, p53 R273H and p53 R248W demonstrated that all mutants, no matter whether conformational or contact, induced a very similar change in target mRNA levels, regulating the same 59 genes⁸²². Induction of these genes was mediated by a mutant p53-p63 complex with p63 binding to promoters, which are not induced by p63 alone⁸²². These studies suggest that the low binding of p53 R273H is sufficient to recruit p63 to new promoters.

A number of p53 mutants, including p53 R273H were recently shown to disrupt the structured tissue organisation of breast epithelial cells by upregulating the mevalonate pathway⁵⁹⁷ and to induce CXCL5 and CXCL8, leading to migration⁸²³. Induction of the mevalonate pathway required the SREBP transcription factors⁵⁹⁷ and expression of the chemokines was dependent on NF-kB2⁸²³. Analysis of the role of p63 in these pathways would be very informative. Additional mechanisms, which were shown to be independent of p63, also contribute to mutant p53-induced invasion: Mutant p53 was reported to induce epithelial to mesenchymal transition by inhibiting transcription of miR-130b, which is a negative regulator of ZEB-1⁸²⁴. Strikingly, although p63 had been shown to activate miR-130b⁷⁷⁰, the authors found that the repression of miR-130b by mutant p53 was independent of p63 and both p53 R175H and p53 R273H bound directly to the miR-130b promoter⁸²⁴. Furthermore, mutant p53 could induce the expression of proteins such as Twist1, promoting epithelial-mesenchymal transformation, and this was not mediated by p63⁸²⁵. While p53 mutants can retain some DNA-binding activity, their sequencespecific selectivity is largely lost and even the residual binding of p53 R273H was shown to be too weak to activate p53 target genes⁸²⁶. Instead of binding in a sequence-dependent manner, mutant p53 was reported to bind DNA depending on structural elements, showing a preference for G-rich regions, which form Gquadruplex structures⁵⁶⁵ and AT-rich regions, which lead to regional unwinding of DNA⁵⁶⁴. Mutant p53 also interacts with other transcription factors (such as p63 as described above), which take over the role of contacting the DNA. Interestingly, a recent study found that different mutant p53 proteins induced a cancer-related gene signature by distinct mechanisms: While conformational mutants such as p53 R175H were shown to induce H-Ras signalling, DNA contact mutants such as R273H and R248Q did not affect Ras signalling, but cooperated with NF-kB instead⁸²⁷. Some of the gain of function, however is mediated completely independent of transcription factors and instead involves complex formation with other proteins: The p53 R273H mutant, but not p53 R280K, was shown to interact with Nardisylin and thereby induce invasion towards hepatocyte growth factor, independent of p63⁵⁹⁸, suggesting that particular p53 mutants can utilise separate mechanisms - potentially completely independent of transcriptional regulation - to complement their gain of function.

While many different mechanisms contribute to mutant p53's ability to promote invasion and metastasis, a large fraction of studies found that the invasive phenotype was mediated by p63. On the one hand, weak mutant p53-p63 binding seems to be sufficient for mutant p53 to repress p63-induced target genes and also to recruit p63 to new target genes, on the other hand, reduction of mutant p53-p63 complex formation was recently shown to revert invasive behaviour induced by mutant p53: The Ankyrin repeat domain protein 11 (ANKRD11) was found to restore DNA-binding of p53 R273H⁸²⁸ and furthermore to refold conformational p53 mutants, leading to 50% reduction of p53 R175H complex formation with p63 and p73, which was sufficient to revert the mesenchymal phenotype induced by mutant p53⁸²⁹.

Taken together, mutant p53 can drive an aggressive and metastatic phenotype by different mechanisms, many of which involve repression of the p53-family transcription factor p63. p73 is less studied in this context, however, the finding that similarly to p53^{+/-};p63^{+/-} mice, half of all p53^{+/-};p73^{+/-} mice developed metastatic tumours⁴⁶⁸, while hardly any of the p53^{+/-} mice did, suggests an important role for p73 in counteracting invasion and metastasis as well. Importantly, p73 has been linked to repressing anchorage independent growth by inducing anoikis⁷⁶⁰, which could pose an effective barrier to the development of metastasis.

The findings presented here suggest that mutant p53 interacts differently with p63 and p73. Clearly, understanding the inhibitory interaction with p63 and p73 better, will aid the development of therapies targeting mutant p53's gain of function via p63 and p73. While conformation of p53 mutants interacted much more strongly, DNA contact mutants were still able to repress p63 and p73. Our data together with results from studies conducted by other groups suggest that the weak interaction of the DNA contact mutants is sufficient to repress p63 and promote an invasive phenotype. Importantly, it was identified here that MDM2 releases p63 from its interaction with mutant p53, which could serve as a mechanism to reactivate p63. Exemplified by the small molecule RETRA, which disrupts the mutant p53-p73 complex and is thereby able to suppress tumour growth⁶⁶², targeting mutant p53's interaction with p63 and p73 seems to be a promising therapy strategy for treating the 50% of all tumours that contain mutant p53.

Bibliography

- 1. Preston-Martin S, Pike MC, Ross RK, Jones PA, Henderson BE. Increased cell division as a cause of human cancer. *Cancer research* 1990;50:7415–21.
- 2. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 2000;100:57–70.
- 3. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 2011;144:646–74.
- 4. Cheng N, Chytil A, Shyr Y, Joly A, Moses HL. Transforming growth factorbeta signaling-deficient fibroblasts enhance hepatocyte growth factor signaling in mammary carcinoma cells to promote scattering and invasion. *Mol Cancer Res* 2008;6:1521–33.
- 5. Santarpia L, Lippman SM, El-Naggar AK. Targeting the MAPK-RAS-RAF signaling pathway in cancer therapy. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 2012;16:103–19.
- 6. Sherr CJ. Cancer cell cycles. *Science* 1996;274:1672–7.
- 7. Korsmeyer SJ. Bcl-2 initiates a new category of oncogenes: regulators of cell death. *Blood* 1992;80:879–86.
- 8. Hayflick L, Moorhead PS. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. *Exp Cell Res* 1961;25:585–621.
- 9. Autexier C, Greider CW. Telomerase and cancer: revisiting the telomere hypothesis. *Trends Biochem Sci* 1996;21:387–91.
- 10. Mac Gabhann F, Popel AS. Systems biology of vascular endothelial growth factors. *Microcirculation* 2008;15:715–38.
- 11. Murdoch C, Muthana M, Coffelt SB, Lewis CE. The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2008;8:618–31.
- 12. Sporn MB. The war on cancer. *Lancet* 1996;347:1377–81.
- 13. Frisch SM, Francis H. Disruption of epithelial cell-matrix interactions induces apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* 1994;124:619–26.
- 14. Guadamillas MC, Cerezo A, Del Pozo MA. Overcoming anoikis--pathways to anchorage-independent growth in cancer. *J Cell Sci* 2011;124:3189–97.
- 15. Birchmeier W, Behrens J. Cadherin expression in carcinomas: role in the formation of cell junctions and the prevention of invasiveness. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994;1198:11–26.
- 16. Coussens LM, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases and the development of cancer. *Chem Biol* 1996;3:895–904.
- 17. Warburg O, Wind F, Negelein E. The metabolism of tumors in the body. *J Gen Physiol* 1927;8:519–30.
- Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science* 2009;324:1029–33.
- 19. Wallace DC. Mitochondria and cancer: Warburg addressed. 2005.
- 20. Schumacker PT. Reactive oxygen species in cancer cells: live by the sword, die by the sword. *Cancer cell* 2006;10:175–6.
- 21. Wagner HN. A brief history of positron emission tomography (PET). *Semin Nucl Med* 1998;28:213–20.

- Teng MWL, Swann JB, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Immunemediated dormancy: an equilibrium with cancer. *J Leukoc Biol* 2008;84:988– 93.
- 23. lacobuzio-Donahue CA. Epigenetic changes in cancer. *Annu Rev Pathol* 2009;4:229–49.
- 24. Vousden KH, Prives C. Blinded by the Light: The Growing Complexity of p53. *Cell* 2009;137:413–31.
- 25. Donehower LA, Harvey M, Slagle BL, McArthur MJ, Montgomery CA, Butel JS, Bradley A. Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. *Nature* 1992;356:215–21.
- 26. Hollstein M, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, Harris CC. p53 mutations in human cancers. *Science* 1991;253:49–53.
- 27. Laptenko O, Prives C. Transcriptional regulation by p53: one protein, many possibilities. *Cell Death Differ* 2006;13:951–61.
- 28. Moll UM, Wolff S, Speidel D, Deppert W. Transcription-independent proapoptotic functions of p53. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 2005;17:631–6.
- 29. Harper JW, Adami GR, Wei N, Keyomarsi K, Elledge SJ. The p21 Cdkinteracting protein Cip1 is a potent inhibitor of G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Cell* 1993;75:805–16.
- 30. el-Deiry WS, Tokino T, Velculescu VE, Levy DB, Parsons R, Trent JM, Lin D, Mercer WE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. *Cell* 1993;75:817–25.
- 31. Miyashita T, Reed JC. Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of the human bax gene. *Cell* 1995;80:293–9.
- 32. Nakano K, Vousden KH. PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. *Mol Cell* 2001;7:683–94.
- 33. Li T, Kon N, Jiang L, Tan M, Ludwig T, Zhao Y, Baer R, Gu W. Tumor suppression in the absence of p53-mediated cell-cycle arrest, apoptosis, and senescence. *Cell* 2012;149:1269–83.
- 34. Linke SP, Clarkin KC, Di Leonardo A, Tsou A, Wahl GM. A reversible, p53dependent G0/G1 cell cycle arrest induced by ribonucleotide depletion in the absence of detectable DNA damage. *Genes Dev* 1996;10:934–47.
- 35. Harper JW, Elledge SJ, Keyomarsi K, Dynlacht B, Tsai LH, Zhang P, Dobrowolski S, Bai C, Connell-Crowley L, Swindell E. Inhibition of cyclindependent kinases by p21. *Mol Biol Cell* 1995;6:387–400.
- 36. Hermeking H, Lengauer C, Polyak K, He TC, Zhang L, Thiagalingam S, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. 14-3-3 sigma is a p53-regulated inhibitor of G2/M progression. *Mol Cell* 1997;1:3–11.
- 37. Laronga C, Yang HY, Neal C, Lee M-H. Association of the cyclin-dependent kinases and 14-3-3 sigma negatively regulates cell cycle progression. *J Biol Chem* 2000;275:23106–12.
- 38. Zhan Q, Antinore MJ, Wang XW, Carrier F, Smith ML, Harris CC, Fornace AJ. Association with Cdc2 and inhibition of Cdc2/Cyclin B1 kinase activity by the p53-regulated protein Gadd45. *Oncogene* 1999;18:2892–900.
- 39. Innocente SA, Abrahamson JL, Cogswell JP, Lee JM. p53 regulates a G2 checkpoint through cyclin B1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1999;96:2147–52.

- 40. Krause K, Wasner M, Reinhard W, Haugwitz U, Dohna CL, Mossner J, Engeland K. The tumour suppressor protein p53 can repress transcription of cyclin B. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2000;28:4410–8.
- 41. Badie C, Bourhis J, Sobczak-Thepot J, Haddada H, Chiron M, Janicot M, Janot F, Tursz T, Vassal G. p53-dependent G2 arrest associated with a decrease in cyclins A2 and B1 levels in a human carcinoma cell line. *Br J Cancer* 2000;82:642–50.
- 42. Yun J, Chae HD, Choy HE, Chung J, Yoo HS, Han MH, Shin DY. p53 negatively regulates cdc2 transcription via the CCAAT-binding NF-Y transcription factor. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:29677–82.
- 43. Sandri MI, Isaacs RJ, Ongkeko WM, Harris AL, Hickson ID, Broggini M, Vikhanskaya F. p53 regulates the minimal promoter of the human topoisomerase Ilalpha gene. *Nucleic Acids Res* 1996;24:4464–70.
- 44. Smith ML, Chen IT, Zhan Q, Bae I, Chen CY, Gilmer TM, Kastan MB, O'Connor PM, Fornace AJ. Interaction of the p53-regulated protein Gadd45 with proliferating cell nuclear antigen. *Science* 1994;266:1376–80.
- 45. Tanaka H, Arakawa H, Yamaguchi T, Shiraishi K, Fukuda S, Matsui K, Takei Y, Nakamura Y. A ribonucleotide reductase gene involved in a p53dependent cell-cycle checkpoint for DNA damage. *Nature* 2000;404:42–9.
- 46. Chen J, Sadowski I. Identification of the mismatch repair genes PMS2 and MLH1 as p53 target genes by using serial analysis of binding elements. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005;102:4813–8.
- 47. Mummenbrauer T, Janus F, Müller B, Wiesmuller L, Deppert W, Grosse F. p53 Protein exhibits 3"-to-5" exonuclease activity. *Cell* 1996;85:1089–99.
- 48. Thornberry NA, Lazebnik Y. Caspases: enemies within. *Science* 1998;281:1312–6.
- 49. Owen-Schaub LB, Zhang W, Cusack JC, Angelo LS, Santee SM, Fujiwara T, Roth JA, Deisseroth AB, Zhang WW, Kruzel E. Wild-type human p53 and a temperature-sensitive mutant induce Fas/APO-1 expression. *Mol Cell Biol* 1995;15:3032–40.
- 50. Wu GS, Burns TF, McDonald ER, Jiang W, Meng R, Krantz ID, Kao G, Gan DD, Zhou JY, Muschel R, Hamilton SR, Spinner NB, et al. KILLER/DR5 is a DNA damage-inducible p53-regulated death receptor gene. *Nat Genet* 1997;17:141–3.
- 51. Oda E, Ohki R, Murasawa H, Nemoto J, Shibue T, Yamashita T, Tokino T, Taniguchi T, Tanaka N. Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family and candidate mediator of p53-induced apoptosis. *Science* 2000;288:1053–8.
- 52. Gallenne T, Gautier F, Oliver L, Hervouet E, Noël B, Hickman JA, Geneste O, Cartron PF, Vallette FM, Manon S, Juin P. Bax activation by the BH3-only protein Puma promotes cell dependence on antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members. *J Cell Biol* 2009;185:279–90.
- 53. Du H, Wolf J, Schafer B, Moldoveanu T, Chipuk JE, Kuwana T. BH3 domains other than Bim and Bid can directly activate Bax/Bak. *J Biol Chem* 2011;286:491–501.
- 54. Dai H, Smith A, Meng XW, Schneider PA, Pang Y-P, Kaufmann SH. Transient binding of an activator BH3 domain to the Bak BH3-binding groove initiates Bak oligomerization. *J Cell Biol* 2011;194:39–48.

- 55. Budhram-Mahadeo V, Morris PJ, Smith MD, Midgley CA, Boxer LM, Latchman DS. p53 suppresses the activation of the Bcl-2 promoter by the Brn-3a POU family transcription factor. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:15237–44.
- 56. Lin Y, Ma W, Benchimol S. Pidd, a new death-domain-containing protein, is induced by p53 and promotes apoptosis. *Nat Genet* 2000;26:122–7.
- 57. Berube C, Boucher L-M, Ma W, Wakeham A, Salmena L, Hakem R, Yeh W-C, Mak TW, Benchimol S. Apoptosis caused by p53-induced protein with death domain (PIDD) depends on the death adapter protein RAIDD. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005;102:14314–20.
- 58. Attardi LD, Reczek EE, Cosmas C, Demicco EG, McCurrach ME, Lowe SW, Jacks T. PERP, an apoptosis-associated target of p53, is a novel member of the PMP-22/gas3 family. *Genes Dev* 2000;14:704–18.
- 59. Suzuki K, Dashzeveg N, Lu Z-G, Taira N, Miki Y, Yoshida K. PDCD6, a novel p53-responsive gene, targets to the nucleus in the apoptotic response to DNA damage. *Cancer Sci* 2012;
- 60. Jung Y-S, Kim K-S, Dong Kim K, Lim J-S, Kim J-W, Kim E. Apoptosis-Linked Gene 2 Binds to the Death Domain of Fas and Dissociates from Fas during Fas-Mediated Apoptosis in Jurkat Cells. *Biochem and Biophys Res Comm* 2001;288:420–6.
- 61. Johnson TM, Yu ZX, Ferrans VJ, Lowenstein RA, Finkel T. Reactive oxygen species are downstream mediators of p53-dependent apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1996;93:11848–52.
- 62. Li PF, Dietz R, Harsdorf von R. p53 regulates mitochondrial membrane potential through reactive oxygen species and induces cytochrome c-independent apoptosis blocked by Bcl-2. *EMBO J* 1999;18:6027–36.
- 63. Contente A, Dittmer A, Koch MC, Roth J, Dobbelstein M. A polymorphic microsatellite that mediates induction of PIG3 by p53. *Nat Genet* 2002;30:315–20.
- 64. Polyak K, Xia Y, Zweier JL, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. A model for p53induced apoptosis. *Nature* 1997;389:300–5.
- 65. Rivera A, Maxwell SA. The p53-induced gene-6 (proline oxidase) mediates apoptosis through a calcineurin-dependent pathway. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280:29346–54.
- 66. Faraonio R, Vergara P, Di Marzo D, Pierantoni MG, Napolitano M, Russo T, Cimino F. p53 suppresses the Nrf2-dependent transcription of antioxidant response genes. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:39776–84.
- 67. Mihara M, Erster S, Zaika A, Petrenko O, Chittenden T, Pancoska P, Moll UM. p53 has a direct apoptogenic role at the mitochondria. *Mol Cell* 2003;11:577–90.
- 68. Leu JI-J, Dumont P, Hafey M, Murphy ME, George DL. Mitochondrial p53 activates Bak and causes disruption of a Bak-Mcl1 complex. *Nat Cell Biol* 2004;6:443–50.
- 69. Chipuk JE, Kuwana T, Bouchier-Hayes L, Droin NM, Newmeyer DD, Schuler M, Green DR. Direct activation of Bax by p53 mediates mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and apoptosis. *Science* 2004;303:1010–4.

- 70. Crighton D, Wilkinson S, O'Prey J, Syed N, Smith P, Harrison PR, Gasco M, Garrone O, Crook T, Ryan KM. DRAM, a p53-induced modulator of autophagy, is critical for apoptosis. *Cell* 2006;126:121–34.
- 71. Crighton D, Wilkinson S, Ryan KM. DRAM links autophagy to p53 and programmed cell death. *Autophagy* 2007;3:72–4.
- 72. Amaravadi RK, Yu D, Lum JJ, Bui T, Christophorou MA, Evan GI, Thomas-Tikhonenko A, Thompson CB. Autophagy inhibition enhances therapyinduced apoptosis in a Myc-induced model of lymphoma. *J Clin Invest* 2007;117:326–36.
- 73. Maclean KH, Dorsey FC, Cleveland JL, Kastan MB. Targeting lysosomal degradation induces p53-dependent cell death and prevents cancer in mouse models of lymphomagenesis. *J Clin Invest* 2008;118:79–88.
- 74. Tasdemir E, Maiuri MC, Orhon I, Kepp O, Morselli E, Criollo A, Kroemer G. p53 represses autophagy in a cell cycle-dependent fashion. *Cell Cycle* 2008;7:3006–11.
- 75. Tasdemir E, Maiuri MC, Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Djavaheri-Mergny M, D'Amelio M, Criollo A, Morselli E, Zhu C, Harper F, Nannmark U, Samara C, et al. Regulation of autophagy by cytoplasmic p53. *Nat Cell Biol* 2008;10:676–87.
- 76. Vaseva AV, Marchenko ND, Ji K, Tsirka SE, Holzmann S, Moll UM. p53 Opens the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore to Trigger Necrosis. *Cell* 2012;149:1536–48.
- 77. Chang T-C, Wentzel EA, Kent OA, Ramachandran K, Mullendore M, Lee KH, Feldmann G, Yamakuchi M, Ferlito M, Lowenstein CJ, Arking DE, Beer MA, et al. Transactivation of miR-34a by p53 broadly influences gene expression and promotes apoptosis. *Mol Cell* 2007;26:745–52.
- 78. Bommer GT, Gerin I, Feng Y, Kaczorowski AJ, Kuick R, Love RE, Zhai Y, Giordano TJ, Qin ZS, Moore BB, MacDougald OA, Cho KR, et al. p53mediated activation of miRNA34 candidate tumor-suppressor genes. *Curr Biol* 2007;17:1298–307.
- 79. Kasinski AL, Slack FJ. miRNA-34 prevents cancer initiation and progression in a therapeutically-resistant K-ras and p53-induced mouse model of lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer research* 2012;
- 80. Serrano M, Lin AW, McCurrach ME, Beach D, Lowe SW. Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. *Cell* 1997;88:593–602.
- 81. Kuilman T, Michaloglou C, Mooi WJ, Peeper DS. The essence of senescence. *Genes Dev* 2010;24:2463–79.
- Dameron KM, Volpert OV, Tainsky MA, Bouck N. Control of angiogenesis in fibroblasts by p53 regulation of thrombospondin-1. *Science* 1994;265:1582– 4.
- 83. Nishimori H, Shiratsuchi T, Urano T, Kimura Y, Kiyono K, Tatsumi K, Yoshida S, Ono M, Kuwano M, Nakamura Y, Tokino T. A novel brain-specific p53-target gene, BAI1, containing thrombospondin type 1 repeats inhibits experimental angiogenesis. *Oncogene* 1997;15:2145–50.
- Tolsma SS, Volpert OV, Good DJ, Frazier WA, Polverini PJ, Bouck N. Peptides derived from two separate domains of the matrix protein thrombospondin-1 have anti-angiogenic activity. *J Cell Biol* 1993;122:497– 511.

- 85. Teodoro JG, Parker AE, Zhu X, Green MR. p53-mediated inhibition of angiogenesis through up-regulation of a collagen prolyl hydroxylase. *Science* 2006;313:968–71.
- 86. Yamakuchi M, Lotterman CD, Bao C, Hruban RH, Karim B, Mendell JT, Huso D, Lowenstein CJ. P53-induced microRNA-107 inhibits HIF-1 and tumor angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2010;107:6334–9.
- 87. Mashimo T, Watabe M, Hirota S, Hosobe S, Miura K, Tegtmeyer PJ, Rinker-Shaeffer CW, Watabe K. The expression of the KAI1 gene, a tumor metastasis suppressor, is directly activated by p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1998;95:11307–11.
- 88. Gadea G, Lapasset L, Gauthier-Rouvière C, Roux P. Regulation of Cdc42mediated morphological effects: a novel function for p53. *EMBO J* 2002;21:2373–82.
- 89. Nobes CD, Hall A. Rho GTPases control polarity, protrusion, and adhesion during cell movement. *J Cell Biol* 1999;144:1235–44.
- 90. Cheng J-C, Chang H-M, Leung PCK. Wild-type p53 attenuates cancer cell motility by inducing growth differentiation factor-15 expression. *Endocrinology* 2011;152:2987–95.
- 91. Chang C-J, Chao C-H, Xia W, Yang J-Y, Xiong Y, Li C-W, Yu W-H, Rehman SK, Hsu JL, Lee H-H, Liu M, Chen C-T, et al. p53 regulates epithelialmesenchymal transition and stem cell properties through modulating miRNAs. *Nat Cell Biol* 2011;13:317–23.
- 92. Kim T, Veronese A, Pichiorri F, Lee TJ, Jeon Y-J, Volinia S, Pineau P, Marchio A, Palatini J, Suh S-S, Alder H, Liu C-G, et al. p53 regulates epithelial-mesenchymal transition through microRNAs targeting ZEB1 and ZEB2. *J Exp Med* 2011;208:875–83.
- 93. Eger A, Aigner K, Sonderegger S, Dampier B, Oehler S, Schreiber M, Berx G, Cano A, Beug H, Foisner R. DeltaEF1 is a transcriptional repressor of Ecadherin and regulates epithelial plasticity in breast cancer cells. *Oncogene* 2005;24:2375–85.
- 94. Comijn J, Berx G, Vermassen P, Verschueren K, van Grunsven L, Bruyneel E, Mareel M, Huylebroeck D, van Roy F. The two-handed E box binding zinc finger protein SIP1 downregulates E-cadherin and induces invasion. *Mol Cell* 2001;7:1267–78.
- 95. Kunz C, Pebler S, Otte J, Ahe von der D. Differential regulation of plasminogen activator and inhibitor gene transcription by the tumor suppressor p53. *Nucleic Acids Res* 1995;23:3710–7.
- 96. Sun Y, Sun Y, Wenger L, Rutter JL, Brinckerhoff CE, Cheung HS. p53 downregulates human matrix metalloproteinase-1 (Collagenase-1) gene expression. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:11535–40.
- 97. Matoba S, Kang J-G, Patino WD, Wragg A, Boehm M, Gavrilova O, Hurley PJ, Bunz F, Hwang PM. p53 regulates mitochondrial respiration. *Science* 2006;312:1650–3.
- 98. Schwartzenberg-Bar-Yoseph F, Armoni M, Karnieli E. The tumor suppressor p53 down-regulates glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT4 gene expression. *Cancer research* 2004;64:2627–33.

- 99. Kawauchi K, Araki K, Tobiume K, Tanaka N. p53 regulates glucose metabolism through an IKK-NF-kappaB pathway and inhibits cell transformation. *Nat Cell Biol* 2008;10:611–8.
- 100. Kondoh H, Lleonart ME, Gil J, Wang J, Degan P, Peters G, Martinez D, Carnero A, Beach D. Glycolytic enzymes can modulate cellular life span. *Cancer research* 2005;65:177–85.
- 101. Bensaad K, Tsuruta A, Selak MA, Vidal MNC, Nakano K, Bartrons R, Gottlieb E, Vousden KH. TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. *Cell* 2006;126:107–20.
- 102. Suzuki S, Tanaka T, Poyurovsky MV, Nagano H, Mayama T, Ohkubo S, Lokshin M, Hosokawa H, Nakayama T, Suzuki Y, Sugano S, Sato E, et al. Phosphate-activated glutaminase (GLS2), a p53-inducible regulator of glutamine metabolism and reactive oxygen species. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2010;107:7461–6.
- 103. Tan M, Li S, Swaroop M, Guan K, Oberley LW, Sun Y. Transcriptional activation of the human glutathione peroxidase promoter by p53. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:12061–6.
- 104. Yoon K-A, Nakamura Y, Arakawa H. Identification of ALDH4 as a p53inducible gene and its protective role in cellular stresses. *J Hum Genet* 2004;49:134–40.
- 105. Budanov AV, Sablina AA, Feinstein E, Koonin EV, Chumakov PM. Regeneration of peroxiredoxins by p53-regulated sestrins, homologs of bacterial AhpD. *Science* 2004;304:596–600.
- 106. Jiang P, Du W, Wang X, Mancuso A, Gao X, Wu M, Yang X. p53 regulates biosynthesis through direct inactivation of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. *Nat Cell Biol* 2011;13:310–6.
- 107. Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. *Nature* 1997;387:296–9.
- 108. Kubbutat MH, Jones SN, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. *Nature* 1997;387:299–303.
- 109. Barak Y, Juven T, Haffner R, Oren M. mdm2 expression is induced by wild type p53 activity. *EMBO J* 1993;12:461–8.
- 110. Wu X, Bayle JH, Olson D, Levine AJ. The p53-mdm-2 autoregulatory feedback loop. *Genes Dev* 1993;7:1126–32.
- 111. Venot C, Maratrat M, Sierra V, Conseiller E, Debussche L. Definition of a p53 transactivation function-deficient mutant and characterization of two independent p53 transactivation subdomains. *Oncogene* 1999;18:2405–10.
- 112. Venot C, Maratrat M, Dureuil C, Conseiller E, Bracco L, Debussche L. The requirement for the p53 proline-rich functional domain for mediation of apoptosis is correlated with specific PIG3 gene transactivation and with transcriptional repression. *EMBO J* 1998;17:4668–79.
- 113. Chen J, Marechal V, Levine AJ. Mapping of the p53 and mdm-2 interaction domains. *Mol Cell Biol* 1993;13:4107–14.
- 114. Momand J, Zambetti GP, Olson DC, George D, Levine AJ. The mdm-2 oncogene product forms a complex with the p53 protein and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation. *Cell* 1992;69:1237–45.

- 115. Oliner JD, Pietenpol JA, Thiagalingam S, Gyuris J, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Oncoprotein MDM2 conceals the activation domain of tumour suppressor p53. *Nature* 1993;362:857–60.
- 116. Cho Y, Gorina S, Jeffrey PD, Pavletich NP. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science* 1994;265:346–55.
- 117. el-Deiry WS, Kern SE, Pietenpol JA, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Definition of a consensus binding site for p53. *Nat Genet* 1992;1:45–9.
- 118. Shaulsky G, Goldfinger N, Ben-Ze'ev A, Rotter V. Nuclear accumulation of p53 protein is mediated by several nuclear localization signals and plays a role in tumorigenesis. *Mol Cell Biol* 1990;10:6565–77.
- 119. Clore GM, Ernst J, Clubb R, Omichinski JG, Kennedy WM, Sakaguchi K, Appella E, Gronenborn AM. Refined solution structure of the oligomerization domain of the tumour suppressor p53. *Nat Struct Biol* 1995;2:321–33.
- 120. Stommel JM, Marchenko ND, Jimenez GS, Moll UM, Hope TJ, Wahl GM. A leucine-rich nuclear export signal in the p53 tetramerization domain: regulation of subcellular localization and p53 activity by NES masking. *EMBO J* 1999;18:1660–72.
- 121. Bourdon J-C, Fernandes K, Murray-Zmijewski F, Liu G, Diot A, Xirodimas DP, Saville MK, Lane DP. p53 isoforms can regulate p53 transcriptional activity. *Genes Dev* 2005;19:2122–37.
- 122. Marcel V, Vijayakumar V, Fernández-Cuesta L, Hafsi H, Sagne C, Hautefeuille A, Olivier M, Hainaut P. p53 regulates the transcription of its Delta133p53 isoform through specific response elements contained within the TP53 P2 internal promoter. *Oncogene* 2010;29:2691–700.
- 123. Aoubala M, Murray-Zmijewski F, Khoury MP, Fernandes K, Perrier S, Bernard H, Prats AC, Lane DP, Bourdon JC. p53 directly transactivates Δ133p53α, regulating cell fate outcome in response to DNA damage. *Cell Death Differ* 2011;18:248–58.
- Bernard H, Garmy-Susini B, Ainaoui N, Van Den Berghe L, Peurichard A, Javerzat S, Bikfalvi A, Lane DP, Bourdon JC, Prats AC. The p53 isoform, Δ133p53α, stimulates angiogenesis and tumour progression. Oncogene 2012;
- 125. Marcel V, Perrier S, Aoubala M, Ageorges S, Groves MJ, Diot A, Fernandes K, Tauro S, Bourdon J-C. Δ 160p53 is a novel N-terminal p53 isoform encoded by Δ 133p53 transcript. *FEBS Lett* 2010;584:4463–8.
- 126. Yin Y, Stephen CW, Luciani MG, Fåhraeus R. p53 Stability and activity is regulated by Mdm2-mediated induction of alternative p53 translation products. *Nat Cell Biol* 2002;4:462–7.
- 127. Ghosh A, Stewart D, Matlashewski G. Regulation of human p53 activity and cell localization by alternative splicing. *Mol Cell Biol* 2004;24:7987–97.
- 128. Murray-Zmijewski F, Lane DP, Bourdon JC. p53/p63/p73 isoforms: an orchestra of isoforms to harmonise cell differentiation and response to stress. *Cell Death Differ* 2006;13:962–72.

- 129. Hofstetter G, Berger A, Fiegl H, Slade N, Zorić A, Holzer B, Schuster E, Mobus VJ, Reimer D, Daxenbichler G, Marth C, Zeimet AG, et al. Alternative splicing of p53 and p73: the novel p53 splice variant p53delta is an independent prognostic marker in ovarian cancer. *Oncogene* 2010;29:1997– 2004.
- 130. Puente XS, Velasco G, Gutiérrez-Fernández A, Bertranpetit J, King M-C, López-Otín C. Comparative analysis of cancer genes in the human and chimpanzee genomes. *BMC Genomics* 2006;7:15.
- 131. Whibley C, Pharoah PDP, Hollstein M. p53 polymorphisms: cancer implications. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2009;9:95–107.
- 132. Mantovani F, Tocco F, Girardini J, Smith P, Gasco M, Lu X, Crook T, Del Sal G. The prolyl isomerase Pin1 orchestrates p53 acetylation and dissociation from the apoptosis inhibitor iASPP. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2007;14:912–20.
- 133. Bergamaschi D, Samuels Y, Sullivan A, Zvelebil M, Breyssens H, Bisso A, Del Sal G, Syed N, Smith P, Gasco M, Crook T, Lu X. iASPP preferentially binds p53 proline-rich region and modulates apoptotic function of codon 72-polymorphic p53. *Nat Genet* 2006;38:1133–41.
- 134. Marin MC, Jost CA, Brooks LA, Irwin MS, O'Nions J, Tidy JA, James N, McGregor JM, Harwood CA, Yulug IG, Vousden KH, Allday MJ, et al. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. *Nat Genet* 2000;25:47–54.
- 135. Honda R, Tanaka H, Yasuda H. Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. *FEBS Lett* 1997;420:25–7.
- 136. Kubbutat MH, Ludwig RL, Levine AJ, Vousden KH. Analysis of the degradation function of Mdm2. *Cell Growth Differ* 1999;10:87–92.
- 137. Jones SN, Roe AE, Donehower LA, Bradley A. Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm2-deficient mice by absence of p53. *Nature* 1995;378:206–8.
- 138. Montes de Oca Luna R, Wagner DS, Lozano G. Rescue of early embryonic lethality in mdm2-deficient mice by deletion of p53. *Nature* 1995;378:203–6.
- 139. Rodriguez MS, Desterro JM, Lain S, Lane DP, Hay RT. Multiple C-terminal lysine residues target p53 for ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated degradation. *Mol Cell Biol* 2000;20:8458–67.
- 140. Chan WM, Mak MC, Fung TK, Lau A, Siu WY, Poon RYC. Ubiquitination of p53 at multiple sites in the DNA-binding domain. *Mol Cancer Res* 2006;4:15–25.
- 141. Shloush J, Vlassov JE, Engson I, Duan S, Saridakis V, Dhe-Paganon S, Raught B, Sheng Y, Arrowsmith CH. Structural and functional comparison of the RING domains of two p53 E3 ligases, Mdm2 and Pirh2. *J Biol Chem* 2011;286:4796–808.
- 142. Handley PM, Mueckler M, Siegel NR, Ciechanover A, Schwartz AL. Molecular cloning, sequence, and tissue distribution of the human ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1991;88:258–62.
- Pelzer C, Kassner I, Matentzoglu K, Singh RK, Wollscheid H-P, Scheffner M, Schmidtke G, Groettrup M. UBE1L2, a novel E1 enzyme specific for ubiquitin. *J Biol Chem* 2007;282:23010–4.

- 144. van Wijk SJL, Timmers HTM. The family of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s): deciding between life and death of proteins. *FASEB J* 2010;24:981–93.
- 145. Saville MK, Sparks A, Xirodimas DP, Wardrop J, Stevenson LF, Bourdon J-C, Woods YL, Lane DP. Regulation of p53 by the ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes UbcH5B/C in vivo. *J Biol Chem* 2004;279:42169–81.
- 146. Tanimura S, Ohtsuka S, Mitsui K, Shirouzu K, Yoshimura A, Ohtsubo M. MDM2 interacts with MDMX through their RING finger domains. *FEBS Lett* 1999;447:5–9.
- 147. Badciong JC, Haas AL. MdmX is a RING finger ubiquitin ligase capable of synergistically enhancing Mdm2 ubiquitination. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:49668–75.
- 148. Linares LK, Hengstermann A, Ciechanover A, Muller S, Scheffner M. HdmX stimulates Hdm2-mediated ubiquitination and degradation of p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2003;100:12009–14.
- 149. Huang L, Yan Z, Liao X, Li Y, Yang J, Wang Z-G, Zuo Y, Kawai H, Shadfan M, Ganapathy S, Yuan Z-M. The p53 inhibitors MDM2/MDMX complex is required for control of p53 activity in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2011;108:12001–6.
- 150. Feng L, Lin T, Uranishi H, Gu W, Xu Y. Functional analysis of the roles of posttranslational modifications at the p53 C terminus in regulating p53 stability and activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 2005;25:5389–95.
- 151. Krummel KA, Lee CJ, Toledo F, Wahl GM. The C-terminal lysines fine-tune P53 stress responses in a mouse model but are not required for stability control or transactivation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005;102:10188–93.
- 152. Hochstrasser M. Lingering mysteries of ubiquitin-chain assembly. *Cell* 2006;124:27–34.
- 153. Lohrum MA, Woods DB, Ludwig RL, Balint E, Vousden KH. C-terminal ubiquitination of p53 contributes to nuclear export. *Mol Cell Biol* 2001;21:8521–32.
- 154. Thrower JS, Hoffman L, Rechsteiner M, Pickart CM. Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. *EMBO J* 2000;19:94–102.
- 155. Budhidarmo R, Nakatani Y, Day CL. RINGs hold the key to ubiquitin transfer. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2012;37:58–65.
- 156. Kostic M, Matt T, Martinez-Yamout MA, Dyson HJ, Wright PE. Solution structure of the Hdm2 C2H2C4 RING, a domain critical for ubiquitination of p53. *J Mol Biol* 2006;363:433–50.
- 157. Fang S, Jensen JP, Ludwig RL, Vousden KH, Weissman AM. Mdm2 is a RING finger-dependent ubiquitin protein ligase for itself and p53. *J Biol Chem* 2000;275:8945–51.
- 158. Itahana K, Mao H, Jin A, Itahana Y, Clegg HV, Lindström MS, Bhat KP, Godfrey VL, Evan GI, Zhang Y. Targeted inactivation of Mdm2 RING finger E3 ubiquitin ligase activity in the mouse reveals mechanistic insights into p53 regulation. *Cancer cell* 2007;12:355–66.
- 159. Yu GW, Allen MD, Andreeva A, Fersht AR, Bycroft M. Solution structure of the C4 zinc finger domain of HDM2. *Protein Sci* 2006;15:384–9.

- 160. Schlott T, Nagel H, Laskawi R, Eiffert H, Droese M. Genetic analysis of the human oncoprotein MDM2 in benign and malignant tumors of the salivary gland. *Pathobiology* 2001;69:67–76.
- 161. Schlott T, Reimer S, Jahns A, Ohlenbusch A, Ruschenburg I, Nagel H, Droese M. Point mutations and nucleotide insertions in the MDM2 zinc finger structure of human tumours. *Journal Pathol* 1997;182:54–61.
- 162. Lindström MS, Jin A, Deisenroth C, White Wolf G, Zhang Y. Cancerassociated mutations in the MDM2 zinc finger domain disrupt ribosomal protein interaction and attenuate MDM2-induced p53 degradation. *Mol Cell Biol* 2007;27:1056–68.
- 163. Kussie PH, Gorina S, Marechal V, Elenbaas B, Moreau J, Levine AJ, Pavletich NP. Structure of the MDM2 oncoprotein bound to the p53 tumor suppressor transactivation domain. *Science* 1996;274:948–53.
- 164. Freedman DA, Epstein CB, Roth JC, Levine AJ. A genetic approach to mapping the p53 binding site in the MDM2 protein. *Mol Med* 1997;3:248–59.
- 165. Fakharzadeh SS, Rosenblum-Vos L, Murphy M, Hoffman EK, George DL. Structure and organization of amplified DNA on double minutes containing the mdm2 oncogene. *Genomics* 1993;15:283–90.
- 166. Roth J, Dobbelstein M, Freedman DA, Shenk T, Levine AJ. Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of the hdm2 oncoprotein regulates the levels of the p53 protein via a pathway used by the human immunodeficiency virus rev protein. *EMBO J* 1998;17:554–64.
- 167. Geyer RK, Yu ZK, Maki CG. The MDM2 RING-finger domain is required to promote p53 nuclear export. *Nat Cell Biol* 2000;2:569–73.
- 168. Kawai H, Wiederschain D, Yuan Z-M. Critical contribution of the MDM2 acidic domain to p53 ubiquitination. *Mol Cell Biol* 2003;23:4939–47.
- 169. Meulmeester E, Frenk R, Stad R, de Graaf P, Marine J-C, Vousden KH, Jochemsen AG. Critical role for a central part of Mdm2 in the ubiquitylation of p53. *Mol Cell Biol* 2003;23:4929–38.
- 170. Kulikov R, Winter M, Blattner C. Binding of p53 to the central domain of Mdm2 is regulated by phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:28575–83.
- 171. Ma J, Martin JD, Zhang H, Auger KR, Ho TF, Kirkpatrick RB, Grooms MH, Johanson KO, Tummino PJ, Copeland RA, Lai Z. A second p53 binding site in the central domain of Mdm2 is essential for p53 ubiquitination. *Biochemistry* 2006;45:9238–45.
- 172. Wallace M, Worrall E, Pettersson S, Hupp TR, Ball KL. Dual-site regulation of MDM2 E3-ubiquitin ligase activity. *Mol Cell* 2006;23:251–63.
- 173. Sdek P, Ying H, Zheng H, Margulis A, Tang X, Tian K, Xiao Z-XJ. The central acidic domain of MDM2 is critical in inhibition of retinoblastoma-mediated suppression of E2F and cell growth. *J Biol Chem* 2004;279:53317–22.
- 174. Uldrijan S, Pannekoek W-J, Vousden KH. An essential function of the extreme C-terminus of MDM2 can be provided by MDMX. *EMBO J* 2007;26:102–12.
- 175. Poyurovsky MV, Priest C, Kentsis A, Borden KLB, Pan Z-Q, Pavletich N, Prives C. The Mdm2 RING domain C-terminus is required for supramolecular assembly and ubiquitin ligase activity. *EMBO J* 2007;26:90–101.
- 176. Linke K, Mace PD, Smith CA, Vaux DL, Silke J, Day CL. Structure of the MDM2/MDMX RING domain heterodimer reveals dimerization is required for their ubiquitylation in trans. *Cell Death Differ* 2008;15:841–8.
- 177. Parant J, Chavez-Reyes A, Little NA, Yan W, Reinke V, Jochemsen AG, Lozano G. Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm4-null mice by loss of Trp53 suggests a nonoverlapping pathway with MDM2 to regulate p53. *Nat Genet* 2001;29:92–5.
- 178. Migliorini D, Lazzerini Denchi E, Danovi D, Jochemsen A, Capillo M, Gobbi A, Helin K, Pelicci PG, Marine J-C. Mdm4 (Mdmx) regulates p53-induced growth arrest and neuronal cell death during early embryonic mouse development. *Mol Cell Biol* 2002;22:5527–38.
- 179. Wang YV, Wade M, Wong E, Li Y-C, Rodewald LW, Wahl GM. Quantitative analyses reveal the importance of regulated Hdmx degradation for p53 activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007;104:12365–70.
- 180. Kawai H, Lopez-Pajares V, Kim MM, Wiederschain D, Yuan Z-M. RING domain-mediated interaction is a requirement for MDM2's E3 ligase activity. *Cancer research* 2007;67:6026–30.
- Honda R, Yasuda H. Activity of MDM2, a ubiquitin ligase, toward p53 or itself is dependent on the RING finger domain of the ligase. *Oncogene* 2000;19:1473–6.
- 182. de Graaf P, Little NA, Ramos YFM, Meulmeester E, Letteboer SJF, Jochemsen AG. Hdmx protein stability is regulated by the ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2. *J Biol Chem* 2003;278:38315–24.
- 183. Pan Y, Chen J. MDM2 promotes ubiquitination and degradation of MDMX. *Mol Cell Biol* 2003;23:5113–21.
- 184. Siliciano JD, Canman CE, Taya Y, Sakaguchi K, Appella E, Kastan MB. DNA damage induces phosphorylation of the amino terminus of p53. *Genes Dev* 1997;11:3471–81.
- 185. Shieh SY, Ikeda M, Taya Y, Prives C. DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. *Cell* 1997;91:325–34.
- 186. Pomerantz J, Schreiber-Agus N, Liégeois NJ, Silverman A, Alland L, Chin L, Potes J, Chen K, Orlow I, Lee HW, Cordon-Cardo C, DePinho RA. The Ink4a tumor suppressor gene product, p19Arf, interacts with MDM2 and neutralizes MDM2's inhibition of p53. *Cell* 1998;92:713–23.
- 187. Zhang Y, Xiong Y, Yarbrough WG. ARF promotes MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tumor suppression pathways. *Cell* 1998;92:725–34.
- 188. Lohrum MAE, Ludwig RL, Kubbutat MHG, Hanlon M, Vousden KH. Regulation of HDM2 activity by the ribosomal protein L11. *Cancer cell* 2003;3:577–87.
- 189. Bakkenist CJ, Kastan MB. DNA damage activates ATM through intermolecular autophosphorylation and dimer dissociation. *Nature* 2003;421:499–506.
- 190. Banin S, Moyal L, Shieh S, Taya Y, Anderson CW, Chessa L, Smorodinsky NI, Prives C, Reiss Y, Shiloh Y, Ziv Y. Enhanced phosphorylation of p53 by ATM in response to DNA damage. *Science* 1998;281:1674–7.

- 191. Lees-Miller SP, Sakaguchi K, Ullrich SJ, Appella E, Anderson CW. Human DNA-activated protein kinase phosphorylates serines 15 and 37 in the amino-terminal transactivation domain of human p53. *Mol Cell Biol* 1992;12:5041–9.
- 192. Tibbetts RS, Brumbaugh KM, Williams JM, Sarkaria JN, Cliby WA, Shieh SY, Taya Y, Prives C, Abraham RT. A role for ATR in the DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53. *Genes Dev* 1999;13:152–7.
- 193. Matsuoka S, Rotman G, Ogawa A, Shiloh Y, Tamai K, Elledge SJ. Ataxia telangiectasia-mutated phosphorylates Chk2 in vivo and in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2000;97:10389–94.
- 194. Chehab NH, Malikzay A, Appel M, Halazonetis TD. Chk2/hCds1 functions as a DNA damage checkpoint in G(1) by stabilizing p53. *Genes Dev* 2000;14:278–88.
- 195. Hirao A, Kong YY, Matsuoka S, Wakeham A, Ruland J, Yoshida H, Liu D, Elledge SJ, Mak TW. DNA damage-induced activation of p53 by the checkpoint kinase Chk2. *Science* 2000;287:1824–7.
- 196. Liu Q, Guntuku S, Cui XS, Matsuoka S, Cortez D, Tamai K, Luo G, Carattini-Rivera S, DeMayo F, Bradley A, Donehower LA, Elledge SJ. Chk1 is an essential kinase that is regulated by Atr and required for the G(2)/M DNA damage checkpoint. *Genes Dev* 2000;14:1448–59.
- 197. Zhao H, Piwnica-Worms H. ATR-mediated checkpoint pathways regulate phosphorylation and activation of human Chk1. *Mol Cell Biol* 2001;21:4129–39.
- 198. Shieh SY, Ahn J, Tamai K, Taya Y, Prives C. The human homologs of checkpoint kinases Chk1 and Cds1 (Chk2) phosphorylate p53 at multiple DNA damage-inducible sites. *Genes Dev* 2000;14:289–300.
- 199. Dumaz N, Milne DM, Meek DW. Protein kinase CK1 is a p53-threonine 18 kinase which requires prior phosphorylation of serine 15. *FEBS Lett* 1999;463:312–6.
- 200. Takagi M, Absalon MJ, McLure KG, Kastan MB. Regulation of p53 translation and induction after DNA damage by ribosomal protein L26 and nucleolin. *Cell* 2005;123:49–63.
- 201. Shinozaki T, Nota A, Taya Y, Okamoto K. Functional role of Mdm2 phosphorylation by ATR in attenuation of p53 nuclear export. *Oncogene* 2003;22:8870–80.
- 202. Khosravi R, Maya R, Gottlieb T, Oren M, Shiloh Y, Shkedy D. Rapid ATMdependent phosphorylation of MDM2 precedes p53 accumulation in response to DNA damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1999;96:14973–7.
- 203. Maya R, Balass M, Kim ST, Shkedy D, Leal JF, Shifman O, Moas M, Buschmann T, Ronai Z, Shiloh Y, Kastan MB, Katzir E, et al. ATM-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 on serine 395: role in p53 activation by DNA damage. *Genes Dev* 2001;15:1067–77.
- 204. Gajjar M, Candeias MM, Malbert-Colas L, Mazars A, Fujita J, Olivares-Illana V, Fåhraeus R. The p53 mRNA-Mdm2 interaction controls Mdm2 nuclear trafficking and is required for p53 activation following DNA damage. *Cancer cell* 2012;21:25–35.
- 205. Cheng Q, Chen L, Li Z, Lane WS, Chen J. ATM activates p53 by regulating MDM2 oligomerization and E3 processivity. *EMBO J* 2009;28:3857–67.

- 206. Baskaran R, Wood LD, Whitaker LL, Canman CE, Morgan SE, Xu Y, Barlow C, Baltimore D, Wynshaw-Boris A, Kastan MB, Wang JY. Ataxia telangiectasia mutant protein activates c-Abl tyrosine kinase in response to ionizing radiation. *Nature* 1997;387:516–9.
- 207. Shafman T, Khanna KK, Kedar P, Spring K, Kozlov S, Yen T, Hobson K, Gatei M, Zhang N, Watters D, Egerton M, Shiloh Y, et al. Interaction between ATM protein and c-Abl in response to DNA damage. *Nature* 1997;387:520– 3.
- 208. Goldberg Z, Vogt Sionov R, Berger M, Zwang Y, Perets R, Van Etten RA, Oren M, Taya Y, Haupt Y. Tyrosine phosphorylation of Mdm2 by c-Abl: implications for p53 regulation. *EMBO J* 2002;21:3715–27.
- 209. Quelle DE, Zindy F, Ashmun RA, Sherr CJ. Alternative reading frames of the INK4a tumor suppressor gene encode two unrelated proteins capable of inducing cell cycle arrest. *Cell* 1995;83:993–1000.
- 210. Bothner B, Lewis WS, DiGiammarino EL, Weber JD, Bothner SJ, Kriwacki RW. Defining the molecular basis of Arf and Hdm2 interactions. *J Mol Biol* 2001;314:263–77.
- 211. Kamijo T, Weber JD, Zambetti G, Zindy F, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ. Functional and physical interactions of the ARF tumor suppressor with p53 and Mdm2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1998;95:8292–7.
- 212. Honda R, Yasuda H. Association of p19(ARF) with Mdm2 inhibits ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 for tumor suppressor p53. *EMBO J* 1999;18:22–7.
- 213. Lohrum MA, Ashcroft M, Kubbutat MH, Vousden KH. Contribution of two independent MDM2-binding domains in p14(ARF) to p53 stabilization. *Curr Biol* 2000;10:539–42.
- 214. Lohrum MA, Ashcroft M, Kubbutat MH, Vousden KH. Identification of a cryptic nucleolar-localization signal in MDM2. *Nat Cell Biol* 2000;2:179–81.
- 215. Weber JD, Taylor LJ, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ, Bar-Sagi D. Nucleolar Arf sequesters Mdm2 and activates p53. *Nat Cell Biol* 1999;1:20–6.
- 216. de Stanchina E, McCurrach ME, Zindy F, Shieh SY, Ferbeyre G, Samuelson AV, Prives C, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ, Lowe SW. E1A signaling to p53 involves the p19(ARF) tumor suppressor. *Genes Dev* 1998;12:2434–42.
- 217. Zindy F, Eischen CM, Randle DH, Kamijo T, Cleveland JL, Sherr CJ, Roussel MF. Myc signaling via the ARF tumor suppressor regulates p53-dependent apoptosis and immortalization. *Genes Dev* 1998;12:2424–33.
- 218. Palmero I, Pantoja C, Serrano M. p19ARF links the tumour suppressor p53 to Ras. *Nature* 1998;395:125–6.
- 219. Kamijo T, Bodner S, van de Kamp E, Randle DH, Sherr CJ. Tumor spectrum in ARF-deficient mice. *Cancer research* 1999;59:2217–22.
- 220. Zhang Y, Wolf GW, Bhat K, Jin A, Allio T, Burkhart WA, Xiong Y. Ribosomal protein L11 negatively regulates oncoprotein MDM2 and mediates a p53-dependent ribosomal-stress checkpoint pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* 2003;23:8902–12.
- 221. Dai M-S, Zeng SX, Jin Y, Sun X-X, David L, Lu H. Ribosomal protein L23 activates p53 by inhibiting MDM2 function in response to ribosomal perturbation but not to translation inhibition. *Mol Cell Biol* 2004;24:7654–68.

- 222. Jin A, Itahana K, O'Keefe K, Zhang Y. Inhibition of HDM2 and activation of p53 by ribosomal protein L23. *Mol Cell Biol* 2004;24:7669–80.
- 223. Marechal V, Elenbaas B, Piette J, Nicolas JC, Levine AJ. The ribosomal L5 protein is associated with mdm-2 and mdm-2-p53 complexes. *Mol Cell Biol* 1994;14:7414–20.
- 224. Horn HF, Vousden KH. Cooperation between the ribosomal proteins L5 and L11 in the p53 pathway. *Oncogene* 2008;27:5774–84.
- 225. Chen D, Zhang Z, Li M, Wang W, Li Y, Rayburn ER, Hill DL, Wang H, Zhang R. Ribosomal protein S7 as a novel modulator of p53-MDM2 interaction: binding to MDM2, stabilization of p53 protein, and activation of p53 function. *Oncogene* 2007;26:5029–37.
- 226. Zhu Y, Poyurovsky MV, Li Y, Biderman L, Stahl J, Jacq X, Prives C. Ribosomal protein S7 is both a regulator and a substrate of MDM2. *Mol Cell* 2009;35:316–26.
- 227. Macias E, Jin A, Deisenroth C, Bhat K, Mao H, Lindström MS, Zhang Y. An ARF-independent c-MYC-activated tumor suppression pathway mediated by ribosomal protein-Mdm2 Interaction. *Cancer cell* 2010;18:231–43.
- 228. Imamura K, Ogura T, Kishimoto A, Kaminishi M, Esumi H. Cell cycle regulation via p53 phosphorylation by a 5'-AMP activated protein kinase activator, 5-aminoimidazole- 4-carboxamide-1-beta-D-ribofuranoside, in a human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2001;287:562–7.
- 229. Jones RG, Plas DR, Kubek S, Buzzai M, Mu J, Xu Y, Birnbaum MJ, Thompson CB. AMP-activated protein kinase induces a p53-dependent metabolic checkpoint. *Mol Cell* 2005;18:283–93.
- 230. Alarcon R, Koumenis C, Geyer RK, Maki CG, Giaccia AJ. Hypoxia induces p53 accumulation through MDM2 down-regulation and inhibition of E6-mediated degradation. *Cancer research* 1999;59:6046–51.
- 231. Koumenis C, Alarcon R, Hammond E, Sutphin P, Hoffman W, Murphy M, Derr J, Taya Y, Lowe SW, Kastan M, Giaccia A. Regulation of p53 by hypoxia: dissociation of transcriptional repression and apoptosis from p53-dependent transactivation. *Mol Cell Biol* 2001;21:1297–310.
- 232. Hammond EM, Denko NC, Dorie MJ, Abraham RT, Giaccia AJ. Hypoxia links ATR and p53 through replication arrest. *Mol Cell Biol* 2002;22:1834–43.
- 233. Weinberg RL, Veprintsev DB, Bycroft M, Fersht AR. Comparative binding of p53 to its promoter and DNA recognition elements. *J Mol Biol* 2005;348:589–96.
- 234. Allfrey VG, Faulkner R, Mirsky AE. Acetylation and methylation of Histones and their possible role in the regulation of RNA synthesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1964;51:786–94.
- 235. Espinosa JM, Emerson BM. Transcriptional regulation by p53 through intrinsic DNA/chromatin binding and site-directed cofactor recruitment. *Mol Cell* 2001;8:57–69.
- 236. Gamper AM, Roeder RG. Multivalent binding of p53 to the STAGA complex mediates coactivator recruitment after UV damage. *Mol Cell Biol* 2008;28:2517–27.

- 237. Murphy M, Ahn J, Walker KK, Hoffman WH, Evans RM, Levine AJ, George DL. Transcriptional repression by wild-type p53 utilizes Histone deacetylases, mediated by interaction with mSin3a. *Genes Dev* 1999;13:2490–501.
- 238. Ho JSL, Ma W, Mao DYL, Benchimol S. p53-Dependent transcriptional repression of c-myc is required for G1 cell cycle arrest. *Mol Cell Biol* 2005;25:7423–31.
- 239. Hoffman WH, Biade S, Zilfou JT, Chen J, Murphy M. Transcriptional repression of the anti-apoptotic survivin gene by wild type p53. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:3247–57.
- 240. Imbriano C, Gurtner A, Cocchiarella F, Di Agostino S, Basile V, Gostissa M, Dobbelstein M, Del Sal G, Piaggio G, Mantovani R. Direct p53 transcriptional repression: in vivo analysis of CCAAT-containing G2/M promoters. *Mol Cell Biol* 2005;25:3737–51.
- 241. Samuels-Lev Y, O'Connor DJ, Bergamaschi D, Trigiante G, Hsieh JK, Zhong S, Campargue I, Naumovski L, Crook T, Lu X. ASPP proteins specifically stimulate the apoptotic function of p53. *Mol Cell* 2001;8:781–94.
- 242. Bergamaschi D, Samuels Y, O'Neil NJ, Trigiante G, Crook T, Hsieh J-K, O'Connor DJ, Zhong S, Campargue I, Tomlinson ML, Kuwabara PE, Lu X. iASPP oncoprotein is a key inhibitor of p53 conserved from worm to human. *Nat Genet* 2003;33:162–7.
- 243. Das S, Raj L, Zhao B, Kimura Y, Bernstein A, Aaronson SA, Lee SW. Hzf Determines cell survival upon genotoxic stress by modulating p53 transactivation. *Cell* 2007;130:624–37.
- 244. Perez-Sanchez C, Budhram-Mahadeo VS, Latchman DS. Distinct promoter elements mediate the co-operative effect of Brn-3a and p53 on the p21 promoter and their antagonism on the Bax promoter. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2002;30:4872–80.
- 245. Budhram-Mahadeo VS, Bowen S, Lee S, Perez-Sanchez C, Ensor E, Morris PJ, Latchman DS. Brn-3b enhances the pro-apoptotic effects of p53 but not its induction of cell cycle arrest by cooperating in trans-activation of bax expression. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2006;34:6640–52.
- 246. Zheng H, You H, Zhou XZ, Murray SA, Uchida T, Wulf G, Gu L, Tang X, Lu KP, Xiao Z-XJ. The prolyl isomerase Pin1 is a regulator of p53 in genotoxic response. *Nature* 2002;419:849–53.
- Murray-Zmijewski F, Slee EA, Lu X. A complex barcode underlies the heterogeneous response of p53 to stress. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2008;9:702– 12.
- 248. Bischoff JR, Friedman PN, Marshak DR, Prives C, Beach D. Human p53 is phosphorylated by p60-cdc2 and cyclin B-cdc2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1990;87:4766–70.
- 249. Oda K, Arakawa H, Tanaka T, Matsuda K, Tanikawa C, Mori T, Nishimori H, Tamai K, Tokino T, Nakamura Y, Taya Y. p53AIP1, a potential mediator of p53-dependent apoptosis, and its regulation by Ser-46-phosphorylated p53. *Cell* 2000;102:849–62.
- 250. D'Orazi G, Cecchinelli B, Bruno T, Manni I, Higashimoto Y, Saito S, Gostissa M, Coen S, Marchetti A, Del Sal G, Piaggio G, Fanciulli M, et al. Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase-2 phosphorylates p53 at Ser 46 and mediates apoptosis. *Nat Cell Biol* 2002;4:11–9.

- 251. Rinaldo C, Prodosmo A, Mancini F, Iacovelli S, Sacchi A, Moretti F, Soddu S. MDM2-regulated degradation of HIPK2 prevents p53Ser46 phosphorylation and DNA damage-induced apoptosis. *Mol Cell* 2007;25:739–50.
- 252. Taira N, Nihira K, Yamaguchi T, Miki Y, Yoshida K. DYRK2 is targeted to the nucleus and controls p53 via Ser46 phosphorylation in the apoptotic response to DNA damage. *Mol Cell* 2007;25:725–38.
- 253. Okoshi R, Ozaki T, Yamamoto H, Ando K, Koida N, Ono S, Koda T, Kamijo T, Nakagawara A, Kizaki H. Activation of AMP-activated protein kinase induces p53-dependent apoptotic cell death in response to energetic stress. *J Biol Chem* 2008;283:3979–87.
- 254. Price BD, Hughes-Davies L, Park SJ. Cdk2 kinase phosphorylates serine 315 of human p53 in vitro. *Oncogene* 1995;11:73–80.
- 255. Addison C, Jenkins JR, Stürzbecher HW. The p53 nuclear localisation signal is structurally linked to a p34cdc2 kinase motif. *Oncogene* 1990;5:423–6.
- 256. Keller DM, Zeng X, Wang Y, Zhang QH, Kapoor M, Shu H, Goodman R, Lozano G, Zhao Y, Lu H. A DNA damage-induced p53 serine 392 kinase complex contains CK2, hSpt16, and SSRP1. *Mol Cell* 2001;7:283–92.
- 257. Sakaguchi K, Sakamoto H, Lewis MS, Anderson CW, Erickson JW, Appella E, Xie D. Phosphorylation of serine 392 stabilizes the tetramer formation of tumor suppressor protein p53. *Biochemistry* 1997;36:10117–24.
- 258. Ou Y-H, Chung P-H, Sun T-P, Shieh S-Y. p53 C-terminal phosphorylation by CHK1 and CHK2 participates in the regulation of DNA-damage-induced C-terminal acetylation. *Mol Biol Cell* 2005;16:1684–95.
- 259. Bech-Otschir D, Kraft R, Huang X, Henklein P, Kapelari B, Pollmann C, Dubiel W. COP9 signalosome-specific phosphorylation targets p53 to degradation by the ubiquitin system. *EMBO J* 2001;20:1630–9.
- 260. Gu W, Roeder RG. Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA binding by acetylation of the p53 C-terminal domain. *Cell* 1997;90:595–606.
- 261. Li M, Luo J, Brooks CL, Gu W. Acetylation of p53 inhibits its ubiquitination by Mdm2. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:50607–11.
- 262. Lill NL, Grossman SR, Ginsberg D, DeCaprio J, Livingston DM. Binding and modulation of p53 by p300/CBP coactivators. *Nature* 1997;387:823–7.
- Scolnick DM, Chehab NH, Stavridi ES, Lien MC, Caruso L, Moran E, Berger SL, Halazonetis TD. CREB-binding protein and p300/CBP-associated factor are transcriptional coactivators of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. *Cancer research* 1997;57:3693–6.
- 264. Lambert PF, Kashanchi F, Radonovich MF, Shiekhattar R, Brady JN. Phosphorylation of p53 serine 15 increases interaction with CBP. *J Biol Chem* 1998;273:33048–53.
- 265. Ito A, Lai CH, Zhao X, Saito S, Hamilton MH, Appella E, Yao TP. p300/CBPmediated p53 acetylation is commonly induced by p53-activating agents and inhibited by MDM2. *EMBO J* 2001;20:1331–40.
- 266. Joubel A, Chalkley RJ, Medzihradszky KF, Hondermarck H, Burlingame AL. Identification of new p53 acetylation sites in COS-1 cells. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2009;8:1167–73.

- 267. Sakaguchi K, Herrera JE, Saito S, Miki T, Bustin M, Vassilev A, Anderson CW, Appella E. DNA damage activates p53 through a phosphorylationacetylation cascade. *Genes Dev* 1998;12:2831–41.
- 268. Liu L, Scolnick DM, Trievel RC, Zhang HB, Marmorstein R, Halazonetis TD, Berger SL. p53 sites acetylated in vitro by PCAF and p300 are acetylated in vivo in response to DNA damage. *Mol Cell Biol* 1999;19:1202–9.
- 269. Kobet E, Zeng X, Zhu Y, Keller D, Lu H. MDM2 inhibits p300-mediated p53 acetylation and activation by forming a ternary complex with the two proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2000;97:12547–52.
- 270. Jin Y, Zeng SX, Lee H, Lu H. MDM2 mediates p300/CREB-binding proteinassociated factor ubiquitination and degradation. *J Biol Chem* 2004;279:20035–43.
- 271. Ito A, Kawaguchi Y, Lai C-H, Kovacs JJ, Higashimoto Y, Appella E, Yao T-P. MDM2-HDAC1-mediated deacetylation of p53 is required for its degradation. *EMBO J* 2002;21:6236–45.
- 272. Tang Y, Zhao W, Chen Y, Zhao Y, Gu W. Acetylation is indispensable for p53 activation. *Cell* 2008;133:612–26.
- 273. Tang Y, Luo J, Zhang W, Gu W. Tip60-dependent acetylation of p53 modulates the decision between cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis. *Mol Cell* 2006;24:827–39.
- 274. Sykes SM, Mellert HS, Holbert MA, Li K, Marmorstein R, Lane WS, McMahon SB. Acetylation of the p53 DNA-binding domain regulates apoptosis induction. *Mol Cell* 2006;24:841–51.
- 275. Wright JD, Noskov SY, Lim C. Factors governing loss and rescue of DNA binding upon single and double mutations in the p53 core domain. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2002;30:1563–74.
- 276. Huang J, Perez-Burgos L, Placek BJ, Sengupta R, Richter M, Dorsey JA, Kubicek S, Opravil S, Jenuwein T, Berger SL. Repression of p53 activity by Smyd2-mediated methylation. *Nature* 2006;444:629–32.
- 277. Chuikov S, Kurash JK, Wilson JR, Xiao B, Justin N, Ivanov GS, McKinney K, Tempst P, Prives C, Gamblin SJ, Barlev NA, Reinberg D. Regulation of p53 activity through lysine methylation. *Nature* 2004;432:353–60.
- 278. Shi X, Kachirskaia I, Yamaguchi H, West LE, Wen H, Wang EW, Dutta S, Appella E, Gozani O. Modulation of p53 function by SET8-mediated methylation at lysine 382. *Mol Cell* 2007;27:636–46.
- 279. Jansson M, Durant ST, Cho E-C, Sheahan S, Edelmann M, Kessler B, La Thangue NB. Arginine methylation regulates the p53 response. *Nat Cell Biol* 2008;10:1431–9.
- 280. Groll M, Ditzel L, Löwe J, Stock D, Bochtler M, Bartunik HD, Huber R. Structure of 20S proteasome from yeast at 2.4 A resolution. *Nature* 1997;386:463–71.
- 281. Hanna J, Finley D. A proteasome for all occasions. *FEBS Lett* 2007;581:2854–61.

- 282. Kim HT, Kim KP, Lledias F, Kisselev AF, Scaglione KM, Skowyra D, Gygi SP, Goldberg AL. Certain pairs of ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2s) and ubiquitin-protein ligases (E3s) synthesize nondegradable forked ubiquitin chains containing all possible isopeptide linkages. *J Biol Chem* 2007;282:17375–86.
- 283. David Y, Ternette N, Edelmann MJ, Ziv T, Gayer B, Sertchook R, Dadon Y, Kessler BM, Navon A. E3 ligases determine ubiquitination site and conjugate type by enforcing specificity on E2 enzymes. *J Biol Chem* 2011;286:44104–15.
- 284. Jacobson AD, Zhang N-Y, Xu P, Han K-J, Noone S, Peng J, Liu C-W. The lysine 48 and lysine 63 ubiquitin conjugates are processed differently by the 26 s proteasome. *J Biol Chem* 2009;284:35485–94.
- 285. Matsumoto ML, Wickliffe KE, Dong KC, Yu C, Bosanac I, Bustos D, Phu L, Kirkpatrick DS, Hymowitz SG, Rape M, Kelley RF, Dixit VM. K11-linked polyubiquitination in cell cycle control revealed by a K11 linkage-specific antibody. *Mol Cell* 2010;39:477–84.
- 286. Boname JM, Thomas M, Stagg HR, Xu P, Peng J, Lehner PJ. Efficient internalization of MHC I requires lysine-11 and lysine-63 mixed linkage polyubiquitin chains. *Traffic* 2010;11:210–20.
- 287. Kirisako T, Kamei K, Murata S, Kato M, Fukumoto H, Kanie M, Sano S, Tokunaga F, Tanaka K, Iwai K. A ubiquitin ligase complex assembles linear polyubiquitin chains. *EMBO J* 2006;25:4877–87.
- 288. Rahighi S, Ikeda F, Kawasaki M, Akutsu M, Suzuki N, Kato R, Kensche T, Uejima T, Bloor S, Komander D, Randow F, Wakatsuki S, et al. Specific recognition of linear ubiquitin chains by NEMO is important for NF-kappaB activation. *Cell* 2009;136:1098–109.
- 289. Kulikov R, Letienne J, Kaur M, Grossman SR, Arts J, Blattner C. Mdm2 facilitates the association of p53 with the proteasome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2010;107:10038–43.
- 290. Crook T, Tidy JA, Vousden KH. Degradation of p53 can be targeted by HPV E6 sequences distinct from those required for p53 binding and transactivation. *Cell* 1991;67:547–56.
- 291. Scheffner M, Werness BA, Huibregtse JM, Levine AJ, Howley PM. The E6 oncoprotein encoded by human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 promotes the degradation of p53. *Cell* 1990;63:1129–36.
- 292. Scheffner M, Huibregtse JM, Vierstra RD, Howley PM. The HPV-16 E6 and E6-AP complex functions as a ubiquitin-protein ligase in the ubiquitination of p53. *Cell* 1993;75:495–505.
- 293. Steegenga WT, Riteco N, Jochemsen AG, Fallaux FJ, Bos JL. The large E1B protein together with the E4orf6 protein target p53 for active degradation in adenovirus infected cells. *Oncogene* 1998;16:349–57.
- 294. Querido E, Blanchette P, Yan Q, Kamura T, Morrison M, Boivin D, Kaelin WG, Conaway RC, Conaway JW, Branton PE. Degradation of p53 by adenovirus E4orf6 and E1B55K proteins occurs via a novel mechanism involving a Cullin-containing complex. *Genes Dev* 2001;15:3104–17.
- 295. Mietz JA, Unger T, Huibregtse JM, Howley PM. The transcriptional transactivation function of wild-type p53 is inhibited by SV40 large T-antigen and by HPV-16 E6 oncoprotein. *EMBO J* 1992;11:5013–20.

- 296. Jiang D, Srinivasan A, Lozano G, Robbins PD. SV40 T antigen abrogates p53-mediated transcriptional activity. *Oncogene* 1993;8:2805–12.
- 297. Segawa K, Minowa A, Sugasawa K, Takano T, Hanaoka F. Abrogation of p53-mediated transactivation by SV40 large T antigen. *Oncogene* 1993;8:543–8.
- 298. Lane DP, Crawford LV. T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40transformed cells. *Nature* 1979;278:261–3.
- 299. Linzer DI, Levine AJ. Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. *Cell* 1979;17:43–52.
- 300. Leng RP, Lin Y, Ma W, Wu H, Lemmers B, Chung S, Parant JM, Lozano G, Hakem R, Benchimol S. Pirh2, a p53-induced ubiquitin-protein ligase, promotes p53 degradation. *Cell* 2003;112:779–91.
- 301. Dornan D, Wertz I, Shimizu H, Arnott D, Frantz GD, Dowd P, O'Rourke K, Koeppen H, Dixit VM. The ubiquitin ligase COP1 is a critical negative regulator of p53. *Nature* 2004;429:86–92.
- 302. Rajendra R, Malegaonkar D, Pungaliya P, Marshall H, Rasheed Z, Brownell J, Liu LF, Lutzker S, Saleem A, Rubin EH. Topors functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase with specific E2 enzymes and ubiquitinates p53. J Biol Chem 2004;279:36440–4.
- 303. Chen D, Kon N, Li M, Zhang W, Qin J, Gu W. ARF-BP1/Mule is a critical mediator of the ARF tumor suppressor. *Cell* 2005;121:1071–83.
- 304. Yang W, El-Deiry WS. CARPs are E3 ligases that target apical caspases and p53. *Cancer Biol Ther* 2007;6:1676–83.
- 305. Bai L, Wang X, Jin F, Yang Y, Qian G, Duan C. UHRF2, another E3 ubiquitin ligase for p53. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2012;
- 306. Asher G, Shaul Y. p53 proteasomal degradation: poly-ubiquitination is not the whole story. *Cell Cycle* 2005;4:1015–8.
- 307. Asher G, Tsvetkov P, Kahana C, Shaul Y. A mechanism of ubiquitinindependent proteasomal degradation of the tumor suppressors p53 and p73. *Genes Dev* 2005;19:316–21.
- 308. Andrews P, He YJ, Xiong Y. Cytoplasmic localized ubiquitin ligase cullin 7 binds to p53 and promotes cell growth by antagonizing p53 function. *Oncogene* 2006;25:4534–48.
- 309. Laine A, Ronai Z. Regulation of p53 localization and transcription by the HECT domain E3 ligase WWP1. *Oncogene* 2007;26:1477–83.
- 310. Le Cam L, Linares LK, Paul C, Julien E, Lacroix M, Hatchi E, Triboulet R, Bossis G, Shmueli A, Rodriguez MS, Coux O, Sardet C. E4F1 is an atypical ubiquitin ligase that modulates p53 effector functions independently of degradation. *Cell* 2006;127:775–88.
- 311. Jung JH, Bae S, Lee JY, Woo SR, Cha HJ, Yoon Y, Suh K-S, Lee S-J, Park I-C, Jin Y-W, Lee K-H, An S, et al. E3 ubiquitin ligase Hades negatively regulates the exonuclear function of p53. *Cell Death Differ* 2011;18:1865–75.
- 312. Li M, Chen D, Shiloh A, Luo J, Nikolaev AY, Qin J, Gu W. Deubiquitination of p53 by HAUSP is an important pathway for p53 stabilization. *Nature* 2002;416:648–53.

- 313. Cummins JM, Rago C, Kohli M, Kinzler KW, Lengauer C, Vogelstein B. Tumour suppression: disruption of HAUSP gene stabilizes p53. *Nature* 2004;428:1pfollowing486.
- 314. Li M, Brooks CL, Kon N, Gu W. A dynamic role of HAUSP in the p53-Mdm2 pathway. *Mol Cell* 2004;13:879–86.
- 315. Hock AK, Vigneron AM, Carter S, Ludwig RL, Vousden KH. Regulation of p53 stability and function by the deubiquitinating enzyme USP42. *EMBO J* 2011;30:4921–30.
- 316. Vijay-Kumar S, Bugg CE, Wilkinson KD, Vierstra RD, Hatfield PM, Cook WJ. Comparison of the three-dimensional structures of human, yeast, and oat ubiquitin. *J Biol Chem* 1987;262:6396–9.
- 317. Whitby FG, Xia G, Pickart CM, Hill CP. Crystal structure of the human ubiquitin-like protein NEDD8 and interactions with ubiquitin pathway enzymes. *J Biol Chem* 1998;273:34983–91.
- 318. Xirodimas DP, Saville MK, Bourdon J-C, Hay RT, Lane DP. Mdm2-mediated NEDD8 conjugation of p53 inhibits its transcriptional activity. *Cell* 2004;118:83–97.
- 319. Abida WM, Nikolaev A, Zhao W, Zhang W, Gu W. FBXO11 promotes the Neddylation of p53 and inhibits its transcriptional activity. *J Biol Chem* 2007;282:1797–804.
- 320. Shen LN, Liu H, Dong C, Xirodimas D, Naismith JH, Hay RT. Structural basis of NEDD8 ubiquitin discrimination by the deNEDDylating enzyme NEDP1. *EMBO J* 2005;24:1341–51.
- 321. Bayer P, Arndt A, Metzger S, Mahajan R, Melchior F, Jaenicke R, Becker J. Structure determination of the small ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO-1. *J Mol Biol* 1998;280:275–86.
- 322. Huang W-C, Ko T-P, Li SS-L, Wang AH-J. Crystal structures of the human SUMO-2 protein at 1.6 A and 1.2 A resolution: implication on the functional differences of SUMO proteins. *Eur J Biochem* 2004;271:4114–22.
- 323. Melchior F. SUMO--nonclassical ubiquitin. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 2000;16:591–626.
- 324. Gill G. SUMO and ubiquitin in the nucleus: different functions, similar mechanisms? *Genes Dev* 2004;18:2046–59.
- 325. Meluh PB, Koshland D. Evidence that the MIF2 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae encodes a centromere protein with homology to the mammalian centromere protein CENP-C. *Mol Biol Cell* 1995;6:793–807.
- 326. Mannen H, Tseng HM, Cho CL, Li SS. Cloning and expression of human homolog HSMT3 to yeast SMT3 suppressor of MIF2 mutations in a centromere protein gene. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1996;222:178–80.
- 327. Desterro JM, Rodriguez MS, Kemp GD, Hay RT. Identification of the enzyme required for activation of the small ubiquitin-like protein SUMO-1. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:10618–24.
- 328. Desterro JMP, Thomson J, Hay RT. Ubch9 conjugates SUMO but not ubiquitin. *FEBS Lett* 1997;417:297–300.

- 329. Bohren KM, Nadkarni V, Song JH, Gabbay KH, Owerbach D. A M55V polymorphism in a novel SUMO gene (SUMO-4) differentially activates heat shock transcription factors and is associated with susceptibility to type I diabetes mellitus. *J Biol Chem* 2004;279:27233–8.
- 330. Owerbach D, McKay EM, Yeh ETH, Gabbay KH, Bohren KM. A proline-90 residue unique to SUMO-4 prevents maturation and sumoylation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2005;337:517–20.
- 331. Rodriguez MS, Dargemont C, Hay RT. SUMO-1 conjugation in vivo requires both a consensus modification motif and nuclear targeting. *J Biol Chem* 2001;276:12654–9.
- 332. Bernier-Villamor V, Sampson DA, Matunis MJ, Lima CD. Structural basis for E2-mediated SUMO conjugation revealed by a complex between ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Ubc9 and RanGAP1. *Cell* 2002;108:345–56.
- 333. Pichler A, Gast A, Seeler JS, Dejean A, Melchior F. The nucleoporin RanBP2 has SUMO1 E3 ligase activity. *Cell* 2002;108:109–20.
- 334. Pichler A, Knipscheer P, Saitoh H, Sixma TK, Melchior F. The RanBP2 SUMO
 E3 ligase is neither HECT- nor RING-type. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2004;11:984– 91.
- 335. Sampson DA, Wang M, Matunis MJ. The small ubiquitin-like modifier-1 (SUMO-1) consensus sequence mediates Ubc9 binding and is essential for SUMO-1 modification. *J Biol Chem* 2001;276:21664–9.
- 336. Knipscheer P, Flotho A, Klug H, Olsen JV, van Dijk WJ, Fish A, Johnson ES, Mann M, Sixma TK, Pichler A. Ubc9 sumoylation regulates SUMO target discrimination. *Mol Cell* 2008;31:371–82.
- 337. Hay RT. SUMO-specific proteases: a twist in the tail. *Trends Cell Biol* 2007;17:370–6.
- 338. Hang J, Dasso M. Association of the human SUMO-1 protease SENP2 with the nuclear pore. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:19961–6.
- 339. Shen L, Tatham MH, Dong C, Zagórska A, Naismith JH, Hay RT. SUMO protease SENP1 induces isomerization of the scissile peptide bond. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2006;13:1069–77.
- 340. Shen LN, Dong C, Liu H, Naismith JH, Hay RT. The structure of SENP1-SUMO-2 complex suggests a structural basis for discrimination between SUMO paralogues during processing. *Biochem J* 2006;397:279–88.
- 341. Di Bacco A, Ouyang J, Lee H-Y, Catic A, Ploegh H, Gill G. The SUMOspecific protease SENP5 is required for cell division. *Mol Cell Biol* 2006;26:4489–98.
- 342. Gong L, Yeh ETH. Characterization of a family of nucleolar SUMO-specific proteases with preference for SUMO-2 or SUMO-3. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:15869–77.
- 343. Mukhopadhyay D, Ayaydin F, Kolli N, Tan S-H, Anan T, Kametaka A, Azuma Y, Wilkinson KD, Dasso M. SUSP1 antagonizes formation of highly SUMO2/3-conjugated species. *J Cell Biol* 2006;174:939–49.
- 344. Lima CD, Reverter D. Structure of the human SENP7 catalytic domain and poly-SUMO deconjugation activities for SENP6 and SENP7. *J Biol Chem* 2008;283:32045–55.

- 345. Shen LN, Geoffroy M-C, Jaffray EG, Hay RT. Characterization of SENP7, a SUMO-2/3-specific isopeptidase. *Biochem J* 2009;421:223–30.
- 346. Hattersley N, Shen L, Jaffray EG, Hay RT. The SUMO protease SENP6 is a direct regulator of PML nuclear bodies. *Mol Biol Cell* 2011;22:78–90.
- 347. Shin EJ, Shin HM, Nam E, Kim WS, Kim J-H, Oh B-H, Yun Y. DeSUMOylating isopeptidase: a second class of SUMO protease. *EMBO Rep* 2012;13:339–46.
- Saitoh H, Hinchey J. Functional heterogeneity of small ubiquitin-related protein modifiers SUMO-1 versus SUMO-2/3. *J Biol Chem* 2000;275:6252– 8.
- 349. Ayaydin F, Dasso M. Distinct in vivo dynamics of vertebrate SUMO paralogues. *Mol Biol Cell* 2004;15:5208–18.
- 350. Tempé D, Piechaczyk M, Bossis G. SUMO under stress. *Biochem Soc Trans* 2008;36:874–8.
- 351. Wilkinson KA, Henley JM. Mechanisms, regulation and consequences of protein SUMOylation. *Biochem J* 2010;428:133–45.
- 352. Matic I, van Hagen M, Schimmel J, Macek B, Ogg SC, Tatham MH, Hay RT, Lamond AI, Mann M, Vertegaal ACO. In vivo identification of human small ubiquitin-like modifier polymerization sites by high accuracy mass spectrometry and an in vitro to in vivo strategy. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2008;7:132–44.
- 353. Vertegaal AC. Small ubiquitin-related modifiers in chains. *Biochem Soc Trans* 2007;35:1422–3.
- 354. Song J, Durrin LK, Wilkinson TA, Krontiris TG, Chen Y. Identification of a SUMO-binding motif that recognizes SUMO-modified proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2004;101:14373–8.
- 355. Song J, Zhang Z, Hu W, Chen Y. Small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) recognition of a SUMO binding motif: a reversal of the bound orientation. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280:40122–9.
- 356. Chupreta S, Holmstrom S, Subramanian L, Iñiguez-Lluhí JA. A small conserved surface in SUMO is the critical structural determinant of its transcriptional inhibitory properties. *Mol Cell Biol* 2005;25:4272–82.
- 357. Zhu J, Zhu S, Guzzo CM, Ellis NA, Sung KS, Choi CY, Matunis MJ. Small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) binding determines substrate recognition and paralog-selective SUMO modification. *J Biol Chem* 2008;283:29405–15.
- 358. Hecker CM, Rabiller M, Haglund K, Bayer P, Dikic I. Specification of SUMO1and SUMO2-interacting motifs. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:16117–27.
- 359. Stehmeier P, Muller S. Phospho-regulated SUMO interaction modules connect the SUMO system to CK2 signaling. *Mol Cell* 2009;33:400–9.
- 360. Olsen SK, Capili AD, Lu X, Tan DS, Lima CD. Active site remodelling accompanies thioester bond formation in the SUMO E1. *Nature* 2010;463:906–12.
- 361. Gareau JR, Reverter D, Lima CD. Determinants of small ubiquitin-like modifier 1 (SUMO1) protein specificity, E3 ligase, and SUMO-RanGAP1 binding activities of nucleoporin RanBP2. *J Biol Chem* 2012;287:4740–51.

- 362. Palvimo JJ. PIAS proteins as regulators of small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO) modifications and transcription. *Biochem Soc Trans* 2007;35:1405– 8.
- 363. Blomster HA, Imanishi SY, Siimes J, Kastu J, Morrice NA, Eriksson JE, Sistonen L. In vivo identification of sumoylation sites by a signature tag and cysteine-targeted affinity purification. *J Biol Chem* 2010;285:19324–9.
- 364. Hoeller D, Hecker C-M, Wagner S, Rogov V, Dötsch V, Dikic I. E3independent monoubiquitination of ubiquitin-binding proteins. *Mol Cell* 2007;26:891–8.
- 365. Tatham MH, Geoffroy M-C, Shen L, Plechanovova A, Hattersley N, Jaffray EG, Palvimo JJ, Hay RT. RNF4 is a poly-SUMO-specific E3 ubiquitin ligase required for arsenic-induced PML degradation. *Nat Cell Biol* 2008;10:538–46.
- 366. Lallemand-Breitenbach V, Jeanne M, Benhenda S, Nasr R, Lei M, Peres L, Zhou J, Zhu J, Raught B, de The H. Arsenic degrades PML or PML-RARalpha through a SUMO-triggered RNF4/ubiquitin-mediated pathway. *Nat Cell Biol* 2008;10:547–55.
- 367. Yin Y, Seifert A, Chua JS, Maure J-F, Golebiowski F, Hay RT. SUMOtargeted ubiquitin E3 ligase RNF4 is required for the response of human cells to DNA damage. *Genes Dev* 2012;26:1196–208.
- 368. Galanty Y, Belotserkovskaya R, Coates J, Jackson SP. RNF4, a SUMOtargeted ubiquitin E3 ligase, promotes DNA double-strand break repair. *Genes Dev* 2012;26:1179–95.
- 369. van Hagen M, Overmeer RM, Abolvardi SS, Vertegaal ACO. RNF4 and VHL regulate the proteasomal degradation of SUMO-conjugated Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-2alpha. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2010;38:1922–31.
- 370. Geoffroy M-C, Hay RT. An additional role for SUMO in ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2009;10:564–8.
- Nacerddine K, Lehembre F, Bhaumik M, Artus J, Cohen-Tannoudji M, Babinet C, Pandolfi PP, Dejean A. The SUMO pathway is essential for nuclear integrity and chromosome segregation in mice. *Dev Cell* 2005;9:769– 79.
- 372. Alkuraya FS, Saadi I, Lund JJ, Turbe-Doan A, Morton CC, Maas RL. SUMO1 haploinsufficiency leads to cleft lip and palate. *Science* 2006;313:1751.
- 373. Mo Y-Y, Yu Y, Ee PLR, Beck WT. Overexpression of a dominant-negative mutant Ubc9 is associated with increased sensitivity to anticancer drugs. *Cancer research* 2004;64:2793–8.
- 374. Mo Y-Y, Yu Y, Theodosiou E, Ee PLR, Beck WT. A role for Ubc9 in tumorigenesis. *Oncogene* 2005;24:2677–83.
- 375. Dünnebier T, Bermejo JL, Haas S, Fischer H-P, Pierl CB, Justenhoven C, Brauch H, Baisch C, Gilbert M, Harth V, Spickenheuer A, Rabstein S, et al. Polymorphisms in the UBC9 and PIAS3 genes of the SUMO-conjugating system and breast cancer risk. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2010;121:185–94.
- 376. Chen S-F, Gong C, Luo M, Yao H-R, Zeng Y-J, Su F-X. Ubc9 expression predicts chemoresistance in breast cancer. *Chin J Cancer* 2011;30:638–44.
- 377. Dasso M. Emerging roles of the SUMO pathway in mitosis. *Cell Div* 2008;

- 378. Bergink S, Jentsch S. Principles of ubiquitin and SUMO modifications in DNA repair. *Nature* 2009;458:461–7.
- 379. Bischof O, Dejean A. SUMO is growing senescent. *Cell Cycle* 2007;6:677–81.
- 380. Garcia-Dominguez M, Reyes JC. SUMO association with repressor complexes, emerging routes for transcriptional control. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2009;1789:451–9.
- 381. Girdwood DWH, Tatham MH, Hay RT. SUMO and transcriptional regulation. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 2004;15:201–10.
- 382. Liu H-W, Zhang J, Heine GF, Arora M, Gulcin Ozer H, Onti-Srinivasan R, Huang K, Parvin JD. Chromatin modification by SUMO-1 stimulates the promoters of translation machinery genes. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2012;
- 383. Bossis G, Melchior F. Regulation of SUMOylation by reversible oxidation of SUMO conjugating enzymes. *Mol Cell* 2006;21:349–57.
- 384. Golebiowski F, Matic I, Tatham MH, Cole C, Yin Y, Nakamura A, Cox J, Barton GJ, Mann M, Hay RT. System-wide changes to SUMO modifications in response to heat shock. *Sci Signal* 2009;2:ra24.
- 385. Pinto MP, Carvalho AF, Grou CP, Rodríguez-Borges JE, Sá-Miranda C, Azevedo JE. Heat shock induces a massive but differential inactivation of SUMO-specific proteases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2012;1823:1958–66.
- 386. Tatham MH, Matic I, Mann M, Hay RT. Comparative proteomic analysis identifies a role for SUMO in protein quality control. *Sci Signal* 2011;4:rs4.
- 387. Truong K, Lee TD, Chen Y. Small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) modification of E1 Cys domain inhibits E1 Cys domain enzymatic activity. *J Biol Chem* 2012;287:15154–63.
- 388. Sun H, Leverson JD, Hunter T. Conserved function of RNF4 family proteins in eukaryotes: targeting a ubiquitin ligase to SUMOylated proteins. *EMBO J* 2007;26:4102–12.
- 389. Pichler A, Knipscheer P, Oberhofer E, van Dijk WJ, Körner R, Olsen JV, Jentsch S, Melchior F, Sixma TK. SUMO modification of the ubiquitinconjugating enzyme E2-25K. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2005;12:264–9.
- 390. Morris JR, Boutell C, Keppler M, Densham R, Weekes D, Alamshah A, Butler L, Galanty Y, Pangon L, Kiuchi T, Ng T, Solomon E. The SUMO modification pathway is involved in the BRCA1 response to genotoxic stress. *Nature* 2009;462:886–90.
- 391. Galanty Y, Belotserkovskaya R, Coates J, Polo S, Miller KM, Jackson SP. Mammalian SUMO E3-ligases PIAS1 and PIAS4 promote responses to DNA double-strand breaks. *Nature* 2009;462:935–9.
- 392. Meulmeester E, Kunze M, Hsiao HH, Urlaub H, Melchior F. Mechanism and consequences for paralog-specific sumoylation of ubiquitin-specific protease 25. *Mol Cell* 2008;30:610–9.
- 393. Desterro JM, Rodriguez MS, Hay RT. SUMO-1 modification of IkappaBalpha inhibits NF-kappaB activation. *Mol Cell* 1998;2:233–9.
- 394. Hietakangas V, Anckar J, Blomster HA, Fujimoto M, Palvimo JJ, Nakai A, Sistonen L. PDSM, a motif for phosphorylation-dependent SUMO modification. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2006;103:45–50.

- 395. Mohideen F, Capili AD, Bilimoria PM, Yamada T, Bonni A, Lima CD. A molecular basis for phosphorylation-dependent SUMO conjugation by the E2 UBC9. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2009;16:945–52.
- Hietakangas V, Ahlskog JK, Jakobsson AM, Hellesuo M, Sahlberg NM, Holmberg CI, Mikhailov A, Palvimo JJ, Pirkkala L, Sistonen L.
 Phosphorylation of serine 303 is a prerequisite for the stress-inducible SUMO modification of heat shock factor 1. *Mol Cell Biol* 2003;23:2953–68.
- 397. Lin J-Y, Ohshima T, Shimotohno K. Association of Ubc9, an E2 ligase for SUMO conjugation, with p53 is regulated by phosphorylation of p53. *FEBS Lett* 2004;573:15–8.
- 398. Cheng J, Wang D, Wang Z, Yeh ETH. SENP1 enhances androgen receptordependent transcription through desumoylation of Histone deacetylase 1. *Mol Cell Biol* 2004;24:6021–8.
- 399. Huang C, Han Y, Wang Y, Sun X, Yan S, Yeh ETH, Chen Y, Cang H, Li H, Shi G, Cheng J, Tang X, et al. SENP3 is responsible for HIF-1 transactivation under mild oxidative stress via p300 de-SUMOylation. *EMBO J* 2009;28:2748–62.
- 400. Girdwood D, Bumpass D, Vaughan OA, Thain A, Anderson LA, Snowden AW, Garcia-Wilson E, Perkins ND, Hay RT. P300 transcriptional repression is mediated by SUMO modification. *Mol Cell* 2003;11:1043–54.
- 401. Wu S-Y, Chiang C-M. Crosstalk between sumoylation and acetylation regulates p53-dependent chromatin transcription and DNA binding. *EMBO J* 2009;28:1246–59.
- 402. Cheema A, Knights CD, Rao M, Catania J, Perez R, Simons B, Dakshanamurthy S, Kolukula VK, Tilli M, Furth PA, Albanese C, Avantaggiati ML. Functional mimicry of the acetylated C-terminal tail of p53 by a SUMO-1 acetylated domain, SAD. J Cell Physiol 2010;225:371–84.
- 403. Ullmann R, Chien CD, Avantaggiati ML, Muller S. An acetylation switch regulates SUMO-dependent protein interaction networks. *Mol Cell* 2012;46:759–70.
- 404. Stehmeier P, Muller S. Regulation of p53 family members by the ubiquitin-like SUMO system. *DNA Repair* 2009;8:491–8.
- 405. Rodriguez MS, Desterro JM, Lain S, Midgley CA, Lane DP, Hay RT. SUMO-1 modification activates the transcriptional response of p53. *EMBO J* 1999;18:6455–61.
- 406. Gostissa M, Hengstermann A, Fogal V, Sandy P, Schwarz SE, Scheffner M, Del Sal G. Activation of p53 by conjugation to the ubiquitin-like protein SUMO-1. *EMBO J* 1999;18:6462–71.
- 407. Kwek SS, Derry J, Tyner AL, Shen Z, Gudkov AV. Functional analysis and intracellular localization of p53 modified by SUMO-1. *Oncogene* 2001;20:2587–99.
- 408. Muller S, Berger M, Lehembre F, Seeler JS, Haupt Y, Dejean A. c-Jun and p53 activity is modulated by SUMO-1 modification. *J Biol Chem* 2000;275:13321–9.
- 409. Kahyo T, Nishida T, Yasuda H. Involvement of PIAS1 in the sumoylation of tumor suppressor p53. *Mol Cell* 2001;8:713–8.

- 410. Schmidt D, Muller S. Members of the PIAS family act as SUMO ligases for c-Jun and p53 and repress p53 activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2002;99:2872–7.
- 411. Nelson V, Davis GE, Maxwell SA. A putative protein inhibitor of activated STAT (PIASy) interacts with p53 and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation but not apoptosis. *Apoptosis* 2001;6:221–34.
- 412. Bischof O, Schwamborn K, Martin N, Werner A, Sustmann C, Grosschedl R, Dejean A. The E3 SUMO ligase PIASy is a regulator of cellular senescence and apoptosis. *Mol Cell* 2006;22:783–94.
- 413. Carter S, Bischof O, Dejean A, Vousden KH. C-terminal modifications regulate MDM2 dissociation and nuclear export of p53. *Nat Cell Biol* 2007;9:428–35.
- 414. Carter S, Vousden KH. p53-Ubl fusions as models of ubiquitination, sumoylation and neddylation of p53. *Cell Cycle* 2008;7:2519–28.
- 415. Chen L, Chen J. MDM2-ARF complex regulates p53 sumoylation. *Oncogene* 2003;22:5348–57.
- 416. Weger S, Hammer E, Heilbronn R. Topors acts as a SUMO-1 E3 ligase for p53 in vitro and in vivo. *FEBS Lett* 2005;579:5007–12.
- 417. Muller S, Dobner T. The adenovirus E1B-55K oncoprotein induces SUMO modification of p53. *Cell Cycle* 2008;7:754–8.
- 418. Pennella MA, Liu Y, Woo JL, Kim CA, Berk AJ. Adenovirus E1B 55-kilodalton protein is a p53-SUMO1 E3 ligase that represses p53 and stimulates its nuclear export through interactions with promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies. *J Virol* 2010;84:12210–25.
- 419. Bennett RL, Pan Y, Christian J, Hui T, May WS. The RAX/PACT-PKR stress response pathway promotes p53 sumoylation and activation, leading to G₁ arrest. *Cell Cycle* 2012;11:407–17.
- 420. Naidu SR, Lakhter AJ, Androphy EJ. PIASy-mediated Tip60 sumoylation regulates p53-induced autophagy. *Cell Cycle* 2012;11:2717–28.
- 421. Li T, Santockyte R, Shen R-F, Tekle E, Wang G, Yang DCH, Chock PB. Expression of SUMO-2/3 induced senescence through p53- and pRB-mediated pathways. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:36221–7.
- 422. Chang P-C, Izumiya Y, Wu C-Y, Fitzgerald LD, Campbell M, Ellison TJ, Lam KS, Luciw PA, Kung H-J. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) encodes a SUMO E3 ligase that is SIM-dependent and SUMO-2/3-specific. *J Biol Chem* 2010;285:5266–73.
- 423. Heo K-S, Lee H, Nigro P, Thomas T, Le N-T, Chang E, McClain C, Reinhart-King CA, King MR, Berk BC, Fujiwara K, Woo C-H, et al. PKCζ mediates disturbed flow-induced endothelial apoptosis via p53 SUMOylation. J Cell Biol 2011;193:867–84.
- 424. Fuchs SY, Lee C-G, Pan Z-Q, Ronai Z. SUMO-1 modification of Mdm2 prevents its self-ubiquitination and increases Mdm2 ability to ubiquitinate p53. *Cell* 2002;110:531.
- 425. Xirodimas DP, Chisholm J, Desterro JMS, Lane DP, Hay RT. P14ARF promotes accumulation of SUMO-1 conjugated (H)Mdm2. *FEBS Lett* 2002;528:207–11.

- 426. Miyauchi Y, Yogosawa S, Honda R, Nishida T, Yasuda H. Sumoylation of Mdm2 by protein inhibitor of activated STAT (PIAS) and RanBP2 enzymes. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:50131–6.
- 427. Ghosh M, Weghorst K, Berberich SJ. MdmX inhibits ARF mediated Mdm2 sumoylation. *Cell Cycle* 2005;4:604–8.
- 428. Rizos H, Woodruff S, Kefford RF. p14ARF interacts with the SUMOconjugating enzyme Ubc9 and promotes the sumoylation of its binding partners. *Cell Cycle* 2005;4:597–603.
- 429. Kuo ML, Besten den W, Thomas MC, Sherr CJ. Arf-induced turnover of the nucleolar nucleophosmin-associated SUMO-2/3 protease Senp3. *Cell Cycle* 2008;7:3378–87.
- 430. Lee MH, Lee SW, Lee EJ, Choi SJ, Chung SS, Lee JI, Cho JM, Seol JH, Baek SH, Kim KI, Chiba T, Tanaka K, et al. SUMO-specific protease SUSP4 positively regulates p53 by promoting Mdm2 self-ubiquitination. *Nat Cell Biol* 2006;8:1424–31.
- 431. Chu Y, Yang X. SUMO E3 ligase activity of TRIM proteins. *Oncogene* 2011;30:1108–16.
- 432. Ding B, Sun Y, Huang J. Overexpression of SKI oncoprotein leads to p53 degradation through regulation of MDM2 protein sumoylation. *J Biol Chem* 2012;287:14621–30.
- 433. Yang A, Kaghad M, Wang Y, Gillett E, Fleming MD, Dotsch V, Andrews NC, Caput D, McKeon F. p63, a p53 homolog at 3q27-29, encodes multiple products with transactivating, death-inducing, and dominant-negative activities. *Mol Cell* 1998;2:305–16.
- 434. Kaghad M, Bonnet H, Yang A, Creancier L, Biscan JC, Valent A, Minty A, Chalon P, Lelias JM, Dumont X, Ferrara P, McKeon F, et al. Monoallelically expressed gene related to p53 at 1p36, a region frequently deleted in neuroblastoma and other human cancers. *Cell* 1997;90:809–19.
- 435. Natan E, Joerger AC. Structure and kinetic stability of the p63 tetramerization domain. *J Mol Biol* 2012;415:503–13.
- 436. Ethayathulla AS, Tse P-W, Monti P, Nguyen S, Inga A, Fronza G, Viadiu H. Structure of p73 DNA-binding domain tetramer modulates p73 transactivation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2012;109:6066–71.
- 437. Coutandin D, Löhr F, Niesen FH, Ikeya T, Weber TA, Schafer B, Zielonka EM, Bullock AN, Yang A, Güntert P, Knapp S, McKeon F, et al. Conformational stability and activity of p73 require a second helix in the tetramerization domain. *Cell Death Differ* 2009;16:1582–9.
- 438. Schmale H, Bamberger C. A novel protein with strong homology to the tumor suppressor p53. *Oncogene* 1997;15:1363–7.
- 439. Trink B, Okami K, Wu L, Sriuranpong V, Jen J, Sidransky D. A new human p53 homologue. *Nat Med* 1998;4:747–8.
- 440. Osada M, Ohba M, Kawahara C, Ishioka C, Kanamaru R, Katoh I, Ikawa Y, Nimura Y, Nakagawara A, Obinata M, Ikawa S. Cloning and functional analysis of human p51, which structurally and functionally resembles p53. *Nat Med* 1998;4:839–43.
- 441. Kim CA, Bowie JU. SAM domains: uniform structure, diversity of function. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2003;28:625–8.

- 442. Schultz J, Ponting CP, Hofmann K, Bork P. SAM as a protein interaction domain involved in developmental regulation. *Protein Sci* 1997;6:249–53.
- 443. Osada M, Park HL, Nagakawa Y, Yamashita K, Fomenkov A, Kim MS, Wu G, Nomoto S, Trink B, Sidransky D. Differential recognition of response elements determines target gene specificity for p53 and p63. *Mol Cell Biol* 2005;25:6077–89.
- 444. Osada M, Nagakawa Y, Park HL, Yamashita K, Wu G, Kim MS, Fomenkov A, Trink B, Sidransky D. p63-specific activation of the BPAG-1e promoter. *J Invest Dermatol* 2005;125:52–60.
- 445. Dohn M, Zhang S, Chen X. p63alpha and DeltaNp63alpha can induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis and differentially regulate p53 target genes. *Oncogene* 2001;20:3193–205.
- 446. Wu G, Nomoto S, Hoque MO, Dracheva T, Osada M, Lee C-CR, Dong SM, Guo Z, Benoit N, Cohen Y, Rechthand P, Califano J, et al. DeltaNp63alpha and TAp63alpha regulate transcription of genes with distinct biological functions in cancer and development. *Cancer research* 2003;63:2351–7.
- 447. Ghioni P, Bolognese F, Duijf PHG, van Bokhoven H, Mantovani R, Guerrini L. Complex transcriptional effects of p63 isoforms: identification of novel activation and repression domains. *Mol Cell Biol* 2002;22:8659–68.
- 448. Mangiulli M, Valletti A, Caratozzolo MF, Tullo A, Sbisà E, Pesole G, D'Erchia AM. Identification and functional characterization of two new transcriptional variants of the human p63 gene. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2009;37:6092–104.
- 449. Serber Z, Lai HC, Yang A, Ou HD, Sigal MS, Kelly AE, Darimont BD, Duijf PHG, van Bokhoven H, McKeon F, Dötsch V. A C-terminal inhibitory domain controls the activity of p63 by an intramolecular mechanism. *Mol Cell Biol* 2002;22:8601–11.
- 450. Straub WE, Weber TA, Schafer B, Candi E, Durst F, Ou HD, Rajalingam K, Melino G, Dotsch V. The C-terminus of p63 contains multiple regulatory elements with different functions. *Cell Death Dis* 2010;1:e5.
- 451. Sayan BS, Sayan AE, Yang AL, Aqeilan RI, Candi E, Cohen GM, Knight RA, Croce CM, Melino G. Cleavage of the transactivation-inhibitory domain of p63 by caspases enhances apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007;104:10871–6.
- 452. Armstrong JF, Kaufman MH, Harrison DJ, Clarke AR. High-frequency developmental abnormalities in p53-deficient mice. *Curr Biol* 1995;5:931–6.
- 453. Yang A, Schweitzer R, Sun D, Kaghad M, Walker N, Bronson RT, Tabin C, Sharpe A, Caput D, Crum C, McKeon F. p63 is essential for regenerative proliferation in limb, craniofacial and epithelial development. *Nature* 1999;398:714–8.
- 454. Mills AA, Zheng B, Wang XJ, Vogel H, Roop DR, Bradley A. p63 is a p53 homologue required for limb and epidermal morphogenesis. *Nature* 1999;398:708–13.
- 455. Celli J, Duijf P, Hamel BC, Bamshad M, Kramer B, Smits AP, Newbury-Ecob R, Hennekam RC, Van Buggenhout G, van Haeringen A, Woods CG, van Essen AJ, et al. Heterozygous germline mutations in the p53 homolog p63 are the cause of EEC syndrome. *Cell* 1999;99:143–53.

- 456. McGrath JA, Duijf PH, Doetsch V, Irvine AD, de Waal R, Vanmolkot KR, Wessagowit V, Kelly A, Atherton DJ, Griffiths WA, Orlow SJ, van Haeringen A, et al. Hay-Wells syndrome is caused by heterozygous missense mutations in the SAM domain of p63. *Hum Mol Genet* 2001;10:221–9.
- 457. Parsa R, Yang A, McKeon F, Green H. Association of p63 with proliferative potential in normal and neoplastic human keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol* 1999;113:1099–105.
- 458. Senoo M, Pinto F, Crum CP, McKeon F. p63 Is essential for the proliferative potential of stem cells in stratified epithelia. *Cell* 2007;129:523–36.
- 459. Suh E-K, Yang A, Kettenbach A, Bamberger C, Michaelis AH, Zhu Z, Elvin JA, Bronson RT, Crum CP, McKeon F. p63 protects the female germ line during meiotic arrest. *Nature* 2006;444:624–8.
- 460. Livera G, Petre-Lazar B, Guerquin M-J, Trautmann E, Coffigny H, Habert R. p63 null mutation protects mouse oocytes from radio-induced apoptosis. *Reproduction* 2008;135:3–12.
- 461. Su X, Paris M, Gi YJ, Tsai KY, Cho MS, Lin Y-L, Biernaskie JA, Sinha S, Prives C, Pevny LH, Miller FD, Flores ER. TAp63 prevents premature aging by promoting adult stem cell maintenance. *Cell Stem Cell* 2009;5:64–75.
- 462. Koster MI, Marinari B, Payne AS, Kantaputra PN, Costanzo A, Roop DR. DeltaNp63 knockdown mice: A mouse model for AEC syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A* 2009;149A:1942–7.
- 463. Romano R-A, Ortt K, Birkaya B, Smalley K, Sinha S. An active role of the DeltaN isoform of p63 in regulating basal keratin genes K5 and K14 and directing epidermal cell fate. *PloS one* 2009;4:e5623.
- 464. Hagiwara K, McMenamin MG, Miura K, Harris CC. Mutational analysis of the p63/p73L/p51/p40/CUSP/KET gene in human cancer cell lines using intronic primers. *Cancer research* 1999;59:4165–9.
- 465. Hibi K, Trink B, Patturajan M, Westra WH, Caballero OL, Hill DE, Ratovitski EA, Jen J, Sidransky D. AIS is an oncogene amplified in squamous cell carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2000;97:5462–7.
- 466. Massion PP, Taflan PM, Jamshedur Rahman SM, Yildiz P, Shyr Y, Edgerton ME, Westfall MD, Roberts JR, Pietenpol JA, Carbone DP, Gonzalez AL. Significance of p63 amplification and overexpression in lung cancer development and prognosis. *Cancer research* 2003;63:7113–21.
- 467. Pruneri G, Fabris S, Dell'Orto P, Biasi MO, Valentini S, Del Curto B, Laszlo D, Cattaneo L, Fasani R, Rossini L, Manzotti M, Bertolini F, et al. The transactivating isoforms of p63 are overexpressed in high-grade follicular lymphomas independent of the occurrence of p63 gene amplification. *Journal Pathol* 2005;206:337–45.
- 468. Flores ER, Sengupta S, Miller JB, Newman JJ, Bronson R, Crowley D, Yang A, McKeon F, Jacks T. Tumor predisposition in mice mutant for p63 and p73: evidence for broader tumor suppressor functions for the p53 family. *Cancer cell* 2005;7:363–73.
- 469. Barbieri CE, Tang LJ, Brown KA, Pietenpol JA. Loss of p63 leads to increased cell migration and up-regulation of genes involved in invasion and metastasis. *Cancer research* 2006;66:7589–97.
- 470. Melino G, Lu X, Gasco M, Crook T, Knight RA. Functional regulation of p73 and p63: development and cancer. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2003;28:663–70.

- 471. Jost CA, Marin MC, Kaelin WG. p73 is a simian [correction of human] p53related protein that can induce apoptosis. *Nature* 1997;389:191–4.
- 472. Zhu J, Jiang J, Zhou W, Chen X. The potential tumor suppressor p73 differentially regulates cellular p53 target genes. *Cancer research* 1998;58:5061–5.
- 473. Lee CW, La Thangue NB. Promoter specificity and stability control of the p53-related protein p73. *Oncogene* 1999;18:4171–81.
- 474. Ishida S, Yamashita T, Nakaya U, Tokino T. Adenovirus-mediated transfer of p53-related genes induces apoptosis of human cancer cells. *Jpn J Cancer Res* 2000;91:174–80.
- 475. Ishimoto O, Kawahara C, Enjo K, Obinata M, Nukiwa T, Ikawa S. Possible oncogenic potential of DeltaNp73: a newly identified isoform of human p73. *Cancer research* 2002;62:636–41.
- 476. Liu G, Nozell S, Xiao H, Chen X. DeltaNp73beta is active in transactivation and growth suppression. *Mol Cell Biol* 2004;24:487–501.
- 477. Nyman U, Vlachos P, Cascante A, Hermanson O, Zhivotovsky B, Joseph B. Protein kinase C-dependent phosphorylation regulates the cell cycleinhibitory function of the p73 carboxy terminus transactivation domain. *Mol Cell Biol* 2009;29:1814–25.
- 478. Stiewe T, Zimmermann S, Frilling A, Esche H, Pützer BM. Transactivationdeficient DeltaTA-p73 acts as an oncogene. *Cancer research* 2002;62:3598– 602.
- 479. De Laurenzi V, Costanzo A, Barcaroli D, Terrinoni A, Falco M, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Levrero M, Melino G. Two new p73 splice variants, gamma and delta, with different transcriptional activity. *J Exp Med* 1998;188:1763–8.
- 480. Melino G, De Laurenzi V, Vousden KH. p73: Friend or foe in tumorigenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2002;2:605–15.
- 481. Liu G, Chen X. The C-terminal sterile alpha motif and the extreme C terminus regulate the transcriptional activity of the alpha isoform of p73. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280:20111–9.
- 482. Balint E, Bates S, Vousden KH. Mdm2 binds p73 alpha without targeting degradation. *Oncogene* 1999;18:3923–9.
- 483. Zeng X, Chen L, Jost CA, Maya R, Keller D, Wang X, Kaelin WG, Oren M, Chen J, Lu H. MDM2 suppresses p73 function without promoting p73 degradation. *Mol Cell Biol* 1999;19:3257–66.
- 484. Rossi M, De Laurenzi V, Munarriz E, Green DR, Liu Y-C, Vousden KH, Cesareni G, Melino G. The ubiquitin-protein ligase Itch regulates p73 stability. *EMBO J* 2005;24:836–48.
- 485. Rossi M, Aqeilan RI, Neale M, Candi E, Salomoni P, Knight RA, Croce CM, Melino G. The E3 ubiquitin ligase Itch controls the protein stability of p63. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2006;103:12753–8.
- 486. Wu H, Zeinab RA, Flores ER, Leng RP. Pirh2, a ubiquitin E3 ligase, inhibits p73 transcriptional activity by promoting its ubiquitination. *Mol Cancer Res* 2011;9:1780–90.
- 487. Jung Y-S, Qian Y, Chen X. The p73 tumor suppressor is targeted by Pirh2 RING finger E3 ubiquitin ligase for the proteasome-dependent degradation. *J Biol Chem* 2011;286:35388–95.

- 488. Wang XQ, Ongkeko WM, Lau AW, Leung KM, Poon RY. A possible role of p73 on the modulation of p53 level through MDM2. *Cancer research* 2001;61:1598–603.
- 489. Maisse C, Munarriz E, Barcaroli D, Melino G, De Laurenzi V. DNA damage induces the rapid and selective degradation of the DeltaNp73 isoform, allowing apoptosis to occur. *Cell Death Differ* 2004;11:685–7.
- 490. Sayan BS, Yang AL, Conforti F, Tucci P, Piro MC, Browne GJ, Agostini M, Bernardini S, Knight RA, Mak TW, Melino G. Differential control of TAp73 and DeltaNp73 protein stability by the ring finger ubiquitin ligase PIR2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2010;107:12877–82.
- 491. Kartasheva NN, Contente A, Lenz-Stöppler C, Roth J, Dobbelstein M. p53 induces the expression of its antagonist p73 Delta N, establishing an autoregulatory feedback loop. *Oncogene* 2002;21:4715–27.
- 492. Zaika A, Irwin M, Sansome C, Moll UM. Oncogenes induce and activate endogenous p73 protein. *J Biol Chem* 2001;276:11310–6.
- 493. Stiewe T, Pützer BM. Role of the p53-homologue p73 in E2F1-induced apoptosis. *Nat Genet* 2000;26:464–9.
- 494. Yuan ZM, Shioya H, Ishiko T, Sun X, Gu J, Huang YY, Lu H, Kharbanda S, Weichselbaum R, Kufe D. p73 is regulated by tyrosine kinase c-Abl in the apoptotic response to DNA damage. *Nature* 1999;399:814–7.
- 495. Agami R, Blandino G, Oren M, Shaul Y. Interaction of c-Abl and p73alpha and their collaboration to induce apoptosis. *Nature* 1999;399:809–13.
- 496. Gaiddon C, Lokshin M, Gross I, Levasseur D, Taya Y, Loeffler J-P, Prives C. Cyclin-dependent kinases phosphorylate p73 at threonine 86 in a cell cycledependent manner and negatively regulate p73. *J Biol Chem* 2003;278:27421–31.
- 497. Yang A, Walker N, Bronson R, Kaghad M, Oosterwegel M, Bonnin J, Vagner C, Bonnet H, Dikkes P, Sharpe A, McKeon F, Caput D. p73-deficient mice have neurological, pheromonal and inflammatory defects but lack spontaneous tumours. *Nature* 2000;404:99–103.
- 498. Pozniak CD, Barnabé-Heider F, Rymar VV, Lee AF, Sadikot AF, Miller FD. p73 is required for survival and maintenance of CNS neurons. *J Neurosci* 2002;22:9800–9.
- 499. Wilhelm MT, Rufini A, Wetzel MK, Tsuchihara K, Inoue S, Tomasini R, Itie-Youten A, Wakeham A, Arsenian-Henriksson M, Melino G, Kaplan DR, Miller FD, et al. Isoform-specific p73 knockout mice reveal a novel role for delta Np73 in the DNA damage response pathway. *Genes Dev* 2010;24:549–60.
- 500. Tomasini R, Tsuchihara K, Wilhelm M, Fujitani M, Rufini A, Cheung CC, Khan F, Itie-Youten A, Wakeham A, Tsao M-S, Iovanna JL, Squire J, et al. TAp73 knockout shows genomic instability with infertility and tumor suppressor functions. *Genes Dev* 2008;22:2677–91.
- 501. Ng SW, Yiu GK, Liu Y, Huang LW, Palnati M, Jun SH, Berkowitz RS, Mok SC. Analysis of p73 in human borderline and invasive ovarian tumor. *Oncogene* 2000;19:1885–90.
- 502. Chen CL, Ip SM, Cheng D, Wong LC, Ngan HY. P73 gene expression in ovarian cancer tissues and cell lines. *Clin Can Res* 2000;6:3910–5.

- 503. Zaika AI, Kovalev S, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. Overexpression of the wild type p73 gene in breast cancer tissues and cell lines. *Cancer research* 1999;59:3257–63.
- 504. Zaika AI, Slade N, Erster SH, Sansome C, Joseph TW, Pearl M, Chalas E, Moll UM. DeltaNp73, a dominant-negative inhibitor of wild-type p53 and TAp73, is up-regulated in human tumors. *J Exp Med* 2002;196:765–80.
- 505. Rocco JW, Leong C-O, Kuperwasser N, DeYoung MP, Ellisen LW. p63 mediates survival in squamous cell carcinoma by suppression of p73-dependent apoptosis. *Cancer cell* 2006;9:45–56.
- 506. Corn PG, Kuerbitz SJ, van Noesel MM, Esteller M, Compitello N, Baylin SB, Herman JG. Transcriptional silencing of the p73 gene in acute lymphoblastic leukemia and Burkitt"s lymphoma is associated with 5" CpG island methylation. *Cancer research* 1999;59:3352–6.
- 507. Kawano S, Miller CW, Gombart AF, Bartram CR, Matsuo Y, Asou H, Sakashita A, Said J, Tatsumi E, Koeffler HP. Loss of p73 gene expression in leukemias/lymphomas due to hypermethylation. *Blood* 1999;94:1113–20.
- 508. Bell HS, Dufes C, O'Prey J, Crighton D, Bergamaschi D, Lu X, Schätzlein AG, Vousden KH, Ryan KM. A p53-derived apoptotic peptide derepresses p73 to cause tumor regression in vivo. *J Clin Invest* 2007;117:1008–18.
- 509. Wong SW, Tiong KH, Kong WY, Yue YC, Chua CH, Lim JY, Lee CY, Quah SI, Fow C, Chung C, So I, Tan BS, et al. Rapamycin synergizes cisplatin sensitivity in basal-like breast cancer cells through up-regulation of p73. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2011;128:301–13.
- 510. Dobbelstein M, Wienzek S, König C, Roth J. Inactivation of the p53homologue p73 by the mdm2-oncoprotein. *Oncogene* 1999;18:2101–6.
- 511. Bottger V, Bottger A, Howard SF, Picksley SM, Chène P, Garcia-Echeverria C, Hochkeppel HK, Lane DP. Identification of novel mdm2 binding peptides by phage display. *Oncogene* 1996;13:2141–7.
- 512. Zeng X, Li X, Miller A, Yuan Z, Yuan W, Kwok RP, Goodman R, Lu H. The Nterminal domain of p73 interacts with the CH1 domain of p300/CREB binding protein and mediates transcriptional activation and apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol* 2000;20:1299–310.
- 513. Watson IR, Irwin MS. Ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like modifications of the p53 family. *Neoplasia* 2006;8:655–66.
- 514. Gu J, Nie L, Kawai H, Yuan ZM. Subcellular distribution of p53 and p73 are differentially regulated by MDM2. *Cancer research* 2001;61:6703–7.
- 515. Inoue T, Stuart J, Leno R, Maki CG. Nuclear import and export signals in control of the p53-related protein p73. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:15053–60.
- 516. Ongkeko WM, Wang XQ, Siu WY, Lau AW, Yamashita K, Harris AL, Cox LS, Poon RY. MDM2 and MDMX bind and stabilize the p53-related protein p73. *Curr Biol* 1999;9:829–32.
- 517. Kubo N, Okoshi R, Nakashima K, Shimozato O, Nakagawara A, Ozaki T. MDM2 promotes the proteasomal degradation of p73 through the interaction with Itch in HeLa cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2010;403:405–11.
- 518. Calabrò V, Mansueto G, Parisi T, Vivo M, Calogero RA, La Mantia G. The human MDM2 oncoprotein increases the transcriptional activity and the protein level of the p53 homolog p63. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:2674–81.

- 519. Kadakia M, Slader C, Berberich SJ. Regulation of p63 function by Mdm2 and MdmX. *DNA Cell Biol* 2001;20:321–30.
- 520. Wang X, Arooz T, Siu WY, Chiu CH, Lau A, Yamashita K, Poon RY. MDM2 and MDMX can interact differently with ARF and members of the p53 family. *FEBS Lett* 2001;490:202–8.
- 521. Little NA, Jochemsen AG. Hdmx and Mdm2 can repress transcription activation by p53 but not by p63. *Oncogene* 2001;20:4576–80.
- 522. Kojima T, Ikawa Y, Katoh I. Analysis of molecular interactions of the p53family p51(p63) gene products in a yeast two-hybrid system: homotypic and heterotypic interactions and association with p53-regulatory factors. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2001;281:1170–5.
- 523. Zdzalik M, Pustelny K, Kedracka-Krok S, Huben K, Pecak A, Wladyka B, Jankowski S, Dubin A, Potempa J, Dubin G. Interaction of regulators Mdm2 and Mdmx with transcription factors p53, p63 and p73. *Cell Cycle* 2010;9:4584–91.
- 524. Petitjean A, Mathe E, Kato S, Ishioka C, Tavtigian SV, Hainaut P, Olivier M. Impact of mutant p53 functional properties on TP53 mutation patterns and tumor phenotype: lessons from recent developments in the IARC TP53 database. *Hum Mut* 2007;28:622–9.
- 525. Forslund A, Zeng Z, Qin L-X, Rosenberg S, Ndubuisi M, Pincas H, Gerald W, Notterman DA, Barany F, Paty PB. MDM2 gene amplification is correlated to tumor progression but not to the presence of SNP309 or TP53 mutational status in primary colorectal cancers. *Mol Cancer Res* 2008;6:205–11.
- 526. Oliner JD, Kinzler KW, Meltzer PS, George DL, Vogelstein B. Amplification of a gene encoding a p53-associated protein in human sarcomas. *Nature* 1992;358:80–3.
- 527. Kamb A, Gruis NA, Weaver-Feldhaus J, Liu Q, Harshman K, Tavtigian SV, Stockert E, Day RS, Johnson BE, Skolnick MH. A cell cycle regulator potentially involved in genesis of many tumor types. *Science* 1994;264:436– 40.
- 528. Esteller M, Tortola S, Toyota M, Capella G, Peinado MA, Baylin SB, Herman JG. Hypermethylation-associated inactivation of p14(ARF) is independent of p16(INK4a) methylation and p53 mutational status. *Cancer research* 2000;60:129–33.
- 529. Malkin D, Li FP, Strong LC, Fraumeni JF, Nelson CE, Kim DH, Kassel J, Gryka MA, Bischoff FZ, Tainsky MA. Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas, and other neoplasms. *Science* 1990;250:1233–8.
- 530. Li FP, Fraumeni JF, Mulvihill JJ, Blattner WA, Dreyfus MG, Tucker MA, Miller RW. A cancer family syndrome in twenty-four kindreds. *Cancer research* 1988;48:5358–62.
- 531. Royds JA, lacopetta B. p53 and disease: when the guardian angel fails. *Cell Death Differ* 2006;13:1017–26.
- 532. Achatz MIW, Olivier M, Le Calvez F, Martel-Planche G, Lopes A, Rossi BM, Ashton-Prolla P, Giugliani R, Palmero El, Vargas FR, Da Rocha JCC, Vettore AL, et al. The TP53 mutation, R337H, is associated with Li-Fraumeni and Li-Fraumeni-like syndromes in Brazilian families. *Cancer Lett* 2007;245:96–102.

- 533. Hinds P, Finlay C, Levine AJ. Mutation is required to activate the p53 gene for cooperation with the ras oncogene and transformation. *J Virol* 1989;63:739–46.
- 534. Soussi T, Lozano G. p53 mutation heterogeneity in cancer. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2005;331:834–42.
- 535. Soussi T, Beroud C. Assessing TP53 status in human tumours to evaluate clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2001;1:233–40.
- 536. Iggo R, Gatter K, Bartek J, Lane D, Harris AL. Increased expression of mutant forms of p53 oncogene in primary lung cancer. *Lancet* 1990;335:675–9.
- 537. Hall PA, Lane DP. p53 in tumour pathology: can we trust immunohistochemistry?--Revisited! *Journal Pathol* 1994;172:1–4.
- 538. Soong R, Robbins PD, Dix BR, Grieu F, Lim B, Knowles S, Williams KE, Turbett GR, House AK, lacopetta BJ. Concordance between p53 protein overexpression and gene mutation in a large series of common human carcinomas. *Hum Pathol* 1996;27:1050–5.
- 539. Yin Y, Tainsky MA, Bischoff FZ, Strong LC, Wahl GM. Wild-type p53 restores cell cycle control and inhibits gene amplification in cells with mutant p53 alleles. *Cell* 1992;70:937–48.
- 540. Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh Y-A, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, Valentin-Vega YA, Terzian T, Caldwell LC, Strong LC, El-Naggar AK, Lozano G. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* 2004;119:861–72.
- 541. Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Ruhe ZC, Yin B, Willis NA, Bronson RT, Crowley D, Jacks T. Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Cell* 2004;119:847–60.
- 542. Midgley CA, Lane DP. p53 protein stability in tumour cells is not determined by mutation but is dependent on Mdm2 binding. *Oncogene* 1997;15:1179– 89.
- 543. Shimizu H, Saliba D, Wallace M, Finlan L, Langridge-Smith PRR, Hupp TR. Destabilizing missense mutations in the tumour suppressor protein p53 enhance its ubiquitination in vitro and in vivo. *Biochem J* 2006;397:355–67.
- 544. Lukashchuk N, Vousden KH. Ubiquitination and degradation of mutant p53. *Mol Cell Biol* 2007;27:8284–95.
- 545. Terzian T, Suh Y-A, Iwakuma T, Post SM, Neumann M, Lang GA, Van Pelt CS, Lozano G. The inherent instability of mutant p53 is alleviated by Mdm2 or p16INK4a loss. *Genes Dev* 2008;22:1337–44.
- 546. Kato S, Han S-Y, Liu W, Otsuka K, Shibata H, Kanamaru R, Ishioka C. Understanding the function-structure and function-mutation relationships of p53 tumor suppressor protein by high-resolution missense mutation analysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2003;100:8424–9.
- 547. Hachiya M, Chumakov A, Miller CW, Akashi M, Said J, Koeffler HP. Mutant p53 proteins behave in a dominant, negative fashion in vivo. *Anticancer Res* 1994;14:1853–9.
- 548. Kern SE, Pietenpol JA, Thiagalingam S, Seymour A, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Oncogenic forms of p53 inhibit p53-regulated gene expression. *Science* 1992;256:827–30.

- 549. Srivastava S, Wang S, Tong YA, Pirollo K, Chang EH. Several mutant p53 proteins detected in cancer-prone families with Li-Fraumeni syndrome exhibit transdominant effects on the biochemical properties of the wild-type p53. *Oncogene* 1993;8:2449–56.
- 550. Milner J, Medcalf EA. Cotranslation of activated mutant p53 with wild type drives the wild-type p53 protein into the mutant conformation. *Cell* 1991;65:765–74.
- 551. Wang PL, Sait F, Winter G. The "wildtype" conformation of p53: epitope mapping using hybrid proteins. *Oncogene* 2001;20:2318–24.
- 552. Gannon JV, Greaves R, Iggo R, Lane DP. Activating mutations in p53 produce a common conformational effect. A monoclonal antibody specific for the mutant form. *EMBO J* 1990;9:1595–602.
- 553. Frebourg T, Sadelain M, Ng YS, Kassel J, Friend SH. Equal transcription of wild-type and mutant p53 using bicistronic vectors results in the wild-type phenotype. *Cancer research* 1994;54:878–81.
- 554. Chan WM, Siu WY, Lau A, Poon RYC. How many mutant p53 molecules are needed to inactivate a tetramer? *Mol Cell Biol* 2004;24:3536–51.
- 555. Aurelio ON, Kong XT, Gupta S, Stanbridge EJ. p53 mutants have selective dominant-negative effects on apoptosis but not growth arrest in human cancer cell lines. *Mol Cell Biol* 2000;20:770–8.
- 556. Brosh R, Rotter V. When mutants gain new powers: news from the mutant p53 field. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2009;9:701–13.
- 557. Jacks T, Remington L, Williams BO, Schmitt EM, Halachmi S, Bronson RT, Weinberg RA. Tumor spectrum analysis in p53-mutant mice. *Curr Biol* 1994;4:1–7.
- 558. Dittmer D, Pati S, Zambetti G, Chu S, Teresky AK, Moore M, Finlay C, Levine AJ. Gain of function mutations in p53. *Nat Genet* 1993;4:42–6.
- 559. Scian MJ, Stagliano KER, Ellis MA, Hassan S, Bowman M, Miles MF, Deb SP, Deb S. Modulation of gene expression by tumor-derived p53 mutants. *Cancer research* 2004;64:7447–54.
- 560. Shaulsky G, Goldfinger N, Rotter V. Alterations in tumor development in vivo mediated by expression of wild type or mutant p53 proteins. *Cancer research* 1991;51:5232–7.
- 561. Gualberto A, Aldape K, Kozakiewicz K, Tlsty TD. An oncogenic form of p53 confers a dominant, gain-of-function phenotype that disrupts spindle checkpoint control. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1998;95:5166–71.
- 562. Matas D, Sigal A, Stambolsky P, Milyavsky M, Weisz L, Schwartz D, Goldfinger N, Rotter V. Integrity of the N-terminal transcription domain of p53 is required for mutant p53 interference with drug-induced apoptosis. *EMBO J* 2001;20:4163–72.
- 563. Lin J, Chen J, Elenbaas B, Levine AJ. Several hydrophobic amino acids in the p53 amino-terminal domain are required for transcriptional activation, binding to mdm-2 and the adenovirus 5 E1B 55-kD protein. *Genes Dev* 1994;8:1235–46.
- 564. Will K, Warnecke G, Wiesmuller L, Deppert W. Specific interaction of mutant p53 with regions of matrix attachment region DNA elements (MARs) with a high potential for base-unpairing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1998;95:13681–6.

- 565. Quante T, Otto B, Brázdová M, Kejnovská I, Deppert W, Tolstonog GV. Mutant p53 is a transcriptional co-factor that binds to G-rich regulatory regions of active genes and generates transcriptional plasticity. *Cell Cycle* 2012;11.
- 566. Göhler T, Jäger S, Warnecke G, Yasuda H, Kim E, Deppert W. Mutant p53 proteins bind DNA in a DNA structure-selective mode. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2005;33:1087–100.
- 567. Chin KV, Ueda K, Pastan I, Gottesman MM. Modulation of activity of the promoter of the human MDR1 gene by Ras and p53. *Science* 1992;255:459–62.
- 568. Lin J, Teresky AK, Levine AJ. Two critical hydrophobic amino acids in the Nterminal domain of the p53 protein are required for the gain of function phenotypes of human p53 mutants. *Oncogene* 1995;10:2387–90.
- 569. Sampath J, Sun D, Kidd VJ, Grenet J, Gandhi A, Shapiro LH, Wang Q, Zambetti GP, Schuetz JD. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS and selectively up-regulates human MDR1 not MRP1. *J Biol Chem* 2001;276:39359–67.
- 570. Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, Blandino G, Piaggio G. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. *Cancer cell* 2006;10:191–202.
- 571. Sigal A, Matas D, Almog N, Goldfinger N, Rotter V. The C-terminus of mutant p53 is necessary for its ability to interfere with growth arrest or apoptosis. *Oncogene* 2001;20:4891–8.
- 572. Do PM, Varanasi L, Fan S, Li C, Kubacka I, Newman V, Chauhan K, Daniels SR, Boccetta M, Garrett MR, Li R, Martinez LA. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS2 to promote etoposide resistance. *Genes Dev* 2012;26:830–45.
- 573. Valenti F, Fausti F, Biagioni F, Shay T, Fontemaggi G, Domany E, Yaffe MB, Strano S, Blandino G, Di Agostino S. Mutant p53 oncogenic functions are sustained by Plk2 kinase through an autoregulatory feedback loop. *Cell Cycle* 2011;10:4330–40.
- 574. Frazier MW, He X, Wang J, Gu Z, Cleveland JL, Zambetti GP. Activation of cmyc gene expression by tumor-derived p53 mutants requires a discrete Cterminal domain. *Mol Cell Biol* 1998;18:3735–43.
- 575. Gaiddon C, Lokshin M, Ahn J, Zhang T, Prives C. A subset of tumor-derived mutant forms of p53 down-regulate p63 and p73 through a direct interaction with the p53 core domain. *Mol Cell Biol* 2001;21:1874–87.
- 576. Strano S, Fontemaggi G, Costanzo A, Rizzo MG, Monti O, Baccarini A, Del Sal G, Levrero M, Sacchi A, Oren M, Blandino G. Physical interaction with human tumor-derived p53 mutants inhibits p63 activities. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:18817–26.
- 577. Xu J, Reumers J, Couceiro JR, De Smet F, Gallardo R, Rudyak S, Cornelis A, Rozenski J, Zwolinska A, Marine J-C, Lambrechts D, Suh Y-A, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53 by coaggregation with multiple tumor suppressors. *Nat Chem Biol* 2011;7:285–95.
- 578. Di Como CJ, Gaiddon C, Prives C. p73 function is inhibited by tumor-derived p53 mutants in mammalian cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 1999;19:1438–49.

- 579. Strano S, Munarriz E, Rossi M, Cristofanelli B, Shaul Y, Castagnoli L, Levine AJ, Sacchi A, Cesareni G, Oren M, Blandino G. Physical and functional interaction between p53 mutants and different isoforms of p73. *J Biol Chem* 2000;275:29503–12.
- 580. Monti P, Campomenosi P, Ciribilli Y, Iannone R, Aprile A, Inga A, Tada M, Menichini P, Abbondandolo A, Fronza G. Characterization of the p53 mutants ability to inhibit p73 beta transactivation using a yeast-based functional assay. *Oncogene* 2003;22:5252–60.
- 581. Bensaad K, Le Bras M, Unsal K, Strano S, Blandino G, Tominaga O, Rouillard D, Soussi T. Change of conformation of the DNA-binding domain of p53 is the only key element for binding of and interference with p73. J Biol Chem 2003;278:10546–55.
- 582. Flores ER, Tsai KY, Crowley D, Sengupta S, Yang A, McKeon F, Jacks T. p63 and p73 are required for p53-dependent apoptosis in response to DNA damage. *Nature* 2002;416:560–4.
- 583. Schilling T, Kairat A, Melino G, Krammer PH, Stremmel W, Oren M, Müller M. Interference with the p53 family network contributes to the gain of oncogenic function of mutant p53 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2010;394:817–23.
- 584. Bergamaschi D, Gasco M, Hiller L, Sullivan A, Syed N, Trigiante G, Yulug I, Merlano M, Numico G, Comino A, Attard M, Reelfs O, et al. p53 polymorphism influences response in cancer chemotherapy via modulation of p73-dependent apoptosis. *Cancer cell* 2003;3:387–402.
- 585. Vikhanskaya F, Siddique MM, Kei Lee M, Broggini M, Sabapathy K. Evaluation of the combined effect of p53 codon 72 polymorphism and hotspot mutations in response to anticancer drugs. *Clin Can Res* 2005;11:4348–56.
- 586. Muller PAJ, Caswell PT, Doyle B, Iwanicki MP, Tan EH, Karim S, Lukashchuk N, Gillespie DA, Ludwig RL, Gosselin P, Cromer A, Brugge JS, et al. Mutant p53 drives invasion by promoting integrin recycling. *Cell* 2009;139:1327–41.
- 587. Friedler A, Veprintsev DB, Hansson LO, Fersht AR. Kinetic instability of p53 core domain mutants: implications for rescue by small molecules. *J Biol Chem* 2003;278:24108–12.
- 588. Wilcken R, Wang G, Boeckler FM, Fersht AR. Kinetic mechanism of p53 oncogenic mutant aggregation and its inhibition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2012;109:13584–9.
- 589. Wang G, Fersht AR. First-order rate-determining aggregation mechanism of p53 and its implications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2012;109:13590–5.
- 590. Ano Bom APD, Rangel LP, Costa DCF, de Oliveira GAP, Sanches D, Braga CA, Gava LM, Ramos CHI, Cepeda AOT, Stumbo AC, De Moura Gallo CV, Cordeiro Y, et al. Mutant p53 Aggregates into Prion-like Amyloid Oligomers and Fibrils: IMPLICATIONS FOR CANCER. *J Biol Chem* 2012;287:28152–62.
- 591. Poeta ML, Manola J, Goldwasser MA, Forastiere A, Benoit N, Califano JA, Ridge JA, Goodwin J, Kenady D, Saunders J, Westra W, Sidransky D, et al. TP53 mutations and survival in squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *N Engl J Med* 2007;357:2552–61.

- 592. Rossi D, Cerri M, Deambrogi C, Sozzi E, Cresta S, Rasi S, De Paoli L, Spina V, Gattei V, Capello D, Forconi F, Lauria F, et al. The prognostic value of TP53 mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia is independent of Del17p13: implications for overall survival and chemorefractoriness. *Clin Can Res* 2009;15:995–1004.
- 593. Young KH, Leroy K, Møller MB, Colleoni GWB, Sánchez-Beato M, Kerbauy FR, Haioun C, Eickhoff JC, Young AH, Gaulard P, Piris MA, Oberley TD, et al. Structural profiles of TP53 gene mutations predict clinical outcome in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: an international collaborative study. *Blood* 2008;112:3088–98.
- 594. Muller PAJ, Trinidad AG, Timpson P, Morton JP, Zanivan S, van den Berghe PVE, Nixon C, Karim SA, Caswell PT, Noll JE, Coffill CR, Lane DP, et al. Mutant p53 enhances MET trafficking and signalling to drive cell scattering and invasion. *Oncogene* 2012;
- 595. Adorno M, Cordenonsi M, Montagner M, Dupont S, Wong C, Hann B, Solari A, Bobisse S, Rondina MB, Guzzardo V, Parenti AR, Rosato A, et al. A Mutant-p53/Smad complex opposes p63 to empower TGFbeta-induced metastasis. *Cell* 2009;137:87–98.
- 596. Tucci P, Agostini M, Grespi F, Markert EK, Terrinoni A, Vousden KH, Muller PAJ, Dötsch V, Kehrloesser S, Sayan BS, Giaccone G, Lowe SW, et al. Loss of p63 and its microRNA-205 target results in enhanced cell migration and metastasis in prostate cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2012;
- 597. Freed-Pastor WA, Mizuno H, Zhao X, Langerød A, Moon S-H, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, Barsotti A, Chicas A, Li W, Polotskaia A, Bissell MJ, Osborne TF, et al. Mutant p53 disrupts mammary tissue architecture via the mevalonate pathway. *Cell* 2012;148:244–58.
- 598. Coffill CR, Muller PAJ, Oh HK, Neo SP, Hogue KA, Cheok CF, Vousden KH, Lane DP, Blackstock WP, Gunaratne J. Mutant p53 interactome identifies nardilysin as a p53R273H-specific binding partner that promotes invasion. *EMBO Rep* 2012;13:638–44.
- 599. El-Deiry WS. The role of p53 in chemosensitivity and radiosensitivity. *Oncogene* 2003;22:7486–95.
- 600. Martins CP, Brown-Swigart L, Evan GI. Modeling the therapeutic efficacy of p53 restoration in tumors. *Cell* 2006;127:1323–34.
- 601. Xue W, Zender L, Miething C, Dickins RA, Hernando E, Krizhanovsky V, Cordon-Cardo C, Lowe SW. Senescence and tumour clearance is triggered by p53 restoration in murine liver carcinomas. *Nature* 2007;445:656–60.
- 602. Ventura A, Kirsch DG, McLaughlin ME, Tuveson DA, Grimm J, Lintault L, Newman J, Reczek EE, Weissleder R, Jacks T. Restoration of p53 function leads to tumour regression in vivo. *Nature* 2007;445:661–5.
- 603. Bottger A, Bottger V, Sparks A, Liu WL, Howard SF, Lane DP. Design of a synthetic Mdm2-binding mini protein that activates the p53 response in vivo. *Curr Biol* 1997;7:860–9.
- 604. Vassilev LT, Vu BT, Graves B, Carvajal D, Podlaski F, Filipovic Z, Kong N, Kammlott U, Lukacs C, Klein C, Fotouhi N, Liu EA. In vivo activation of the p53 pathway by small-molecule antagonists of MDM2. *Science* 2004;303:844–8.

- 605. Czarna A, Beck B, Srivastava S, Popowicz GM, Wolf S, Huang Y, Bista M, Holak TA, Dömling A. Robust Generation of Lead Compounds for Protein-Protein Interactions by Computational and MCR Chemistry: p53/Hdm2 Antagonists. *Angewan Chem Inter Edit* 2010;49:5352–6.
- 606. Yu S, Qin D, Shangary S, Chen J, Wang G, Ding K, McEachern D, Qiu S, Nikolovska-Coleska Z, Miller R, Kang S, Yang D, et al. Potent and orally active small-molecule inhibitors of the MDM2-p53 interaction. *J Med Chem* 2009;52:7970–3.
- 607. Issaeva N, Bozko P, Enge M, Protopopova M, Verhoef LGGC, Masucci M, Pramanik A, Selivanova G. Small molecule RITA binds to p53, blocks p53-HDM-2 interaction and activates p53 function in tumors. *Nat Med* 2004;10:1321–8.
- 608. Yang J, Ahmed A, Ashcroft M. Activation of a unique p53-dependent DNA damage response. *Cell Cycle* 2009;8:1630–2.
- 609. Ringshausen I, O'Shea CC, Finch AJ, Swigart LB, Evan GI. Mdm2 is critically and continuously required to suppress lethal p53 activity in vivo. *Cancer cell* 2006;10:501–14.
- 610. Mendrysa SM, O'Leary KA, McElwee MK, Michalowski J, Eisenman RN, Powell DA, Perry ME. Tumor suppression and normal aging in mice with constitutively high p53 activity. *Genes Dev* 2006;20:16–21.
- 611. Moore L, Lu X, Ghebranious N, Tyner S, Donehower LA. Aging-associated truncated form of p53 interacts with wild-type p53 and alters p53 stability, localization, and activity. *Mech Ageing Dev* 2007;128:717–30.
- 612. Yang Y, Ludwig RL, Jensen JP, Pierre SA, Medaglia MV, Davydov IV, Safiran YJ, Oberoi P, Kenten JH, Phillips AC, Weissman AM, Vousden KH. Small molecule inhibitors of HDM2 ubiquitin ligase activity stabilize and activate p53 in cells. *Cancer cell* 2005;7:547–59.
- 613. Roxburgh P, Hock AK, Dickens MP, Mezna M, Fischer PM, Vousden KH. Small molecules that bind the Mdm2 RING stabilize and activate p53. *Carcinogenesis* 2012;33:791–8.
- 614. Bywater MJ, Poortinga G, Sanij E, Hein N, Peck A, Cullinane C, Wall M, Cluse L, Drygin D, Anderes K, Huser N, Proffitt C, et al. Inhibition of RNA Polymerase I as a Therapeutic Strategy to Promote Cancer-Specific Activation of p53. *Cancer cell* 2012;22:51–65.
- 615. Choong ML, Yang H, Lee MA, Lane DP. Specific activation of the p53 pathway by low dose actinomycin D: a new route to p53 based cyclotherapy. *Cell Cycle* 2009;8:2810–8.
- 616. Cheok CF, Kua N, Kaldis P, Lane DP. Combination of nutlin-3 and VX-680 selectively targets p53 mutant cells with reversible effects on cells expressing wild-type p53. *Cell Death Differ* 2010;17:1486–500.
- 617. Secchiero P, Barbarotto E, Tiribelli M, Zerbinati C, di Iasio MG, Gonelli A, Cavazzini F, Campioni D, Fanin R, Cuneo A, Zauli G. Functional integrity of the p53-mediated apoptotic pathway induced by the nongenotoxic agent nutlin-3 in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL). *Blood* 2006;107:4122–9.

- 618. Tovar C, Rosinski J, Filipovic Z, Higgins B, Kolinsky K, Hilton H, Zhao X, Vu BT, Qing W, Packman K, Myklebost O, Heimbrook DC, et al. Small-molecule MDM2 antagonists reveal aberrant p53 signaling in cancer: implications for therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2006;103:1888–93.
- 619. Saddler C, Ouillette P, Kujawski L, Shangary S, Talpaz M, Kaminski M, Erba H, Shedden K, Wang S, Malek SN. Comprehensive biomarker and genomic analysis identifies p53 status as the major determinant of response to MDM2 inhibitors in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 2008;111:1584–93.
- 620. Ling G, Persson A, Berne B, Uhlén M, Lundeberg J, Ponten F. Persistent p53 mutations in single cells from normal human skin. *Am J Pathol* 2001;159:1247–53.
- 621. Jonason AS, Kunala S, Price GJ, Restifo RJ, Spinelli HM, Persing JA, Leffell DJ, Tarone RE, Brash DE. Frequent clones of p53-mutated keratinocytes in normal human skin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1996;93:14025–9.
- 622. Brummelkamp TR, Fabius AWM, Mullenders J, Madiredjo M, Velds A, Kerkhoven RM, Bernards R, Beijersbergen RL. An shRNA barcode screen provides insight into cancer cell vulnerability to MDM2 inhibitors. *Nat Chem Biol* 2006;2:202–6.
- 623. Hu B, Gilkes DM, Farooqi B, Sebti SM, Chen J. MDMX overexpression prevents p53 activation by the MDM2 inhibitor Nutlin. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:33030–5.
- 624. Phan J, Li Z, Kasprzak A, Li B, Sebti S, Guida W, Schönbrunn E, Chen J. Structure-based design of high affinity peptides inhibiting the interaction of p53 with MDM2 and MDMX. *J Biol Chem* 2010;285:2174–83.
- 625. Reed D, Shen Y, Shelat AA, Arnold LA, Ferreira AM, Zhu F, Mills N, Smithson DC, Regni CA, Bashford D, Cicero SA, Schulman BA, et al. Identification and characterization of the first small molecule inhibitor of MDMX. *J Biol Chem* 2010;285:10786–96.
- 626. Wang H, Ma X, Ren S, Buolamwini JK, Yan C. A small-molecule inhibitor of MDMX activates p53 and induces apoptosis. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2011;10:69–79.
- 627. Bernal F, Wade M, Godes M, Davis TN, Whitehead DG, Kung AL, Wahl GM, Walensky LD. A stapled p53 helix overcomes HDMX-mediated suppression of p53. *Cancer cell* 2010;18:411–22.
- 628. Gembarska A, Luciani F, Fedele C, Russell EA, Dewaele M, Villar S, Zwolinska A, Haupt S, de Lange J, Yip D, Goydos J, Haigh JJ, et al. MDM4 is a key therapeutic target in cutaneous melanoma. *Nat Med* 2012;
- 629. Roth JA, Nguyen D, Lawrence DD, Kemp BL, Carrasco CH, Ferson DZ, Hong WK, Komaki R, Lee JJ, Nesbitt JC, Pisters KM, Putnam JB, et al. Retrovirus-mediated wild-type p53 gene transfer to tumors of patients with lung cancer. *Nat Med* 1996;2:985–91.
- 630. Lang FF, Bruner JM, Fuller GN, Aldape K, Prados MD, Chang S, Berger MS, McDermott MW, Kunwar SM, Junck LR, Chandler W, Zwiebel JA, et al. Phase I trial of adenovirus-mediated p53 gene therapy for recurrent glioma: biological and clinical results. *J Clin Oncol* 2003;21:2508–18.

- 631. Zhang S-W, Xiao S-W, Liu C-Q, Sun Y, Su X, Li D-M, Xu G, Cai Y, Zhu G-Y, Xu B, Lü Y-Y. [Treatment of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma by recombinant adenovirus-p53 combined with radiotherapy: a phase II clinical trial of 42 cases]. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi* 2003;83:2023–8.
- 632. Peng Z. Current status of gendicine in China: recombinant human Ad-p53 agent for treatment of cancers. *Hum Gene Ther* 2005;16:1016–27.
- 633. Bischoff JR, Kirn DH, Williams A, Heise C, Horn S, Muna M, Ng L, Nye JA, Sampson-Johannes A, Fattaey A, McCormick F. An adenovirus mutant that replicates selectively in p53-deficient human tumor cells. *Science* 1996;274:373–6.
- 634. Nemunaitis J, Ganly I, Khuri F, Arseneau J, Kuhn J, McCarty T, Landers S, Maples P, Romel L, Randlev B, Reid T, Kaye S, et al. Selective replication and oncolysis in p53 mutant tumors with ONYX-015, an E1B-55kD genedeleted adenovirus, in patients with advanced head and neck cancer: a phase II trial. *Cancer research* 2000;60:6359–66.
- 635. Khuri FR, Nemunaitis J, Ganly I, Arseneau J, Tannock IF, Romel L, Gore M, Ironside J, MacDougall RH, Heise C, Randlev B, Gillenwater AM, et al. a controlled trial of intratumoral ONYX-015, a selectively-replicating adenovirus, in combination with cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil in patients with recurrent head and neck cancer. *Nat Med* 2000;6:879–85.
- 636. Harada JN, Berk AJ. p53-Independent and -dependent requirements for E1B-55K in adenovirus type 5 replication. *J Virol* 1999;73:5333–44.
- 637. O'Shea CC, Johnson L, Bagus B, Choi S, Nicholas C, Shen A, Boyle L, Pandey K, Soria C, Kunich J, Shen Y, Habets G, et al. Late viral RNA export, rather than p53 inactivation, determines ONYX-015 tumor selectivity. *Cancer cell* 2004;6:611–23.
- 638. O'Shea CC, Choi S, McCormick F, Stokoe D. Adenovirus overrides cellular checkpoints for protein translation. *Cell Cycle* 2005;4:883–8.
- 639. Garber K. China approves world's first oncolytic virus therapy for cancer treatment. *J Natl Cancer Inst*2006;98:298–300.
- 640. Ambrosini G, Sambol EB, Carvajal D, Vassilev LT, Singer S, Schwartz GK. Mouse double minute antagonist Nutlin-3a enhances chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in cancer cells with mutant p53 by activating E2F1. *Oncogene* 2007;26:3473–81.
- 641. Kitagaki J, Agama KK, Pommier Y, Yang Y, Weissman AM. Targeting tumor cells expressing p53 with a water-soluble inhibitor of Hdm2. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2008;7:2445–54.
- 642. Lau LMS, Nugent JK, Zhao X, Irwin MS. HDM2 antagonist Nutlin-3 disrupts p73-HDM2 binding and enhances p73 function. *Oncogene* 2008;27:997–1003.
- 643. Peirce SK, Findley HW. The MDM2 antagonist nutlin-3 sensitizes p53-null neuroblastoma cells to doxorubicin via E2F1 and TAp73. *Int J Oncol* 2009;34:1395–402.
- 644. Zheng T, Wang J, Chen X, Meng X, Song X, Lu Z, Jiang H, Liu L. Disruption of p73-MDM2 binding synergizes with gemcitabine to induce apoptosis in HuCCT1 cholangiocarcinoma cell line with p53 mutation. *Tumour Biol* 2010;31:287–95.

- 645. Zheng T, Wang J, Song X, Meng X, Pan S, Jiang H, Liu L. Nutlin-3 cooperates with doxorubicin to induce apoptosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells through p53 or p73 signaling pathways. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 2010;136:1597–604.
- 646. Bossi G, Lapi E, Strano S, Rinaldo C, Blandino G, Sacchi A. Mutant p53 gain of function: reduction of tumor malignancy of human cancer cell lines through abrogation of mutant p53 expression. *Oncogene* 2006;25:304–9.
- 647. Vierboom MP, Nijman HW, Offringa R, van der Voort El, van Hall T, van den Broek L, Fleuren GJ, Kenemans P, Kast WM, Melief CJ. Tumor eradication by wild-type p53-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 1997;186:695–704.
- 648. Zwaveling S, Vierboom MPM, Ferreira Mota SC, Hendriks JA, Ooms ME, Sutmuller RPM, Franken KLMC, Nijman HW, Ossendorp F, van der Burg SH, Offringa R, Melief CJM. Antitumor efficacy of wild-type p53-specific CD4(+) T-helper cells. *Cancer research* 2002;62:6187–93.
- 649. Speetjens FM, Kuppen PJK, Welters MJP, Essahsah F, Voet van den Brink AMEG, Lantrua MGK, Valentijn ARPM, Oostendorp J, Fathers LM, Nijman HW, Drijfhout JW, van de Velde CJH, et al. Induction of p53-specific immunity by a p53 synthetic long peptide vaccine in patients treated for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Clin Can Res* 2009;15:1086–95.
- 650. Trepiakas R, Berntsen A, Hadrup SR, Bjørn J, Geertsen PF, Straten PT, Andersen MH, Pedersen AE, Soleimani A, Lorentzen T, Johansen JS, Svane IM. Vaccination with autologous dendritic cells pulsed with multiple tumor antigens for treatment of patients with malignant melanoma: results from a phase I/II trial. *Cytotherapy* 2010;12:721–34.
- 651. Joerger AC, Ang HC, Veprintsev DB, Blair CM, Fersht AR. Structures of p53 cancer mutants and mechanism of rescue by second-site suppressor mutations. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280:16030–7.
- 652. Boeckler FM, Joerger AC, Jaggi G, Rutherford TJ, Veprintsev DB, Fersht AR. Targeted rescue of a destabilized mutant of p53 by an in silico screened drug. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2008;105:10360–5.
- 653. Joerger AC, Ang HC, Fersht AR. Structural basis for understanding oncogenic p53 mutations and designing rescue drugs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2006;103:15056–61.
- 654. Bykov VJN, Issaeva N, Shilov A, Hultcrantz M, Pugacheva E, Chumakov P, Bergman J, Wiman KG, Selivanova G. Restoration of the tumor suppressor function to mutant p53 by a low-molecular-weight compound. *Nat Med* 2002;8:282–8.
- 655. Chipuk JE, Maurer U, Green DR, Schuler M. Pharmacologic activation of p53 elicits Bax-dependent apoptosis in the absence of transcription. *Cancer cell* 2003;4:371–81.
- 656. Shen J, Vakifahmetoglu H, Stridh H, Zhivotovsky B, Wiman KG. PRIMA-1MET induces mitochondrial apoptosis through activation of caspase-2. *Oncogene* 2008;27:6571–80.
- 657. Wang T, Lee K, Rehman A, Daoud SS. PRIMA-1 induces apoptosis by inhibiting JNK signaling but promoting the activation of Bax. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2007;352:203–12.

- 658. Lambert JMR, Moshfegh A, Hainaut P, Wiman KG, Bykov VJN. Mutant p53 reactivation by PRIMA-1MET induces multiple signaling pathways converging on apoptosis. *Oncogene* 2010;29:1329–38.
- 659. Lambert JMR, Gorzov P, Veprintsev DB, Söderqvist M, Segerbäck D, Bergman J, Fersht AR, Hainaut P, Wiman KG, Bykov VJN. PRIMA-1 reactivates mutant p53 by covalent binding to the core domain. *Cancer cell* 2009;15:376–88.
- 660. Bykov VJN, Zache N, Stridh H, Westman J, Bergman J, Selivanova G, Wiman KG. PRIMA-1(MET) synergizes with cisplatin to induce tumor cell apoptosis. *Oncogene* 2005;24:3484–91.
- 661. Yu X, Vazquez A, Levine AJ, Carpizo DR. Allele-specific p53 mutant reactivation. *Cancer cell* 2012;21:614–25.
- 662. Kravchenko JE, Ilyinskaya GV, Komarov PG, Agapova LS, Kochetkov DV, Strom E, Frolova El, Kovriga I, Gudkov AV, Feinstein E, Chumakov PM. Small-molecule RETRA suppresses mutant p53-bearing cancer cells through a p73-dependent salvage pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2008;105:6302–7.
- 663. Sur S, Pagliarini R, Bunz F, Rago C, Diaz LA, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N. A panel of isogenic human cancer cells suggests a therapeutic approach for cancers with inactivated p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2009;106:3964–9.
- 664. Carvajal D, Tovar C, Yang H, Vu BT, Heimbrook DC, Vassilev LT. Activation of p53 by MDM2 antagonists can protect proliferating cells from mitotic inhibitors. *Cancer research* 2005;65:1918–24.
- 665. Rao B, van Leeuwen IMM, Higgins M, Campbel J, Thompson AM, Lane DP, Lain S. Evaluation of an Actinomycin D/VX-680 aurora kinase inhibitor combination in p53-based cyclotherapy. *Oncotarget* 2010;1:639–50.
- 666. van Leeuwen IMM, Rao B, Sachweh MCC, Lain S. An evaluation of smallmolecule p53 activators as chemoprotectants ameliorating adverse effects of anticancer drugs in normal cells. *Cell Cycle* 2012;11:1851–61.
- 667. Yap DBS, Hsieh J-K, Zhong S, Heath V, Gusterson B, Crook T, Lu X. Ser392 phosphorylation regulates the oncogenic function of mutant p53. *Cancer research* 2004;64:4749–54.
- 668. Girardini JE, Girardini JE, Napoli M, Napoli M, Piazza S, Piazza S, Rustighi A, Rustighi A, Marotta C, Marotta C, Radaelli E, Radaelli E, et al. A Pin1/mutant p53 axis promotes aggressiveness in breast cancer. *Cancer cell* 2011;20:79–91.
- 669. Marston NJ, Crook T, Vousden KH. Interaction of p53 with MDM2 is independent of E6 and does not mediate wild type transformation suppressor function. *Oncogene* 1994;9:2707–16.
- 670. Chen J, Lin J, Levine AJ. Regulation of transcription functions of the p53 tumor suppressor by the mdm-2 oncogene. *Mol Med* 1995;1:142–52.
- 671. Sharp DA, Kratowicz SA, Sank MJ, George DL. Stabilization of the MDM2 oncoprotein by interaction with the structurally related MDMX protein. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:38189–96.

- 672. Stott FJ, Bates S, James MC, McConnell BB, Starborg M, Brookes S, Palmero I, Ryan K, Hara E, Vousden KH, Peters G. The alternative product from the human CDKN2A locus, p14(ARF), participates in a regulatory feedback loop with p53 and MDM2. *EMBO J* 1998;17:5001–14.
- 673. Tatham MH, Jaffray E, Vaughan OA, Desterro JM, Botting CH, Naismith JH, Hay RT. Polymeric chains of SUMO-2 and SUMO-3 are conjugated to protein substrates by SAE1/SAE2 and Ubc9. *J Biol Chem* 2001;276:35368– 74.
- 674. Kakizuka A, Miller WH, Umesono K, Warrell RP, Frankel SR, Murty VV, Dmitrovsky E, Evans RM. Chromosomal translocation t(15;17) in human acute promyelocytic leukemia fuses RAR alpha with a novel putative transcription factor, PML. *Cell* 1991;66:663–74.
- 675. Geoffroy M-C, Jaffray EG, Walker KJ, Hay RT. Arsenic-induced SUMOdependent recruitment of RNF4 into PML nuclear bodies. *Mol Biol Cell* 2010;21:4227–39.
- 676. van den Heuvel S, Harlow E. Distinct roles for cyclin-dependent kinases in cell cycle control. *Science* 1993;262:2050–4.
- 677. Petitjean A, Ruptier C, Tribollet V, Hautefeuille A, Chardon F, Cavard C, Puisieux A, Hainaut P, Caron de Fromentel C. Properties of the six isoforms of p63: p53-like regulation in response to genotoxic stress and cross talk with DeltaNp73. *Carcinogenesis* 2008;29:273–81.
- 678. De Laurenzi V, Rossi A, Terrinoni A, Barcaroli D, Levrero M, Costanzo A, Knight RA, Guerrieri P, Melino G. p63 and p73 transactivate differentiation gene promoters in human keratinocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2000;273:342–6.
- 679. Candi E, Rufini A, Terrinoni A, Dinsdale D, Ranalli M, Paradisi A, De Laurenzi V, Spagnoli LG, Catani MV, Ramadan S, Knight RA, Melino G. Differential roles of p63 isoforms in epidermal development: selective genetic complementation in p63 null mice. *Cell Death Differ* 2006;13:1037–47.
- 680. Browne G, Cipollone R, Lena AM, Serra V, Zhou H, van Bokhoven H, Dötsch V, Merico D, Mantovani R, Terrinoni A, Knight RA, Candi E, et al. Differential altered stability and transcriptional activity of ΔNp63 mutants in distinct ectodermal dysplasias. *J Cell Sci* 2011;124:2200–7.
- 681. Laemmli UK. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 1970;227:680–5.
- 682. Towbin H, Staehelin T, Gordon J. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1979;76:4350–4.
- 683. Burnette WN. "Western blotting": electrophoretic transfer of proteins from sodium dodecyl sulfate--polyacrylamide gels to unmodified nitrocellulose and radiographic detection with antibody and radioiodinated protein A. *Anal Biochem* 1981;112:195–203.
- 684. Vojtesek B, Bartek J, Midgley CA, Lane DP. An immunochemical analysis of the human nuclear phosphoprotein p53. New monoclonal antibodies and epitope mapping using recombinant p53. *J Immunol Methods* 1992;151:237–44.

- 685. Banks L, Matlashewski G, Crawford L. Isolation of human-p53-specific monoclonal antibodies and their use in the studies of human p53 expression. *Eur J Biochem* 1986;159:529–34.
- 686. Milner J, Cook A, Sheldon M. A new anti-p53 monoclonal antibody, previously reported to be directed against the large T antigen of simian virus 40. *Oncogene* 1987;1:453–5.
- 687. Yewdell JW, Gannon JV, Lane DP. Monoclonal antibody analysis of p53 expression in normal and transformed cells. *J Virol* 1986;59:444–52.
- 688. Bottger V, Bottger A, Garcia-Echeverria C, Ramos YF, van der Eb AJ, Jochemsen AG, Lane DP. Comparative study of the p53-mdm2 and p53-MDMX interfaces. *Oncogene* 1999;18:189–99.
- 689. Ara S, Lee PS, Hansen MF, Saya H. Codon 72 polymorphism of the TP53 gene. *Nucleic Acids Res* 1990;18:4961.
- 690. Thomas M, Kalita A, Labrecque S, Pim D, Banks L, Matlashewski G. Two polymorphic variants of wild-type p53 differ biochemically and biologically. *Mol Cell Biol* 1999;19:1092–100.
- 691. Dumont P, Leu JI-J, Pietra Della AC, George DL, Murphy M. The codon 72 polymorphic variants of p53 have markedly different apoptotic potential. *Nat Genet* 2003;33:357–65.
- 692. Pim D, Banks L. p53 polymorphic variants at codon 72 exert different effects on cell cycle progression. *Int J Cancer* 2004;108:196–9.
- 693. Matlashewski GJ, Tuck S, Pim D, Lamb P, Schneider J, Crawford LV. Primary structure polymorphism at amino acid residue 72 of human p53. *Mol Cell Biol* 1987;7:961–3.
- 694. Itahana Y, Ke H, Zhang Y. p53 Oligomerization is essential for its C-terminal lysine acetylation. *J Biol Chem* 2009;284:5158–64.
- 695. Fornerod M, Ohno M, Yoshida M, Mattaj IW. CRM1 is an export receptor for leucine-rich nuclear export signals. *Cell* 1997;90:1051–60.
- 696. O'Keefe K, Li H, Zhang Y. Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of p53 is essential for MDM2-mediated cytoplasmic degradation but not ubiquitination. *Mol Cell Biol* 2003;23:6396–405.
- 697. Hjerpe R, Aillet F, Lopitz-Otsoa F, Lang V, Torres-Ramos M, Farrás R, Hay RT, Rodriguez MS. Oligomerization conditions Mdm2-mediated efficient p53 polyubiquitylation but not its proteasomal degradation. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2010;42:725–35.
- 698. Yu ZK, Geyer RK, Maki CG. MDM2-dependent ubiquitination of nuclear and cytoplasmic P53. *Oncogene* 2000;19:5892–7.
- 699. Tao W, Levine AJ. Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of oncoprotein Hdm2 is required for Hdm2-mediated degradation of p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1999;96:3077–80.
- 700. Ulrich HD. The fast-growing business of SUMO chains. *Mol Cell* 2008;32:301–5.
- 701. Azuma Y, Arnaoutov A, Dasso M. SUMO-2/3 regulates topoisomerase II in mitosis. *J Cell Biol* 2003;163:477–87.
- 702. Kim W, Bennett EJ, Huttlin EL, Guo A, Li J, Possemato A, Sowa ME, Rad R, Rush J, Comb MJ, Harper JW, Gygi SP. Systematic and quantitative assessment of the ubiquitin-modified proteome. *Mol Cell* 2011;44:325–40.

- 703. Tamborini E, Torre Della G, Lavarino C, Azzarelli A, Carpinelli P, Pierotti MA, Pilotti S. Analysis of the molecular species generated by MDM2 gene amplification in liposarcomas. *Int J Cancer* 2001;92:790–6.
- 704. Singh RK, Iyappan S, Scheffner M. Hetero-oligomerization with MdmX rescues the ubiquitin/Nedd8 ligase activity of RING finger mutants of Mdm2. *J Biol Chem* 2007;282:10901–7.
- 705. Dang J, Kuo M-L, Eischen CM, Stepanova L, Sherr CJ, Roussel MF. The RING domain of Mdm2 can inhibit cell proliferation. *Cancer research* 2002;62:1222–30.
- 706. Nishida T, Yamada Y. The nucleolar SUMO-specific protease SMT3IP1/SENP3 attenuates Mdm2-mediated p53 ubiquitination and degradation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2011;406:285–91.
- 707. Jiang M, Chiu SY, Hsu W. SUMO-specific protease 2 in Mdm2-mediated regulation of p53. *Cell Death Differ* 2011;18:1005–15.
- 708. Makarov A. Electrostatic axially harmonic orbital trapping: a high-performance technique of mass analysis. *Anal Chem* 2000;72:1156–62.
- 709. Yadavilli S, Mayo LD, Higgins M, Lain S, Hegde V, Deutsch WA. Ribosomal protein S3: A multi-functional protein that interacts with both p53 and MDM2 through its KH domain. *DNA Repair* 2009;8:1215–24.
- 710. Bhatt P, d'Avout C, Kane NS, Borowiec JA, Saxena A. Specific domains of nucleolin interact with Hdm2 and antagonize Hdm2-mediated p53 ubiquitination. *FEBS J* 2012;279:370–83.
- 711. Kurki S, Peltonen K, Latonen L, Kiviharju TM, Ojala PM, Meek D, Laiho M. Nucleolar protein NPM interacts with HDM2 and protects tumor suppressor protein p53 from HDM2-mediated degradation. *Cancer cell* 2004;5:465–75.
- 712. Zhang X, Wang W, Wang H, Wang MH, Xu W, Zhang R. Identification of ribosomal protein S25 (RPS25)-MDM2-p53 regulatory feedback loop. *Oncogene* 2012;
- 713. Ofir-Rosenfeld Y, Boggs K, Michael D, Kastan MB, Oren M. Mdm2 regulates p53 mRNA translation through inhibitory interactions with ribosomal protein L26. *Mol Cell* 2008;32:180–9.
- 714. Zhou X, Hao Q, Liao J, Zhang Q, Lu H. Ribosomal protein S14 unties the MDM2-p53 loop upon ribosomal stress. *Oncogene* 2012;
- 715. Frum R, Busby SA, Ramamoorthy M, Deb S, Shabanowitz J, Hunt DF, Deb SP. HDM2-binding partners: interaction with translation elongation factor EF1alpha. *J Proteome Res* 2007;6:1410–7.
- 716. Sun X-X, DeVine T, Challagundla KB, Dai M-S. Interplay between ribosomal protein S27a and MDM2 protein in p53 activation in response to ribosomal stress. *J Biol Chem* 2011;286:22730–41.
- 717. Sheng Y, Saridakis V, Sarkari F, Duan S, Wu T, Arrowsmith CH, Frappier L. Molecular recognition of p53 and MDM2 by USP7/HAUSP. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2006;13:285–91.
- 718. Hu M, Gu L, Li M, Jeffrey PD, Gu W, Shi Y. Structural basis of competitive recognition of p53 and MDM2 by HAUSP/USP7: implications for the regulation of the p53-MDM2 pathway. *PLOS biology* 2006;4:e27.
- 719. Capili AD, Schultz DC, RauscherIII FJ, Borden KL. Solution structure of the PHD domain from the KAP-1 corepressor: structural determinants for PHD, RING and LIM zinc-binding domains. *EMBO J* 2001;20:165–77.
- 720. Ivanov AV, Peng H, Yurchenko V, Yap KL, Negorev DG, Schultz DC, Psulkowski E, Fredericks WJ, White DE, Maul GG, Sadofsky MJ, Zhou M-M, et al. PHD domain-mediated E3 ligase activity directs intramolecular sumoylation of an adjacent bromodomain required for gene silencing. *Mol Cell* 2007;28:823–37.
- 721. Kim CK, Nguyen TLX, Joo KM, Nam D-H, Park J, Lee K-H, Cho S-W, Ahn J-Y. Negative regulation of p53 by the long isoform of ErbB3 binding protein Ebp1 in brain tumors. *Cancer research* 2010;70:9730–41.
- 722. Khoronenkova SV, Dianova II, Ternette N, Kessler BM, Parsons JL, Dianov GL. ATM-dependent downregulation of USP7/HAUSP by PPM1G activates p53 response to DNA damage. *Mol Cell* 2012;45:801–13.
- 723. Ren J, Gao X, Jin C, Zhu M, Wang X, Shaw A, Wen L, Yao X, Xue Y. Systematic study of protein sumoylation: Development of a site-specific predictor of SUMOsp 2.0. *Proteomics* 2009;9:3409–12.
- 724. Yunus AA, Lima CD. Structure of the Siz/PIAS SUMO E3 ligase Siz1 and determinants required for SUMO modification of PCNA. *Mol Cell* 2009;35:669–82.
- 725. Deng Z, Wan M, Sui G. PIASy-mediated sumoylation of Yin Yang 1 depends on their interaction but not the RING finger. *Mol Cell Biol* 2007;27:3780–92.
- 726. Chun T-H, Itoh H, Subramanian L, Iñiguez-Lluhí JA, Nakao K. Modification of GATA-2 transcriptional activity in endothelial cells by the SUMO E3 ligase PIASy. *Circ Res* 2003;92:1201–8.
- 727. Chiu S-Y, Asai N, Costantini F, Hsu W. SUMO-specific protease 2 is essential for modulating p53-Mdm2 in development of trophoblast stem cell niches and lineages. *PLOS biology* 2008;6:e310.
- 728. Gowran A, Murphy CE, Campbell VA. Delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol regulates the p53 post-translational modifiers Murine double minute 2 and the Small Ubiquitin MOdifier protein in the rat brain. *FEBS Lett* 2009;583:3412–8.
- 729. Mauri F, McNamee LM, Lunardi A, Chiacchiera F, Del Sal G, Brodsky MH, Collavin L. Modification of Drosophila p53 by SUMO modulates its transactivation and pro-apoptotic functions. *J Biol Chem* 2008;283:20848– 56.
- 730. Yuan H, Zhou J, Deng M, Liu X, Le Bras M, de The H, Chen SJ, Chen Z, Liu TX, Zhu J. Small ubiquitin-related modifier paralogs are indispensable but functionally redundant during early development of zebrafish. *Cell Res* 2010;20:185–96.
- 731. Vertegaal AC, Andersen JS, Ogg SC, Hay RT, Mann M, Lamond AI. Distinct and overlapping sets of SUMO-1 and SUMO-2 target proteins revealed by quantitative proteomics. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2006;5:2298–310.
- 732. Jeram SM, Srikumar T, Zhang X-D, Anne Eisenhauer H, Rogers R, Pedrioli PGA, Matunis M, Raught B. An improved SUMmOn-based methodology for the identification of ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like protein conjugation sites identifies novel ubiquitin-like protein chain linkages. *Proteomics* 2010;10:254–65.

- 733. Matic I, Hay RT. Detection and quantitation of SUMO chains by mass spectrometry. *Methods Mol Biol* 2012;832:239–47.
- 734. Minty A, Dumont X, Kaghad M, Caput D. Covalent modification of p73alpha by SUMO-1. Two-hybrid screening with p73 identifies novel SUMO-1interacting proteins and a SUMO-1 interaction motif. *J Biol Chem* 2000;275:36316–23.
- 735. Merrill JC, Melhuish TA, Kagey MH, Yang S-H, Sharrocks AD, Wotton D. A role for non-covalent SUMO interaction motifs in Pc2/CBX4 E3 activity. *PloS one* 2010;5:e8794.
- 736. Rytinki MM, Kaikkonen S, Pehkonen P, Jääskeläinen T, Palvimo JJ. PIAS proteins: pleiotropic interactors associated with SUMO. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2009;66:3029–41.
- 737. Yang X, Li H, Zhou Z, Wang W-H, Deng A, Andrisani O, Liu X. Plk1-mediated phosphorylation of Topors regulates p53 stability. *J Biol Chem* 2009;284:18588–92.
- 738. Wang X, Taplick J, Geva N, Oren M. Inhibition of p53 degradation by Mdm2 acetylation. *FEBS Lett* 2004;561:195–201.
- 739. Melchior F, Hengst L. SUMO-1 and p53. *Cell Cycle* 2002;1:245–9.
- 740. Li M, Brooks CL, Wu-Baer F, Chen D, Baer R, Gu W. Mono- versus polyubiquitination: differential control of p53 fate by Mdm2. *Science* 2003;302:1972–5.
- 741. Guo A, Salomoni P, Luo J, Shih A, Zhong S, Gu W, Pandolfi PP. The function of PML in p53-dependent apoptosis. *Nat Cell Biol* 2000;2:730–6.
- 742. Van Damme E, Laukens K, Dang TH, Van Ostade X. A manually curated network of the PML nuclear body interactome reveals an important role for PML-NBs in SUMOylation dynamics. *Int J Biol Sci* 2010;6:51–67.
- 743. Fogal V, Gostissa M, Sandy P, Zacchi P, Sternsdorf T, Jensen K, Pandolfi PP, Will H, Schneider C, Del Sal G. Regulation of p53 activity in nuclear bodies by a specific PML isoform. *EMBO J* 2000;19:6185–95.
- 744. Prudden J, Pebernard S, Raffa G, Slavin DA, Perry JJP, Tainer JA, McGowan CH, Boddy MN. SUMO-targeted ubiquitin ligases in genome stability. *EMBO J* 2007;26:4089–101.
- 745. Uzunova K, Göttsche K, Miteva M, Weisshaar SR, Glanemann C, Schnellhardt M, Niessen M, Scheel H, Hofmann K, Johnson ES, Praefcke GJK, Dohmen RJ. Ubiquitin-dependent proteolytic control of SUMO conjugates. *J Biol Chem* 2007;282:34167–75.
- 746. Xie Y, Kerscher O, Kroetz MB, McConchie HF, Sung P, Hochstrasser M. The yeast Hex3.Slx8 heterodimer is a ubiquitin ligase stimulated by substrate sumoylation. *J Biol Chem* 2007;282:34176–84.
- 747. Friedman PN, Chen X, Bargonetti J, Prives C. The p53 protein is an unusually shaped tetramer that binds directly to DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1993;90:3319–23.
- 748. Hupp TR. Regulation of p53 protein function through alterations in proteinfolding pathways. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 1999;55:88–95.
- 749. Marston NJ, Jenkins JR, Vousden KH. Oligomerisation of full length p53 contributes to the interaction with mdm2 but not HPV E6. *Oncogene* 1995;10:1709–15.

- 750. Kawaguchi Y, Ito A, Appella E, Yao T-P. Charge modification at multiple Cterminal lysine residues regulates p53 oligomerization and its nucleuscytoplasm trafficking. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:1394–400.
- 751. Beckerman R, Prives C. Transcriptional regulation by p53. *Cold Spring Harb Pers Biol* 2010;2:a000935.
- 752. Campomenosi P, Monti P, Aprile A, Abbondandolo A, Frebourg T, Gold B, Crook T, Inga A, Resnick MA, Iggo R, Fronza G. p53 mutants can often transactivate promoters containing a p21 but not Bax or PIG3 responsive elements. *Oncogene* 2001;20:3573–9.
- 753. Friedlander P, Haupt Y, Prives C, Oren M. A mutant p53 that discriminates between p53-responsive genes cannot induce apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol* 1996;16:4961–71.
- 754. Tan M, Wang Y, Guan K, Sun Y. PTGF-beta, a type beta transforming growth factor (TGF-beta) superfamily member, is a p53 target gene that inhibits tumor cell growth via TGF-beta signaling pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2000;97:109–14.
- 755. el-Deiry WS, Harper JW, O'Connor PM, Velculescu VE, Canman CE, Jackman J, Pietenpol JA, Burrell M, Hill DE, Wang Y. WAF1/CIP1 is induced in p53-mediated G1 arrest and apoptosis. *Cancer research* 1994;54:1169– 74.
- 756. Taylor WR, Stark GR. Regulation of the G2/M transition by p53. *Oncogene* 2001;20:1803–15.
- 757. Zhang H, Saitoh H, Matunis MJ. Enzymes of the SUMO modification pathway localize to filaments of the nuclear pore complex. *Mol Cell Biol* 2002;22:6498–508.
- 758. Imoto S, Ohbayashi N, Ikeda O, Kamitani S, Muromoto R, Sekine Y, Matsuda T. Sumoylation of Smad3 stimulates its nuclear export during PIASymediated suppression of TGF-beta signaling. *Biochem and Biophys Res Comm* 2008;370:359–65.
- 759. Bruderer R, Tatham MH, Plechanovova A, Matic I, Garg AK, Hay RT. Purification and identification of endogenous polySUMO conjugates. *EMBO Rep* 2011;12:142–8.
- 760. Beitzinger M, Hofmann L, Oswald C, Beinoraviciute-Kellner R, Sauer M, Griesmann H, Bretz AC, Burek C, Rosenwald A, Stiewe T. p73 poses a barrier to malignant transformation by limiting anchorage-independent growth. *EMBO J* 2008;27:792–803.
- 761. Gill G. Something about SUMO inhibits transcription. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 2005;15:536–41.
- 762. Gómez-del Arco P, Koipally J, Georgopoulos K. Ikaros SUMOylation: switching out of repression. *Mol Cell Biol* 2005;25:2688–97.
- 763. Böhlig L, Rother K. One function--multiple mechanisms: the manifold activities of p53 as a transcriptional repressor. *J Biomed Biotech* 2011;2011:464916.
- 764. Dimri GP, Nakanishi M, Desprez PY, Smith JR, Campisi J. Inhibition of E2F activity by the cyclin-dependent protein kinase inhibitor p21 in cells expressing or lacking a functional retinoblastoma protein. *Mol Cell Biol* 1996;16:2987–97.

- 765. Takahashi Y, Rayman JB, Dynlacht BD. Analysis of promoter binding by the E2F and pRB families in vivo: distinct E2F proteins mediate activation and repression. *Genes Dev* 2000;14:804–16.
- 766. Wells J, Boyd KE, Fry CJ, Bartley SM, Farnham PJ. Target gene specificity of E2F and pocket protein family members in living cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 2000;20:5797–807.
- 767. Caretti G, Salsi V, Vecchi C, Imbriano C, Mantovani R. Dynamic recruitment of NF-Y and Histone acetyltransferases on cell-cycle promoters. *J Biol Chem* 2003;278:30435–40.
- 768. Elford HL. Effect of hydroxyurea on ribonucleotide reductase. *Biochem and Biophys Res Comm* 1968;33:129–35.
- 769. McKenzie L, King S, Marcar L, Nicol S, Dias SS, Schumm K, Robertson P, Bourdon J-C, Perkins N, Fuller-Pace F, Meek DW. p53-dependent repression of polo-like kinase-1 (PLK1). *Cell Cycle* 2010;9:4200–12.
- 770. Su X, Chakravarti D, Cho MS, Liu L, Gi YJ, Lin Y-L, Leung ML, El-Naggar A, Creighton CJ, Suraokar MB, Wistuba I, Flores ER. TAp63 suppresses metastasis through coordinate regulation of Dicer and miRNAs. *Nature* 2010;467:986–90.
- 771. Urist MJ, Di Como CJ, Lu M-L, Charytonowicz E, Verbel D, Crum CP, Ince TA, McKeon FD, Cordon-Cardo C. Loss of p63 expression is associated with tumor progression in bladder cancer. *Am J Pathol* 2002;161:1199–206.
- 772. Koga F, Kawakami S, Fujii Y, Saito K, Ohtsuka Y, Iwai A, Ando N, Takizawa T, Kageyama Y, Kihara K. Impaired p63 expression associates with poor prognosis and uroplakin III expression in invasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. *Clin Can Res* 2003;9:5501–7.
- 773. Puig P, Capodieci P, Drobnjak M, Verbel D, Prives C, Cordon-Cardo C, Di Como CJ. p73 Expression in human normal and tumor tissues: loss of p73alpha expression is associated with tumor progression in bladder cancer. *Clin Can Res* 2003;9:5642–51.
- 774. Joerger AC, Fersht AR. Structural biology of the tumor suppressor p53 and cancer-associated mutants. *Adv Cancer Res* 2007;97:1–23.
- 775. Bullock AN, Henckel J, Fersht AR. Quantitative analysis of residual folding and DNA binding in mutant p53 core domain: definition of mutant states for rescue in cancer therapy. *Oncogene* 2000;19:1245–56.
- 776. Miller J, Rutenber E, Muchowski PJ. Polyglutamine dances the conformational cha-cha-cha. *Structure* 2009;17:1151–3.
- 777. Stindt MH, Carter S, Vigneron AM, Ryan KM, Vousden KH. MDM2 promotes SUMO-2/3 modification of p53 to modulate transcriptional activity. *Cell Cycle* 2011;10:3176–88.
- 778. Huang Y-P, Wu G, Guo Z, Osada M, Fomenkov T, Park HL, Trink B, Sidransky D, Fomenkov A, Ratovitski EA. Altered sumoylation of p63alpha contributes to the split-hand/foot malformation phenotype. *Cell Cycle* 2004;3:1587–96.
- 779. Ghioni P, D'Alessandra Y, Mansueto G, Jaffray E, Hay RT, La Mantia G, Guerrini L. The protein stability and transcriptional activity of p63alpha are regulated by SUMO-1 conjugation. *Cell Cycle* 2005;4:183–90.

- 780. Vivo M, Di Costanzo A, Fortugno P, Pollice A, Calabrò V, La Mantia G. Downregulation of DeltaNp63alpha in keratinocytes by p14ARF-mediated SUMO-conjugation and degradation. *Cell Cycle* 2009;8:3537–43.
- 781. Zhang C, Yuan X, Yue L, Fu J, Luo L, Yin Z. PIASy interacts with p73alpha and regulates cell cycle in HEK293 cells. *Cellular Immunol* 2010;263:235–40.
- 782. Shimizu H, Burch LR, Smith AJ, Dornan D, Wallace M, Ball KL, Hupp TR. The conformationally flexible S9-S10 linker region in the core domain of p53 contains a novel MDM2 binding site whose mutation increases ubiquitination of p53 in vivo. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:28446–58.
- 783. Yu GW, Rudiger S, Veprintsev D, Freund S, Fernandez-Fernandez MR, Fersht AR. The central region of HDM2 provides a second binding site for p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2006;103:1227–32.
- 784. Deutsch GB, Zielonka EM, Coutandin D, Weber TA, Schäfer B, Hannewald J, Luh LM, Durst FG, Ibrahim M, Hoffmann J, Niesen FH, Sentürk A, et al. DNA damage in oocytes induces a switch of the quality control factor TAp63α from dimer to tetramer. *Cell* 2011;144:566–76.
- 785. Yang A, McKeon F. P63 and P73: P53 mimics, menaces and more. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2000;1:199–207.
- 786. Di Agostino S, Cortese G, Monti O, Dell'Orso S, Sacchi A, Eisenstein M, Citro G, Strano S, Blandino G. The disruption of the protein complex mutantp53/p73 increases selectively the response of tumor cells to anticancer drugs. *Cell Cycle* 2008;7:3440–7.
- 787. Olson DC, Marechal V, Momand J, Chen J, Romocki C, Levine AJ. Identification and characterization of multiple mdm-2 proteins and mdm-2p53 protein complexes. *Oncogene* 1993;8:2353–60.
- 788. Erhardt P, Tomaselli KJ, Cooper GM. Identification of the MDM2 oncoprotein as a substrate for CPP32-like apoptotic proteases. *J Biol Chem* 1997;272:15049–52.
- 789. Chen L, Marechal V, Moreau J, Levine AJ, Chen J. Proteolytic cleavage of the mdm2 oncoprotein during apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 1997;272:22966–73.
- 790. Pochampally R, Fodera B, Chen L, Shao W, Levine EA, Chen J. A 60 kd MDM2 isoform is produced by caspase cleavage in non-apoptotic tumor cells. *Oncogene* 1998;17:2629–36.
- 791. Pochampally R, Fodera B, Chen L, Lu W, Chen J. Activation of an MDM2specific caspase by p53 in the absence of apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 1999;274:15271–7.
- 792. Oliver TG, Meylan E, Chang GP, Xue W, Burke JR, Humpton TJ, Hubbard D, Bhutkar A, Jacks T. Caspase-2-mediated cleavage of Mdm2 creates a p53-induced positive feedback loop. *Mol Cell* 2011;43:57–71.
- 793. Bueso-Ramos CE, Manshouri T, Haidar MA, Yang Y, McCown P, Ordonez N, Glassman A, Sneige N, Albitar M. Abnormal expression of MDM-2 in breast carcinomas. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 1996;37:179–88.
- 794. Gorgoulis VG, Zoumpourlis V, Rassidakis GZ, Karameris A, Rassidakis AN, Spandidos DA, Kittas C. A molecular and immunohistochemical study of the MDM2 protein isoforms and p53 gene product in bronchogenic carcinoma. *Journal Pathol* 1996;180:129–37.

- 795. Cheng T-H, Cohen SN. Human MDM2 isoforms translated differentially on constitutive versus p53-regulated transcripts have distinct functions in the p53/MDM2 and TSG101/MDM2 feedback control loops. *Mol Cell Biol* 2007;27:111–9.
- 796. Bartel F, Harris LC, Würl P, Taubert H. MDM2 and its splice variant messenger RNAs: expression in tumors and down-regulation using antisense oligonucleotides. *Mol Cancer Res* 2004;2:29–35.
- 797. Sam KK, Gan CP, Yee PS, Chong CE, Lim KP, Karen-Ng LP, Chang WS, Nathan S, Rahman ZAA, Ismail SM, Cheong SC. Novel MDM2 splice variants identified from oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol* 2012;
- 798. Moschos SJ, Smith AP, Mandic M, Athanassiou C, Watson-Hurst K, Jukic DM, Edington HD, Kirkwood JM, Becker D. SAGE and antibody array analysis of melanoma-infiltrated lymph nodes: identification of Ubc9 as an important molecule in advanced-stage melanomas. *Oncogene* 2007;26:4216–25.
- 799. Driscoll JJ, Pelluru D, Lefkimmiatis K, Fulciniti M, Prabhala RH, Greipp PR, Barlogie B, Tai Y-T, Anderson KC, Shaughnessy JD, Annunziata CM, Munshi NC. The sumoylation pathway is dysregulated in multiple myeloma and is associated with adverse patient outcome. *Blood* 2010;115:2827–34.
- 800. Moschos SJ, Jukic DM, Athanassiou C, Bhargava R, Dacic S, Wang X, Kuan S-F, Fayewicz SL, Galambos C, Acquafondata M, Dhir R, Becker D. Expression analysis of Ubc9, the single small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) E2 conjugating enzyme, in normal and malignant tissues. *Hum Pathol* 2010;41:1286–98.
- 801. Duan X, Trent JO, Ye H. Targeting the SUMO E2 conjugating enzyme Ubc9 interaction for anti-cancer drug design. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem* 2009;9:51–4.
- 802. Zhu S, Sachdeva M, Wu F, Lu Z, Mo YY. Ubc9 promotes breast cell invasion and metastasis in a sumoylation-independent manner. *Oncogene* 2010;29:1763–72.
- 803. Kessler JD, Kahle KT, Sun T, Meerbrey KL, Schlabach MR, Schmitt EM, Skinner SO, Xu Q, Li MZ, Hartman ZC, Rao M, Yu P, et al. A SUMOylation-Dependent Transcriptional Subprogram Is Required for Myc-Driven Tumorigenesis. *Science* 2012;335:348–53.
- 804. Amente S, Lavadera ML, Palo GD, Majello B. SUMO-activating SAE1 transcription is positively regulated by Myc. *Am J Cancer Res* 2012;2:330–4.
- 805. Wang Q, Xia N, Li T, Xu Y, Zou Y, Zuo Y, Fan Q, Bawa-Khalfe T, Yeh ETH, Cheng J. SUMO-specific protease 1 promotes prostate cancer progression and metastasis. *Oncogene* 2012;
- 806. Cheng J, Bawa T, Lee P, Gong L, Yeh ETH. Role of desumoylation in the development of prostate cancer. *Neoplasia* 2006;8:667–76.
- 807. Heaton PR, Deyrieux AF, Bian X-L, Wilson VG. HPV E6 proteins target Ubc9, the SUMO conjugating enzyme. *Virus Res* 2011;158:199–208.
- 808. Minsky N, Shema E, Field Y, Schuster M, Segal E, Oren M. Monoubiquitinated H2B is associated with the transcribed region of highly expressed genes in human cells. *Nat Cell Biol* 2008;10:483–8.

- 809. Han J-Y, Lee GK, Yoo SY, Yoon SJ, Cho EY, Kim HT, Lee JS. Association of SUMO1 and UBC9 genotypes with tumor response in non-small-cell lung cancer treated with irinotecan-based chemotherapy. *Pharmacogenomics J* 2010;10:86–93.
- 810. Bellomaria A, Barbato G, Melino G, Paci M, Melino S. Recognition mechanism of p63 by the E3 ligase I tch: Novel strategy in the study and inhibition of this interaction. *Cell Cycle* 2012;11.
- 811. Canning P, Delft von F, Bullock AN. Structural Basis for ASPP2 Recognition by the Tumor Suppressor p73. *J Mol Biol* 2012;
- 812. Patel S, Bui TTT, Drake AF, Fraternali F, Nikolova PV. The p73 DNA binding domain displays enhanced stability relative to its homologue, the tumor suppressor p53, and exhibits cooperative DNA binding. *Biochemistry* 2008;47:3235–44.
- 813. Robinson RA, Lu X, Jones EY, Siebold C. Biochemical and structural studies of ASPP proteins reveal differential binding to p53, p63, and p73. *Structure* 2008;16:259–68.
- 814. Gogna R, Madan E, Kuppusamy P, Pati U. Re-oxygenation causes hypoxic tumor regression through restoration of p53 wild-type conformation and post-translational modifications. *Cell Death Dis* 2012;3:e286.
- 815. Hansen S, Hupp TR, Lane DP. Allosteric regulation of the thermostability and DNA binding activity of human p53 by specific interacting proteins. CRC Cell Transformation Group. *J Biol Chem* 1996;271:3917–24.
- 816. Walerych D, Olszewski MB, Gutkowska M, Helwak A, Zylicz M, Zylicz A. Hsp70 molecular chaperones are required to support p53 tumor suppressor activity under stress conditions. *Oncogene* 2009;28:4284–94.
- 817. Sasaki M, Nie L, Maki CG. MDM2 binding induces a conformational change in p53 that is opposed by heat-shock protein 90 and precedes p53 proteasomal degradation. *J Biol Chem* 2007;282:14626–34.
- 818. Cross B, Chen L, Cheng Q, Li B, Yuan Z-M, Chen J. Inhibition of p53 DNA binding function by the MDM2 protein acidic domain. *J Biol Chem* 2011;286:16018–29.
- 819. Liu K, Ling S, Lin W-C. TopBP1 mediates mutant p53 gain of function through NF-Y and p63/p73. *Mol Cell Biol* 2011;31:4464–81.
- 820. Neilsen PM, Noll JE, Mattiske S, Bracken CP, Gregory PA, Schulz RB, Lim SP, Kumar R, Suetani RJ, Goodall GJ, Callen DF. Mutant p53 drives invasion in breast tumors through up-regulation of miR-155. *Oncogene* 2012;
- 821. Martynova E, Pozzi S, Basile V, Dolfini D, Zambelli F, Imbriano C, Pavesi G, Mantovani R. Gain-of-function p53 mutants have widespread genomic locations partially overlapping with p63. *Oncotarget* 2012;3:132–43.
- 822. Neilsen PM, Noll JE, Suetani RJ, Schulz RB, Al-Ejeh F, Evdokiou A, Lane DP, Callen DF. Mutant p53 uses p63 as a molecular chaperone to alter gene expression and induce a pro-invasive secretome. *Oncotarget* 2011;2:1203– 17.
- 823. Yeudall WA, Vaughan CA, Miyazaki H, Ramamoorthy M, Choi M-Y, Chapman CG, Wang H, Black E, Bulysheva AA, Deb SP, Windle B, Deb S. Gain-of-function mutant p53 upregulates CXC chemokines and enhances cell migration. *Carcinogenesis* 2012;33:442–51.

- 824. Dong P, Karaayvaz M, Jia N, Kaneuchi M, Hamada J, Watari H, Sudo S, Ju J, Sakuragi N. Mutant p53 gain-of-function induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition through modulation of the miR-130b-ZEB1 axis. *Oncogene* 2012;
- 825. Kogan-Sakin I, Tabach Y, Buganim Y, Molchadsky A, Solomon H, Madar S, Kamer I, Stambolsky P, Shelly A, Goldfinger N, Valsesia-Wittmann S, Puisieux A, et al. Mutant p53(R175H) upregulates Twist1 expression and promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in immortalized prostate cells. *Cell Death Differ* 2011;18:271–81.
- 826. Ang HC, Joerger AC, Mayer S, Fersht AR. Effects of common cancer mutations on stability and DNA binding of full-length p53 compared with isolated core domains. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:21934–41.
- 827. Solomon H, Buganim Y, Kogan-Sakin I, Pomeraniec L, Assia Y, Madar S, Goldstein I, Brosh R, Kalo E, Beatus T, Goldfinger N, Rotter V. Various p53 mutant proteins differently regulate the Ras circuit to induce a cancer-related gene signature. *J Cell Sci* 2012;125:3144–52.
- 828. Neilsen PM, Cheney KM, Li C-W, Chen JD, Cawrse JE, Schulz RB, Powell JA, Kumar R, Callen DF. Identification of ANKRD11 as a p53 coactivator. *J Cell Sci* 2008;121:3541–52.
- 829. Noll JE, Jeffery J, Al-Ejeh F, Kumar R, Khanna KK, Callen DF, Neilsen PM. Mutant p53 drives multinucleation and invasion through a process that is suppressed by ANKRD11. *Oncogene* 2011;31:2836–48.